



# **REFERENCE ARCHITECTURE FOR 500-SEAT AND 1000-SEAT VIRTUAL DESKTOP INFRASTRUCTURE** CITRIX XENDESKTOP 7 BUILT ON CISCO UCS B200-M3 BLADE SERVERS WITH EMC VNXE AND MICROSOFT HYPER-V 2012

December 2013



### **Table of Contents**

1.	Ove	rview	/	9
	1.1.	Abou	ut this Document	9
2.	Solu	tion (	Component Benefits	9
	2.1.	Bene	efits of Cisco Unified Computing System	9
	2.1.	1.	Benefits of Cisco Nexus 5548UP1	.0
	2.2.	Bene	efits of EMC VNX Family of Storage Controllers1	.1
	2.2.	1.	The EMC VNX Family1	.1
	2.2.	2.	VNXe Series – Simple, Efficient, Affordable1	.1
	2.2.	3.	VNX Series - Simple, Efficient, Powerful1	.2
	2.3.	Bene	efits of Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V1	.2
	2.4.	Bene	efits of Citrix XenDesktop 71	.3
	2.5.	Audi	ence1	.3
3.	Sum	mary	of Main Findings1	.4
4.	Arch	nitect	ure1	.5
4	4.1.	Harc	dware Deployed1	.5
4	4.2.	Logi	cal Architecture1	.6
4	4.3.	Soft	ware Revisions1	.7
4	4.4.	Conf	iguration Guidelines1	.8
	4.4.	1.	VLAN1	.8
	4.4.	2.	Hyper-V Clustering1	.9
5.	Infra	astruo	cture Components2	20
ļ	5.1.	Cisco	D Unified Computer System (UCS)2	20
	5.1.	1.	Cisco Unified Computing Components2	20
	5.1.	2.	Cisco Fabric Interconnects	2
	5.1.	3.	Cisco IO Modules (Fabric Extenders)2	22
	5.1.	4.	Cisco UCS Chassis	23
	5.1.	5.	Cisco UCS Manager2	23
	5.1.	6.	Cisco UCS B200 M3Blade Servers2	23
	5.1.	7.	Cisco Virtual Interface Card (VIC) Converged Network Adapter2	.4
ļ	5.2.	EMC	2 VNXe33002	25
	5.2.	1.	Advantages and Value Proposition2	25

		5.2.	2.	Software suites available	26
		5.2.	3.	Software packs available	26
	5.	3.	Micr	osoft Technologies	26
		5.3.	1.	Windows Server 2012	26
		5.3.	2.	Failover Clu <b>s</b> tering	27
		5.3.	3.	Clustered Shared Volumes	27
		5.3.	4.	Networking Support	27
		5.3.	5.	Hyper-V	28
		5.3.	6.	Hyper-V Server 2012	28
		5.3.	7.	SQL Server 2012	28
		5.3.	8.	System Center Virtual Machine Manager 2012 SP1	29
	5.4	4.	Citri	x XenDesktop 7	29
		5.4.	1.	Enhancements in This Release	29
		5.4.	2.	FlexCast Technology	30
		5.4.	3.	High-Definition User Experience (HDX) Technology	32
		5.4.	4.	Citrix XenDesktop 7 Desktop and Application Services	32
		5.4.	5.	Provisioning Services 7	33
6.		Solu	tion A	Architecture	34
	6.	1.	Citri	x Design Fundamentals	36
		6.1.	1.	Citrix Hosted Shared Desktop Design Fundamentals	37
	6.	2.	EMC	Storage Architecture Design	42
		6.2.	1.	High Availability	42
		6.2.	2.	Data Protection	43
	6.	3.	Solut	tion Validation	43
		6.3. Infra		Configuration Topology for Scalable Citrix XenDesktop 7 Hybrid Virtual Desktop cture on Cisco Unified Computing System and EMC Storage	43
	6.4	4.	Conf	iguration Topology for Citrix XenDesktop 7on Cisco Unified Computing System with VI	٧Xe
	St	orag	e		45
	6.	5.	Cisco	OUCS Configuration	46
	6.	6.	Base	Cisco UCS Configuration	47
		6.6.	1.	Firmware Update	47
		6.6.	2.	Acknowledge the Chassis	48
		6.6.	3.	Server Port Configuration	49
		6.6.	4.	Uplink Port Configuration	50

6.6.5.	VNXe Appliance Port Configuration	53
6.6.6.	KVM IP Address Pool	54
6.6.7.	MAC Address Pool	56
6.6.8.	UUID Suffix Pool	56
6.6.9.	IQN Pool	57
6.6.10.	Server Pool and Related Policies (Optional)	57
6.6.11.	Local Disk Configuration	59
6.6.12.	BIOS Policy	60
6.6.13.	Power Control Policy	61
6.6.14.	Scrub Policy	62
6.6.15.	Host Firmware Package	63
6.6.16.	QOS Policie s	64
6.6.17.	Steps to Enable QOS on the Cisco Unified Computing System	66
6.6.18.	iSCSI Adapter Policy	68
6.6.19.	VLANs and vNIC Templates	69
6.6.20.	iSCSI Boot Policy	73
6.6.21.	Service Profile Template	74
6.6.22.	Create Service Profiles	80
6.6.23.	Configure iSCSI Boot LUNS for Each Service Profile	81
6.7. LAN	N Configuration	84
6.8. SAN	N Configuration	84
6.8.1.	Boot from SAN benefits	84
6.9. EM	IC VNXe Storage Configuration	85
6.9.1.	iSCSI Host Configuration	86
6.9.2.	iSCSI Server Configuration	89
6.9.3.	iSCSI Storage Creation	92
6.9.4.	CIFS Server Creation	96
6.9.5.	CIFS Share Storage Creation – Profile Share	98
6.9.6.	CIFS Share Storage Creation – vDisk Share	
6.10. I	nstalling and Configuring Microsoft Server 2012	
6.10.1.	Infrastructure Servers	
6.10.2.	VDI Hosts	120
6.10.3.	Local Configuration Tasks After Install	

6.11. I	nstalling and Configuring SQL Server 2012 SP1	123
6.11.1.	Pass-Through Storage Configuration	124
6.11.2.	SQL Server 2012 – Installation Pre-requisites	129
6.11.3.	SQL Server 2012 Installation	129
6.11.4.	AlwaysOn Application Group	139
6.11.5.	Log File Management	147
6.12. I	nstalling and Configuring System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager	148
6.13. I Modules 1	nstalling and Configuring Cisco Nexus 1000V Virtual Switch Manager and Virtua 154	l Ethernet
6.13.1.	Installing Cisco Nexus 1000V Virtual Switch	155
6.13.2.	Installing and Configuring the Virtual Supervisor Modules (VSM)	159
6.13.3.	Cisco Nexus 1000V for Hyper-V Configuration	173
6.14. I	nstalling and Configuring Citrix XenDesktop	187
6.14.1.	Installing Provisioning Services	191
6.14.2.	Installation of the Second PVS Server	212
6.14.3.	Installing the Delivery Controller	219
6.14.4.	XenDesktop Controller Configuration	228
6.14.5.	Additional XenDesktop Controller Configuration	233
6.14.6.	Configure VM Hosting, Connections, and Resources	235
6.14.7.	Installing and Configuring StoreFront	239
7. Desktop	Delivery Infrastructure - Citrix	245
7.1. Ove	erview of desktop delivery	245
7.1.1.	PVS vDisk Image Management	246
7.1.2.	Overview – Golden Image Creation	246
7.2. Ins	talling the XenDesktop 7 Virtual Desktop Agent	247
7.3. Citi	ix User Profile Management Servers – CITRIX	251
7.3.1.	Install and Configuration of User Profile Manager	251
7.4. Mie	crosoft Windows 7 and Windows Server 2012 Golden Image Creation	254
7.4.1.	Microsoft Windows 7 and Windows Server 2012 OS Configurations	254
7.4.2.	Installing the PVS Target Device Software	255
7.4.3.	Running the PVS Imaging Wizard	257
7.4.4.	Installation of Login VSI Software	261
7.4.5.	Optimization for PVS and XenDesktop 7	262

	7.	4.6.	Conversion to PVS vDisk	. 263
	7.	4.7.	Write-Cache Drive Sizing and Placement	. 263
	7.5.	Citri	x Provisioning Services	. 264
	7.	5.1.	Creating the Virtual Machine Manager Templates	. 264
	7.	5.2.	Process to Create Virtual Desktops using PVS Wizard	. 271
8.	Te	est Setu	ip and Configurations	. 281
	8.1.	Cisco	o UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability of Hosted Shared Desktops	. 282
	8.2.	Cisco	o UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability of Hosted Virtual Machines	. 283
	8.3. Virtu		o UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability for a Mixed Hosted Shared and Ho kload	
	8.4.	Cisco	o UCS Test Configuration for a Single-Chassis 500-User Configuration	. 286
	8.5.	Cisco	o UCS Test Configuration for a Two-Chasses 1000-User Configuration	. 288
	8.6.	Test	Methodology and Success Criteria	. 289
	8.	6.1.	Load Generation	. 289
	8.	6.2.	User Workload Simulation – Login VSI	. 289
	8.	6.3.	Testing Procedure	. 291
	8.	6.4.	Success Criteria	. 293
9.	Lc	ogin VSI	Test Result	. 296
	9.1.	Cisco	o UCS B200-M3 Single-Server Scalability Results for Hosted Shared Desktops	. 296
	9.2.	Cisco	o UCS B200-M3 Single-Server Scalability Results for Hosted Virtual Desktops	. 300
	9.3.	Cisco	o UCS B200-M3 Recommended Single-Server Mixed Desktop Workload	. 303
	9.4.	Cisco	o UCS 500-User Scalability Results	. 305
	9.	4.1.	EMC VNXe Performance	. 306
	9.	4.2.	VDI Host	. 307
	9.	4.3.	XenDesktop Controllers	. 311
	9.	4.4.	Provisioning Services	. 312
	9.	4.5.	SQL Servers	. 313
	9.	4.6.	System Center Virtual Machine Manager and StoreFront	. 314
	9.	4.1.	Active Directory	. 315
	9.5.	Cisco	o UCS 1000-User Scalability Results	317
	9.	5.1.	EMC VNXe Performance	317
	9.	5.2.	VDI Host	. 319
	9.	5.3.	XenDesktop Controllers	. 323

9.5.4.	Provisioning Services	
9.5.5.	SQL Servers	
9.5.6.	System Center Virtual Machine Manager and StoreFront	326
9.5.7.	Active Directory	
10. Scal	ability Considerations and Guidelines	
10.1.	Cisco UCS Configuration	
10.2.	EMC VNXe Storage Configuration	
10.2.1	. Capacity planning	
10.2.2	. Performance Planning	
10.2.3	. Scalability Planning	
10.3.	Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V 2012 Configuration	
10.3.1	. Virtual Machines	
10.3.2	. Server Running Hyper-V	
10.3.4	. Failover Clusters and Hyper-V	
10.4.	Citrix XenDesktop 7 Configuration – Citrix	
11. Othe	er Considerations	
11.1.	Power Outages and Boot Sequence	
11.1.1	. Recommended Boot Sequence	
11.2.	Microsoft Cluster Maintenance	
11.3.	SQL Server AlwaysOn Groups	
12. Refe	erences	
12.1.	Cisco Reference Documents – Cisco	
12.2.	EMC Reference Documents – EMC	
12.3.	Microsoft Reference Documents	
12.4.	Citrix Reference Documents	
13. App	endix	
13.1.	Performance Charts for Scalability Tests	
13.2.	Sample Cisco Nexus 6248-UP Configurations	352
13.2.1	. 6248UP – A	
13.3.	Sample Cisco Nexus 1000V Configuration	401
13.3.1	. N1000V-1	406
13.4.	Sample PowerShell Scripts	411
13.4.1	. Update Virtual Machines created by XenDesktop Wizard	411

	13.4.2.	Enable Dynamic Memory	413
	13.4.3.	Disable Dynamic Memory	414
	13.4.4.	Query the XenDesktop Database Connection Strings	415
	13.4.5.	Test the XenDesktop Database Connection String	416
	13.4.6.	Change the XenDesktop Database Connection String	416
14.	Acknow	wledgements	417

## 1. Overview

## 1.1. About this Document

This document describes the reference architecture for a 500-seat and 1000-seat virtual desktop infrastructure using Citrix XenDesktop 7 built on Cisco UCS B200-M3 Blade Servers with EMC VNXe3300 and Microsoft Hyper-V 2012.

Industry trends indicate a vast data center transformation toward shared infrastructures. Enterprise customers are moving away from silos of information and toward shared infrastructures, to virtualized environments, and eventually to the cloud to increase agility and reduce costs.

This document provides the architecture and design of a virtual desktop infrastructure that can grow from 500 users to 1000 users. The infrastructure is 100% virtualized on Microsoft Hyper-V Server 2012 with third-generation Cisco UCS B-Series B200 M3 Blade Servers iSCSI booting from an EMC VNXe3300 storage array.

The virtual desktops are powered using Citrix Provisioning Server 7 and Citrix XenDesktop 7, with a mix of hosted shared desktops (70%) and pooled desktops (30%) to support the user population. Where applicable, the document provides best practice recommendations and sizing guidelines for customer deployments of XenDesktop 7 on the Cisco Unified Computing System.

## 2. Solution Component Benefits

Each of the components of the overall solution materially contributes to the value of functional design contained in this document.

## 2.1. Benefits of Cisco Unified Computing System

Cisco Unified Computing System<sup>™</sup> is the first converged data center platform that combines industrystandard, x86-architecture servers with networking and storage access into a single converged system. The system is entirely programmable using unified, model-based management to simplify and speed deployment of enterprise-class applications and services running in bare-metal, virtualized, and cloud computing environments.

Benefits of the Unified Computing System include:

#### Architectural flexibility

- Cisco UCS B-Series blade servers for infrastructure and virtual workload hosting
- Cisco UCS C-Series rack-mount servers for infrastructure and virtual workload Hosting
- Cisco UCS 6200 Series second generation fabric interconnects provide unified blade, network and storage connectivity
- Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Chassis provide the perfect environment for multi-server type, multipurpose workloads in a single containment

Infrastructure Simplicity

- Converged, simplified architecture drives increased IT productivity
- Cisco UCS management results in flexible, agile, high performance, self-integrating information technology with faster ROI
- Fabric Extender technology reduces the number of system components to purchase, configure and maintain
- Standards-based, high bandwidth, low latency virtualization-aware unified fabric delivers high density, excellent virtual desktop user-experience

**Business Agility** 

- Model-based management means faster deployment of new capacity for rapid and accurate scalability
- Scale up to 16 chassis and up to 128 blades in a single Cisco UCS management domain
- Leverage Cisco UCS Management Packs for System Center 2012 for integrated management

## 2.1.1. Benefits of Cisco Nexus 5548UP

The Cisco Nexus 5548UP Switch delivers innovative architectural flexibility, infrastructure simplicity, and business agility, with support for networking standards. For traditional, virtualized, unified, and high-performance computing (HPC) environments, it offers a long list of IT and business advantages, including:

#### Architectural Flexibility

- Unified ports that support traditional Ethernet, Fiber Channel (FC), and Fiber Channel over Ethernet (FCoE)
- Synchronizes system clocks with accuracy of less than one microsecond, based on IEEE 1588
- Offers converged Fabric extensibility, based on emerging standard IEEE 802.1BR, with Fabric Extender (FEX) Technology portfolio, including the Nexus 1000V Virtual Distributed Switch

#### Infrastructure Simplicity

- Common high-density, high-performance, data-center-class, fixed-form-factor platform
- Consolidates LAN and storage
- Supports any transport over an Ethernet-based fabric, including Layer 2 and Layer 3 traffic
- Supports storage traffic, including iSCSI, NAS, FC, RoE, and IBoE
- Reduces management points with FEX Technology

#### **Business Agility**

- Meets diverse data center deployments on one platform
- Provides rapid migration and transition for traditional and evolving technologies
- Offers performance and scalability to meet growing business needs

Specifications At-a-Glance

- A 1 -rack-unit, 1/10 Gigabit Ethernet switch
- 32 fixed Unified Ports on base chassis and one expansion slot totaling 48 ports
- The slot can support any of the three modules: Unified Ports, 1/2/4/8 native Fiber Channel, and Ethernet or FCoE
- Throughput of up to 960 Gbps

### 2.2. Benefits of EMC VNX Family of Storage Controllers

#### 2.2.1. The EMC VNX Family

The EMC VNX Family delivers industry leading innovation and enterprise capabilities for file, block, and object storage in a scalable, easy-to-use solution. This next-generation storage platform combines powerful and flexible hardware with advanced efficiency, management, and protection software to meet the demanding needs of today's enterprises.

All of this is available in a choice of systems ranging from affordable entry-level solutions to high performance, petabyte-capacity configurations servicing the most demanding application requirements. The VNX family includes the VNXe Series, purpose-built for the IT generalist in smaller environments, and the VNX Series, designed to meet the high-performance, high scalability, requirements of midsize and large enterprises.



Figure 1 VNX Family

## 2.2.2. VNXe Series – Simple, Efficient, Affordable

The VNXe Series was designed with the IT generalist in mind and provides an affordable, integrated storage system for small-to-medium businesses as well as remote offices, and departments in larger enterprise businesses. The VNXe series provides true storage consolidation with a unique application–driven approach that eliminates the boundaries between applications and their storage.

This simple application-driven approach to managing shared storage makes the VNXe series ideal for IT generalists/managers and application administrators who may have limited storage expertise. EMC

Unisphere for the VNXe series enables easy, wizard-based provisioning of storage for Microsoft, Exchange, file shares, iSCSI volumes, VMware, and Hyper-V. VNXe supports tight integration with VMware to further facilitate efficient management of virtualized environments. Complemented by Unisphere Remote, the VNXe is also ideal for remote office-branch office (ROBO) deployments. Built-in efficiency capabilities, such as file de-duplication with compression and thin provisioning result in streamlined operations and can save up to 50 percent in upfront storage costs. Software packs aimed at facilitating backup, remote data protection, and disaster recovery include features such as easy-toconfigure application snapshots.

The VNXe series supports high availability by using redundant components – power supplies, fans, and storage processors – as well as dynamic failover and failback. Additionally, the VNXe series supports the ability to upgrade system software or hardware while the VNXe system is running. It also delivers single click access to a world of resources such as comprehensive online documentation, training, and how-to-videos to expand your knowledge and answer questions.

## 2.2.3. VNX Series - Simple, Efficient, Powerful

The EMC VNX flash-optimized unified storage platform delivers innovation and enterprise capabilities for file, block, and object storage in a single, scalable, and easy-to-use solution. Ideal for mixed workloads in physical or virtual environments, VNX combines powerful and flexible hardware with advanced efficiency, management, and protection software to meet the demanding needs of today's virtualized application environments.

VNX includes many features and enhancements designed and built upon the first generation's success. These features and enhancements include:

- More capacity with multicore optimization with Multicore Cache, Multicore RAID, and Multicore FAST Cache (MCx<sup>™</sup>)
- Greater efficiency with a flash-optimized hybrid array
- Better protection by increasing application availability with active/active
- Easier administration and deployment by increasing productivity with new Unisphere<sup>®</sup> Management Suite

Next-Generation VNX is built to deliver even greater efficiency, performance, and scale than ever before.

## 2.3. Benefits of Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V

Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V builds on the architecture and functionality of Microsoft Hyper-V 2008 R2 allowing you to run the largest workloads in your virtualized environment. Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V offers support for up to 64 virtual processors, 1 terabyte of memory per guest VM, and 4,000 virtual machines on a 64-node cluster. With Hyper-V, you can support Offloaded Data Transfer and improved Quality of Service to enforce minimum bandwidth requirements (even for network storage). High-availability options include incremental backup support, enhancements in clustered environments to support virtual Fiber Channel adapters within the virtual machine, and inbox NIC Teaming. Windows Server 2012 Hyper-V can also use server message block file shares for virtual storage. This new option is simple to provision and offers performance capabilities and features that rival those available with Fiber Channel storage area networks. The Hyper-V Extensible Switch within Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V gives you an open, extensible switch to help support security and management needs. You can build your own extensions, or use partner extensions to support these needs. Hyper-V works with Microsoft System Center 2012 SP1 management tools to handle your multi-server virtualization environment. With new management support for Hyper-V, you can fully automate management tasks and help reduce the administrative overhead costs of your environment.

Hyper-V provides a dynamic, reliable, and scalable virtualization platform combined with a single set of integrated management tools to manage both physical and virtual resources, enabling creation of an agile and dynamic data center.

## 2.4. Benefits of Citrix XenDesktop 7

There are many reasons to consider a virtual desktop solution. An ever growing and diverse base of users, an expanding number of traditional desktops, an increase in security mandates and government regulations, and the introduction of Bring Your Own Device (BYOD) initiatives are factors that add to the cost and complexity of delivering and managing desktop and application services.

Citrix XenDesktop<sup>™</sup> 7 transforms the delivery of Microsoft Windows apps and desktops into a secure, centrally managed service that users can access on any device, anywhere. The release focuses on delivering these benefits:

- Mobilizing Microsoft Windows application delivery, bringing thousands of corporate applications to mobile devices with a native-touch experience and high performance
- Reducing costs with simplified and centralized management and automated operations

Securing data by centralizing information and effectively controlling access Citrix XenDesktop 7 promotes mobility, allowing users to search for and subscribe to published resources, enabling a service delivery model that is cloud-ready.

The release follows a new unified FlexCast 2.0 architecture for provisioning all Windows apps and desktops either on hosted-shared RDS servers or VDI-based virtual machines. The new architecture combines simplified and integrated provisioning with personalization tools. Whether a customer is creating a system to deliver just apps or complete desktops, Citrix XenDesktop 7 leverages common policies and cohesive tools to govern infrastructure resources and access.

## 2.5. Audience

This document describes the architecture and deployment procedures of an infrastructure comprised of Cisco, EMC, Microsoft and Citrix virtualization. The intended audience of this document includes, but is not limited to, sales engineers, field consultants, professional services, IT managers, partner engineering, and customers who want to deploy the solution described in this document.

## 3. Summary of Main Findings

The combination of technologies from Cisco Systems, Inc, Citrix Systems, Inc., Microsoft and EMC produced a highly efficient, robust and affordable Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI) for a hosted virtual desktop deployment. Key components of the solution included:

- This design is Cisco's Desktop Virtualization Simplified Design, with compute and storage converged at the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect. In this design, the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects are uplinked directly to the Layer 3 network, reducing the solution footprint and cost. This design is well suited for smaller deployments of virtual desktop infrastructure.
- Local storage in the form of two 400 GB Enterprise SSD's provides fast local storage for the Citrix Provisioning Services write-cache drives and significantly reduces the impact on the primary EMC VNXe3300 storage array.
- Cisco UCS B200 M3 half-width blade with dual 12-core 2.7 GHz Intel Ivy Bridge (E5-2697v2) processors and 384GB of memory supports 25% more virtual desktop workloads than the previously released Sandy Bridge processors on the same hardware.
- The 500-user design is based on using one Unified Computing System chassis with three Cisco UCS B200 M3 blades for virtualized desktop workloads and one Cisco UCS B200 M3 blade for virtualized infrastructure workloads.
- The 1000-user design is based on using two Cisco Unified Computing System chassis with five Cisco UCS B200 M3 blades for virtualized desktop workloads and one Cisco UCS B200 M3 blade for virtualized infrastructure workloads.
- All log in and start workloads up to steady state were completed in 30-minutes without pegging the processor, exhausting memory or storage subsystems.
- The rack space required to support the 500 users was a single rack of approximately 22 rack units. The space required to support 1000 users in a fully redundant configuration was only 28 RUs, which translates to an additional Cisco UCS 5108 chassis.
- Pure Virtualization: This Cisco Validated Design presents a validated design that is 100% virtualized on Microsoft Hyper-V 2012. All of the Windows 7 SP1 virtual desktops and supporting infrastructure components, including Active Directory, Provisioning Servers, SQL Servers, and XenDesktop delivery controllers, were hosted as virtual servers.
- Cisco maintains our industry leadership with our new Cisco UCS Manager 2.1.3(a) software that simplifies scaling, guarantees consistency, and eases maintenance.
- Our 10G unified fabric story gets additional validation on second generation Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnects as Cisco runs more challenging workload testing, while maintaining unsurpassed user response times.
- EMC's VNXe3300 system provides storage consolidation and outstanding efficiency for up to 1000 users.
- Citrix XenDesktop<sup>™</sup> 7 follows a new unified product architecture that supports both hostedshared desktops and applications (RDS) and complete virtual desktops (VDI). This new XenDesktop release simplifies tasks associated with large-scale VDI management. This modular solution supports seamless delivery of Windows apps and desktops as the number of users increase. In addition, HDX enhancements help to optimize performance and improve the user

experience across a variety of endpoint device types, from workstations to mobile devices including laptops, tablets, and smartphones.

• For hosted shared desktop sessions, the best performance was achieved when the number of vCPUs assigned to the XenDesktop 7 RDS virtual machines did not exceed the number of hyper-threaded cores available on the server. In other words, maximum performance is obtained when not overcommitting the CPU resources for hosted shared desktops.

## 4. Architecture

## 4.1. Hardware Deployed

The architecture deployed is highly modular. While each customer's environment might vary in its exact configuration, when the reference architecture contained in this document is built, it can easily be scaled as requirements and demands change. This includes scaling both up (adding additional resources within a Cisco UCS Domain) and out (adding additional Cisco UCS Domains and VNX Storage arrays).

The 500- and 1000-user XenDesktop 7 solution includes Cisco networking, Cisco Unified Computing System, and EMC VNXe storage, which fits into a single data center rack, including the access layer network switches.

This Cisco Validated Design document details the deployment of the 500- and 1000-user configurations for a mixed XenDesktop workload featuring the following software:

- Citrix XenDesktop 7 Pooled Hosted Virtual Desktops with PVS write cache on TierO storage
- Citrix XenDesktop 7 Shared Hosted Virtual Desktops with PVS write cache on Tier0 storage
- Citrix Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- Citrix StoreFront 2.0
- Cisco Nexus 1000V Distributed Virtual Switch
- Microsoft Windows Hyper-V 2012 Hypervisor
- Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager SP1
- Microsoft SQL Server 2012 SP1

## Figure 2: Workload Architecture 1000 Mixed Workload Users Rack Architecture 10GB Ethernet iSCSI Storage Connectivity UCS 6248UP Fabric Interconnects w/Unified 16-Port Expansion Module UCS 8200 M3 E5-2697v2, 384 GB RAM, Cisco VIC 1240 VDI Workload Eliades (7) UCS 6108 w/ 2 2204XP IOMs Blade Chassis (k2) UCS B200 M3 E5-2650, 128GB RAM, Cisco VIC1240 Infrastructure Blades (2) EMC VNXe 3300 44x600GB SAS drives (Data) EMC VNXe 3300 Storage Processors (A/B)

The workload contains the following hardware as shown in Figure 2: Workload Architecture:

- Two Cisco UCS 6248UP Series Fabric Interconnects
- Two Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis (1 for each 500-users of capacity) with two 2204XP IO Modules per chassis
- Five Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Servers with Intel E5-2697v2 processors, 384GB RAM, and VIC1240 mezzanine cards for the mixed desktop virtualization workloads.
- Two Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Servers with Intel E5-2650 processors, 128 GB RAM, and VIC1240 mezzanine cards for the infrastructure virtualization workloads
- One EMC VNXe3300 dual controller storage system for HA, 44 SAS disks across 3 shelves, 10GE ports for network connectivity.

The EMC VNXe3300 disk shelf configurations are detailed in Section 5.4 Storage Architecture Design later in this document.

## 4.2. Logical Architecture

The logical architecture of the validated design is very similar between the 500-user and 1000-user configuration. The design was architected to support 500 users within a single chassis and four blades. The 1000-users configuration would require seven blades across two chassis, which would also add physical redundancy for the chassis. If full redundancy is required within the 500-user configuration, a second infrastructure host (INFRA-2) can be added or the virtual machines hosted on INFRA-2 could be placed on VDI 1-4. The table below outlines all the servers in the two configurations.

#### Table 1: Infrastructure Architecture

Server Name	Location	Purpose
INFRA-1	Physical – Chassis 1	Clustered Windows 2012 Datacenter server for infrastructure guests
VDI1-2	Physical – Chassis 1	Mixed workload Hyper-V 2012 server
VDI1-3	Physical – Chassis 1	Mixed workload Hyper-V 2012 server
VDI1-4	Physical – Chassis 1	Mixed workload Hyper-V 2012 server – (N+1) spare capacity
INFRA-2	Physical – Chassis 2	Clustered Windows 2012 Datacenter server for infrastructure guests (1000-user configuration)
VDI2-1	Physical – Chassis 2	Mixed workload Hyper-V 2012 server (1000 – user configuration)
VDI2-2	Physical – Chassis 2	Mixed workload Hyper-V 2012 server (1000- user configuration)
AD-DC1	Virtual – INFRA-1	Active Directory Domain Controller
EXC1	Virtual – INFRA-1	XenDesktop 7 controller
PVS1	Virtual – INFRA-1	Provisioning Services streaming server
SCVMM1/	Virtual – INFRA-1	System Center 2012 Virtual Machine
SCVMM2		Manager Server
SFS1	Virtual – INFRA-1	StoreFront Services server
SQL1	Virtual – INFRA-1	SQL Server (primary) for AlwaysOn groups
Nexus1000V1	Virtual – INFRA-1	Nexus 1000-V VSM HA node
Nexus1000V3	Virtual – INFRA-1	Nexus 1000-V VSM HA node
HSDGold	Virtual – INFRA-1	Used to manage the PVS golden image for the Hosted Shared Desktop server image
XDGold	Virtual – INFRA-1	Used to managed the PVS golden image for the Windows 7 XenDesktop VDI image
AD-DC2	Virtual – INFRA-2	Active Directory Domain Controller
EXC2	Virtual – INFRA-2	XenDesktop 7 controller
PVS2	Virtual – INFRA-2	Provisioning Services streaming server
SQL2	Virtual – INFRA-2	SQL Server (secondary) for AlwaysOn groups
Nexus1000V 2	Virtual – INFRA-2	Nexus 1000-V VSM HA node
Nexus1000V4	Virtual – INFRA-2	Nexus 1000-V VSM HA node

#### 4.3. Software Revisions

This section includes the software versions of the primary products installed in the environment.

Table 2: Software Revisions

Vendor	Product	Version
Cisco	UCS Firmware	2.1(3a)
Cisco	UCS Manager	2.1(3a)
Cisco	Nexus 1000V for Hyper-V	5.2(1) SM1 (5.1)
Citrix	XenDesktop	7.0.0.3018
Citrix	Provisioning Services	7.0.0.46

Citrix	StoreFront Services	2.0.0.90
Microsoft	System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager SP1	3.1.6027.0
Microsoft	Windows Server 2012 DataCenter	6.2.9200 Build 9200
Microsoft	Hyper-V Server 2012	6.2.9200 Build 9200
Microsoft	SQL Server 2012 SP1	11.0.30000.0 (x64)

#### 4.4. Configuration Guidelines

This section provides guidelines for situations where additional guidance may be necessary.

#### 4.4.1. VLAN

The VLAN configuration recommended for the environment includes a total of eight VLANs as outlined in the table below.

VLAN Name	VLAN ID	Use
MGMT	60	Management. Used for the Hyper-V hosts and physical hardware. Should always be assigned to the first vNIC on any host and never connected to a Hyper-V virtual switch.
INFRA	61	Infrastructure. Used for all the virtualized infrastructure hosts, such as the XenDesktop Controllers, Provisioning Servers, SQL Servers, etc.
PVS-VDI	62	Provisioning Services and VDI. Used as the only network available for the provisioned hosted shared and virtual desktops.
CSV	63	Clustered Shared Volumes and Cluster heartbeat. Used only on the infrastructure cluster hosts for cluster communication and data volume traffic.
LMIGR	64	LiveMigration for Infrastructure Cluster. Used only on the infrastructure cluster hosts for live migration of guests between the two hosts.
STORAGE-A	65	iSCSI traffic on Fabric A. Used only for iSCSI traffic on channel A.
STORAGE-B	66	iSCSI traffic on Fabric B. Used only for iSCSI traffic on channel B.
STORAGE- NULL	99	Null Storage VLAN. Used temporarily during the Windows 2012 install to prevent the install from detecting multiple storage paths to the iSCSI volume.

As described in section 4.2 Logical Architecture section, the only clustering in the design is between INFRA-1 and INFRA-2 when 1000-users are involved or full redundancy is required for the infrastructure hosts. If INFRA-2 is not included in the design, then the clustering VLANs 63 and 64 can be omitted.

### 4.4.2. Hyper-V Clustering

This section describes the quidelines about configuring Microsoft Hyper-V Clustering.

## 4.4.2.1. Network Configuration Guidelines

Microsoft recommends having a minimum of two networks for your failover cluster: a public network that allows clients to connect to the cluster and a separate network that is used only for communication between the clustered servers. You can configure additional networks for specific storage options or for redundancy as needed.

When you use identical network adapters for a network, also use identical communication settings on those adapters (for example, Speed, Duplex Mode, Flow Control, and Media Type). Also, compare the settings between the network adapter and the switch it connects to and make sure that no settings are in conflict.

If you have private networks that are not routed to the rest of your network infrastructure, make sure that each of these private networks uses a unique subnet. This is necessary even if you give each network adapter a unique IP address. For example, if you have a cluster node in a central office that uses one physical network, and another node in a branch office that uses a separate physical network, do not specify 10.0.0.0/24 for both networks, even if you give each adapter a unique IP address.

## 4.4.2.2. Prestage Cluster Computer Objects in Active Directory

When you create a failover cluster by using the Create Cluster Wizard or by using Windows PowerShell, you must specify a name for the cluster. If you have sufficient permissions when you create the cluster, the cluster creation process automatically creates a computer object in AD DS that matches the cluster name. This object is called the cluster name object or CNO. Through the CNO, virtual computer objects (VCOs) are automatically created when you configure clustered roles that use client access points. For example, if you create a highly available file server with a client access point that is named FileServer1, the CNO will create a corresponding VCO in AD DS.

To create the CNO automatically, the user who creates the failover cluster must have the Create Computer objects permission to the organizational unit (OU) or the container where the servers that will form the cluster reside. To enable a user or group to create a cluster without having this permission, a user with appropriate permissions in AD DS (typically a domain administrator) can prestage the CNO in AD DS. This also provides the domain administrator more control over the naming convention that is used for the cluster, and control over which OU the cluster objects are created in.

Instructions about how to pre-stage the Cluster Name Object can be found here: <u>http://technet.microsoft.com/en-us/library/dn466519.aspx</u>

## 4.4.2.3. Quorum Configuration Guidelines

The cluster software automatically configures the quorum for a new cluster, based on the number of nodes configured and the availability of shared storage. This is usually the most appropriate quorum configuration for that cluster. However, it is a good idea to review the quorum configuration after the cluster is created, before placing the cluster into production. To view the detailed cluster quorum

configuration, you can you use the Validate a Configuration Wizard, or the Test-Cluster Windows PowerShell cmdlet, to run the Validate Quorum Configuration test. In Failover Cluster Manager, the basic quorum configuration is displayed in the summary information for the selected cluster, or you can review the information about quorum resources that returns when you run the Get-ClusterQuorum Windows PowerShell cmdlet.

At any time, you can run the Validate Quorum Configuration test to validate that the quorum configuration is optimal for your cluster. The test output indicates if a change to the quorum configuration is recommended and the settings that are optimal. If a change is recommended, you can use the Configure Cluster Quorum Wizard to apply the recommended settings.

After the cluster is in production, do not change the quorum configuration unless you have determined that the change is appropriate for your cluster.

## 4.4.2.4. Cluster Validation Tests

Before you create the failover cluster, we strongly recommend that you validate the configuration to make sure that the hardware and hardware settings are compatible with failover clustering. Microsoft supports a cluster solution only if the complete configuration passes all validation tests and if all hardware is certified for the version of Windows Server that the cluster nodes are running.

**Note**: You must have at least two nodes to run all tests. If you have only one node, many of the critical storage tests do not run.

The cluster validation tool can be launched through the Failover Cluster Manager, under Management, click Validate Configuration.

## 5. Infrastructure Components

This section describes the infrastructure components used in this Cisco Validated Design.

## 5.1. Cisco Unified Computer System (UCS)

The Cisco Unified Computing System<sup>™</sup> (Cisco UCS<sup>™</sup>) is a next-generation data center platform that unites computing, networking, storage access, and virtualization resources into a cohesive system designed to reduce total cost of ownership (TCO) and increase business agility. The system integrates a low-latency, lossless 10 Gigabit Ethernet unified network fabric with enterprise-class, x86-architecture servers. The system is an integrated, scalable, multi-chassis platform in which all resources participate in a unified management domain.

## 5.1.1. Cisco Unified Computing Components

The Cisco UCS components are shown in the diagram below.

#### Figure 3: Cisco UCS Components



The Cisco Unified Computing System is designed from the ground up to be programmable and selfintegrating. A server's entire hardware stack, ranging from server firmware and settings to network profiles, is configured through model-based management. With Cisco virtual interface cards, even the number and type of I/O interfaces is programmed dynamically, making every server ready to power any workload at any time.

With model-based management, administrators manipulate a model of a desired system configuration then associate a model's service profile with hardware resources. Once associated the system configures itself to match the model. This automation speeds provisioning and workload migration with accurate and rapid scalability. The result is increased IT staff productivity, improved compliance, and reduced risk of failures due to inconsistent configurations.

Cisco Fabric Extender technology reduces the number of system components to purchase, configure, manage, and maintain by condensing three network layers into one. It eliminates both blade server and hypervisor-based switches by connecting fabric interconnect ports directly to individual blade servers and virtual machines. Virtual networks are now managed exactly as physical networks are, but with massive scalability. This represents a radical simplification over traditional systems, reducing capital and operating costs while increasing business agility, simplifying and speeding deployment, and improving performance.

## 5.1.2. Cisco Fabric Interconnects

The Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnects are a core part of the Cisco Unified Computing System, providing both network connectivity and management capabilities for the system (Figure 2). The Cisco UCS 6200 Series offers line-rate, low-latency, lossless 10 Gigabit Ethernet, Fiber Channel over Ethernet (FCOE), and Fiber Channel functions.

The Cisco UCS 6200 Series provides the management and communication backbone for the Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers and 5100 Series Blade Server Chassis. All chassis, and therefore all blades, attached to the Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnects become part of a single, highly available management domain. In addition, by supporting unified fabric, the Cisco UCS 6200 Series provides both the LAN and SAN connectivity for all blades within its domain.

From a networking perspective, the Cisco UCS 6200 Series uses a cut-through architecture, supporting deterministic, low-latency, line-rate 10 Gigabit Ethernet on all ports, switching capacity of 2 terabits (Tb), and 320-Gbps bandwidth per chassis, independent of packet size and enabled services. The product family supports Cisco<sup>®</sup> low-latency, lossless 10 Gigabit Ethernet unified network fabric capabilities, which increase the reliability, efficiency, and scalability of Ethernet networks. The fabric interconnect supports multiple traffic classes over a lossless Ethernet fabric from the blade through the Interconnect. Significant TCO savings come from an FCoE-optimized server design in which network interface cards (NICs), host bus adapters (HBAs), cables, and switches can be consolidated.

The Cisco UCS 6248UP is a 48-port Fabric Interconnect which provides low-latency throughput in excess of 1Tbps in a single rack unit (1 RU) form-factor. The Interconnect itself has 32 fixed ports of Fiber Channel, 10-Gigabit Ethernet, Cisco Data Center Ethernet, and FCoE SFP+ ports. One expansion module slot can provide an additional sixteen ports of Fiber Channel, 10-GE, Cisco Data Center Ethernet, and FCoE SFP+.

## 5.1.3. Cisco IO Modules (Fabric Extenders)

The Cisco UCS 2200 Series FEX is responsible for multiplexing and forwarding all traffic from blade servers in a chassis to a parent Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect over the 10-Gbps unified fabric links. All traffic, even traffic between blades on the same chassis, or VMs on the same blade, is forwarded to the parent interconnect, where network profiles are managed efficiently and effectively by the Fabric Interconnect. At the core of the Cisco UCS Fabric Extenders are ASIC processors developed by Cisco to multiplex all traffic.

Note: Up to two fabric extenders can be placed in a blade chassis.

Cisco UCS 2204 used in this architecture has eight 10GBASE-KR connections to the blade chassis midplane, with one connection per fabric extender for each of the chassis' eight half slots. This gives each half-slot blade server access to each of two 10-Gbps unified fabric-based networks through SFP+ sockets for both throughput and redundancy. It has 4 ports connecting up the fabric interconnect.

## 5.1.4. Cisco UCS Chassis

The Cisco UCS 5108 Series Blade Server Chassis is a 6 RU blade chassis that will accept up to eight halfwidth Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers or up to four full-width Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, or a combination of the two. The Cisco UCS 5108 Series Blade Server Chassis can accept four redundant power supplies with automatic load-sharing and failover and two Cisco UCS (either 2100 or 2200 series ) Fabric Extenders. The chassis is managed by Cisco UCS Chassis Management Controllers, which are mounted in the Cisco UCS Fabric Extenders and work in conjunction with the Cisco UCS Manager to control the chassis and its components.

A single Cisco UCS managed domain can theoretically scale to up to 40 individual chassis and 320 blade servers. At this time Cisco supports up to 20 individual chassis and 160 blade servers.

Basing the I/O infrastructure on a 10-Gbps unified network fabric allows the Cisco Unified Computing System to have a streamlined chassis with a simple yet comprehensive set of I/O options. The result is a chassis that has only five basic components:

- The physical chassis with passive midplane and active environmental monitoring circuitry
- Four power supply bays with power entry in the rear, and hot-swappable power supply units accessible from the front panel
- Eight hot-swappable fan trays, each with two fans
- Two fabric extender slots accessible from the back panel
- Eight blade server slots accessible from the front panel

### 5.1.5. Cisco UCS Manager

The Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnect hosts and runs Cisco UCS Manager in a highly available configuration, enabling the fabric interconnects to fully manage all Cisco UCS elements. Connectivity to the Cisco UCS 5100 Series blade chassis is maintained through the Cisco UCS 2100 or 2200 Series Fabric Extenders in each blade chassis. The Cisco UCS 6200 Series interconnects support out-of-band management through a dedicated 10/100/1000-Mbps Ethernet management port as well as in-band management. Cisco UCS Manager typically is deployed in a clustered active-passive configuration on redundant fabric interconnects connected through dual 10/100/1000 Ethernet clustering ports.

## 5.1.6. Cisco UCS B200 M3Blade Servers

Cisco UCS B200 M3 is a third generation half-slot, two-socket blade server. The Cisco UCS B200 M3 harnesses the power of the latest Intel<sup>®</sup> Xeon<sup>®</sup> processor E5-2600 product family, with up to 384 GB of RAM (using 16-GB DIMMs), two optional SAS/SATA/SSD disk drives, and up to dual 4x 10 Gigabit Ethernet throughput, utilizing our VIC 1240 LAN on motherboard (LOM) design. The Cisco UCS B200 M3 further extends the capabilities of Cisco Unified Computing Sytem by delivering new levels of manageability, performance, energy efficiency, reliability, security, and I/O bandwidth for enterprise-class virtualization and other mainstream data center workloads.

### 5.1.7. Cisco Virtual Interface Card (VIC) Converged Network Adapter

A Cisco innovation, the Cisco UCS Virtual Interface Card (VIC) 1240 (Figure 4) is a 4-port 10 Gigabit Ethernet, Fiber Channel over Ethernet (FCoE)-capable modular LAN on motherboard (mLOM) designed exclusively for the Cisco UCS M3 generation of Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers. When used in combination with an optional Port Expander, the Cisco UCS VIC 1240 capabilities can be expanded to eight ports of 10 Gigabit Ethernet.

The Cisco UCS VIC 1240 enables a policy-based, stateless, agile server infrastructure that can present up to 256 PCIe standards-compliant interfaces to the host that can be dynamically configured as either network interface cards (NICs) or host bus adapters (HBAs).

Figure 4: VIC 1240



#### Figure 5: VIC 1240 Architecture



#### 5.2. EMC VNXe3300

The EMC VNXe series redefines networked storage for the small business to small enterprise user, delivering an unequaled combination of features, simplicity, and efficiency. These unified storage systems provide true storage consolidation capability with seamless management and a unique application-driven approach that eliminates the boundaries between applications and their storage.

With scalability from six up to 150 disk drives and 450 terabytes of capacity, the VNXe series is ready to meet the needs of growing organizations with increasingly complex storage requirements. The VNXe3150<sup>™</sup> is an ideal platform for businesses with physical server infrastructures, as well as those making the move to server virtualization to drive consolidation and greater efficiency. The VNXe3300<sup>™</sup> includes all of the ease of use and application-driven management features of the VNXe3150, along with increased performance, scalability, and I/O expandability. Both systems share a comprehensive set of features including exceptional capacity utilization, data protection and availability solutions, and advanced support capabilities.

## 5.2.1. Advantages and Value Proposition

The EMC VNX<sup>™</sup> family is optimized for virtual applications delivering industry-leading innovation and enterprise capabilities for file, block, and object storage in a scalable, easy-to-use solution. This next-generation storage platform combines powerful and flexible hardware with advanced efficiency, management, and protection software to meet the demanding needs of today's enterprises.

The VNXe series is powered by Intel Xeon processor, for intelligent storage that automatically and efficiently scales in performance, while ensuring data integrity and security.

The VNXe series is purpose-built for the IT manager in smaller environments and the VNX series is designed to meet the high-performance, high-scalability requirements of midsize and large enterprises.

The table below lists the VNXe customer benefits.

#### Table 4: VNXe Benefits

Feature	
Next-generation unified storage, optimized for virtualized applications	✓
Capacity optimization features including compression, deduplication, thin provisioning, and application-centric copies	$\checkmark$
High availability, designed to deliver five 9s availability	$\checkmark$
Multiprotocol support for file and block	$\checkmark$
Simplified management with EMC Unisphere™ for a single management interface for all NAS, SAN, and replication needs	✓

### 5.2.2. Software suites available

- Remote Protection Suite—Protects data against localized failures, outages, and disasters.
- Application Protection Suite—Automates application copies and proves compliance.
- Security and Compliance Suite—Keeps data safe from changes, deletions, and malicious activity.

#### 5.2.3. Software packs available

• Total Value Pack—Includes all three protection software suites and the Security and Compliance Suite

### 5.3. Microsoft Technologies

#### 5.3.1. Windows Server 2012

With Windows Server 2012, Microsoft delivers a server platform built on our experience of building and operating many of the world's largest cloud-based services and datacenter. Whether you are setting-up a single server for your small business or architecting a major new datacenter environment, Windows Server 2012 will help you cloud-optimize your IT so you can fully meet your organization's unique needs.

#### 5.3.1.1. Beyond Virtualization

Offers a dynamic, multitenant infrastructure to help you scale and secure workloads and build a private cloud. Windows Server 2012 can help you provide:

- **Complete Virtualization Platform** A fully-isolated, multitenant environment with tools that can help guarantee service level agreements, enable usage-based chargeback, and support self-service delivery.
- Improved Scalability and Performance A high-density, scalable environment that you can modify to perform at an optimum level based on your needs.
- **Connecting to Cloud Services** A common identity and management framework to enable highly secure and reliable cross-premises connectivity.

## 5.3.1.2. The Power of Many Servers, the Simplicity of One

Windows Server 2012 delivers a highly available and easy to manage cloud-optimized platform. Windows Server 2012 can help you provide:

- **Flexible Storage** Diverse storage choices that can help you achieve high performance, availability, and storage resource efficiency through virtualization and storage conservation.
- **Continuous Availability** New and improved features that provide cost-effective, highly available services with protection against a wide range of failure scenarios.
- **Management Efficiency** Automation of a broad set of management tasks and simplified deployment of workloads as you move toward full, lights-out automation.

## 5.3.1.3. Every App, Any Cloud

Microsoft Windows Server 2012 offers a cloud-optimized server platform that gives you the flexibility to build and deploy applications and websites on-premises, in the cloud, or across both. Windows Server 2012 can help you deliver:

- Flexibility to Build On-Premises and in the Cloud A consistent set of tools and frameworks that enables developers to build symmetrical or hybrid applications across the datacenter and the cloud.
- A Scalable and Elastic Infrastructure New features to help you increase website density and efficiency, plus frameworks, services, and tools to increase the scalability and elasticity of modern applications.
- An Open Web and App Development Environment An open platform that enables mission-critical applications and provides enhanced support for open standards, open-source applications, and various development languages

## 5.3.2. Failover Clustering

Failover clusters provide high availability and scalability to many server workloads. These include server applications such as Microsoft Exchange Server, Hyper-V, Microsoft SQL Server, and file servers. The server applications can run on physical servers or virtual machines. In a failover cluster, if one or more of the clustered servers (nodes) fails, other nodes begin to provide service (a process known as failover). In addition, the clustered roles are proactively monitored to verify that they are working properly. If they are not working, they restart or move to another node. Failover clusters also provide Cluster Shared Volume (CSV) functionality that provides a consistent, distributed namespace that clustered roles can use to access shared storage from all nodes.

## 5.3.3. Clustered Shared Volumes

Cluster Shared Volumes (CSVs) in a Windows Server 2012 failover cluster allow multiple nodes in the cluster to simultaneously have read-write access to the same LUN (disk) that is provisioned as an NTFS volume. With CSVs, clustered roles can fail over quickly from one node to another node without requiring a change in drive ownership, or dismounting and remounting a volume. CSVs also help simplify managing a potentially large number of LUNs in a failover cluster.

CSVs provide a general-purpose, clustered file system in Windows Server 2012, which is layered above NTFS. They are not restricted to specific clustered workloads. (In Windows Server 2008 R2, CSVs only supported the Hyper-V workload.) CSV applications include:

- Clustered virtual hard disk (VHD) files for clustered Hyper-V virtual machines
- Scale-out file shares to store application data for the Scale-Out File Server role

### 5.3.4. Networking Support

Windows Server 2012 makes it as straightforward to manage an entire network as a single server, giving you the reliability and scalability of multiple servers at a lower cost. Automatic rerouting around storage, server, and network failures enables file services to remain online with minimal noticeable downtime.

Plus Windows Server 2012 – together with System Center 2012 SP1 – provides an end-to-end Software Defined Networking solution across public, private, and hybrid cloud implementations.

Whatever your organization's needs, be it administering network assets to managing an extensive private and public cloud network infrastructure, Windows Server 2012 offers you solutions to today's changing business landscape.

## 5.3.5. Hyper-V

Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V is a virtualization platform that has helped organizations of all sizes realize considerable cost savings and operational efficiencies. With industry leading size and scale, Hyper-V is the platform of choice for you to run your mission critical workloads.

Hyper-V in Windows Server 2012 greatly expands support for host processors and memory. It now includes support for up to 64 processors and 1 terabyte of memory for Hyper-V guests, a new VHDX virtual hard disk format with larger disk capacity of up to 64 terabytes, and additional resilience.

Using Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V, you can take advantage of new hardware technology, while still utilizing the servers you already have. This way you can virtualize today, and be ready for the future.

Whether you are looking to help increase VM mobility, help increase VM availability, handle multitenant environments, gain bigger scale, or gain more flexibility, Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V gives you the platform and tools you need to increase business flexibility with confidence. And you get the portability you need to virtualize on premises or extend your datacenter out to a hosting providing, helping you transform your datacenter into a cloud computing environment.

## 5.3.6. Hyper-V Server 2012

Microsoft Hyper-V Server 2012 is a hypervisor-based server virtualization product that enables you to consolidate workloads, helping organizations improve server utilization and reduce costs.

Hyper-V Server is a dedicated stand-alone product that contains the hypervisor, Windows Server driver model, virtualization capabilities, and supporting components such as failover clustering, but does not contain the robust set of features and roles as the Windows Server operating system. As a result Hyper-V Server produces a small footprint and and requires minimal overhead. Organizations consolidating servers where no new Windows Server licenses are required or where the servers being consolidated are running an alternative OS may want to consider Hyper-V Server.

One of the most common uses for Hyper-V Server is in Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI) environments. VDI allows a Windows client operating system to run on server-based virtual machines in the datacenter, which the user can access from a PC, thin client, or other client device. A full client environment is virtualized within a server-based hypervisor, centralizing users' desktops.

## 5.3.7. SQL Server 2012

Microsoft<sup>®</sup> SQL Server<sup>™</sup> is a database management and analysis system for e-commerce, line-ofbusiness, and data warehousing solutions. SQL Server 2012, the latest version, adds new high availability and disaster recovery solutions through AlwaysOn clusters and availability groups, xVelocity in-memory storage for extremely fast query performance, rapid data exploration and scalable business intelligence through Power View and tabular modeling in Analysis Services, and new data management capability with Data Quality Services.

## 5.3.7.1. AlwaysOn Application Groups

The AlwaysOn Availability Groups feature is a high-availability and disaster-recovery solution that provides an enterprise-level alternative to database mirroring. Introduced in SQL Server 2012, AlwaysOn Availability Groups maximizes the availability of a set of user databases for an enterprise. An availability group supports a failover environment for a discrete set of user databases, known as availability databases, that fail over together. An availability group supports a set of read-write primary databases and one to four sets of corresponding secondary databases. Optionally, secondary databases can be made available for read-only access and/or some backup operations.

## 5.3.8. System Center Virtual Machine Manager 2012 SP1

Microsoft System Center 2012 provides a common management toolset to help you configure, provision, monitor, and operate your IT infrastructure. If your infrastructure is like that of most organizations, you have physical and virtual resources running heterogeneous operating systems. The integrated physical, virtual, private, and public cloud management capabilities in System Center 2012 can help ensure efficient IT management and optimized ROI of those resources.

Virtual Machine Manager (VMM) is a management solution for the virtualized datacenter, enabling you to configure and manage your virtualization host, networking, and storage resources in order to create and deploy virtual machines and services to private clouds that you have created.

Virtual Machine Manager uses a single pane of glass to manage multi-hypervisor virtualized environments such as Windows Server Hyper-V, Citrix XenServer, and VMware vSphere. This enables you to extend existing investments while you build your private cloud.

## 5.4. Citrix XenDesktop 7

## 5.4.1. Enhancements in This Release

Built on the Avalon<sup>™</sup> architecture, Citrix XenDesktop<sup>™</sup> 7 includes significant enhancements to help customers deliver Windows apps and desktops as mobile services while addressing management complexity and associated costs. Enhancements in this release include:

- A new unified product architecture—the FlexCast 2.0 architecture— and administrative interfaces designed to deliver both hosted-shared applications (RDS) and complete virtual desktops (VDI). Unlike previous software releases that required separate Citrix XenApp farms and XenDesktop infrastructures, this new release allows administrators to deploy a single infrastructure and employ a consistent set of management tools for mixed desktop and app workloads.
- New and improved management interfaces. XenDesktop 7 includes two new purpose-built management consoles—one for automating workload provisioning and app publishing and the second for real-time monitoring of the infrastructure.

- Enhanced HDX technologies. Since mobile technologies and devices are increasingly pervasive, Citrix has engineered new and improved HDX technologies to improve the user experience for hosted Windows apps and desktops delivered on laptops, tablets, and smartphones.
- Unified App Store. The release includes a self-service Windows app store, implemented through Citrix StoreFront services, that provides a single, simple, and consistent aggregation point for all user services. IT can publish apps, desktops, and data services to the StoreFront, from which users can search and subscribe to services.

## 5.4.2. FlexCast Technology

In Citrix XenDesktop 7, FlexCast 2.0 technology is responsible for delivering and managing hosted-shared RDS apps and complete VDI desktops. By using Citrix Receiver with XenDesktop 7, users have a devicenative experience on endpoints including Windows, Mac, Linux, iOS, Android, ChromeOS, and Blackberry.

The diagram below shows an overview of the unified FlexCast 2.0 architecture and underlying components, which are also described below:

- Citrix Receiver. Running on user endpoints, Receiver provides users with self-service access to resources published on XenDesktop servers. Receiver combines ease of deployment and use, supplying fast, secure access to hosted applications, desktops, and data. Receiver also provides on-demand access to Windows, Web, and Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) applications.
- Citrix StoreFront. StoreFront authenticates users and manages catalogs of desktops and applications. Users can search StoreFront catalogs and subscribe to published services through Citrix Receiver.

#### Figure 6: XenDesktop 7 Architecture



- Citrix Studio. Using the new and improved Studio interface, administrators can easily configure and manage XenDesktop deployments. Studio provides wizards to guide the process of setting up an environment, creating desktops, and assigning desktops to users, automating provisioning and application publishing. It also allows administration tasks to be customized and delegated to match site operational requirements.
- Delivery Controller. The Delivery Controller is responsible for distributing applications and desktops, managing user access, and optimizing connections to applications. Each site has one or more delivery controllers.
- Server OS Machines. These are virtual or physical machines (based on a Windows Server operating system) that deliver RDS applications or hosted shared desktops to users.
- Desktop OS Machines. These are virtual or physical machines (based on a Windows Desktop operating system) that deliver personalized VDI desktops or applications that run on a desktop operating system.
- Remote PC. XenDesktop with Remote PC allows IT to centrally deploy secure remote access to all Windows PCs on the corporate network. It is a comprehensive solution that delivers fast, secure remote access to all the corporate apps and data on an office PC from any device.
- Virtual Delivery Agent. A Virtual Delivery Agent is installed on each virtual or physical machine (within the server or desktop OS) and manages each user connection for application and desktop services. The agent allows OS machines to register with the Delivery Controllers and governs the HDX connection between these machines and Citrix Receiver.

- Citrix Director. Citrix Director is a powerful administrative tool that helps administrators quickly troubleshoot and resolve issues. It supports real-time assessment, site health and performance metrics, and end user experience monitoring. Citrix EdgeSight<sup>®</sup> reports are available from within the Director console and provide historical trending and correlation for capacity planning and service level assurance.
- Citrix Provisioning Services 7. This new release of Citrix Provisioning Services (PVS) technology is
  responsible for streaming a shared virtual disk (vDisk) image to the configured Server OS or
  Desktop OS machines. This streaming capability allows VMs to be provisioned and reprovisioned in real-time from a single image, eliminating the need to patch individual systems
  and conserving storage. All patching is done in one place and then streamed at boot-up. Citrix
  PVS 7 supports image management for both RDS and VDI-based machines, including support for
  image snapshots and rollbacks.

## 5.4.3. High-Definition User Experience (HDX) Technology

High-Definition User Experience (HDX) technology in this release is optimized to improve the user experience for hosted Windows apps on mobile devices. Specific enhancements include:

- HDX Mobile<sup>™</sup> technology, designed to cope with the variability and packet loss inherent in today's mobile networks. HDX technology supports deep compression and redirection, taking advantage of advanced codec acceleration and an industry-leading H.264-based compression algorithm. The technology enables dramatic improvements in frame rates while requiring significantly less bandwidth. HDX technology offers users a rich multimedia experience and optimized performance for voice and video collaboration.
- HDXTouch technology enables mobile navigation capabilities similar to native apps, without rewrites or porting of existing Windows applications. Optimizations support native menu controls, multi-touch gestures, and intelligent sensing of text-entry fields, providing a native application look and feel.
- HDX 3D Pro uses advanced server-side GPU resources for compression and rendering of the latest OpenGL and DirectX professional graphics apps. GPU support includes both dedicated user and shared user workloads.

## 5.4.4. Citrix XenDesktop 7 Desktop and Application Services

IT departments strive to deliver application services to a broad range of enterprise users that have varying performance, personalization, and mobility requirements. Citrix XenDesktop 7 allows IT to configure and deliver any type of virtual desktop or app, hosted or local, and optimize delivery to meet individual user requirements, while simplifying operations, securing data, and reducing costs.

#### Figure 7: XenDesktop Controller



With previous product releases, administrators had to deploy separate XenApp farms and XenDesktop sites to support both hosted-shared RDS and VDI desktops. As shown above, the new XenDesktop 7 release allows administrators to create a single infrastructure that supports multiple modes of service delivery, including:

- Application Virtualization and Hosting (RDS). Applications are installed on or streamed to Windows servers in the data center and remotely displayed to users' desktops and devices.
- Hosted Shared Desktops (RDS). Multiple user sessions share a single, locked-down Windows Server environment running in the datacenter and accessing a core set of apps. This model of service delivery is ideal for task workers using low intensity applications, and enables more desktops per host compared to VDI.
- Pooled VDI Desktops. This approach leverages a single desktop OS image to create multiple thinly provisioned or streamed desktops. Optionally, desktops can be configured with a Personal vDisk to maintain user application, profile and data differences that are not part of the base image. This approach replaces the need for dedicated desktops, and is generally deployed to address the desktop needs of knowledge workers that run more intensive application workloads.
- VM Hosted Apps (16 bit, 32 bit, or 64 bit Windows apps). Applications are hosted on virtual desktops running Windows 7, XP, or Vista and then remotely displayed to users' physical or virtual desktops and devices.

This Cisco Validated Design focuses on delivering a mixed workload consisting of hosted shared desktops (RDS) and pooled VDI desktops.

## 5.4.5. Provisioning Services 7

One significant advantage to service delivery through RDS and VDI is how these technologies simplify desktop administration and management. Citrix Provisioning Services (PVS) takes the approach of streaming a single shared virtual disk (vDisk) image rather than provisioning and distributing multiple OS

image copies across multiple virtual machines. One advantage of this approach is that it constrains the number of disk images that must be managed, even as the number of desktops grows, providing image consistency. At the same time, using a single shared image (rather than hundreds or thousands of desktop images) significantly reduces the required storage footprint and dramatically simplifies image management.

Since there is a single master image, patch management is simple and reliable. All patching is done on the master image, which is then streamed as needed. When an updated image is ready for production, the administrator simply reboots to deploy the new image. Rolling back to a previous image is done in the same manner. Local hard disk drives in user systems can be used for runtime data caching or, in some scenarios, removed entirely, lowering power usage, system failure rates, and security risks.

After installing and configuring PVS components, a vDisk is created from a device's hard drive by taking a snapshot of the OS and application image, and then storing that image as a vDisk file on the network. vDisks can exist on a Provisioning Server, file share, or in larger deployments (as in this Cisco Validated Design), on a storage system with which the Provisioning Server can communicate (through iSCSI, SAN, NAS, and CIFS). vDisks can be assigned to a single target device in Private Image Mode, or to multiple target devices in Standard Image Mode.

When a user device boots, the appropriate vDisk is located based on the boot configuration and mounted on the Provisioning Server. The software on that vDisk is then streamed to the target device and appears like a regular hard drive to the system. Instead of pulling all the vDisk contents down to the target device (as is done with some imaging deployment solutions), the data is brought across the network in real time, as needed. This greatly improves the overall user experience since it minimizes desktop startup time.

This release of PVS extends built-in administrator roles to support delegated administration based on groups that already exist within the network (Windows or Active Directory Groups). All group members share the same administrative privileges within a farm. An administrator may have multiple roles if the y belong to more than one group.

## 6. Solution Architecture

An ever growing and diverse base of user devices, complexity in management of traditional desktops, security, and even Bring Your Own Computer (BYOC) to work programs are prime reasons for moving to a virtual desktop solution. The first step in designing a virtual desktop solution is to understand the user community and the type of tasks that are required to successfully execute their role. Users generally fall into one of the following classifications:

- **Knowledge Workers** today do not just work in their offices all day they attend meetings, visit branch offices, work from home, and even connect from coffee shops. These anywhere workers expect access to all of their applications and data wherever they are.
- External Contractors are increasingly part of everyday business. They need access to only certain portions of applications and data, yet administrators still have little control over the

devices they use and the locations from which they work. Consequently, the IT staff must choose between the cost of providing these workers a device or assuming the inherent security risk of allowing access to company data from unmanaged devices.

- **Task Workers** perform a set of well-defined, repetitive tasks. These workers run a limited set of applications that are less resource-intensive than applications run by knowledge workers.. However, since task workers are interacting with customers, partners, and employees, they also have access to critical business data.
- **Mobile Workers** need access to their virtual desktop from everywhere, regardless of their ability to connect to a network. In addition, these workers expect the ability to personalize their PCs, by installing their own applications and storing their own data, such as photos and music, on these devices.
- **Shared Workstation** users are often found in state-of-the-art university and business computer labs, conference rooms or training centers. Shared workstation environments must constantly be updated with the latest operating systems and applications as the needs of the organization change.

After classifying the user population and evaluating the business requirements, the next step is to review and select the appropriate type of virtual desktop for each user classification. The five potential desktop environments are as follows:

- **Traditional PC**: A traditional PC is what traditionally constitutes a desktop environment: a physical device with a locally installed operating system.
- Hosted Shared Desktop: A hosted, server-based desktop is a desktop where the user interacts through a delivery protocol. With hosted, server-based desktops, multiple users simultaneously share a single installed instance of a server operating system, such as Microsoft Windows Server 2012. Each user receives a desktop "session" and works in an isolated memory space. Changes made by one user could impact the other users.
- **Hosted Virtual Desktop**: A hosted virtual desktop is a virtual desktop running either on a virtualization layer (such as Microsoft Hyper-V) or on bare metal hardware. The user does not work with and sit in front of the desktop, but instead the user interacts through a delivery protocol.
- **Streamed Applications**: Streamed desktops and applications run entirely on the user's local client device and are sent from a server on demand. The user interacts with the application or desktop directly but the resources may only be available while they are connected to the network.
- Local Virtual Desktop: A local virtual desktop is a desktop running entirely on the user's local device and continues to operate when disconnected from the network. In this case, the user's local device is used as a type 1 hypervisor and is synced with the data center when the device is connected to the network.

For the purposes of the validation represented in this document, only hosted shared desktops and hosted virtual desktops were validated. Each of the sections provides some fundamental design decisions for this environment.

## 6.1. Citrix Design Fundamentals

With Citrix XenDesktop 7, the method you choose to provide applications or desktops to users depends on the types of applications and desktops you are hosting and available system resources, as well as the types of users and user experience you want to provide.

#### Table 5: Citrix Design Decisions

Server OS machines	<ul> <li>You want: Inexpensive server-based delivery to minimize the cost of delivering applications to a large number of users, while providing a secure, high-definition user experience.</li> <li>Your users: Perform well-defined tasks and do not require personalization or</li> </ul>
	offline access to applications. Users may include task workers such as call center operators and retail workers, or users that share workstations.
	Application types: Any application.
Desktop OS machines	<b>You want</b> : A client-based application delivery solution that is secure, provides centralized management, and supports a large number of users per host server (or hypervisor), while providing users with applications that display seamlessly in high-definition.
	<b>Your users</b> : Are internal, external contractors, third-party collaborators, and other provisional team members. Users do not require off-line access to hosted applications.
	<b>Application types</b> : Applications that might not work well with other applications or might interact with the operating system, such as .NET framework. These types of applications are ideal for hosting on virtual machines.
	Applications running on older operating systems such as Windows XP or Windows Vista, and older architectures, such as 32-bit or 16-bit. By isolating each application on its own virtual machine, if one machine fails, it does not impact other users.
Remote PC Access	<b>You want:</b> Employees with secure remote access to a physical computer without using a VPN. For example, the user may be accessing their physical desktop PC from home or through a public WIFI hotspot. Depending upon the location, you may want to restrict the ability to print or copy and paste outside of the desktop. This method enables BYOD support without migrating desktop images into the datacenter.
	<b>Your users:</b> Employees or contractors that have the option to work from home, but need access to specific software or data on their corporate desktops to perform their jobs remotely.
	Host: The same as Desktop OS machines.
	<b>Application types:</b> Applications that are delivered from an office computer and display seamlessly in high definition on the remote user's device.

For the Cisco Validated Design described in this document, Hosted Shared (using Server OS machines) and Hosted Virtual Desktops (using Desktop OS machines) were configured and tested. The following sections discuss fundamental design decisions relative to this environment.
#### 6.1.1. Citrix Hosted Shared Desktop Design Fundamentals

Citrix XenDesktop 7 integrates Hosted Shared and VDI desktop virtualization technologies into a unified architecture that enables a scalable, simple, efficient, and manageable solution for delivering Windows applications and desktops as a service.

Users can select applications from an easy-to-use "store" that is accessible from tablets, smartphones, PCs, Macs, and thin clients. XenDesktop delivers a native touch-optimized experience with HDX high-definition performance, even over mobile networks.

#### 6.1.1.1. Machine Catalogs

Collections of identical Virtual Machines (VMs) or physical computers are managed as a single entity called a Machine Catalog. In this Cisco Validated Design, VM provisioning relies on Citrix Provisioning Services to make sure that the machines in the catalog are consistent. In this Cisco Validated Design, machines in the Machine Catalog are configured to run either a Windows Server OS (for RDS hosted shared desktops) or a Windows Desktop OS (for hosted pooled VDI desktops).

#### 6.1.1.2. Delivery Groups

To deliver desktops and applications to users, you create a Machine Catalog and then allocate machines from the catalog to users by creating Delivery Groups. Delivery Groups provide desktops, applications, or a combination of desktops and applications to users. Creating a Delivery Group is a flexible way of allocating machines and applications to users. In a Delivery Group, you can:

- Use machines from multiple catalogs
- Allocate a user to multiple machines
- Allocate multiple users to one machine

As part of the creation process, you specify the following Delivery Group properties:

- Users, groups, and applications allocated to Delivery Groups
- Desktop settings to match users' needs
- Desktop power management options

The graphic below shows how users access desktops and applications through machine catalogs and delivery groups. (Note that only Server OS and Desktop OS Machines are configured in this Cisco Validated Design solution to support hosted shared and pooled virtual desktops.)

#### Figure 8: User Access in XenDesktop 7



#### 6.1.1.3. Hypervisor Selection

Citrix XenDesktop is hypervisor-agnostic, so any of the following three hypervisors can be used to host RDS- and VDI-based desktops:

- Hyper-V: Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V is available in a Standard, Server Core and free Hyper-V Server 2008 R2 versions. More information on Hyper-V can be obtained at the Microsoft web site: <u>http://www.microsoft.com/en-us/server-cloud/windows-</u> server/default.aspx.
- VMware vSphere: VMware vSphere comprises the management infrastructure or virtual center server software and the hypervisor software that virtualizes the hardware resources on the servers. It offers features like Distributed Resource Scheduler, vMotion, high availability, Storage vMotion, VMFS, and a multipathing storage layer. More information on vSphere can be obtained at the VMware web site: <u>http://www.vmware.com/products/datacenter-</u> virtualization/vsphere/overview.html.
- XenServer: Citrix<sup>®</sup> XenServer<sup>®</sup> is a complete, managed server virtualization platform built on the powerful Xen<sup>®</sup> hypervisor. Xen technology is widely acknowledged as the fastest and most secure virtualization software in the industry. XenServer is designed for efficient management of Windows and Linux virtual servers and delivers cost-effective server consolidation and business continuity. More information on XenServer can be obtained at the web site: <a href="http://www.citrix.com/products/xenserver/overview.html">http://www.citrix.com/products/xenserver/overview.html</a>

For this Cisco Validated Design, the hypervisor used was Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V.

#### 6.1.1.4. Provisioning Services

Citrix XenDesktop 7 can be deployed with or without Citrix Provisioning Services (PVS). The advantage of using Citrix PVS is that it allows computers to be provisioned and re-provisioned in real-time from a single shared-disk image. In this way Citrix PVS greatly reduces the amount of storage required in comparison to other methods of provisioning virtual desktops.

Citrix PVS can create desktops as Pooled or Private:

- Private Desktop: A private desktop is a single desktop assigned to one distinct user.
- Pooled Desktop: A pooled virtual desktop uses Citrix PVS to stream a standard desktop image to multiple desktop instances upon boot.

When considering a PVS deployment, there are some design decisions that need to be made regarding the write cache for the virtual desktop devices that leverage provisioning services. The write cache is a cache of all data that the target device has written. If data is written to the PVS vDisk in a caching mode, the data is not written back to the base vDisk. Instead it is written to a write cache file in one of the following locations:

- Cache on device HD: Cache on local HD is stored in a file on a secondary local hard drive of the device. It gets created as an invisible file in the root folder of the local HD. The cache file size grows as needed, but it never gets larger than the original vDisk and frequently not larger than the free space on the original vDisk.
- Cache in device RAM: Cache is stored in client RAM (memory), The cache maximum size is fixed by a parameter in vDisk properties. All written data can be read from local RAM instead of going back to the server. RAM cache is faster than server cache and works in a high availability environment.
- Cache on server: Server cache is stored in a file on the server, or on a share, SAN, or other network storage resource. The file size grows as needed, but never gets larger than the original vDisk and frequently not larger than the free space on the original vDisk. It is slower than RAM cache because all reads/writes have to go to the server and be read from a file. Cache gets deleted when the device reboots; in other words, on every boot the device reverts to the base image. Changes remain only during a single boot session.
- Cache on device hard drive persisted: (Experimental Phase) This is the same as "Cache on device hard drive", except that the cache persists. At this time, this write cache method is an experimental feature only, and is only supported for NT6.1 or later (Windows 7 and Windows 2008 R2 and later). This method also requires a different bootstrap.
- Cache on server persisted: This cache option allows for the saving of changes between reboots. Using this option, after rebooting, a target device is able to retrieve changes made from previous sessions that differ from the read only vDisk image. If a vDisk is set to Cache on server persistent, each target device that accesses the vDisk automatically has a device-specific, writable disk file created. Any changes made to the vDisk image are written to that file, which is not automatically deleted upon shutdown.

The alternative to Citrix Provisioning Services for pooled desktop deployments is Citrix Machine Creation Services (MCS), which is integrated directly with the XenDesktop Studio console.

For this study, we used PVS 7 for managing Pooled Desktops with cache on device HD of each virtual machine so that the design would scale up to many thousands of desktops. Provisioning Server 7 was used for Active Directory machine account creation and management as well as for streaming the shared disk to the hypervisor hosts.

#### 6.1.1.5. System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager

Microsoft System Center Virtual Machine Manager (SCVMM) 2012 is a management solution for the virtualized datacenter, enabling you to configure and manage your virtualization host, networking, and storage resources in order to create and deploy virtual machines and services to private clouds that you have created. Microsoft System Center 2012 cloud and datacenter management solutions empower you with a common management toolset for your private and public cloud applications and services. SCVMM is an integral part of the System Center 2012 Application Management component.

#### 6.1.1.6. Example Deployments

The following are two examples of typical XenDesktop deployments:

- A distributed components configuration
- A multiple site configuration

#### 6.1.1.7. Distributed Components Configuration

You can distribute the components of your deployment among a greater number of servers, or provide greater scalability and failover by increasing the number of controllers in your site. You can install management consoles on separate computers to manage the deployment remotely. A distributed deployment is necessary for an infrastructure based on remote access through NetScaler Gateway (formerly called Access Gateway).

The diagram below shows an example of a distributed components configuration. A simplified version of this configuration is often deployed for an initial proof-of-concept (POC) deployment. The Cisco Validated Design described in this document deploys Citrix XenDesktop in a configuration that resembles this distributed components configuration shown.

#### Figure 9: Distributed components in XenDesktop 7



#### 6.1.1.8. Multiple Site Configuration

If you have multiple regional sites, you can use Citrix NetScaler to direct user connections to the most appropriate site and StoreFront to deliver desktops and applications to users.

In the diagram below depicting multiple sites, each site is split into two data centers, with the database mirrored or clustered between the data centers to provide a high availability configuration. Having two sites globally, rather than just one, minimizes the amount of unnecessary WAN traffic. A separate Studio console is required to manage each site; sites cannot be managed as a single entity. You can use Director to support users across sites.

Citrix NetScaler accelerates application performance, load balances servers, increases security, and optimizes the user experience. In this example, two NetScalers are used to provide a high availability configuration. The NetScalers are configured for Global Server Load Balancing and positioned in the DMZ to provide a multi-site, fault-tolerant solution. Two Cisco blade servers host infrastructure services (AD, DNS, DHCP, Profile, SQL, Citrix XenDesktop management, and web servers).

Figure 10: XenDesktop 7 Multi-Site Architecture



#### 6.2. EMC Storage Architecture Design

This section contains guidance on the EMC storage architecture design for high availability and data protection.

#### 6.2.1. High Availability

The VNXe series of storage systems offer several built-in high-availability features. This high availability is provided through redundant components. If one component fails, the other one is available to back it up. The redundant components include Storage Processors (SPs), cooling fans, AC power cords, power supplies, I/O modules, and Link Controller Cards (LCCs). Network high availability is provided through link aggregation.

For network high-availability features to work, the cable on each SP needs to have the same connectivity. If Port 0 on SPA is plugged in to subnet X, Port 0 on SPB must also be plugged in to subnet X. This is necessary for both server and network failover. If a VNXe server is configured to use a port that is not connected on the peer SP, an alert is generated. Unisphere does not verify if they are plugged in

to the same subnet, but they should be, for proper failover. If you configure a server on a port that has no cable or connectivity, the traffic is routed over an SP interconnect path to the same port on the peer SP (just a single network connection for the entire system is not recommended).

For additional information about high availability in VNXe storage systems, refer to the *EMC VNXe High Availability* white paper on EMC online support (<u>https://support.emc.com</u>) VNXe Product Page.

## 6.2.2. Data Protection

A small to medium organization's data is one of its most valuable assets. Therefore, the company's highest priorities must include safeguarding the data. EMCVNXe series provides integrated features that meet customers' goals of business continuity and data protection. Data protection for VNXe systems is summarized in three categories: snapshots, replication, and backup. For additional information about these features, refer to the EMC VNXe Data Protection white paper on EMC online support (<u>https://support.emc.com</u>) VNXe Product Page.

#### 6.3. Solution Validation

This section details the configuration and tuning that was performed on the individual components to produce a complete, validated solution.

6.3.1. Configuration Topology for Scalable Citrix XenDesktop 7 Hybrid Virtual Desktop Infrastructure on Cisco Unified Computing System and EMC Storage

# Cisco UCS 1000-user VDI Reference Configuration



Figure 11 captures the architectural diagram for the purpose of this study. The architecture is divided into four distinct layers:

- Cisco UCS Compute Platform
- The Virtual Desktop Infrastructure that runs on Cisco UCS blade hypervisor hosts
- Network Access layer and LAN
- Storage Access Network (SAN) and EMCVNXe Storage array

Figure 12 details the physical configurations of the 500-seat and 1000-seat XenDesktop 7 environments built for this validation.

#### Figure 12: Detailed Architecture of Configurations



## 6.4. Configuration Topology for Citrix XenDesktop 7on Cisco Unified Computing System with VNXe Storage

The diagram below provides an overview of the solution's topology.

#### Figure 13: Logical Architecture



#### 6.5. Cisco UCS Configuration

This section talks about the Cisco UCS configuration that was done as part of the infrastructure build out. The racking, power and installation of the chassis are described in the install guide (see

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/unified\_computing/ucs/hw/chassis/install/ucs5108\_install. html) and it is beyond the scope of this document. More details on each step can be found in the following documents:

- o Cisco UCS CLI Configuration Guide
- http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/unified\_computing/ucs/sw/cli/config/guide/2.0/b
   UCSM\_CLI\_Configuration\_Guide\_2\_0.html
- Cisco UCS-M GUI Configuration Guide <u>http://www.cisco.com/en/US/partner/docs/unified\_computing/ucs/sw/gui/config/guid</u> <u>e/2.1/b\_UCSM\_GUI\_Configuration\_Guide\_2\_1.html</u>

#### 6.6. Base Cisco UCS Configuration

To configure the Cisco Unified Computing System, perform the following steps:

- Before beginning the Cisco UCS configuration the Fabric Interconnect must be installed and configured for remote access through a browser. To do this, bring up the Fabric interconnect and from a Serial Console connection set the IP address, gateway, and the hostname of the primary fabric interconnect. Now bring up the second fabric interconnect after connecting the dual cables between them. The second fabric interconnect automatically recognizes the primary and ask if you want to be part of the cluster, answer yes and set the IP address, gateway and the hostname.
- When this is completed, access to the FI can be done remotely. You will also configure the virtual IP address to connect to the FI, you need a total of three IP address to bring it online. You can also wire up the chassis to the FI, using either 1, 2 or 4 links per IO Module, depending on your application bandwidth requirement.
- Connect using your favorite browser to the Virtual IP and launch the UCS Manager (UCSM). The Java based UCSM will let you do everything that you could do from the CLI. We will highlight the GUI methodology here.
- Before continuing, you should use the Admin tab in the left pane, to configure logging, users and authentication, key management, communications, statistics, time zone and NTP services, and Licensing. Time zone Management (including NTP time source(s)) and uploading your license files are critical steps in this process.

All steps outlined below in the configuration are completed from the Cisco UCS Manager user interface unless otherwise stated.

#### 6.6.1. Firmware Update

Instructions	Visual				
First check the firmware on the system and see if it is current. Visit the <u>Cisco Software</u> <u>Download</u> site to download the most current Cisco UCS Infrastructure and Cisco UCS	Installed Perseure     Perseure Ado Install     Catalog Packag       (a)     (a)     Perseure     Perseure       Name     Name       (ii)     (a)     Science       (iii)     (a)     Science       (iii)     (a)     Science       (iii)     (a)     Science       (iii)     (a)     Science       (iiii)     (a)     Science       (iiiii)     (a)     Science       (iiiii)     (a)     Science       (iiii)     (a)     (a)	Type	State Vendor Active Active Active	Upgrade Va version 2.1(14)0 2.1(10)0	Idetton   Paults   Deleted on Fabric   0  2
Manager software.	# ⊕ ucs-49-bundle-b-series 2, 1, 1, 6, 5 in     # ⊕ ucs-49-bundle-b-series 2, 1, 2, 143, 0, 5 in     # ⊕ ucs-49-bundle-b-series 2, 1, 2, 143, 0, 5 in     # ⊕ ucs-49-bundle-b-series 2, 1, 2, 2, 5, gin	8 Series Bunde 8 Series Bunde 8 Series Bunde 8 Series Bunde 8 Series Bunde	Active Active Active Active	2.0(1+)0 2.0(2,110)8 2.0(2,140)8 2.0(2,140)8 2.0(2,52)8 2.0(2,52)8	
In the Equipment tab, select the Equipment node then the Firmware Management tab and the Packages sub-tab to view the packages on	#: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-c-series.2.1.1a.C.bn     #: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-c-series.2.1.1a.C.bn     #: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-trins.2.1.1a.A.bn     #: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-trins.2.1.1a.A.bn     #: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-trins.2.1.2.1ba.Abn     #: ⊕ ucc+0-hundle-trins.2.1.2.1ba.Abn	C Series Bundle C Series Bundle Infrastructure Bundle Infrastructure Bundle Infrastructure Bundle	Active Active Active Active Active	2.1(14)C 2.1(14)C 2.1(14)C 2.1(14)A 2.1(14)A 2.1(14)A 2.1(2.110)A	
the system. Use the Download Tasks tab to download needed software to the FI. The firmware release used in this paper is 2.1(3a).	III III uss40-bundle Wrs.2.1.2.143.Abn III III uss40-bundle Wrs.2.1.2.52.A (don East uss40-bundle Wrs.2016) A Brit	Infrastructure Bundle Infrastructure Bundle Infrastructure Bundle	Active	2.1(2.143)A 2.1(2.52)A 2.1(26)A	
If the firmware is not current, follow the installation and upgrade guide to upgrade the					

#### 6.6.2. Acknowledge the Chassis



#### 6.6.3. Server Port Configuration



#### 6.6.4. Uplink Port Configuration



Instructions	Visual
	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
In the LAN tab, expand the LAN> LAN Cloud>	Filter: All
and Fabric A (or Fabric B) nodes. Select the Port	•
Channels node. Right-click and choose Create	E-E LAN
<b>Port Channel</b> to configure the port channel.	E Cloud
For this validation, Port-Channel 25 (Fabric A) was configured for all Ethernet Uplink Ports 1/25 – 1/28.	□····································
For this validation, Port-Channel 28 (Fabric B) was configured for all Ethernet Uplink Ports 1/25 – 1/28.	Fabric B     Port Channels     Port-Channel 28 (Port-Channel28)     Port-Channel 28 (Port-Channel 28)     Port-Port-Channel 28 (Port-Channel 28)     Port-Port-Channel 28 (Port-Channel 28)     Port-Port-Port-Port-Port-Port-Port-Port-

Instructions	Visual	
In the LAN tab, expand the LAN> LAN Cloud> and Fabric A (or Fabric B) nodes. Select the Uplink Eth Interfaces node. Verify the uplink ports are available.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All Filter:	



#### 6.6.5. VNXe Appliance Port Configuration

Instructions	Visual
	🖨 Configure as Appliance Part 🛐
Set <b>Priority</b> to Platinum	Configure as Appliance Port
Verify the <b>Port Mode</b> is set to Trunk Enable iSCSI-A and iSCSI-B <b>vLANs</b>	Product     Product
	OK Canod

# 6.6.6. KVM IP Address Pool

Instructions	Visual
In the LAN tab, expand the Pools > root nodes. Right-click on the IP Pool node and select Create IP Pool from the context menu.	
Provide a block of IP addresses to be used for KVM access to the blades and CIMC hosts in the environment.	
This validation used the IP address range of 10.60.0.16 – 10.60.0.47 with a 255.255.255.0 subnet mask and a gateway of 10.60.0.1.	

Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All  Filter: All Filter: All Filter: All Filter: All Filter: All Filter: All Filter: All Filter: LAN Filte
Policies     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pools     Pool

#### 6.6.7. MAC Address Pool

#### 6.6.8. UUID Suffix Pool

Instructions	Visual
	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Pools</b> > <b>root</b>	Filter: All
nodes. Select the <b>UUID Suffix Pools</b> node and right-click to choose the <b>Create UUID Suffix</b>	•
Pool context menu item.	Encoperative Servers
	🕀 📅 Service Profile Templates
Create a range of UUID suffixes to be used for the environment.	Policies     Pools     Pools     Pools     Server Pools
For this validation a pool of 128 UUID's was generated using the default prefix.	Image: Construction of the second

# 6.6.9. IQN Pool

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>SAN</b> tab, expand the <b>Pools</b> > <b>root</b> nodes. Select the <b>IQN Pools</b> node and right-click to choose the <b>Create IQN Suffix Pool</b> context menu item. Create a range of 32 IQN suffixes to be used for the environment.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All  Filter: All  SAN SAN Cloud Solution
For the validation, the prefix for this validation was <b>iqn.1992-05.com.cisco</b> and the suffix used was <b>cvd:</b> with a pool size was 32.	WWPN Pole     Create IQN Suffix Pool     WWXN Pools     Sub-Organizations     Traffic Monitoring Sessions
Note: These IQN values will be used by the VNXe to setup target LUNs. They will also need to be statically assigned to the hosts later.	

# 6.6.10. Server Pool and Related Policies (Optional)

Instructions	Visual	
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand <b>Pools</b> > <b>root</b> . Select <b>Server Pools</b> and right-click to choose <b>Create</b> <b>Server Pool</b> .	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All  Filter: Servers Servers Service Profiles	
If using a qualification policy do not add any servers to the pool at this time. If manually adding servers, skip the Qualification policy step next.	Service Profile Templates     Service Profile Templates     Service Profile Templates     Service Profile Templates     Service Profile     S	
For this validation, two server pools were created. One for the Infrastructure hosts and one for the Desktop hosts.		

Instructions	Visual	
	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin	
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> .	Filter: All	
Select the Server Pool Policy Qualifications	+ -	
node and right-click to choose Create Server	Engo Servers	
Pool Policy Qualification from the context	Englisher Service Profiles	
menu.	E Service Profile Templates	
	En S Policies	
For this validation, two qualification pools were	⊕ ∰ Adapter Policies	
created. One for the Infrastructure hosts and	EIOS Defaults	
one for the Desktop hosts. The qualification	⊞ · ≦ BIOS Policies ⊞ · S Boot Policies	
pools were based upon blade location, with the	E Boot Policies E 5 Host Firmware Packages	
Infrastructure blades in slot 8 on both chassis	IPMI Access Profiles	
and the remaining slots were considered	⊡ S Local Disk Config Policies	
Desktops hosts. However, any selection criteria may be used to distinguish between the blades	🕀 🗐 Maintenance Policies 🐇 🐨 🐨 🐨 🐨 🐨	
for selection	Power Control Policies	
	🕀 🗐 Scrub Policies	
	⑤ Serial over LAN Policies ⊕ ⑤ Server Pool Policies	
	Server Pool Polices      Server Pool Policy Qualifications	
	🕀 🗐 Server Pool Policy Qualifications	
	Create Server Pool Policy Qualification	
	Sub-Organizations	
	🕀 🎯 Pools	
	⊡ ·  Schedules	

Instructions	Visual		
	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin		
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> .	Filter: All		
Select the Server Pool Policies node and right-	• -		
click to choose Create Server Pool Policy from			
the context menu.	Engo Servers		
	🕀 🐨 🔟 Service Profile Templates		
	Policies		
Use the Server Pool Policy to associate the	⊡ ∰ root ⊕ S Adapter Policies		
Server Pool (Target Pool) created earlier with			
the Server Qualification Policy (Qualification) created earlier.	🕀 🗐 BIOS Policies		
created earlier.			
	⊕		
In this validation, two Samer Deal policies were			
In this validation, two Server Pool policies were created to associate the Infrastructure and			
Desktop Pools with their related qualification	Management Firmware Packages  From S Power Control Policies		
policies.	⊕ Scrub Policies		
	Serial over LAN Policies		
	⊕ 🔊 Server Pool Policies		
	SiscSI Aut Create Server Pool Policy		
	🗐 vNIC/vHBA Placement Policies		
	Sub-Organizations		
	🕀 💮 Pools		

# 6.6.11. Local Disk Configuration

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> nodes, then select <b>Local Disk Config Policies</b> . Right-click and choose <b>Create Local Disk</b> <b>Configuration Policy</b> from the context menu.	
Create a RAID0 policy for the SSD drives in the desktop hosts and a RAID1 policy for the drives in the infrastructure hosts.	



#### 6.6.12. BIOS Policy

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> nodes, then select <b>BIOS Polices</b> . Right-click and choose <b>Create BIOS Policy</b> from the context menu.	

	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
Verify the following are set in the BIOS policy or	Filter: All
in the BIOS Defaults:	• •
Processor Turbo Boost: Enabled Enhanced Intel Speed Step: Enabled Hyper Threading: Enabled Execute Bit Disabled: Enabled Virtualization Technology (VT): Enabled Direct Cache Access: Enabled Processor C1E: Disabled CPU Performance: High-throughput <u>Intel Directed I/O</u> VT For Directed I/O: Enabled	Servers Service Profiles Policies Policies Adapter Policies Service Profile Templates Policies Service Profile Templates Policies Service Profile Templates Service Profile Templates Sub-Organizations Pools Schedules
RAS Memory	
Memory RAS Config: Maximum-performance	
NUMA: Enabled	
LV DDR Mode: performance-mode	
	1

## 6.6.13. Power Control Policy

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> nodes, then select <b>Power Control Policies</b> . Right-click and choose <b>Create Power Control</b> <b>Policy</b> from the context menu.	



#### 6.6.14. Scrub Policy

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> nodes, then select <b>Scrub Policies</b> . Right-click and choose <b>Create Scrub Policy</b> from the context menu.	



#### 6.6.15. Host Firmware Package

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand the <b>Policies</b> > <b>root</b> nodes, then select <b>Host Firmware Packages</b> . Right-click and choose <b>Create Host Firmware</b> <b>Package</b> from the context menu.	
Choose <b>Advanced</b> radio button	



#### 6.6.16. QOS Policies

Cisco Unified Computing System provides different system class of service to implement quality of service including:

- System classes that specify the global configuration for certain types of traffic across the entire system
- QoS policies that assign system classes for individual vNICs
- Flow control policies that determine how uplink Ethernet ports handle pause frames.

Applications like the Cisco Unified Computing System and other time sensitive applications have to adhere to a strict QOS for optimal performance.

#### 6.6.16.1. System Class Configuration

Systems Class is the global operation where entire system interfaces are with defined QoS rules.

- By default system has Best Effort Class and FCoE Class.
- Best effort is equivalent in MQC terminology as "match any"
  - FCoE is special Class define for FCoE traffic. In MQC terminology "match cos 3"
- System class allowed with 4 more users define class with following configurable rules.
  - CoS to Class Map
  - Weight: Bandwidth
  - o Per class MTU
  - Property of Class (Drop v/s no drop)
- Max MTU per Class allowed is 9216.
- Via Cisco UCS we can map one CoS value to particular class.
- Apart from FcoE class there can be only one more class can be configured as no-drop property.
- Weight can be configured based on 0 to 10 numbers. Internally system will calculate the bandwidth based on following equation (there will be rounding off the number).

(Weight of the given priority \* 100)

% b/w shared of given Class =

Sum of weights of all priority

#### 6.6.16.2. Cisco UCS System Class Configuration

Cisco Unified Computing System defines user class names as follows.

- Platinum
- Gold
- Silver
- Bronze

 Table 6: Name Table Map between Cisco Unified Computing System and the NXOS

Cisco UCS Names	NXOS Names	
Besteffort	Class-default	
Platinum	Class-Platinum	
Gold	Class-Gold	
Silver	Class-Silver	
Bronze	Class-Bronze	

Table 7: Class to CoS Map by default in Cisco Unified Computing System

Cisco UCS Class Names	Cisco UCS Default Class Value
Best effort	Matchany
Platinum	5

Gold	4	
Silver	2	
Bronze	1	

## 6.6.17. Steps to Enable QOS on the Cisco Unified Computing System

In this validation, we utilized four Cisco UCS QoS System Classes to priorities four types of traffic in the infrastructure:

Table 8: QoS Priority to vNIC and VLAN Mapping

<b>Cisco UCS Qos Priority</b>	vNIC Assignment	MTU Size	VLAN Supported
Platinum	eth6, eth7	9000	65, 66 (iSCSI-A, iSCSI-B)
Gold	eth3	9000	62 (PVS - VDI)
Silver	eth0, eth1	Normal	60, 61 (Management, Infrastructure)
Bronze	eth4, eth5	9000	63, 64 (CSV, Live Migration)

Configure Platinum, Gold, Silver and Bronze policies by checking the enabled box. For the Platinum, Gold, and Bronze Policies, configure Jumbo Frames in the MTU column. To configure the QoS policies follow these steps:

Instructions	Visual
In the LAN tab, expand the Policies > root nodes, then select QoS Policies. Right-click and choose Create QoS Policy from the context menu. Create four QoS policies with their corresponding priorities: Bronze, Silver, Gold, Platinum. The different QoS priorities will be used for the following vLANs: Bronze: CSV, LMIGR Silver: INFRA, MGMT Gold: PVS-VDI	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All  Filter: All  LAN  LAN Cloud  Appliances  Internal LAN  C. Internal Fabric A  C. Internal Fabric B  C. SThreshold Policies  C. Appliances  C. Appliances  C. Appliances  C. Appliances  C. Appliances  C. Appliances  C. S. Default vNIC Behavior  Dynamic vNIC Connection Policies  C. S. Flow Control Policies  C. S. Flow Control Policies  C. S. LAN Connectivity Policies
Platinum: iSCSI-A, iSCSI-B	LAN Connectivity Policies      Multicast Policies      Solution      Solution
In the LAN tab, expand LAN Cloud Select the QoS System Class node.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
Select the <b>Enabled</b> check box for any QoS levels not already enabled.	Image: Construction of the second
Set the <b>MTU</b> value for the Bronze, Gold, and Platinum QoS levels to <b>9000</b> .	<ul> <li>Appliances</li> <li>Internal LAN</li> <li>S Policies</li> <li>Os</li> <li>Traffic Monitoring Sessions</li> </ul>
Click Save Changes to save the changes.	

Instructions	Visual								
		Second Events (294)							
	Property 1	nabled	Cet	Packet Drop	Woold	Weight (%)	MIN	Multicest Optimized	
	Platmany	¥	-	R.	10	- 22	9800	• <b>•</b> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
	Gold	ġ.	1	12	9.	- 28	1000		
	Silver	ę.	2	φ.	8.	- 18	torns	· / ·	
	Brosser	0 0 0	1	R	7	• 15		1	
			Any	P	5	- 11	terral .		
	Thre thaned	P)	1	1	8	- 24	h	• N/W	

# 6.6.18. iSCSI Adapter Policy

Instructions	Visual
Instructions In the Servers tab, expand the Policies > root nodes, then select Adapter Policies. Right-click and choose Create iSCSI Adapter Policy from the context menu.	Visual  Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All  Servers Service Profiles Service Profile Templates Policies Service Profile Templates Policies Service Profile Templates Service Templates Service Profile Templates Servi

#### 6.6.19. VLANs and vNIC Templates

In addition, to control network traffic in the infrastructure and assure priority to high value traffic, virtual LANs (VLANs) were created on the Nexus 5548s, on the Cisco UCS Manager (Fabric Interconnects,) and on the Nexus 1000V Virtual Switch Modules in the on the VDI Hosts. The virtual machines in the environment used the VLANs depending on their role in the system.

Note: A total of seven Virtual LANs were utilized for the project as defined above in section 4.4.1 VLAN.

VLANs are configured in Cisco UCS Manager on the LAN tab, LAN\VLANs node in the left pane of Cisco UCS Manager

Instructions	Visual					
In the LAN tab, expand LAN Cloud, and select the VLANs node. Right-click and choose Create VLANs.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All					
Repeat for each of the VLANs required for the environment.						
For this validation, the following VLANs were created:	Applian     Applian     Treate VLANs     Policies     Policies     Policies					
VLAN NAME: VLAN ID – Purpose	Traffic Monitoring Sessions					
MGMT: 60 – Management	🖨 Create VLANs					
INFRA: 61 – Primary Infrastructure	Create VLANs					
PVS-VDI: 62 – Virtual Desktops	VLAN Name/Prefix: Mgmt					
CSV: 63 – Cluster Shared Volumes	Multicast Policy Neme: <a href="https://www.sets-view.com/action-futurest-Policy">https://www.sets-view.com/action-futurest-Policy</a> © Conservor/Global © Fabric A © Fabric B © Both Fabrics Configured Differently					
LMIGR: 64 – Live Migration	You are creating global VLANs that map to the same VLAN IDs in all available fabrics.					
iSCSI-A:65 – iSCSI Fabric A	Enker the range of VLAN IDs.(e.g. "2009-2019", "29,35,40-45", "23", "23,34-45") VLAN IDs: 60					
iSCSI-B:66 – iSCSI Fabric B	Sharing Type: 🙃 None: O Rimary O Isolated					
iSCSI-Null: 999 – Windows Installation*						

Instructions	Visual
Fabric is set to Common/Global Sharing Type is set to None *iSCSI-Null is a special VLAN used temporarily	
to work around a known issue with Microsoft Windows Server 2012 install when multiple iSCSI paths exist but no multi-path software is running.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
In the LAN tab, expand the Policies > root nodes. Select the vNIC Templates node. Right- click and select the Create vNIC Template context menu item.	Equipment       Servers       LAN       SAN       VM       Admin         Filter:       All       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure         Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image: Admin structure       Image

One of the unique value propositions for Cisco Unified Computing System with respect to end-to-end QoS is the ability to tag the traffic at the edge. For example, dedicate a VLAN for the EMC storage, configure Platinum policy with Jumbo frames and get an end-to-end QoS and performance guarantees

from the blade servers to the Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switches running on Hyper-V through the higher layer access switches.

The Cisco Nexus 1000V will only be used on the VDI hosts (and not the Infrastructure hosts) per Cisco's best practice guidelines for this release of Cisco Nexus 1000V for Hyper-V. The VDI hosts will then be able to offload the tagging to the Nexus 1000V and will be able to combine the Infrastructure, PVS-VDI, CSV, and Live Migration networks into a single pair of vNICs, referred to in this design as the Uplink vNICs.

When creating the vNIC templates, you can link the QoS policy to the vNIC template along with the VLAN. Use the following table when creating the vNIC templates:

VLAN	Fabric ID	Enable Failover	Native	MTU	Enabled VLANs	Qos Policy
MGMT	А	Yes	No	1500	Mgmt	Silver
INFRA	В	Yes	No	1500	Infra	Silver
PVS-VDI	А	Yes	No	9000	PVS-VDI	Gold
CSV	А	Yes	No	9000	CSV	Bronze
LMIGR	В	Yes	No	9000	LMigr	Bronze
UPLINK1	А	Yes	No	9000	Mgmt,Infra, PVS-VDI, LMigr	Silver
UPLINK2	В	Yes	No	9000	Mgmt, Infra, PVS-VDI, LMigr	Silver
iSCSI-A	А	No	No	9000	iSCSI-A	Platinum
iSCSI-B	В	No	No	9000	iSCSI-B	Platinum
iSCSI-Null	В	No	Yes	9000	iSCSI-Null	Platinum

Table 9: vNIC Template Settings

Instructions	Visual					
Create WICs for all the VLANs in the	- Create vNC Template Create vNIC Temp	late		×		
environment.		Manut Management F Fabric & C Fabric & IV En Target	able Fallover	-		
Complete the vNIC Template, distributing the VLANs across the two fabrics and <b>enabling failover</b> for all but the iSCSI VLANs. Use an <b>updating template</b> so changes later propagate back to the server profiles.	ALC: NOT RECOVERED	e exists, and updating template is		tten		
back to the server promes.	VLANs	C Initial Templatar C Updating				
Set the <b>MAC Pool</b> to the pool created earlier.		Name Mgnt VDEPVS ISCSI-A ISCSI-B	Native VLWN C C			
Set the <b>QoS Policy</b> based on the VLAN	Create 4.01 Warning	2019 KLA				
purpose.	corresponding to the Egress prior MAC Pool QoS Policy Network Control Policy	ity of the selected QoS Policy. HV-Mgot • Silver •				
Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes.	Pin Group: Stata Threshold Policy: Dynamic VRUE Connection Policy:	default 🔹		OK Canot		
Repeat for all the vNICs as identified in Table 9: vNIC Template Settings above.						
For the Uplink ports, enable checkboxes for the applicable VLANs and do not enable any Native VLAN radio buttons.						
## 6.6.20. iSCSI Boot Policy

Instructions	Visual
In the Servers tab, expand Policies > root nodes. Select the Boot Policies node. Right- click and choose Create Boot Policy from the context menu.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All Service Profiles Service Profiles Filter: All Service Profiles Filter: All Service Profiles Service Prolicies Service Prolicies Service Prolicies Service Policies Service Policies Service Policies Service Policy utility Service Policy utility Service Policy utility Service Policies Service Policies Servic

In the Oneste Dest Delian distance events to the	a Onio bez Mitz
In the Create Boot Policy dialog complete the	Create Boot Policy
following:	
Ĭ	Nam (MCN
	Description: Sec 3: Beert Police
	Advertise National Advertising of Control of
	MARTERA The type types of the real balance of the set o
Expand Local Devices	For all when under of hand devices where here is not a device (ARED association) to a discussed to REA to note under It fundamentally which which have to external and the ARED MARCES does not and, a single period the registred it If it is not indexed, for a MEA MARCES are indexed if the an external to a MEA MARCES which the bases REA to an external to and
	Commence and the second s
Select Add Local Disk	Ballinera 0 A Me anan La Mi
Delect Add Local Disk	Participant New Indu Attractional Tale Indu Attractional Control Indu
	10000 2 0000 PT
Select Add CD-ROM	Carlo and Annual A
	Sime Of France
	Internet O
	a writes
Expand iSCSI vNICs	
Select Add iSCSI Boot (iSCSI-A)	
	A Prote Control (\$1000
Select Add iSCSI Boot (iSCSI-B)	[ 07 ] David
Adjust boot order so it is CD-ROM, iSCSI-A,	
-	
iSCSI-B, Local Disk.	
Click <b>OK</b> to save changes.	
Click On to save changes.	

### 6.6.21. Service Profile Template

Instructions	Visual
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, select <b>Service Profile</b> <b>Templates</b> . Right-click and select <b>Create</b> <b>Service Profile Template</b> .	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
Start by creating a template for the Infrastructure hosts. Afterwards, repeat the process for the Desktops hosts.	<ul> <li>Servers</li> <li>Service Profiles</li> <li>Service Profile Templates</li> <li>Polici</li> <li>Create Service Profile Template</li> <li>Pools</li> <li>Schedules</li> </ul>

Provide a <b>Name</b> and <b>Description</b> for the template.	Name: Infrastructure The template oil be couled in the fol Where: org-root	lowing organization. The name must i	a unique within the organization.		
	The template will be created in the fo	lowing organization. Its name must b	te unique within this organization		
	Type G Initial Template C Upp				
Select Initial Template (because later it is	Specify how the COLD will be assigned UNID	its the server associated with the s	ervice generated by this template.		
unassociated for the iSCSI boot parameters)	UDD Assground: HyperV-UDD()	12)128)			
	The ULID will be assigned from the The available/total ULIDs are disp	s selected pool. Avead after the pool name.			
Onland the LUUD and an atom to departing. For this					
Select the UUID pool created earlier. For this	Optionally enter a description for the Service Profile Template	other wants in the second strength of the second strength of the	reformation about when and where i	the service profile should be	e Land.
validation the pool is called HyperV-UUID.					
Click Next.					
NETWORKING					
	-Demanac Well:Connector/Roley/ Set	et a Policy to use (no Dynamic vNIC Pol	ty be dela	umi viet Canadato Nako	
	these exceptions where	to configure LAN connectivity?	Name & Power C. March C.	In Committee Dig a	
Select the <b>Expert</b> radio button	Club Add to quelly one or yours v48Ca				
•••••••	Name	MAC Address	Patric 3D	Metrie VLAM	-
		Derived Derived	derived dationd		-
	-Q VNIC PVS-VDI -Q VNIC CSV	Derived Derivet	derived derived		- 2
Click the <b>Add</b> button		Derived	derived		*1
		(1000 B	Add (Barrish)		
	Cikit Add to specify one or more (CCI)	Atta that the server should use			
	Nore	Overley «MC Narve	SCSLAdapter Policy	HAC Address	(Q)
	-B SCSI MIC ISCSI-B	ISCSI-8	(SESI-Boot	Derived	-
Add the following WICs using the WIC	SCSE VNIC ISEST A	6C50-A	ISCSI-Boat		
Add the following will susing the will Templates as specified in the next steps	GOLD AND A COLOR	601-4	ISCSI-Beat		
Add the following WICs using the WIC Templates as specified in the next steps.	C BCSI MIC BCSI A				2
	G BESS MIC BESS A	OCSEA			2
Templates as specified in the next steps.	G BESS MIC BESS A			_	2
	G BESS MIC BESS A				1
Templates as specified in the next steps.	G BESS MECHESI A			-	21
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>vNICs</u> - Mgmt	G BESS MIC BESS A				1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VIICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra					2
Templates as specified in the next steps.           vNICs           -         Mgmt           -         Infra           -         PVS-VDI					21
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>vNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV					21
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VIICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr					21
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>vNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV	G BESS YNE BESS A				1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A	G BESS MIC BESS A				1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VIICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr					2
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A					z
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u>					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u> - iSCSI-A					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u>					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u> - iSCSI-A					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u> - iSCSI-A					1
Templates as specified in the next steps. <u>VNICs</u> - Mgmt - Infra - PVS-VDI - CSV - LMigr - ISCSI-A - iSCSI-B <u>iSCSI VNICs</u> - iSCSI-A					1

Creating a vNIC	Ereate vNIC
Provide a <b>Name</b>	Create vNIC 0
Enable the <b>vNIC Template</b>	Name: Mgmt
Select the associated <b>vNIC Template</b> created earlier	Use vt/IC Template:
Select the <b>Windows</b> Adapter Performance Policy	Adapter Performance Profile Adapter Pokcy: Windows: Create Ethernet Adapter Pokcy
Click <b>OK</b>	
Repeat for the remaining wNICs.	
	CK Cancel
Creating iSCSI WIC	Create iSCSI vNIC
Provide a <b>Name</b> (iSCSI-A or iSCSI-B)	Create iSCSI vNIC
Select the associated <b>Overlay vNIC</b> (iSCSI-A or iSCSI-B)	Name: iSCSI-A Overlay vNIC: ISCSI-A ISCSI Adapter Policy: ISCSI-Boot
Select <b>the iSCSI Adapter Policy</b> created earlier (iSCSI-Boot)	VLAN: SCSI-A (native)
Select the associated VLAN (iSCSI-A, iSCSI-B)	Create MAC Pool
Do Not select a <b>MAC Address Assignment</b> , leave it as None used by default.	
Click <b>OK</b>	
	OK Cancel
STORAGE	
STORAGE	Select a load dide configuration policy         Incol 2 control           Jocki 2 Control         2023           D Create Lend Dide Configuration Files         Potents Configuration is set, the load dide configurations preserved if the server profile           D Create Lend Dide Configuration Files         If Petrots Configuration is set, the load dide configurations preserved if the server profile
Select the RAID1 Mirrored for the <b>Local Storage</b> .	In that case, a configuration error will be reased when a new service profile is associated with their woold you blic to configure SAN connectivity? If Single if Econt if he wilds if the Economic India This server associated with the service profile will not be connected to a storage area network.
Select the <b>No vHBAs</b> radio button	n en
Click Next	

NIC/vHBA PLACEMENT	VNIC/VHSA Placement specifies how vNIC in a server hardware configuration indep		vsical network adapters (ne	ezaninin)
he suggested order for the wNICs is shown.	Select Placement: Let System Perfor	m Placem 🔹 🚺 Create	Placement Policy	
Click <b>Next</b> .				
	System will perform automatic place Name	ment of vNICs and vHBAs base Address	d on PCI order. Order	10
		Derived	1	
		Derived	2	
	-g VNIC PVS-VDI	Derived	3	
	-G VNIC CSV	Derived	4	
		Derived	5	
	-G VNIC ISCSI-A	Derived	6	
		Derived	7	
SERVER BOOT ORDER	Select a brief policy :	Novy Duwis 👔 Deleta 👁	Rapilar 📑 Midfy	I
Select iSCSI-Boot Boot Policy created earlier				
Click <b>Next</b> .	Name: ISCS:-boot Decoglam: Related on Boot Ender Change: Ne Enforce-HIL()-Hells(SCS) Foreier Yes WARNINGS The type (preservidew) does not indicate al The effective cores of boot devices within the sam IT Enforce VHEC/VHEA/SCSI Average is instituted If it is not associated, the VHEC/VHEA/SCCII are ad	e device class (LAVa/Stavage/SCSID is deta and the vNEC)vHEA/ISCEE does not ease.	according service sell his reported.	nar mir ir und.
	incoat a		_	_
	Name Other	MICHHBR/DOSEMBC	Type Lue ID	WWN IS
	-@ CD-ROM 1			-
	E ■ 0C3 2 = 6C3	BCSEA Prime		
	E SCSI	DCSI-4 Secon		
	E Storiege 3			

MAINTENANCE POLICY	Maintenance Policy
Click Next	Select a maintenance policy to include with this service profile or create a new maintenance policy that will be accessible to all service profiles.
	Maintenance Policy: Select (no policy used by defa 💌 📑 Create Maintenance Policy
	No maintenance policy is selected by default. The service profile will immediately reboot when disruptive changes are applied.
SERVER ASSIGNMENT	You can sold? a usine paid you want to selectate with the service profile language.
Set <b>Pool Assignment</b> to the one created earlier. (Infrastructure)	Repl Augment - Directurbus
Select the <b>Down</b> the radio button for desired power state. (Still need to set the iSCSI IQN information)	The service profile tamples will be associated left one of the service a the asisted pool. If deserd, you can section as additional service pool policy qualification that the selected server sout neel. To deserve Road Qualification: The service section the selected server and call the selected server section as the section of the selected server section as the section of the selected server section as the section of the se
Set <b>Server Pool Qualification</b> to the one created earlier (Infrastructure)	
Set <b>Firmware Management</b> to the one created earlier. (B200M3)	Ferture are Management (IDDP), Dak Controller, Adaptery:
Click <b>Next</b>	Hoad Filmmann: 200000 Stadays
OPERATIONAL POLICIES	BIOS Configuration 😵
Set the <b>Management IP Address Policy</b> to the	External IPMI Management Configuration   Management IP Address
policy created earlier (KVMIPPool)	
Set the <b>Scrub Policy</b> to the policy created earlier (HyperVScrub)	Management IP Address Policy: KVMIPPool(2/32) ▼ Create IP Pool The IP address will be automatically assigned from the selected pool.
Click <b>Finish</b>	Monitoring Configuration (Thresholds)
	Power Control Policy Configuration
	Scrub Policy
	Scrub Policy: HyperVScrub Teate Scrub Policy

	Name: Desktop
Repeat for the Desktop Hosts using the values specified on the right in place of the earlier ones. Values not specified should be the same as the Infrastructure template.	Server UUID Assignment: HyperV-UUID NETWORKING <u>vNICs</u>
	<ul> <li>Mgmt</li> <li>Uplink1</li> <li>Uplink2</li> <li>ISCSI-A</li> <li>iSCSI-B</li> </ul>
	<u>iSCSI vNICs</u> - iSCSI-A - iSCSI-B
	STORAGE: RAID0 Striping SERVER ASSIGNMENT: Pool Assignment: Desktop Server Pool Qualification: Desktop

### 6.6.22. Create Service Profiles

Instructions	Visual
In the Servers tab, expand Service Profile Templates > root. Select the Infrastructure service profile created earlier. Right-click and choose Create Service Profiles From Template from the context menu.	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin Filter: All   Service Profiles Service Profiles Service Profile Templates Service Profile Templates Show Navigator Create a Clone Disassociate Template Associate Template Associate With Server Pool Change UUID Change UUID Change World Wide Node Name Change Local Disk Configuration Policy Change Serial over LAN Policy Modify vNIC/vHBA Placement Copy Ctrl+C Copy XML Delete Ctrl+D
Provide a <b>Naming Prefix</b> for the Infrastructure servers: INFRA Provide the <b>Number</b> of server profiles to create	Create Service Profiles From Template  Create Service Profiles From Template  Naming Prefix: INFRA-
for Infrastructure: 2	Number: 2
Click <b>OK</b> to complete the creation of the profiles.	
Repeat for the Desktop servers in the solution with a <b>Naming prefix</b> of VDI-	OK Cancel
<b>Number</b> of Desktop server profiles to create: 500-user configuration: 3 1000-user configuration: 5	

#### 6.6.23. Configure iSCSI Boot LUNS for Each Service Profile

The new created service profiles will have to be unbound from the template and updated with iSCSI target information which is unique for each server.

Instructions	Visual
	Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin
In the <b>Servers</b> tab, expand <b>Service profiles</b> >	Filter: All
<b>root</b> . Select the first service profile. Right-click and choose <b>Unbind from the Template</b> from	
the context menu.	Service Profiles
	E Show Navigator
	Boot Server
	🕂 🖶 🔁 v Shutdown Server
	ternet v Reset
	ty KVM Console
	SSH Console
	E. Service Profile
	Create a Clone     Create a Service Profile Template
	Create a Service Profile Template
	🕕 🖶 🗸 Disassociate Service Profile
	Change Service Profile Association
	Service P Associate with Server Pool
	Bind to a Template
	I S Unbind from the Template
	Change UUID

Instructions	Visual
	Wroual Machines         FC Zones         Policies         Server Details         FSM         VLF Paths         Exects           General         Storage         Network         GCSL VBCS         Book Order
Select a Service Profile Select the <b>Boot Order</b> tab. Select the first iSCSI boot NIC (iSCSI-A) Click the <b>Set iSCSI Boot Parameters</b> button	Actions
The EMC VNXe uses a different IP address and iSCSI Target Name for each of the individual iSCSI boot LUNs. As such, the boot parameters must be configured separately for each service profile.	Set Soci foot Parameters  Set SICSI Boot Parameters  Name: BICSI A  Authentic discrimination (outration (in the control outration (in the control o
Set Initiator Name Assignment to Manual	Induce IF Address Policy (State *
Set <b>Initiator Name</b> to the unique name from the pool	Submit Plais:         270.255.255.0           Default Gateway:         6.0.0.0           Henary ORD:         6.0.0.0           Secondary ORD:         6.0.0.0
Set the Initiator IP Address Policy to Static	Celling to determine if the relative address is would be.
Set the <b>IPv4 Address</b> to a unique IP address for this host Set the <b>Subnet Mask</b> to the correct subnet	Image: Static Target Excelses         CECSEAus Target Excelses           Missenson one instance of EXCS Static Target Excelses and massmans two are allowed.         None         Printly         Port         Adherination Printly         OCCU 2PVI Address         LUX 10         Total           Varies         Printly         Port         Adherination Printly         OCCU 2PVI Address         LUX 10         Total           Varies         Printly         Dool         10.650.01         0         Total
mask for the iSCSI VLAN Select the <b>iSCSI Static Target Interface</b> radio button	

Instructions	Visual
The unique name and IP address will need to be configured in the VNXe side. To add the VNXe Target information, click the <b>+</b> button. Provide the <b>iSCSI Target Name</b> of the VNXe Provide the <b>IPv4 Address</b> and <b>LUN ID</b> for this LUN on the VNXe Click <b>OK</b> to save the iSCSI Static Target information. Click <b>OK</b> to save the iSCSI Boot Parameters <i>Repeat the process for the iSCSI-B boot NIC</i>	Create ISCSI Static Target  Create ISCSI Static Target  BCSI Target Name: grm001219005720000-2-vnxet Protiv: 1 Port: 5200  Authentication Profile: cnot set>  Devel Address: [0.65.0.31] UN ID: 0  Create ISCSI Authentication Profile  Create ISCSI Authentication Profile
Repeat these steps for each service profile	

Include the corresponding QoS Policy into each vNIC template using the QoS policy drop down, using the QoS Priority to vNIC and VLAN Mapping table above.

#### Figure 14: Utilize QoS Policy in vNIC Templates

Fault Summary	😧 💿 🛚 New - 😥 gations 🕴 🕕 📥 Pending Activities 🔯 Bat
Z 0 6 3	>> 🗐 LAN + 💯 Polices + 🍌 root + 🔟 vNIC Templates + 🔟 vNIC Template Management-A
Equipment Servers LAN SAN VM Admin	General viDC Interfaces   Faults   Events
filter: Al 🔹	Actions Properties
t c	Modify VLAta: Name: Management-A
E IAN	Description: Management VADC FAB A
🛞 💷 Fabric A	Fabric ID: F Fabric A F Fabric B G Enable Falover
Febric B     QoS System Class	Target
LAN Pin Groups	R Adapter
1 Threshold Policies	E 19
III = VLANs     Applances	
Appendes     Internal LAN	
🖻 💯 Policies	Templete Type: 🙃 Initial Template 🕥 Updating Template
Applances	мтиі [1500
Threshold Policies	Warning
B A. roct	Make sure that the MTU has the same value in the <u>Op5 Sector Class</u> corresponding to the Egress priority of the selected Op5 Policy.
Dynamic vNIC Connection Policies     Section Policies     Flow Control Policies	
1 1 1 Network Control Policies	Polices MAC Pool: DC-MAC-Pool
Im QoS Policies     Im Threshold Policies	
WIC Templates	QoS Policy: Silver-Julria/Ma
MIC Template Management-A	
VNDC Template Management-8 VNDC Template NFS-A	
vNIC Template NFS-8	Stats Threshold Policy: default
VNIC Template VDA-A	
te vNIC Template VDA-B	
vNIC Template VMotion-B	

### 6.7. LAN Configuration

The access layer LAN configuration consists of a pair of Cisco Nexus 5548s (N5Ks,) a family member of our low-latency, line-rate, 10 Gigabit Ethernet and FCoE switches for our VDI deployment.

Four 10 Gigabit Ethernet uplink ports are configured on each of the Cisco UCS 6248 fabric interconnects.

**Note:** The upstream configuration is beyond the scope of this document; there are some good reference documents in the <u>Appendix</u> that discuss about best practices of using the Cisco Nexus 5000 and 7000 Series Switches. For informational purposes, the upstream switch for this Cisco Validated Design was a Cisco Nexus 5500 series which included the Layer 3 module.

#### 6.8. SAN Configuration

#### 6.8.1. Boot from SAN benefits

Booting from SAN is another key feature which helps in moving towards stateless computing in which there is no static binding between a physical server and the OS / applications it is tasked to run. The OS is installed on a SAN LUN and boot from SAN policy is applied to the service profile template or the service profile. If the service profile were to be moved to another server, the iSCSI boot LUN and the Boot from SAN (BFS) policy also moves along with it. The new server now takes the same exact character of the old server, providing the true unique stateless nature of the Cisco UCS Blade Server.

The key benefits of booting from the network:

- Reduce Server Footprints: Boot from SAN alleviates the necessity for each server to have its own direct-attached disk, eliminating internal disks as a potential point of failure. Thin diskless servers also take up less facility space, require less power, and are generally less expensive because they have fewer hardware components.
- Disaster and Server Failure Recovery: All the boot information and production data stored on a local SAN can be replicated to a SAN at a remote disaster recovery site. If a disaster destroys functionality of the servers at the primary site, the remote site can take over with minimal downtime.
- Recovery from server failures is simplified in a SAN environment. With the help of snapshots, mirrors of a failed server can be recovered quickly by booting from the original copy of its image. As a result, boot from SAN can greatly reduce the time required for server recovery.
- High Availability: A typical data center is highly redundant in nature redundant paths, redundant disks and redundant storage controllers. When operating system images are stored on disks in the SAN, it supports high availability and eliminates the potential for mechanical failure of a local disk.
- Rapid Redeployment: Businesses that experience temporary high production workloads can take advantage of SAN technologies to clone the boot image and distribute the image to multiple servers for rapid deployment. Such servers may only need to be in production for hours or days

and can be readily removed when the production need has been met. Highly efficient deployment of boot images makes temporary server usage a cost effective endeavor.

• Centralized Image Management: When operating system images are stored on networked disks, all upgrades and fixes can be managed at a centralized location. Changes made to disks in a storage array are readily accessible by each server.

With Boot from SAN, the image resides on a SAN LUN and the server communicates with the SAN through an iSCSI boot vNIC. The vNIC boot code contains the instructions that enable the server to find the boot disk. All Cisco VIC 1240 MLOM cards on Cisco UCS B-series blade servers support Boot from SAN.

After power on self-test (POST), the server hardware component fetches the boot device that is designated as the boot device in the hardware BOIS settings. When the hardware detects the boot device, it follows the regular boot process.

In this study we deployed boot from SAN over iSCSI protocol.

#### 6.9. EMC VNXe Storage Configuration

The figure below shows the physical storage layout of the disks in the reference architecture. This configuration accommodates PVS vDisks, user homes and profiles for up to 1000 virtual desktops, hypervisor boot LUNs, SQL databases, SCVMM library, cluster quorum disk, and cluster shared volume (CSV).



Figure 15: EMC VNXe Storage Configuration

The above storage layout is used for the following configurations. Note that VNXe provisioning wizards perform disk allocation and do not allow user selection.

• Seven SAS disks are allocated in a 6+1 RAID-5 pool that contains boot LUNs for the hypervisor OS.

- Seven SAS disks are allocated in a 6+1 RAID-5 pool that contains SQL databases, SCVMM library, cluster quorum disk, and CSV.
- Twenty eight SAS disks are allocated in a 6+1 RAID-5 pool that contains PVS vDisks, user home directories and profiles.
- Two SAS disks are used as hot spares and are contained in the VNXe hot spare pool.

If more capacity is required, larger drives may be substituted. To satisfy the load recommendations, the drives will all need to be 15k rpm and the same size. If differing sizes are utilized, storage layout algorithms may give sub-optimal results.

Table 10 shows the LUNs that need to be created, the size, the assigned host, the assigned storage pool, and the names used for this Cisco Validated Design.

HostName	LUN	Size (GB)	Assigned Pool	Storage Type
Infra-1	Infra-1	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-1	SQLDB1LUN	50	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-1	SQLLog1LUN	50	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-2	Infra-2	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-2	SQLDB2LUN	50	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-2	SQLLog2LUN	50	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-1/Infra-2	InfraCSVLUN	750	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-1/Infra-2	InfraQuorumLUN	2	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
Infra-1/Infra-2	SCVMMLibraryLUN	200	InfrastructurePool	Generic iSCSI Storage
UserProfile2	CIFSServer1	200	CIFSPool	Shared Folders
UserProfile	CIFSServer2	200	CIFSPool	Shared Folders
vDisk	CIFSServer2	500	CIFSPool	Shared Folders
VDI1-2	VDI1-2	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
VDI1-3	VDI1-3	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
VDI1-4	VDI1-4	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
VDI2-1	VDI2-1	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage
VDI2-2	VDI2-2	50	Boot LUN	Generic iSCSI Storage

Table 10: Storage LUN Mapping

The rest of theis section covers creating the hosts, storage pools, and LUNS required for the environment. Single examples are provided, but the process should be repeated for each of the hosts, pools, and LUNs required for the environment.

#### 6.9.1. iSCSI Host Configuration

Complete the following steps in Unisphere to configure iSCSI hosts on VNXe3300 for each of the hosts in the environment.

Instructions	Visual
From the <b>Hosts-&gt;Hosts</b> area in <b>Unisphere</b> , select <b>Create Host</b> .	VNXe > Hosts > Hosts Hosts Hosts: Create Host Create Subnet Create Netgroup Details Refresh
	Host Wizard
Specify a name and description (optional) for the iSCSI host.	Specify Name Step 1 of 6 Enter a name and optional description for the host configuration: Name: * Infra1-host Description:
Specify Microsoft Hyper-V as the best	Host Wizard
Specify <b>Microsoft Hyper-V</b> as the host operating system.	Operating System         Step 2 of 6         Specify the host operating system.         While this information is not required, providing this information will troubleshooting instructions.         Operating System:         Microsoft Hyper-V

Instructions	Visual
Specify an <b>IP Address</b> that will be used as an iSCSI initiator for the host. In this Cisco Validated Design, the IP address is the statically assigned IP address on the iSCSI-A VLAN.	Host Wizard         Image: Step 3 of 6         Specify the host network address.         You can specify the network address of the host as either a network name or IP Address.         Network Address:         Network Address:         Image: Network Address:
Specify all IQN addresses that will be used on the iSCSI host. The IQN addresses can be found in the corresponding service profile in Cisco UCS Manager. Generally, these IQNs are unique and created by the storage administrator. The typical format would be iqn.1992- 05. <topdomain>.<domain>:<systemid>:<numbe r&gt; Optionally, fill out the CHAP Secret fields if CHAP security needs to be enforced.</numbe </systemid></domain></topdomain>	Host Wizard         iSCSI Access         Step 4 of 6         If this host is connected to iSCSI storage, you must specify a valid iSCSI address (IQN).         IQN:       iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:2         CHAP Secret:       Confirm CHAP Secret:         IQN:       iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:4         Remove IQN       CHAP Secret:         IQN:       iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:4         CHAP Secret:       Confirm CHAP Secret:         IQN:       iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:4         CHAP Secret:       ChAP Secret:         Confirm CHAP Secret:       Add Another IQN
Review the host configuration on the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to create the host entry.	Host Wizard  From Summary Step 5 of 6  Confirm the following Host configuration: Name: Infra1-host Description: Operating System: Microsoft Hyper-V IP Address: 10.65.0.15 Advanced Storage Access (ASA): Not Allowed IQNs: iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:2 CHAP Secret: Not Specified iqn.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:4 CHAP Secret: Not Specified

Instructions	Visual
	VNXe > Hosts > Hosts
Select the newly created host and Details to	Heats
modify its properties.	Hosts:
	Infra1-host
	AL
	Create Host Create Subnet Create Netgroup Details Refresh Delete
	General
To the right of the <b>Data Storage Address</b> field,	Name: Infra1-host
select <b>Add</b> to add the secondary IP address of the host.	Description:
	Operating System: Microsoft Hyper-V
	Data Storage Address: 10.65.0.15 Add Delote
	Advanced Storage Access (ASA):
	System-wide ASA: Disabled This setting is only effective if ASA is set to "Enable access on a per-host basis". More information
	Data IQNs:         ign.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:2           ign.1992-05.com.cisco:cvd:4
	Network Address Details
Enter the secondary IP address in the IP Address field. Select OK and click the Apply Changes button to save the changes.	Network Address: 🔘 Network Name:
	IP Address: 10.66.0.15
The secondary IP address would be the	
statically assigned alternate IP address for the host on the iSCSI-B VLAN.	

### 6.9.2. iSCSI Server Configuration

Complete the following steps in Unisphere to configure iSCSI servers on VNXe.

Instructions	Visual
Prior to provisioning iSCSI storage, an iSCSI server must be created. From the Settings->iSCSI Server Settings area in Unisphere, select Add iSCSI Server.	VNXe > Settings > iSCSI Server Settings iSCSI Servers Name 1 IP Address Target Add iSCSI Server Details Remove
<ul> <li>Fill out the iSCSI server network information as shown in the screenshot. Select Finish to create the iSCSI server.</li> <li>The Advanced settings will change for each of the iSCSI servers and should alternate Storage Processors (SPA/SPB) and Ethernet Ports (eth10/eth11) to load-balance across the resources.</li> <li>The VLAN ID will need to match the IP address specified for the iSCSI server and the Ethernet Port. For instance, in this Cisco Validated Design, eth10 maps to VLAN65 and eth11 maps to VLAN66.</li> </ul>	iSCSI Server iSCSI Server iSCSI Server Step 1 of 3 Specify the Network Interface for the new iSCSI Server: Server Name: * INFRA↓ IP Address: * 10.65.0.31 Subnet Mask/Prefix Length: * 255.255.255.0 Gateway: * 10.65.0.1 Hide advanced Storage Processor: SPA ♥ Ethernet Port: eth10 (Link Up) ♥ VLAN ID: 65 ♥

Instructions	Visual
Select the newly created iSCSI server and select <b>Details</b> .	VNXe > Settings > ISCSI Server Settings ISCSI Server Settings ISCSI Servers
	Name 1. IP Address Target Storage Processor INFRA1 10.65.0.31 Ign.1992-05.com.emc:apm0012100412 SP A
	Add iSCSI Server Details Remove
From the <b>iSCSI Server Details</b> screen, select <b>Add Network Interface</b> to add a second interface to provide network redundancy for the iSCSI server.	VNXe > Settings > iSCSI Server Settings > View and modify iSCSI Server Details         iSCSI Server Details         Summary         Server Name:       INFRA1         Storage Processor:       SP A         IQN:       iqn.1992-05.com.emc:apm001210041240000-3-vnxe
	General         Server Name:       INFRA1         Network Interfaces         IP Address       Subnet Mask/Prefix Length Gateway         10.65.0.31       255.255.255.0         10.65.0.1
	Add Network Interface Modify Remove
Fill out the network information of the second interface as shown in the screenshot. Select <b>Add</b> to create the second interface for the iSCSI server to provide HA across the resources.	Add network interface IP Address: * 10.66.0.31 Subnet Mask/Prefix Length: * 255.255.255.0
The VLAN ID will map to the Ethernet Port as mentioned earlier. For this Cisco Validated Design, eth10 maps to VLAN65 and eth11 to VLAN66.	Gateway: * 10.65.0.1 Hide advanced
	Ethernet Port: eth11 (Link Up)

### 6.9.3. iSCSI Storage Creation

Complete the following steps in Unisphere to configure iSCSI LUNs on VNXe.

Instructions	Visual
Prior to provisioning iSCSI storage, create a storage pool with the appropriate number of disks that will contain the iSCSI LUNs. From the <b>System-&gt;Storage Pools</b> area in <b>Unisphere</b> , select <b>Configure Disks</b> .	VNXe > System > Storage Pools         Storage Pools:         Image: Storage Pool         Image: Stora
Select Manually create a new pool by Disk Type.	Disk Configuration Wizard  Select Configuration Mode  Step 1 of 7  Select the disk configuration mode:  Automatically configure pools Configure disks into the system's pools and hot spares  Manually create a new pool Create a new pool by disk type or for a specific application  by Disk Type Manually add disks to an existing pool Add unconfigured disks to the selected pool  Select pool
Specify a pool name of your choice.	Disk Configuration Wizard         Specify Pool Name         Step 2 of 6         Specify a name and optional description.         Name: * BootLUNPool         Description:

Instructions	Visual
	Disk Configuration Wizard
Select <b>SAS</b> and <b>Balanced Perf/Capacity</b> when prompted for disk type and storage profile.	Select Storage Type
	Please select the type of disks you want to use for this new pool.
	Disk Type Max Capacity Storage Profile
	NL SAS 14.331 TB High Capacity
	SAS 3.145 TB High Performance
	SAS 6.291 TB Balanced Perf/Capacity
	EFD 0 GB (None Available) Best Performance
	Show advanced Uses SAS disks to provide a balanced level of storage performance and capacity. This pool type does not offer performance as high as High Performance pools, but it can be adequate for databases with low-to-average performance requirements. General purpose SAS storage pool using RAID 5(6+1).
	Disk Configuration Wizard
Specify the desired number of disks to be included in this storage pool.	Select Amount of Storage Step 4 of 6 Select the amount of storage to configure. 300GB SAS (15000 RPM) Disks: Use 7 of 28 Disks
Review the pool configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to create the storage pool.	Disk Configuration Wizard           Summary           Step 5 of 6
	The disks will be configured into a new storage pool as indicated below. Storage Pool Name: BootLUNPool Storage Pool Description: 300GB SAS (15000 RPM) Disks: 7

Instructions	Visual
After the storage pool is created, navigate to <b>Storage-&gt;Generic iSCSI Storage</b> in <b>Unisphere</b> . Select <b>Create</b> to provision iSCSI storage.	VNXe > Storage > Generic iSCSI Storage Generic iSCSI Storage Allocated Generic iSCSI Storage:
	!     Name     Description       0 Selected
Specify a name and description (optional) for the storage resource.	Generic iSCSI Storage Wizard         Specify Name         Step 1 of 7         Enter a name for the generic storage resource.         Name: * Infra1         Description:
Specify a storage server (iSCSI server defined in the previous steps), a storage pool with enough space available, and the size of the iSCSI LUN to be created. The assigned storage processor (SPA/SPB) will be dependent on the iSCSI server selected. Load-balancing across the storage processors is done manually when creating the iSCSI servers as discussed above.	Generic ISCST Storage Wixerd         Configure Storage         Step 2 of 7         Configure the storage for the first virtual disk:         Select a storage pool with available space on the selected ISCST server.         Storage Server: INFRA1 (SP A) V More information         Type 1. Pool       Available       Percent Used       Subscription         SALE BootLUNPool         Ster: * 50       GB         Size: * 50       GB       V

Instructions	Visual
	Generic ISCST Storage Wizard
Choose the protection policy for replication and snapshots that fits your requirements.	Step 3 of 6
	Configure protection storage for replication and snapshots:
	Do not configure protection storage for this storage resource.
	Replication and snapshots can be supported by allocating protection space at a later time. Configure protection storage, do not configure a snapshot protection schedule.
	An automated snapshot protection schedule may be configured at a later time.
	The actuality of treate another
	Every day at 04.80, keep for 2 days General DOL Storage Weard
Select Virtual Disk in the Access column for	Configure Host Access
the host to which iSCSI LUN access is to be	Sins 4 of 6
granted.	Configure which heats will access this storage:
	Ver Hear for
	Name 1. Network Address 100 Access P Infra1-Next Z (2) Z (2) What Disk V
	Thu Aczes
	When Don Snapstur What Data and Snapsher
Review the iSCSI storage configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to provision the iSCSI LUN and grant access to the designated host(s).	Generic iSCSI Storage Wizard Summary Step 5 of 6
The Summary page shows that the host has both IP addresses (and subsequently the	Confirm the following generic storage configuration:
matching IQNs though not shown) assigned to the host on the iSCSI-A and iSCSI-B networks.	Name: Infra1
The nost on the ISCSI-A and ISCSI-B networks.	Description:
	Storage Server: INFRA1 (10.65.0.31, 10.66.0.31)
	Storage Pool: BootLUNPool
	Size: 50.000 GB (Primary), snapshot support disabled
	Thin: Disabled
	Protection Schedule: None configured
	Virtual Disk Access: > 2 hosts configured
	Snapshot Access: No hosts configured

### 6.9.4. CIFS Server Creation

Instructions	Visual
Prior to provisioning storage for CIFS share, a shared folder server must be created. From the Settings->Shared Folder Server Settings area in Unisphere, select Add Shared Folder Server.	VNXe > Settings > Shared Folder Server Settings Shared Folder Server Settings Shared Folder Servers Name 1 IP Address
	Add Shared Folder Server Details Remove
Fill out the CIFS server network information as shown in the screenshot. Repeat for the CIFS share on the other Storage	Shared Folder Server Step 1 of 4
Processor (SPB) if building the 1000-user configuration.	Specify the Network Interface for the new Shared Folder Server: Server Name: * CIFSServerA IP Address: * 10.65.0.49 Subnet Mask/Prefix Length: * 255.255.255.0 Gateway: * 10.65.0.1 Hide advanced Storage Processor: SP A Ethernet Port: eth10 (Link Up) VLAN ID: 65

Instructions	Visual
Instructions Deselect Linux/Unix shares (NFS) if NFS is not required. Select Windows shares (CIFS) and Join to the Active Directory. Specify a Windows domain, DNS server, and an administrator's credential used to join the CIFS server to the designated domain.	Shared Folder Server Shared Folder Types Step 2 of 4 Choose the type of shares the Shared Folder Server supports: Linux/Unix shares (NFS)
	<ul> <li>Windows shares (CIFS)</li> <li>Standalone</li> <li>Join to the Active Directory</li> <li>Windows Domain: * HV.POD.LOCAL</li> <li>DNS Servers: * 10.82.0.10</li> </ul>
	10.82.0.11 IP Address:
	User Name: administrator Password: ******
	Organizational Unit: < Click to edit default>

Instructions	Visual	
Review the shared folder server configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to create the shared folder server.	Shared Folder Server	
	Server Summ	nary
	Step 3 of 4	
	Verify the following Shared Folder Ser	ver settings:
	Server Name:	CIFSServerA
	Storage Processor:	SP A
	IP Address:	10.65.0.49
	Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0
	Gateway:	10.65.0.1
	Ethernet Port:	eth10
	VLAN ID:	65
	Support Linux/Unix Shares (NFS):	Not configured
	Support Windows Shares (CIFS):	<ul> <li>Configured</li> </ul>
1		

# 6.9.5. CIFS Share Storage Creation – Profile Share

Instructions	Visual
Prior to provisioning CIFS storage, create a storage pool with the appropriate number of disks that will contain the CIFS shares. From the <b>System-&gt;Storage Pools</b> area in <b>Unisphere</b> , select <b>Configure Disks</b> .	VNXe > System > Storage Pools         Storage Pools:         Storage Pools:         Hot Spare Pool         Unconfigured Disk
	Configure Disks Details Recycle Disks Refresh

Instructions	Visual		
	Disk Configuratio	n Wizard	
Select Manually create a new pool by Disk Type.	1 × ×	ect Configurat	ion Mode
	Select the disk cont	figuration mode:	
	<ul> <li>Automatically d</li> </ul>	onfigure pools	
	Configure dis	ks into the system's pools a	nd hot spares
	<ul> <li>Manually creat</li> </ul>		
	Create a nev	v pool by disk type or for a sp	ecific application
	* by Disk	Туре	*
	O Manually add o	lisks to an existing pool	
	Add unconfig	ured disks to the selected po	lool
	Select po	ool 💌	
Specify a pool name of your choice.	Disk Configur	ation Wizard	
	š s	n:	
Select SAS and Balanced Perf/Capacity when	Selec	t Storage Type	
prompted for disk type and storage profile.	Step 3 of		
		disks you want to use for this new	pool.
	Disk Type	Max Capacity	Storage Profile
			and the second second
	NL SAS	21.496 TB	High Capacity
	100	21.496 TB 12.581 TB	High Capacity High Performance
	NL SAS SAS SAS	12.581 ТВ 22.018 ТВ	High Performance Balanced Perf/Capacity
	NL SAS SAS	12.581 TB	High Performance
	NL SAS SAS SAS	12.581 ТВ 22.018 ТВ	High Performance Balanced Perf/Capacity
	NL SAS SAS EFD Show advanced Uses SAS disks to prov	12.581 ТВ 22.018 ТВ 733.817 GB	High Performance Balanced Perf/Capacity Best Performance
	NL SAS SAS EFD Show advanced Uses SAS disks to prov does not offer performan	12.581 ТВ 22.018 ТБ 733.817 GB	High Performance Balanced Perf/Capacity Best Performance formance and capacity. This pool type pools, but it can be adequate for

Instructions	Visual
Specify the desired number of disks to be included in this storage pool.	Disk Configuration Wizard         Select Amount of Storage         Step 4 of 6         Select the amount of storage to configure.         600GB SAS (15000 RPM) Disks:       Use 28 of 50 Disks         Total Disks to Configure: 28
Review the pool configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to create the storage pool.	Disk Configuration Wizard         Summary         Step 5 of 6         The disks will be configured into a new storage pool as indicated below.         Storage Pool Name: CIFSSharePool         Storage Pool Description:         600GB SAS (15000 RPM) Disks: 28
	VNXe > Storage > Shared Folders
After the storage pool is created, navigate to	Shared Folder Storage
Storage->Shared Folders in Unisphere. Select Create to provision CIFS storage.	Allocated Shared Folders:
	Create Add Share Create a Replication Destination

Instructions	Visual
Specify a name and description (optional) for the shared folder.	Shared Folder Wizard         Specify Shared Folder Name         Step 1 of 7         Specify a name and optional description for the shared folder:         Name: * UserProfile         Description:
Specify a storage server (CIFS server defined in the previous steps), a storage pool with enough space available, and the size of the CIFS share to be created.	Shared Folder Wizard  Configure Shared Folder Storage Step 2 of 7  Configure the storage for this shared folder: Select a storage pool with available space on the selected shared folder server. Storage Server: CIFSServerA (SP A)  More information  Type 1 Pool Available Percent Used  SAS CIFSSharePool 5.974 TB  Were and the selected shared to be addressed to be
Choose the protection policy for replication and snapshots that fits your requirements.	Shared Folder Wizard         Image: Configure Protection         Step 3 of 7         Configure protection storage for replication and snapshots:         Image: Do not configure protection storage for this storage resource.         Replication and snapshots can be supported by allocating protection space at a later time.         Image: Configure protection storage, do not configure a snapshot protection schedule.         An automated snapshot protection schedule may be configured at a later time.         Image: Configure protection storage, protect data using snapshot schedule:         Image: Default Protection         This schedule will create snapshots         Every day at 04:00, keep for 2 days         Note: Times are displayed in Local Time (UTC-0400) in 24-hour format

Instructions	Visual
Select <b>Windows shares (CIFS)</b> as the share type.	Shared Folder Wizard Configure Shared Folder Attributes Step 4 of 7 Configure the type of shares which will be exported from this shared folder:
	Share Type:  Windows shares (CIFS) CIFS shares use the CIFS/SMB protocol to share content in Windows environments. Linux/Unix shares (NFS) The selected storage server does not have NFS support enabled. You can enable this feature, which requires a license, from the Shared Folder Server Settings page. Show advanced
Select <b>Create a Windows share</b> and specify a share name of your choice.	Shared Folder Wizard  Configure Share Step 5 of 7  Configure the share to be created for this shared folder: Local Path: /  Create a Windows share Name: UserProfile Export Path: \\10.65.0.49\UserProfile Description: Show advanced

Instructions	Visual	
	Shared Folder Wizard	
Review the shared folder configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to provision the CIFS share.	Summ Step 6 of 7	
	Confirm you want to creat	e the following shared folder:
	Name:	UserProfile
	Description:	
	Storage Server:	CIFSServerA (10.65.0.49)
	Storage Pool:	CIFSSharePool
	Size:	200.000 GB (Primary), snapshot support disabled
	Thin:	Disabled
	Advanced Attributes:	► Use Defaults
	Protection Schedule:	None configured
		Share Creation
	Share Type:	Windows shares (CIFS)
	Name:	UserProfile
	Description:	
	Local Path:	/
	Export Path:	\\10.65.0.49\UserProfile
	Advanced Attributes:	► Use Defaults

## 6.9.6. CIFS Share Storage Creation – vDisk Share

Instructions	Visual
	VNXe > Storage > Shared Folders
Navigate to <b>Storage-&gt;Shared Folders</b> in <b>Unisphere</b> . Select <b>Create</b> to provision CIFS	Shared Folder Storage
storage.	Allocated Shared Folders:
	Create Add Share Create a Replication Destination

Instructions	Visual
Specify a name and description (optional) for the shared folder.	Shared Folder Wizard         Specify Shared Folder Name         Step 1 of 7         Specify a name and optional description for the shared folder:         Name: * vDisk         Description:
Specify a storage server (CIFS server defined in the previous steps), a storage pool with enough space available, and the size of the CIFS share to be created.	Shared Folder Wizard         Configure Shared Folder Storage         Step 2 of 7         Configure the storage for this shared folder:         Select a storage pool with available space on the selected shared folder server.         Storage Server:       CIFSServerA (SP A)           Type       1           SAS       CIFSSharePool         SAS       CIFSSharePool         Server:       Storage         Stare       SharePool         SAS       CIFSSharePool         Server:       Storage         Server:       CIFSSharePool         SAS       CIFSSharePool         Server:       Percent Available:         Percent Used       Server:         Server:       Soo         Ster:       Soo         Ster:       Soo         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Percent Used         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Sterver:         Server:       Server:         Server:       Server:         Server:       Server:
Choose the protection policy for replication and snapshots that fits your requirements.	Shared Folder Wizard         Image: Configure Protection         Step 3 of 7         Configure protection storage for replication and snapshots:         Image: Do not configure protection storage for this storage resource.         Replication and snapshots can be supported by allocating protection space at a later time.         Image: Configure protection storage, do not configure a snapshot protection schedule.         An automated snapshot protection schedule may be configured at a later time.         Image: Configure protection storage, protect data using snapshot schedule:         This schedule will create snapshots         Every day at 04:00, keep for 2 days         Note: Times are displayed in Local Time (UTC-0400) in 24-hour format

Instructions	Visual
Select <b>Windows shares (CIFS)</b> as the share type.	Shared Folder Wizard         Image: Step 4 of 7         Configure the type of shares which will be exported from this shared folder:         Share Type:       Image: Windows shares (CIFS)         CIFS shares use the CIFS/SMB protocol to share content in Windows environments.         Imax/Unix shares (NFS)         The selected storage server does not have NFS support enabled. You can enable this feature, which requires a license, from the Shared Folder Server Settings page.         Show advanced
Select <b>Create a Windows share</b> and specify a share name of your choice.	Shared Folder Wizard   Configure Share   Step 5 of 7   Configure the share to be created for this shared folder:   Local Path:   Local Path:   /   Create a Windows share   Name:   vDisk   Export Path:   \\10.65.0.49\vDisk   Description:   Show advanced

Instructions	Visual
	Shared Folder Wizard
Review the shared folder configuration in the <b>Summary</b> page and select <b>Finish</b> to provision the CIFS share.	Summary Step 6 of 7
	Confirm you want to create the following shared folder:
	Name: vDisk
	Description:
	Storage Server: CIFSServerA (10.65.0.49)
	Storage Pool: CIFSSharePool
	Size: 500.000 GB (Primary), snapshot support disabled
	Thin: Disabled
	Advanced Attributes:  ► Use Defaults
	Protection Schedule: None configured
	Share Creation
	Share Type: Windows shares (CIFS)
	Name: vDisk
	Description:
	Local Path: /
	Export Path: \\10.65.0.49\vDisk
	Advanced Attributes:  ► Use Defaults

#### 6.10. Installing and Configuring Microsoft Server 2012

Two types of service profiles were required to support two different blade server types:

Table 11: Role/Server/OS Deployment

Role	Blade Server Used	Operating System Deployed
Infrastructure	UCS B200 M3 (E5-2650)	Microsoft Windows Server 2012 Datacenter
VDI Hosts	UCS B200 M3 (E5-2697v2)	Microsoft Windows Server Hyper-V 2012

To support those different hardware platforms, service profile templates were created, utilizing various policies created earlier as documented.

The service profile templates were then used to quickly deploy service profiles for each blade server in the Cisco Unified Computing System. When each blade server booted for the first time, the service profile was deployed automatically, providing the perfect configuration for Microsoft Windows installation.

#### 6.10.1. Infrastructure Servers

For this Cisco Validated Design, iSCSI storage was used to boot the hosts from LUNs on the VNXe3300 storage system. Prior to installing the operating system, storage groups were created, assigning to specific boot LUNs to individual hosts. (See Section 6.9 EMC VNXe Storage Configuration for details.)

The table below provides the steps to install Windows Server 2012 on the Cisco UCS hosts.

Instructions	Visual
Open a browser and enter the address of the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect: <u>https://xx.xx.xx</u> Click on <b>Continue to this website (not</b> <b>recommended).</b>	Contribute tomerhisegeon likeled a Windows Meanet Badweer       Implied and the second
Click Launch Cisco UCS Manager.	Cisco UCS Manager - 2.1(1e)
	Launch LKCS Manager Launch KVM Manager

Instructions	Visual
Enter the <b>User Name</b> : admin Enter the <b>Password</b> specified during the initial setup of the Cisco UCS System. Click <b>Login.</b>	Cisco Systems, Inc. UCS Manager - Login to UCS-EXC-HyperV LOGIN User Name admin Password ******* Login Cancel
In the Servers tab, expand Service Profiles > root. Select the server you wish to install the operating system on. Right-click and choose KVM Console from the context menu. If you get a certificate warning, just click the "Always trust this certificate" checkbox and then click Run.	Equipment       Servers       LAN       SAN       VM       Admin         Filter:       All       Image: Construction of the service of the se
Click the <b>Virtual Media</b> tab of the KVM Console.	
Instructions	Visual
--	---
Click the <b>Add Image</b> button.	Process         Process <t< td=""></t<>
Add the image for the Windows Server 2012 ISO image by browsing to the ISO and clicking <b>Open</b> .	
Repeat the process for the ucs-bxxxx-drivers 2.1.3 ISO image.	No
Click the Mapped checkbox for the Windows Server 2012 ISO image.	hane Tagge (nor - Happer (n
	Mara Salari New Salari Nam Salari Nam Salari
	() Consolid 2.8, ISBN 14
<b>NOTE</b> : Due to a small bug in the Windows Installation when using iSCSI boot LUNs, you will need to ensure there is only one path to the iSCSI volume. If there are two paths the install will fail until you first write something to the disk.	
To disable one of the paths, just assign the eth7 vNIC temporarily to the iSCSI-Null VLAN created earlier.	
Reboot the Cisco UCS server and verify the iSCSI boot driver loads and connects to the EMC VNXe3300 LUN.	0 JHUD(s) found on the host adapter 0 JUDD(s) hendled by BIOS 1 Virtaal Drive(s) found on the host adapter. 1 Virtaal Drive(s) handled by BIOS Cisco VIC ISCSI, Boot Driver Version 2.1(ie) (c) 2010 Cisco Systems, Inc. 0025b5a0005a ISCSI ENC. :000 Option NDM installed successfully

Instructions	Visual
Select Language to install.	Windows Setup
Select Time and currency format.	
Select Keyboard or input method.	Language to install (English (United States)
Click <b>Next.</b>	Enter your language and other preferences and click: "Next" to continue. @ 3012 Mizrosoft Corporation: All rights reserved.
Click Install now.	Windows Settle
	Bapar your computer & 200 Monant Computer ()

Instructions	Visual
	🔘 🕰 Windows Setup
Provide the Windows Server 2012 license key.	Enter the product key to activate Windows It should be on the back of the box that Windows came in or in a message that shows you bought Windows.
Click <b>Next.</b>	The product key looks like this XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX Dashes will be added automatically.
	Envary statement
Select Windows Server 2012 Datacenter	Select the operating system you want to install
(Server with a GUI).	Operating system         Architecture         Date modified           Windows Server 2012 Datacenter (Server Core Installation)         x64         7/26/2013           Windows Server 2012 Datacenter (Server with a GUI)         x64         7/26/2013
Click <b>Next.</b>	
	Description This option is useful when a GUI is required—for example, to provide backward compatibility for an application that cannot be run on a Server Core installation. All server roles and features are supported. You can switch to a different installation option later. See "Windows Server installation Options."
	liest
	fjæt

Instructions	Visual
Review the License terms, and if agreeable, enable the checkbox labeled <b>I accept the</b> <b>license terms</b> . You must accept the license terms to continue.	Kindows Setup      License terms      MICROSOFT SOFTWARE LICENSE TERMS      MICROSOFT WINDOWS SERVER 2012 DATACENTER      These license terms are an agreement between Nicrosoft Corporation (or based on where you live, one of its affiliates) and you. Please read them. They apply to the software named above, which includes the media on which you received it, if any. The terms also apply to any Microsoft     updates,     supplements,
Click <b>Next.</b>	Internet-based services, and     support services      groups the license terms      Elect
Click Custom: Install Windows only (advanced).	Windows Series Which type of installation do you want? Upgrade: Install Windows and keep files, settings, and applications The files, settings, and applications are moved to Windows with this option. This option is only evilable when a supported version of Windows is alwady running on the computer. Example install Windows and y (advanced) The files, settings, and applications aren't moved to Windows with this option. If you want to make changes to partitions and drives, that the computer using the installation disc. We econtinued backing up your files before you continue. Help me decide

Instructions	Visual
The local disk will be visible, but the iSCSI volume needs the Cisco UCS disk driver loaded.	Windbiec Setup Where do you want to install Windows? Name Total size Free space Type Drive 0 Unallocated Space 357.9 GB 557.9 GB
	The colions (gdvanced)
Before loading the driver, you will need to insert the Cisco B-Series 2.1(3a) device driver CD.	A science dependent problem (Dennes) a librar (La particular) Ten Inter Statute dependent Steven (S) France Statute dependent Statute dependen
Select the Virtual Media tab.	21 32 (Papellow Approximate State Control 2012)
Uncheck the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Windows Server ISO (and confirm the unmap warning dialog).	
Check the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Cisco UCS driver CD.	
Return to the <b>KVM</b> tab.	
Click <b>Browse</b> to locate the driver install.	Load driver To install the device driver for your drive, insert the installation media containing the driver files, and then click OK. Note: The installation media can be a CD, DVD, or USB flash drive. Browse OK Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	Browse for Folder
Navigate to the MLOM Windows Server 2012 x64 driver found at:	Browse to the driver, and then click OK.
.\Windows\Network\Cisco\MLOM\W2K12\x64	▷     Installers     ∧       ▷     Image: Second secon
Click <b>OK.</b>	Image: Wetwork         Image: Broadcom         Image: Cisco         Image: Cisco         Image: Disco         Image: Disco <tr< td=""></tr<>
When the driver is located, click <b>Next.</b>	Windows Setup      Select the driver to install      [circovitS Schement Interface (DAV/Indows/Webyer/Concer/MICOM/W/INTERsel/methods.ml)
	Fide drivers that aren't compatible with this computer's hardware.       Brgwise       Brgwise

Before returning to the install, be sure to reinsert the Windows Server 2012 ISO.       Image: Contract of the server of the serve	6.0 Citata Inge 400 Inge Names Bage Jondo 4
Uncheck the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Cisco UCS driver CD. Check the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Windows Server	
driver CD. Check the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Windows Server	
Return to the <b>KVM</b> tab.	
Select the iSCSI LUN. Where do you want to install Windows?	
Click Next.	98
Befresh     Drive options (add     End driver      The amount of free space on the selected paintion is smaller than the 148609 MB recomment     We recommend making it at least 148009 MB or selecting another parities.	141-1-122
the spectrum of the rest of the second se	2 Hert

Instructions	Visual
Complete the Windows installation.	Windows Setup
	Installing Windows
	Your computer will restart several times. This migh
	Copying Windows files Getting files ready for installation (23%) Installing features Installing updates Finishing up
Enter the initial Administrator's password.	Settings Type a password for the built-in administrator account that you can use to sign in to this computer.
Re-enter the Administrator's password.	User name Administrator Password Reenter password
	<del>ن</del>
	C-

Instructions	Visual
Login to the server.	Administrator
Launch the Computer Management tool from Server Manager.	Server Manager      Server Manager      Dashboard      Outer Aver Uptring Consport Friday      Detay of the server      All Servers      Ethe and Stocker Fervers      Ethe and Stocker Fervers      Ethe and Stocker Fervers      Construct this loo      Configure this loo      Server Duster Wenger      Server Server       Server      Serv
Server Manager >> Tools >> Computer Management.	
Select Device Manager from the left-hand pane.	<ul> <li>▲ WIN-TLE5VE57VDO</li> <li>▶ Batteries</li> <li>▶ I Computer</li> <li>▶ ⊡ Disk drives</li> <li>▶ IJ Display adapters</li> <li>▶ I Human Interface Devices</li> </ul>
From the right-hand pane, locate the Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface cards that are showing a warning symbol.	<ul> <li>Keyboards</li> <li>Mice and other pointing devices</li> <li>Monitors</li> <li>Network adapters</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface</li> </ul>
The Cisco VIC Ethernet Interfaces without the warning symbol are the two iSCSI interfaces. The remaining ones will need to be uninstalled.	Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface     Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface     Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface     Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface     Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #2     Microsoft Kernel Debug Network Adapter
<b>WARNING:</b> Uninstalling one of the Cisco VIC Ethernet Interfaces that is being used will blue screen the box and require a complete reinstall.	WAN Miniport (IP)  Ports (COM & LPT)  Print queues  Processors  Storage controllers  System devices
Right-click the Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface.	Universal Serial Bus controllers
Select <b>Uninstall</b> from the context menu.	

Instructions	Visual
If prompted, click <b>OK</b> on the Confirm Device Unistall dialog. Repeat for all Cisco VIC Ethernet Interfaces which are having problems.	<ul> <li>Network adapters</li> <li>Cisco VIC Et</li> <li>C</li></ul>
	Confirm Device Uninstall  Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface  Warning: You are about to uninstall this device from your system.  Delete the driver software for this device.
	OK Cancel
To reinstall the drivers correctly, complete the following:	<ul> <li>WIN-TLES</li> <li>Batterie</li> <li>Batterie</li> <li>Compu</li> <li>Add legacy hardware</li> <li>Disk drives</li> <li>Display adapters</li> </ul>
Select the computer name.	
Right-click and choose <b>Scan for hardware changes</b> from the context menu.	
When finished, all Cisco VIC Ethernet Interfaces should be functioning correctly.	

Instructions	Visual
	<ul> <li>WIN-TLE5VE57VDO</li> <li>Batteries</li> <li>Batteries</li> <li>Computer</li> <li>Disk drives</li> <li>Display adapters</li> <li>Human Interface Devices</li> <li>Keyboards</li> <li>Mice and other pointing devices</li> <li>Monitors</li> <li>Monitors</li> <li>Network adapters</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #2</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #3</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #4</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #5</li> <li>Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface #6</li> <li>Microsoft Kernel Debug Network Adapter</li> <li>WAN Miniport (IP)</li> </ul>
<b>Note</b> : To re-enable one of the paths, just assign the eth7 vNIC back to the iSCSI-B VLAN created earlier. Ideally, this step should be completed prior to enabling the MultipathIO software.	
Install Multipathing software by executing the following CaSe-SeNsItIvE command-line:	C:\Users\Rdministrator>dim /online /Enable-Peature:MultipathIs Beployment Image Servicing and Management tool Version: 6.2.9288.16384 Image Version: 6.2.9288.16384 Haabling feature(s) E
Dism /online /Enable-Feature:Multipathio	

Instructions	Visual
Enable Multipathing software from the MPIO control panel.	MPIO Properties MPIO Devices Discover Multi-Paths DSM Install Configuration Snapshot SPC-3 compliant Device Hardware Id
From the command-line execute <b>Mpiocpl.</b>	Device hardware to
Enable the <b>Add support for iSCSI devices</b> checkbox.	Add support for iSCSI devices Add support for SAS devices Add
Click <b>Add.</b>	Others Device Hardware Id Add More information on discovery of multipathed devices OK Cancel
Click " <b>Yes</b> " on the Reboot Required dialog.	Reboot Required       ×         A reboot is required to complete the operation. Reboot Now?
Repeat steps for the other Infrastructure server.	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o

## 6.10.2. VDI Hosts

Windows Hyper-V 2012 does not include the full GUI, the steps previously identified to force the Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface drivers needs to be accomplished using PowerShell instead. Microsoft has a Device Management PowerShell cmdlet which is able to perform the VIC Ethernet Interface update properly.

Visual				
Script Center	Downland - Name	nes haards		United Dames (Experie) = Imprise
and the second se	Incore Management Fam DeVICE This meshda separ function Download Remaja Download	An and the second secon	PowerShe hardions and pointing day bard spotned berring	us enumention and management W/W/DUJ Yorkset Terms of Use
Ricardo Mendes - MSFT Microsoft MST 757 rem	anit control.	Auf Er Freieden Handeure Handeure Het Denned Het Denned U U U U U Handeure Er Handeure Handeu	View II	파네con ai sell ai 940 disica discovery
El II:\Selease20: El\Diery\Administrat	C-C DOWNER	istrator Windows P	owerShell	- 0 🗶
C1\Vindows\System32 C:\Vindows\System32 C:\Vindows\System32	WindowsPow WindowsPow	unschnlivi.8\Mo	dules)ed deve dules)ed deve	ngent
C:\Window:\System32 Window: PowerShell Copyright (C) 2012 PS C:\Window:\System	VindawcPov Nicroseft ( u32∖Vindaws	werShellvol.8\Me Corporation. All	rights reser	-und.
	Normal Procession         Script Center         Hone Library Learn Down         Increase International Vocabulations of Descent Procession         Click Access         By Deschart Vocabulations of Descent Procession         Click Access         By Deschart Vocabulations         Click Access         By Deschart Vocabulations         Click Access         By Deschart Vocabulations         Records Access         Monotoling         Mindowse Nagement         Clivel Schangement         Mindowse Nagement         Monotoling         Mindowse Nagement         Mindowse Nagement         Mindowse Nagement         Mindowse Nagement	Name     Observed     Observed     Observed     Observed       Script Centur       None     Using Lean     Observed     Interformer       Interformer     Interformer     Interformer     Interformer       Outck Access     My Continuition     Interformer     Interformer       My Continuition     Interformer     Interformer     Interformer       My Continuition     Intenterformer     Intenterformer <td< td=""><td>Name     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description       Image     Unitary     Later     Description       Image     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Un</td><td>Sector     Sector       Sector     Sector       New Wary Law Descing Sector     Sector       Sector     Sector<!--</td--></td></td<>	Name     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Name     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Later     Description       Image     Unitary     Later     Description       Image     Unitary     Unitary     Unitary       Image     Unitary     Un	Sector     Sector       Sector     Sector       New Wary Law Descing Sector     Sector       Sector     Sector </td

Instructions	Visual
Before loading the driver, you will need to insert the Cisco B-Series 2.1(3a) device driver CD. Select the <b>Virtual Media</b> tab. Check the <b>Mapped</b> box for the Cisco UCS driver CD.	KWM Console       Properties         KVM       Virtual Media         Client View       Mapped         Mapped       Read Only         Drive       Image: Chippy         Image: Chippy       Image: Chippy         Image: Chipy       Image: Chipy
Return to the <b>KVM</b> tab.	Administrator: Windows PowerShell
Execute the Install-DeviceDriver cmdlet with this command:	SwindowsYnetwork/Cisco/MLOM/MZH12/x64/en3c6x64.inf Beiver installad PS E:/Mindows/Network/Cisco/MLOM/W2H12/x64>
Install-DeviceDriver –InfFilePath E:\Windows\Network\Cisco\MLOM\W2K12\x6 4\enic6x64.inf	
Where E: is the drive letter for the mapped Cisco UCS ISO.	

Instructions	Visual	
After the driver is installed correctly, all the Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface adapters will be visible from <b>SCONFIG</b> option <b>8</b> .	C://Windows/System32/cmd.ese - C://Windows/System32/sconfig.cmd	

## 6.10.3. Local Configuration Tasks After Install

When completed, the standard configuration tasks can now be completed on each server, such as naming the server, joining the domain, etc. For this validation, the following configuration tasks were completed after the OS installation was finished:

- 1. Name the interfaces to match the Cisco UCS Virtual Ethernet Interfaces
  - a. **NOTE**: The order that the vNICs are loaded by Windows is non-deterministic. The best way to identify the interfaces is to match them based on the MAC addresses assigned in Cisco Unified Computing System.
- 2. Configure static IP address for management and infrastructure networks
- 3. Configure DNS servers
- 4. Name the server
- 5. Join the domain
- 6. Disable the Firewall
- 7. Enable Remote Desktop
- 8. Enable Remote Management
- 9. Install EMC PowerPath software
- 10. Windows Update
- 11. Share the local SSD drive out for XenDesktop write-cache drives, granting everyone access to the drive.

#### 6.11. Installing and Configuring SQL Server 2012 SP1

This section provides the instructions for installing and configuring Microsoft SQL Server 2012 SP1 for the System Center Virtual Machine Manager database.

# 6.11.1. Pass-Through Storage Configuration

Hyper-V allows virtual machines to access storage mapped directly to the Hyper-V server without requiring the volume to be configured. When storage is mapped to the Hyper-V server, it will appear as a raw volume in an offline state is disk manager on the Hyper-V server. Bring the disk online, initialize the disk, and then place the disk in an offline state. To ensure that the Virtual Machine will have exclusive access to the storage, the disk should be left in an offline state. At this point, add the disk as pass-through storage to the SQL VMs using Windows Hyper-V Manager.

Prior to configuring the storage as pass-through LUNs to SQL VMs SQL 1 and SQL2, you will need to:

1. Make sure that the LUNs to be used for DB and Log files have been presented to the Hyper-V servers (INFRA-1 and INFRA-2).

Instructions	Visual	
Perform the following steps on both <b>INFRA-1</b> and <b>INFRA-2</b> .		
	5 Computer Management	- 8 .
Open the Computer Management Tool.	The Adam Tee Mig + + + = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	
Select <b>Disk Management</b> in the left pane .	Computer Management Anna     Values     Liquid, Type TeleStates     State     Co     State     Computer	Artier Dou Management – Man Artiere F
	(d) (a)	
	Image         Image <th< th=""><th></th></th<>	
	C2/Dab 1         System Reserved         SC2           Note 08         States Reserved         AC3           States         States Reserved         AC3           Data         States Reserved         AC3           Heading Data         States Reserved         AC3	
	Victors 2 Terris Statuto Statuto Office 3 Monor Particle Monor Particle	

Instructions	Visual
	<
Right-click the disk and select <b>Online</b> .	Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Solon constraints         Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Solon constraints         Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Online         Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Properties         Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Properties         Image: Constraint of the second constraints       Solon constraints         Image: Constraints       Solon constraints
When <b>Online,</b> the disk will show as being <b>Not Initialized.</b>	Unknown 4.88 GB Not Initialized
Right-click the disk and select <b>Initialize Disk.</b>	Disk 13 Inknown     A.88 GB     A.88

Instructions	Visual
Select either the <b>MBR</b> partition or <b>GPT</b> partition radio button type depending on the size of your volume. Volumes over 2TB need to be GPT. When finished, click <b>OK</b> .	Initialize Disk       X         You must initialize a disk before Logical Disk Manager can access it.         Select disks:         Image: Disk 13
	Use the following partition style for the selected disks: <ul> <li>MBR (Master Boot Record)</li> <li>GPT (GUID Partition Table)</li> </ul> Note: The GPT partition style is not recognized by all previous versions of Windows. It is recommended for disks larger than 2TB, or disks used on Itanium-based computers.   OK
When a disk is initialized, it can once again be placed in an <b>Offline</b> state. If the disk is not in an <b>Offline</b> state, it will not be available for selection when configuring the Guest's storage. Right-click on the disk and select <b>Offline</b> .	
Add the pass-through disk to the virtual machines SQL1 and SQL2. Perform the following steps on both <b>INFRA-1</b> and <b>INFRA-2</b> :	

Instructions	Visual
Open Windows Hyper-V Manager. Right click on the SQL1 or SQL2 VM and choose Settings. Click SCSI Controller in theleft. Click Hard Drive. Click Add.	Settings for SQL1 on INFRA-1         SQL1         SQL1         Matchance         Addression         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3         Matchance         SQL3
Select <b>Physical Hard Disk</b> . In the drop down list, choose the disk to be used for the SQLDB (50GB). Click <b>Apply</b> .	Contracts on SOLI 1 on INNIA-1           Contracts on Soli 1 on Innia on

Instructions	Visual
Instructions Click SCSI Controller in the left pane. Click Hard Drive. Click Add.	Visual         Settings for SQL1 on INFRA-1         Settings for SQL1 on INFRA-1         Image: Solar state of the solar solar state
Select <b>Physical Hard Disk</b> .	Cancel 2007     OX Cancel 2007     Settings for SQL1 on INFRA-1     OX
In the drop down list, choose the disk to be used for the SQLLOGs (10GB).	Herdheare     Add Herdheare     Add Herdheare     Add Herdheare     Not can charge how the virtual hard dok is attached to the virtual nachere. If an     operating virtual nacher the dok, charging the articlement regist prevent the     virtual nachere they starting.     Add Herdheare     Not can charge how the virtual hard dok is attached to the virtual nachere. If an     virtual nachere they starting.     Controller     Leading
Click <b>Apply</b> .	Image processor       Image processor
	OK Cancel Apply

Instructions	Visual	
Verify that the pass-through disk has been successfully added to the virtual machines SQL1 and SQL2. Perform the following steps on both <b>SQL-1</b> and <b>SQL-2</b> :	2	Computer Management
	File Action View Help	
Open the <b>Computer Management tool</b> .	Computer Management (Local Volume	Layout Type File System Status Capacity F Simple Basic NTFS Healthy (Boot, Crash Dump, Primary Partition) 19:66 GB
Click <b>Disk Management</b> in the left pane.	CDROM (E)     CDROM (E)	Simple         Basic         CDFS         Healthy (Primary Partition)         794 MB         C           Simple         Basic         NTFS         Healthy (Page File, Primary Partition)         29.87 GB         2           Simple         Basic         NTFS         Healthy (Primary Partition)         49.87 GB         4
Verify that the DB and LOG volumes are shown.		Simple Basic NTFS Healthy (Primary Partition) 9:97 GB é ved Simple Basic NTFS Healthy (System, Active, Primary Partition) 350 MB 1
Right click on the DB volume and select <b>Online</b>	Storage  Windows Server Backup  Disk Management  Services and Applications	
Right click on the LOG volume and select <b>Online</b>		
Create a <b>new volume</b> and call it <b>SQLDB</b>	i≤ ⊡Disk 2	5 IIII
Create a <b>new volume</b> and call it <b>SQLLogs</b>	Basic 49.88 GB Online	SQLDB 49.97 GB NTFS Healthy (Primary Parition)
	C.P.Disk 3 Basic 9.97 GB Online	SQLlogs 9.97 GE NTFS Healthy (Primary Partition)

### 6.11.2. SQL Server 2012 – Installation Pre-requisites

Prior to installing SQL Server 2012 SP1, you will need to do the following on SQL1 and SQL2:

1. Make sure that .NET 3.5 SP1 has been installed on the guest operating system on both SQL1 and SQL2 (it is no longer installed by SQL server setup). For more information please see <u>Microsoft</u> .NET Framework 3.5 Deployment Considerations.

## 6.11.3. SQL Server 2012 Installation

The table below provides the installation steps for SQL Server 2012.

Instructions	Visual	
Perform the following steps on both <b>SQL1</b> and <b>SQL2</b> . Launch the installation setup by double clicking on "setup.exe".		
	<b>a</b>	SQL Server Installation Center
In the left side of the screen click <b>Installation</b> .	Planning Installation Maintenance Tools Resources Advanced Options	Hadvare and Software Requirements         We the hardware and software requirements.         If we the hardware and software requirements.         If we the socurity documentation.         If we the latest information about the release.         If we tail their database design would for any SQL Server platform.         If another the other the content on the set of the release the set of th
	8	SQL Server Installation Center
In the pane on the right click on <b>"New SQL Server stand</b> —alone installation or add features to an existing installation".	Planning Installation Maintenance Tools Resources Advanced Options	Note SQL Server stand-allow installation or add features to an existing installation launch a wicard to install SQL Server 2012 in a non-clustered environment or to add eatures to an existing SQL Server 2012 instance.         Image: SQL Server failower cluster installation         Image: SQL Server failower cluster installation         Image: SQL Server failower cluster installation         Image: SQL Server failower cluster         Image: SQL Server 2005, SQL Server 2001 failower cluster         Image: SQL Server 2005, SQL Server 2005, SQL Server 2008 or SQL Server 2008 or SQL Server 2008 R2 to SQL Server 2012, SQL Server 2003 or SQL Server 2008 R2 to SQL Server 2012.         Image: SQL Server 2005, SQL Server 2005, SQL Server 2006 or SQL Server 2008 R2 to SQL Server 2012.

Instructions	Visual		
		SQL Server 2012 Setup	- 0 ×
Review the installation advisor report.	Setup Support Rules	es sfy problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup support files. Failures must in continue.	be
Click <b>OK</b> .	Setup Support Rules	Operation completed. Passed: 8. Failed 0. Warning 0. Skipped 0.	
		Show details >> View detailed report	Re-nin Cancel
			- 0 X
Provide a valid <b>Product Key</b> .	Product Key Specify the edition of SQL	SQL Server 2012 Setup	
Click Next.	Product Key License Terms Product Updates Install Setup Files	Validate this instance of SQL Server 2012 by entering the 25-character key from the Mi certificate of authenticity or product packaging. You can also specify a free edition of 3 as fauluation or bypers. Situation has the largest set of 520, Server factors, as docu Server Books Online, and is activated with a 180-day expiration. To upgrade from one another, run the Edition Upgrade Wizard. Specify a free edition: Evaluation Evaluation State of authenticity of the edition of the server of the server Server Books Online of the server of the server of the server Evaluation Server Books Online of the server of the server of the server Server Books Online of the server of the server of the server of the server Server Books Online of the server of	mented in SQL
		< Back Next >	Cancel

Instructions	Visual			
	15	SQL Server 2012 Setup	= 0 X	
	License Terms			
Mark the checkbox <b>"I accept the license terms"</b>	To install SQL Server 201	12, you must accept the Microsoft Software License Terms.		
Click <b>Next</b> .	Product Key Lkense Terms Product Updates Install Setup Files	MICROSOFT SOFTWARE LICENSE TERMS MICROSOFT SQL SERVER 2012 ENTERPRISE SERVER/CAL EDITION These license terms are an agreement between Microsoft Corporation ( live, one of its affiliates) and you. Please read them. They apply to the s which includes the media on which you received it, if any. The terms also • updates, • updates, • supplements, • Internet-based services, and • winnut cansices 21 accept the license terms. □ Send feature usage data to Microsoft. Feature usage data includes informat configuration and how you use SQL Server and its components.	(or based on where you coftware named above, so apply to any Microsoft a a Copy Print	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Product Updates Always install the latest	< Back SQL Server 2012 Setup Lupdates to enhance your SQL Server security and performance.	Net> Cance	
Click <b>Next</b> .				
	Product Key	GR Include SOL Server conduct underer	10000	
	License Terms	Include SQL Server product updates		
	License Terms Product Updates	Name Size (MB) More	e Information	
	License Terms	Name         Size (M8)         More           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Produc         145         118 27	e Information 293014 792624	
	License Terms Product Updates	Name         Size (M8)         More           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Produc         145         118 27	93634	
	License Terms Product Updates	Name         Size (MB)         More           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Produc         145         18,22           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Setup         26         18,8,22           2 updates (171 MB) found online.         2         2	93634	
	License Terms Product Updates	Name         Size (MB)         More           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Produc         145         48.22           SQL Server 2012 SP1 GDR Setup         26         158.22           2 updates (171 MB) found online.         The Setup updates (26 MB) will be installed when you click Next.	93634	

	Visual			
		SQL Server 2012 Setup		
	Install Setup Files			
Note: To complete this step successfully, the	SQL Server Setup will now be installed. If an update for SQL Server Setup is found and specified to be included, the update will also be installed.			
server need to be connect to the internet.	Product Key License Terms			
	Product Updates	Downloading the Setup files: 4 MB of 26 MB downloaded (1		
	Install Setup Files	Task State Scan for product updates Com	us Ipleted	
			rogress	
			started	
		Install Setup files Not	started	
			< Back Install Cancel	
Click Novt	Setup Support Rules	SQL Server 2012 Setup	- <b>- - x</b>	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can c	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s problems.	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can o Setup Support Rules	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s problems.	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can c Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s problems.	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can c Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. Sk	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details <<	upport files. Failures must be ipped 0.	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can co Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Mide details << Yieu detailed report	upport files. Failures must be	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details << <u>View detailed report</u> Rule	upport files. Failures must be ipped 0. Re-run Status Patiet	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules identify corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Dick Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. Sa Hide details << <u>View details details</u> Rule Rule Fusion Active Template Library (ATL)	upport files. Failures must be ipped 0. Re-run Status Patietd	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Setup Role Peature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. Su Mide details << <u>View detailed report</u> Rule Rule Pruion Active Template Library (ATL) Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen No SoS install with SQL Server "Danal" CTP0 Consistency validation for SQL Server registry keys	opport files. Failures must be ipped 0. Status Patient xce Devel	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Setup Role Peature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details << <u>View detailed report</u> Rule Fusion Active Template Library (ATL) Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Consistency validation for SQL Server registry keys Computer domain controller	support files. Failures must be ipped 0. Re-run Status Passed Passed Passed Passed Passed Passed	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Setup Role Peature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details << <u>New detailed report</u> Rule Fusion Active Template Library (ATL) Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Provious releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Consistency validation for SQL Server registry keys Computer domain controller Microsoft JNET Application Security	support files. Failures must be ipped 0. Status Status Passed Passed Passed Passed Passed	
Dick <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Setup Role Peature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details << <u>View detailed report</u> Rule Fusion Active Template Library (ATL) Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Consistency validation for SQL Server registry keys Computer domain controller	support files. Failures must be ipped 0. Re-run Status Passed Passed Passed Passed Passed Passed	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Support Rules Setup Support Rules corrected before Setup can o Setup Role Setup Role Peature Selection Installation Rules Disk Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	problems that might occur when you install SQL Server Setup s ontinue. Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 1. So Hide details << <u>New detailed report</u> Rule Fusion Active Template Library (ATL) Previous releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Provious releases of SQL Server 2008 Business Intelligen Consistency validation for SQL Server registry keys Computer domain controller Microsoft JNET Application Security	support files. Failures must be ipped 0. Status Status Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti Pasieti	

Instructions	Visual		
	15	SQL Server 2012 Setup	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup Role Click the SQL Server Fasture Installation option to individually select which feature components to install, or click a feature role to install a specific configuration.		
	Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Dick Space Requirements Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	<ul> <li>SQL Server Feature Installation Install SQL Server Database Engine Services, Analysis Services, Reporting Services, Integration Services, and other features.</li> <li>SQL Server DowerPlot for SharePoint Install PowerPlot of SharePoint on a new or existing SharePoint server to support PowerPlot data access in the fam. Optionally, add the SQL Server relational database engine to use as the new family a actabase server.</li> <li>Add SQL Server Database Relational (higher Services to this installation.</li> <li>All Features With Defaults.</li> <li>Install all features using default values for the service accounts.</li> </ul>	
		< Back Next > Cancel Help	
	<b>4</b>	SQL Server 2012 Setup	
	Feature Selection		
Mark the relevant SQL roles.	Select the Enterprise features t	to install.	
	Setup Support Rules	Features Feature description:	
For our SCVMM install we installed the following: -Database Engine Services (with all subs) -Reporting Services – Native -Data Quality Client -SQL Server Data Tools -Client Tools Backwards Compatibility -Management Tools - Complete Click Next.	Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Reedy to Install Installation Progress Complete	Instance Features Database Engine Services Database Engine Services Data Quality Services Data Quality Services Data Quality Services Data Quality Services Data Quality Services Data Quality Services Sheref Paters Source Features Source Server Quality Client Source Server Quality Source Server Quality Source Server Quality Source Server Quality Source Server Quality Source Server Quality Source Services Shared feature directory Source Server Shared feature directory (x86): CliProgram Files (d86)(Microsoft SQL Server/ Shared feature directory (x86): Shared fe	

Instructions Visual					
	*	SQL Server 2012 Setup			
Click <b>Next</b> .	Installation Rules Setup is running rules to des	Installation Rules Setup is running rules to determine if the installation process will be blocked. For more information, click Help.			
	Setup Support Rules Setup Solo Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Operation completed. Passed: 3. Failed 0. Warning 0. Skipped 0. Show details >> Yes detailed report			
		<beck next=""> Cencel Help</beck>			
lick Next	Instance Configuration				
ick <b>Next</b> .	Instance Configuration	OR  Text II for the instance of SQL Server. Instance ID becomes part of the installation path.			

Instructions	Visual		
		SQL Server 2012 Setup	
Click Next.	Disk Space Requirements Review the disk space summary for the SQL Server features you selected.		
	Setup Support Rules Setup Role. Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration <b>Disk Space Requirements</b> Server Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Disk Usage Summary:	
	5 Server Configuration	< Back Next > Cancel Help SQL Server 2012 Setup	
Set "SQLSRV" as a service account for the SQL	Specify the service accounts and		
engine.	Setup Support Rules Setup Role	Service Accounts Collation Microsoft recommends that you use a separate account for each SQL Server service.	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Fettore Selection Installation Rules Instance Certifiquation Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Ence Reporting Installation Certifiguration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress Complete	Service     Account Name     Person Merrice       SQL Server Agent     M1 Service/SQL SERVEPA     Manual     V       SQL Server Database Engine     CALSMACULE number     Automatic     V       SQL Server Database Engine     CALSMACULE number     Automatic     V       SQL Server Bit Database Toler Database     NT Service/Reporting Services     NT Service/Reporting Service     Automatic       SQL Server Bit Database     NT AUTHORTVILOCAL     Manual     V	
		< Back Rent > Cancel Help:	

Instructions	Visual			
		SQL Server 2012 Setup	- 0 X	
	Database Engine Confi	iguration	224 (722 SAN)	
Add the local Administrators group & the domain	Specify Database Engine authentication security mode, administrators and data directories.			
	Setup Support Rules	for a factor and a second dependence		
Administrator to the SQL Administrator group and	Setup Role	Server Configuration Data Directories FILESTREAM Specify the authentication mode and administrators for the Database	Facine	
"SQLSRV" service account.	Feature Selection Installation Rules	Authentication Mode		
	Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration	Windows authentication mode		
Click <b>Next</b> .		Mixed Mode (SQL Server authentication and Windows authenticat Specify the password for the SQL Server system administrator (sa) acc		
	Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration	Enter password	oum.	
	Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules	Confirm password:		
	Ready to Initial Installation Progress	Specify SQL Server administrators		
	Complete	SCVMMDOM/Demain Admins (Demain Admins) SCVMMDOM/Demain Admins (Demain Admins)	SQL Server administrators have unvestricted access	
		and a second second second second	to the Database Engine.	
		Add Current User Add. Remove		
		Transferrence ( Constant)		
		< Back Next >	Gancel Help	
Click <b>Next</b> .	T Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services	SQL Server 2012 Setup	Cancel Hele	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Support Rules	SQL Server 2012 Setup		
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services	SQL Server 2012 Setup Infiguration configuration mode. Reporting Services Native Mode (*) Install and configure.	- • ×	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specily the Reporting Services Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Initialization Rules	SQL Server 2012 Setup infiguration configuration mode. Reporting Services Native Mode (*) Install and configure. Install and configure.	- • ×	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration Reporting Services Native Mode  Install and configure. Install and configure. Install and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Install only. Install only. Install the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se	ort server is operational after	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Instatiation Rules Instatation Rules	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Infiguration configuration configures Install and configure. Install and configure. Install and configure. Install and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Install only. Install the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to configure the report server files after installation, use Reporting Se to configure the report server files after installation.	ort server is operational after	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Dick Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Ingine Configuration Reporting Services Coefigura.	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration Reporting Services Native Mode  Install and configure. Install and configure. Install and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Install cody. Install the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server for native mode. Reporting Services SharePolot Integrated Mode Install cody. Install cody. Installation()	ort server is operational after nvices Configuration Manager	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Reporting Installation Configuration Rules	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration Reporting Services Native Mode  Install and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Install cody. Install the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Se to 6 onfigure the report server files. After installation use SharePoint C Install the report server files. After installation use SharePoint C Install the report server files. After installation use SharePoint C Installe the configuration. Verify the SUC Server Reporting Se	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configura. Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration installs and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure thereport server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure thereport server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure thereport server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure thereport server files. After installation installs the report server files. After installation installs the report server files. After installation installed thereport server files. After installation installed file	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configura. Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	SQL Server 2012, Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration (Install and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration.	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configura. Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	SQL Server 2012, Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration (Install and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration.	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configura. Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	SQL Server 2012, Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration (Install and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration.	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	
Click Next.	Reporting Services Co Specify the Reporting Services Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configura. Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install Installation Progress	SQL Server 2012, Setup  Infiguration configuration configuration (Install and configure. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs and configures the report server in native mode. The report setup completes. Installs the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation, use Reporting Set to configure the report server files. After installation Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration. Wirth the SQL Server Reporting Set Complete the configuration.	ort server is operational after vices Configuration Manager entryl Administration to rices service is standed and	

Instructions	Visual	
	SQL Server 2012 Setup	= 0 X
Click <b>Next</b> .	Error Reporting Help Microsoft improve SQL Server features and services.	
	Setup Support Rules       Specify the information that you would like to automatically send to Microsoft SQL Server. These settings are optional. Microsoft treats this information are may provide updates through. Microsoft Update to modify feature usage dat downloaded and installed on your machine automatically, depending on you settings.         Instalation Rules       See the Microsoft SQL Server. 2012 Privacy Statement for more information.         Disk Space Registements       See the Microsoft SQL Server. 2012 Privacy Statement for more information.         Disk Space Register Configuration       Read more about Microsoft Update and Automatic Update.         Particip Service: Configuration       See the Microsoft SQL Server. 2012 Privacy Statement for more information.         Ford Reporting       Instalation Configuration Rules         Instalation Progress       See Windows and SQL Serve: There Reports to Microsoft or your corporation	e confidential, Microsoft a. These updates might be <i>r</i> Automatic Update
	< Back Next >	Cancel Help
	SQL Server 2012 Setup  Installation Configuration Rules	- • ×
Click <b>Next</b> .	Setup is running rules to determine if the installation process will be blocked. For more information, click Help	
	Setup Support Rules Operation completed. Passed: 6. Failed 0. Warning 0. Scipped 0. Setup Role	
	Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Dick Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Progress Complete	Renum
	< Back Next >	Cancel Help

		SQL Server 2012 Setup	- 0 X
	Ready to Install		and the second second
ck Next.	Verify the SQL Server 2012 fea	atures to be installed.	
	Setup Support Rules	Ready to install SQL Server 2012:	
	Setup Role	Summary .	
	Feature Selection	- Edition: Enterprise - Action: Install (Product Update)	
	Installation Rules Instance Configuration	H Prerequisites	
	Disk Space Requirements	Microsoft NET Framework 4.0	
	Server Configuration	- Windows PowerShell 2.0	
	Database Engine Configuration	To be installed from media: Microsoft Visual Studio 2010 Shell	
	Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting	<ul> <li>Microsoft Visual Studio 2010 Shes</li> <li>Microsoft Visual Studio Tools for A</li> </ul>	pplications 3.0
	Installation Configuration Rules	⇒ Windows feature(s) to be turned on:	
	Ready to Install	Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5 General Configuration	
	Installation Progress	B Features	
	Complete	Database Engine Services     SQL Server Replication	
		Full-Text and Semantic Extractions	for Search
		C Data Posalito Sanúrar	(e)
		Configuration file path:	
		C:\Program Files\/Microsoft SQL Server\110\Setup	Bootstrap\Log\20130530_233114/ConfigurationFile.ini
	8	SQL Server 2012 Setup	ck Install Cancel Help
eview the installation summary	Complete	SQL Server 2012 Setup	
eview the installation summary.	Complete	ation completed soccessfully with product updates	
	Complete Voor SQL Server 2012 installa Sistup Support Rules Sistup Role	ation completed successfully with product updates	e nest steps
eview the installation summary. lick <b>Close</b> .	Complete Voor SQL Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection	ation completed successfully with product updates. Information about the Setup operation or possible Resture	e nest tégsi Stritui Strevented
	Complete Your SQL Server 2012 installe Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Given Totals Contenting Given Totals Contenting	e nest tidgs: Stefus Stefus Succeeded
	Complete Voor SQL Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Citert Tools Ecknowed Compatibility Management Tools - Setup Setup	e nest steps: Stetus Stetus Succeeded Succeeded Succeeded
	Complete Your SQL Server 2012 installa Sistup Support Rules Setup Robe Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Client Tools Connectivity Client Tools Eactwards Compatibility Management Tools - Setup Setup Tools - Setup Setup Tools - Setup	e nest steps
	Complete Your SQL Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration	Ation completed successfully with product updates.	e nest steps: Stetus Stetus Succeeded Succeeded Succeeded
	Complete Voor SQL Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Disbase Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration	ation completed successfully with product updates. Information about the Setup operation or possibl Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Exclused Compatibility Management Tools - Bacic St, Server Deat Tools Backwards Exclused Cent	e nest steps
	Complete Your SQL Sarver 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Citert Tools Backwards Compatibility Management Tools - Data Management Tools - Data Reporting Services - Native Details:	e nest tidgs: Steftur Steftur Succeeded Succeeded Succeeded Succeeded
	Complete Voor SQL Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Disbase Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Ecknards Compatibility Management Tools - Deal Management Tools - Deal Reporting Services - Native Details Viewing Product Documentation for SQL	e nest stéps: Stritut Stritut Succended Succended Succended Succended Succended Succended
	Complete Your SQL Sarver 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Reduce Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Schwards Compatibility Management Tools - Backwards Compatibility Managemen	e nest steps: Strius Strius Succeeded Su
	Complete Your 50, Server 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Feature Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cert Tools Connectivity Cert Tools Connectivity Cert Tools Connectivity Cert Tools Backwards Compatibility Management Tools Back Statement Tools Backwards Compatibility Management Tools Back Statement Tools Cert Menagement Tools Cert Cert Menagement Tools Cert Cert State Cert Cert Cert State Cert Cert Cert State Cert Cert Cert State Cert C	e Nent Maps:
	Complete Your SQL Sarver 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Reduce Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Backwards Compatibility Management Tools - Back Statement Tools - Date Reporting Services - Native Details Viewing Product Documentation for SQL Only the components that you use to view as been installed. By default, the Help Viewor C SQL Server, you can use the Help Library M your local Compater. For more information, so schap. / your memore combinely./?Livid/P=224/	e Nest Maps: Striut Striut Striver Succeeded Succe
	Complete Your SQL Sarver 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Reduce Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Ation completed successfully with product updates. Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Control Connections Control Connections Control Connections Management Tools - Searce Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Management Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management Tools Size Server Data Tools Management	e next Maps Status Structure Succeeded S
	Complete Your SQL Sarver 2012 installa Setup Support Rules Setup Role Reduce Selection Installation Rules Instance Configuration Disk Space Requirements Server Configuration Database Engine Configuration Reporting Services Configuration Error Reporting Installation Configuration Rules Ready to Install	Information about the Setup operation or possible Feature Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Connectivity Cent Tools Backwards Compatibility Management Tools - Back Statement Tools - Date Reporting Services - Native Details Viewing Product Documentation for SQL Only the components that you use to view as been installed. By default, the Help Viewor C SQL Server, you can use the Help Library M your local Compater. For more information, so State Services - Native	e next Maps Status Structure Succeeded S

# 6.11.4. AlwaysOn Application Group

This section provides the instructions for configuring an Always On Availability Group for System Center Virtual Machine Manager database.

### 6.11.4.1. Installation Pre-requisites

Prior to creating the Always On Availability Group, you will need to do the following:

- 1. Make sure that the Recovery Model for the Virtual Manager DB database is set to Full
- 2. Perform a full backup of the VirtualManagerDB database
- 3. Create a shared network location accessible by both servers (SQL1 and SQL2)

Instructions	Visual
Perform the following steps on <b>SQL1</b> only. Open the <b>SQL Server Management Studio</b> (with elevated privileges). Expand the databases in the left pane.	
	👔 Database Properties - VirtualManagerCBi 🥢 🗖 💌
Right-click the database called VirtualManagerDB and select Properties. In the Database Properties window, select Options from the left pane. Set the Recovery Model to <b>FULL.</b> Click <b>OK.</b>	Scient a page     I Scrit + E) Hels       Present     Fail       Present     Column       Column     Fail       Column     Statistic       Column     Statistic<
Right-click the database called VirtualManagerDB and select <b>Tasks</b> and then <b>Back Up</b>	Image: Second Definition         Image: Se

Instructions	Visual		
		Back Up Database - VirtualManagerDB	- <b>-</b> X
	Select a page	Script - 🖸 Help	
Set the Backup Type to FUL.L	Coptions	Source	
		Database: VirtualManagerOB	<b>v</b> ]
Select the desired destination of the backup.		Recovery model: FULL Full Full	~
		Copy-only Backup	
Click <b>OK.</b>		Backup component: Database	
		Files and filegroups:	
		Backup set           Name:         VirtualManagerDB-Full Database Backup	okup
		Description:	1
	Connection	Backup set will expire: After:	iyis
	Server: sql1	On: 7/ 9/2013 - Destination	
	Connection: HV\RobS	Back up to:      Disk	ape
	Wew connection properties	FISCVMMIMISSQL/drAckUP/drackup 1.	Add .
	Progress		Remove
	Ready		Contents
		C	K Cancel
		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	and the second se
Click <b>OK.</b>	The landsce of data	Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio	
Create a share that is accessible by both SQL1 and SQL2 that will be used in a later step when the Always On Availability Group is created.			
On INFRA-1 or INFRA-2, open File Explorer.			
Navigate to c:\clusterstorage\infracsv.			
Create a new folder called AlwaysOn.			
This folder will be available through a cluster shared volume.			
The full path will be <u>\\clusterfs\infracsv\AlwaysOn</u> .			

### 6.11.4.2. Creating the AlwaysOn Availability Group

Before creating the Always On Availability Group the following prerequisite steps should be completed as per the instructions in the previous section.

- 1. Make sure that the Recovery Model for the VirtualManagerDB database is set to Full
- 2. Perform a full backup of the VirtualManagerDB database
- 3. Create a shared network location accessible by both servers (SQL1 and SQL2)

Instructions	Visual
Perform the following steps on SQL1. Open the <b>SQL Server Management Studio</b> (with elevated privileges). Expand <b>AlwaysOn High Availability</b> in the left.	
Right-click Availability Groups and select <b>New</b> <b>Availability Group Wizard</b>	<ul> <li>AlwaysOn High Availability</li> <li>Availability</li> <li>Citrix ( Citrix ( Citrix ( Availability Group Wizard Citrix ( Availability Group Wizard New Availability Group Wizard New Availability Group Wizard New Availability Group Wizard Show Dashboard</li> <li>Show Dashboard</li> <li>Start PowerShell</li> <li>Reports </li> <li>Integration Se</li> <li>Refresh</li> <li>SQL Server Agent</li> </ul>

Instructions	Visual	
	6	New Availability Group
Click <b>Next</b> .	fintroduction	
	televelustions Specify Name Select Databases Specify Replica Select Data Spectromoutoon Relation Summary Results	<page-header><page-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></section-header></page-header></page-header>
Specify the name you want to use for the Availability	Specify Availa	New Availability Group 📃 🖬 📷
Specify the name you want to use for the Availability Group.	Specify Availa	bility Group Name
	Specify Availation Introduction Sector Stores Seter: Databases	bility Group Name Specify an availability group name. Availability group name.
Group.	Specify Availate	bility Group Name Specify an availability group name.

Instructions	Visual	
	<b>1</b> 0	New Availability Group
Select the databases that you want to be managed by the availability group. In this example we used VirtualManagerDB. Click Next.	Select Database Introduction Specify Name Select Data Synchronization Validation Summary Results	ES Select user databases for the availability group. User databases on this instance of SQL Server: Name Size Status ♥ virtual/orageDN 973368 Meets preseptions
		Refresh
		< Previous Next > Cancel
	18	New Availability Group
By default, the primary replica will be located on the SQL server where the database was originally created.	Specify Replica	is @ Help
	Select Databases	Specify an instance of SQL Server to host a secondary replica.           Replicas         Endpoints         Backup Preferences         Listener
	Specify Replicas Select Data Synchronization Validation Summary Results	Availability Replicas:     Initial Relevant Synchronous Commit (Up to Syncho) Synchronous Commit
		K         III         >           Add Replica         Remove Replica         >           Summary for the replica hosted by SQL1         Replica mode: Agnichtonous commt         >           This replica will use agnichtonous commt         This replica will use agnicity commt         >           Readable secondary: No         In the secondary role, this availability replica will not allow any connections.         >
		< Previous Next > Cancel
Instructions	Visual	
--	--	
	New Availability Group	
Click Add Replica. Enter the name of the server instance where you would like the secondary replica to be created. In this example we used SQL2. Enable Automatic Failover and Synchronous Commit for both the primary and secondary replicas. Click Next.	Specify Replica:       If Hole         Specify Name       Specify Name         Valuation       Specify Name         Valuation       Specify Name         Specify Name       Specify Name         Summary       Specify Name         Specify Name       Name         Specify Name       Name         Specify Name       Name         Specify Name       Specify Name         Specify Name       Specify Name         Specify Name <t< td=""></t<>	
Set your data synchronization preference to <b>FULL</b> Specify a network share accessible by all replicas. In this example we'll use the share that was created in the prerequisites section preceding this section. \ <u>\clusterfs\infracsvalwaysonshare</u> Click <b>Next</b> .	Image: Control of Control   Image: Control of Control   Image: Control of Control   Image:	

Instructions	Visual		
	<b>a</b>	New Availability Group	- 0 -
Setup will perform a validation check prior to creating the availability group. In some cases, the listener configuration will not pass the validation check. This is fine as we will create a new availability group listener in a later step. Click <b>Next</b> .	Validation Introduction Specify Name Salect Databases Specify Regilicas Select Data Specificanisation Validation Scormany Republic	Preside of availability group volkinos.  Name  Discising whether the endpoint is encrypted using a compatible algorithm  Discising for the dot space on the arren instance that heats accoulary ray Discising for the dot space on the arren instance that heats accoulary ray Discising for the subtract discuss always work on the arrow instance that Discising for the subtrace of the database files on the server instance that Discising the listenet configuration Discising replice availability made	- Success - Success
Verify that the choices you made in previous steps are	Summary	e Prenievas   Liast +	Cancel
correct.	Introduction Specify Name Select Databases	Verify the choices made in this wizard, Click Finish to perform the following actions:	😧 Help
Click <b>Finish</b> .	Specify Replicas Select Data Synchronization Validation Summay Results	Availability Group: SCVMM Availability Group: SCVM Database UritualManagerDB (57.3 MB) Initial data synchronization: Full Backup location: \\clusterfs\infracsv\alwaysontemp Backup location: \\clusterfs\infracsv\alwaysont	E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E

Instructions	Visual			
In this step we configure the <b>Availability Group</b> Listener.		ility Replicas		
Expand Availability Groups.	Integration S SQL Serve	tart PowerShell		
Expand SCVMM.		eports efresh	•	
Right click on Availability Group Listener and select <b>Add</b> Listener				
	1		vailability Group Listener	
Enter VMMDB as the Listener DNS Name Enter 1433 as the Port Enter DHCP as Network Mode Enter 10.61.0.0/24 as the Subnet Click OK.	Server Server set Connection set Acts Server set Connection set Acts Server set Server set Server set Server Serv	Latterier DHS Name Face Nationals Mode Dronee a Salaret		
				OK Caread

# 6.11.5. Log File Management

The log files for XenDesktop and System Center Virtual Machine Manager are prone to large amounts of activity. Since a Full recovery model is necessary for AlwaysOn groups, the following actions are recommended:

- 1. Verify that the Log file drives have sufficient space to hold the log files. For this environment, 50GB is the minimum recommended size.
- 2. Configure the maximum size of the log file for each database in SQL Management Studio so that the SQL LUN is not unexpectedly overrun. The PVS log file maximum is recommended to be 10GB, with 20GB used for the maximum size of VMM and XD.

3. Configure SQL Agent to automatically backup and truncate the log files for the XenDesktop, Provisioning Services, and Virtual Machine Manager databases on a frequent basis, or set the backup job to occur when the log file size reaches 90% of capacity.

6.12. Installing and Configuring System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager

This section provides the instructions for installing and configuring System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager. Before starting the installation the following steps should be completed.

- 1. Install SQL server
- 2. Create a SQL instance called MSSQLSERVER
- 3. Create a SQL database called VirtualManagerDB

Instructions	Visual
Perform the following steps on VMM1. Browse to the VMM 2012 SP1 installation files and run setup.exe.	
Select both the VMM Management Server and VMM Console. Click <b>Next</b> .	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Witand      Gening darked      Select features to install      YMM management server      VMM console      Management server      Management s

Instructions	Visual
Enter the product registration information. Click <b>Next</b> .	
Read the license agreement and if you agree with the terms of the agreement select the appropriate check box. Click <b>Next</b> .	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Settup Water     Desite a present   Please read this license agreement   MICROSOFT EVALUATION SOFTWARE LICENSE TERMS   MICROSOFT SYSTEM CENTER 2012 STANDARD SERVICE PACK 1   Mission of your, Presen read them. They apply to the evaluation software named above, which includes the media on which you received 4, if any. The terms also apply to any Microsoft.   • uptities;   • uptities;   • supplements;   • supplements;   • deport services; end   • uptities;   • deport services; end;   • uptities;   • deport services; end;   • uptities;   • deport services; end;   • uptities;   • deport services;   • uptities;   • deport services;   • uptities;   • uptities;   • deport service;   • uptities;   • deport service;   • med; to deport service;   • to term:   • to term:

Instructions	Visual
Select whether you would like to join the Customer Experience Improvement Program. Click <b>Next</b> .	Mecosoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wazd
Select the installation location. The default is fine for most installations. Click <b>Next</b> .	Nett       Cancel         Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Witht       Image: Center Setup Setup         Output       Report         Output       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Witht       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report         Description Floct Nucleant System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Wanager       Report

Instructions	Visual
	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard
Click Next.	Prerequisites Report a problem
	Please review these prerequisite warnings Setup can continue but this computer does not meet recommended system requirements, which can affect system performance.
	Problem Prerequisite Affected Feature
	Pending Restart     There is a pending restart on this computer.     Management Server     Restart the computer, and then run Setup again.
	Review full system requirements Check prerequisites again Previous Next > Cancel
	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard Configuration Report a problem
Enter the name of the SQL server that contains the SQL instance that you configured in a previous step. In this example the server name is SQL1.	Database configuration           Provide information about the database that you would like to use for your VMM management server.
Enter the port used to connect to the SQL instance.	Server name: 5QL1 Browne
Enter the credentials used to connect to the SQL instance.	Use the following credentials     User name and domain: M/Ladministrator     Format: Domain/UserName     Password:
Enter the name of the SQL instance. In this example we used MSSQLSERVER.	Instance name:         MSSQLSBIVER         •           Select an existing database or create a new database.         •         •           New database:         VirtualManagerD8         •           •         Existing database:         VirtualManagerD8         •
Enter the name of the SQL database that was	
created in a previous step. In this example we used VirtualManagerDB.	Previous: Next > Cancel
Click <b>Next</b> .	

Instructions	Visual
	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard
Select the account to be used by the VMM service. In this example we used svc_SCVMM. Select whether to store encryption keys in Active Directory instead of on the local machine and provide the desired path in AD. Click <b>Next</b> .	Configuration  Configure service account and distributed key management  Configure service account and distributed key management  Virtual Machine Manager Service Account  Select the account to be used by the VMM service. Highly available VMM installations require the use of a domain account.  Consider the account to be used by the VMM service. Highly available VMM installations require the use of a domain account.  Consider the account to be used by the VMM service. Highly available VMM installations require the use of a domain account.  Consider the account to be used by the VMM service. Highly available VMM installations require the use of a domain account.  Consider the account to be used by the VMM service. Highly available VMM installations require the use of a domain account.  Consider the Active Directory  Select whether to store encryption Keys in Active Directory instead of on the local machine. Highly available VMM installations require the keys be stored in Active Directory.  Conside the location in Active Directory.  Novide the location in Active Directory.  Constreletion to the domain accoun
Choose to create a new library share, provide the share location and a description of the share. In this example we used the following: Share name: MSSCVMMLibrary Share location: "F:\Virtual Machine Manager Library Files" Share description: VMM Library Share. Click <b>Next</b> .	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard      Configuration      Report a problem      Library configuration      Specify a share for the Virtual Machine Manager library      Create a new library share      Share name: MSSCVMMLbrary      Share focation: FLVirtual Machine Manager Library Files      Share name: MSSCVMMLbrary      Share sociation: CAProgramData/Virtual Machine Manager Library Files      Share description:      Previous: Next > Cancel

Instructions	Visual
Review the installation summary to ensure that all of the desired configuration information is correct. Click Install.	
The installation begins	



# 6.13. Installing and Configuring Cisco Nexus 1000V Virtual Switch Manager and Virtual Ethernet Modules

This section provides the instructions for installing and configuring the Cisco Nexus 1000V for Hyper-V virtual switch. Before starting the installation the following steps should be completed:

- 1. System Center Virtual Machine Manager installation
- 2. Download the latest Nexus 1000V installation software from Cisco
- 3. Copy the Nexus 100V for HyperV installation software package to the SCVMM server and extract it to a local directory.

The following table provides a list of parameters used during the installation process of the Nexus 1000V

#### Table 12: Nexus 1000V Parameter Table

Parameter	500-user Value (Screen Shots)	1000-user Value (Not shown)
SCVMM Server Name	SCVMM1.hv.pod.local	SCVMM1.hv.pod.local
Virtual Machine Name	Nexus 1000V 1 / Nexus 1000V 2	Nexus 1000V 3 / Nexus 1000V 4
Admin Password	P@ssw0rd	P@ssw0rd
Domain ID	100	200
SwitchName	nexus1000v	nexus1000v3
Mgmt0 IP Address	10.61.0.10	10.61.0.13
Mgmt0 Subnet Mask	255.255.255.0	255.255.255.0
Mgmt0 Gateway IP	10.61.0.1	10.61.0.1
Network_Name	VDINetwork, ClusterNetwork	VDINetwork2, ClusterNetwork2
VDI_Pool_Name	VDI-Pool-1	VDI-Pool-2
Cluster_Pool_Name	Cluster-Pool-1	Cluster-Pool-2
Network_Name	VDINetwork, ClusterNetwork	VDINetwork2, ClusterNetwork2

VLAN_Pool_Name	VLAN-61-Pool, VLAN-62-Pool,	VLAN-61-Pool-2, VLAN-62-Pool-2,
	VLAN-63-Pool, VLAN-64-Pool	VLAN-63-Pool-2, VLAN-64-Pool-2
Start_IP	10.61.0.11, 10.62.0.100,	10.61.0.13, 10.62.0.151,
	10.63.0.100, 10.64.0.100	10.63.0.151, 10.64.0.151
End_IP	10.61.0.11, 10.62.0.150,	10.61.0.13, 10.62.0.200,
	10.63.0.150, 10.64.0.150	10.63.0.200, 10.64.0.200
Network_ID	10.61.0.0, 10.62.0.0, 10.63.0.0,	10.61.0.0, 10.62.0.0, 10.63.0.0,
	10.64.0.0	10.64.0.0
Network_Mask	255.255.255.0, 255.255.240.0,	255.255.255.0, 255.255.240.0,
	255.255.255.0 <i>,</i> 255.255.255.0	255.255.255.0, 255.255.255.0
Router_Address	10.61.0.1, 10.62.0.1, 10.63.0.1,	10.61.0.1, 10.62.0.1, 10.63.0.1,
	10.64.0.1	10.64.0.1
VLAN_ID	VLAN-61, VLAN-62, VLAN-63,	VLAN-61-2, VLAN-62-2, VLAN-63-2,
	VLAN-64	VLAN-64-2
VLAN_##	61, 62, 63, 64	61, 62, 63, 64
vEthernet_Port_profile	VDI-Port-profile	VDI-Port-profile2
Uplink_port_profile	Uplink-profile	Uplink-profile2
Uplink_profile_name	nexus1000v-uplink	nexus1000v-uplink2
AdminRunAsAccount	Nexus1000V Admin	Nexus1000V Admin
VDIPortClassName	VDI Port Class	VDI Port Class

# 6.13.1. Installing Cisco Nexus 1000V Virtual Switch

Instructions	Visual
Login to the System Center Virtual Machine Manager server as an Administrator.	
From the SCVMM server, run the <b>\VMM\Nexus- 1000-VSEMProvider-5.2.1.SM1.5.1.0.MSI</b> package	Norm     Norm     Ven       •     •     •       •     •

Instructions	Visual
	Open File - Security Warning
Click <b>Run</b> if prompted.	Do you want to run this file?         Image: Image
Review the Cisco 1000V VSEM Provider License Agreement and if acceptable, enable the checkbox next to "I accept the terms in the License Agreement" Click Install to begin the installation.	Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider Setup
	Print Back Printall Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	岁 Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider Setup
The install begins immediately.	Installing Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider
	Please wait while the Setup Wizard installs Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider.
	Status:
	Bads. Next Cancel
	User Account Control
If prompted by User Account Control, click <b>Yes</b> .	Do you want to allow the following program to install software on this computer?
	Program name: 3442ff7f.msi Verified publisher: Cisco Systems, Inc File origin: Downloaded from the Internet
	Show details Yes No
	Change when these notifications appear
	送 Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider Setup - □ ×
When complete, the wizard will show the completed install.	Completed the Cisco Nexus 1000V VSEM Provider Setup Wizard
	Click the Finish button to exit the Setup Wizard.
Click <b>Finish.</b>	cisco.
	k}
	Back Finish Cancel

Instructions	Visual
When complete, copy the <b>\VEM\Nexus1000V- VEM-5.2.1.SM1.5.1.0.MSI</b> MSI package to the c:\ProgramData\SwitchExensionDrivers folder	None     None     None       Tan     None     None    <
Launch System Center Virtual Machine Manager console as an administrator.	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Service Pack 1 © 2012 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.
Start Windows PowerShell as an Administrator. Run the <b>\VMM\VSM_Template\Register-</b> Nexus1000VVSMTemplate.ps1 script.	<pre>NL C. Sime Family &amp; 200000-0000 to J. T. D. PORSAL DODG, J. J. L. 1990. L. T. yeek/VMC_TempTables - Very State System State you train to the survival to the state of the survival to the</pre>
Navigate to the <b>Library</b> >> <b>Templates</b> section in the Virtual Machine Manager Console and verify the Nexus 1000V-VSM template was imported successfully and the status is <b>OK</b> .	Adventifieder - 2000M Anzeit Lieu Vergel Kallenen Hauges Paul aber Verener - Volkige anwennig     terrer - Inder     Trade     Trad

Instructions	Visual			
Copy the ISO from the installation media at \VSM\Install\nexus-1000v.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.iso	Turne Press     Turne Press     Turne Press     Turne Press     Turne Press     Turne Press     Turneter	Ameri 1000x12134151 + VIM + Hytel Name * [15] Henry 1000x52134151	Install	- 0 - 0 0 
From the SCVMM console, select Library >> Library Servers >> [SCVMM Server Name] >> MSSCVMMLib node and right-click. From the context menu select Explore.	Constant of the second se	Reference in the second	All Constructions and	2 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Paste the copied ISO into the MSSCVMM Library root folder (MSCVMMLib)	Prove there     Prove there     Prove there     Proverties     Proverties	Viso Visoga Tanti Viso Visoga Viso Visoga Visor Visoga Visor Visoga Visor	MSSQVMMLIB CMMLa + 6 [ Seech MSD Dete medilest Type 7/16/2011 528 PM Pain folde 6/1/2011 10:48744 Pien noise 1/16/2015 532 PM Fien noise 1/16/2015 532 PM Fien noise 1/16/2015 532 PM Fien noise 8/1/2011 10:49744 Size traise P/W	- 0 3ee

### 6.13.2. Installing and Configuring the Virtual Supervisor Modules (VSM)

If building to support the 500-user configuration, you will only need on HA pair of VSMs for the environment. However, if building to support the 1000-user configuration, you will need two pairs of VSMs and the second pair will need a different **Domain ID** and **IP Address** assigned to them.

Instructions	Visual
	VISUAI

Instructions	Visual
In the SCVMM Console, navigate to the VMs and Services tab. Right-click on the Infrastructure server and select <b>Create Virtual Machine</b> from the context menu.	Normality         Normality <t< th=""></t<>
The Create Virtual Machine Wizard starts. Click the <b>Browse</b> button and select the recently imported <b>Nexus 1000V-VSM-Template</b> .	Conside Virtual Machine Without     Select Source      Select Source      Select Source      Select Pre-source for the new virtual machine      Solicit Deal      Select Pre-source for the new virtual machine      Select Pre-source      Select Pre-source for the new virtual machine      Select Pre-source      Select Pre-source for the new virtual machine      Select Pre-source virtual machine      Select Pre-source      Select Pre-source virtual machine      Select Pre-source virtual machine      Select Pre-source      Select Pre-source virtual machine      Select Pre-source      Select Pre-so
Click <b>Next</b> .	Types are a VM transplate, pus can contraine the handware and open aring orthom rettings. If pus use a mised visual field data must be chosed in the Boog.     The transmission of the Boog.     The transmission of the Boog.     The transmission of the Boog.

Instructions	Visual	
Provide a <b>[Virtual Machine Name]</b> for the Virtual Machine.	In Specify Virtus Entry Tourse Bandy Weat Hallwe Menty Configure Hallwase Entry Destruction	Cinate Virtual Machine Witard
Click <b>Next</b> .	Lako Ond Add Popular Lenne	The estual racture name stander the rotat madrice to VMR. The rome data not have in each time compare rome of the end racture Housever, using the same name ensure consistent display in Spinse Data Data Devices Marryage
On the Configure Hardware tab, select the Virtual DVD drive and mount the <b>nexus</b> - <b>1000v.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.iso</b> added to the SCVMM library earlier. Click <b>Next</b> .	End Select Soars Specity Visual Histories Manife Endigen Histories Select Destination Extend Programs Extension Extension	Create valuat Maximum Wicherd  Configure hardware for the valual machine. You can impoint settings from a bardware profile or some a new profile based on your settings.  Medwareadle:  Development of the valuat machine. You can impoint settings from a bardware  Development of the valuation of the valuation of the value of the setting o
	U	Remail Red Court

Instructions	Visual				
	Versite Winuel Machine Waard				
On the Select Destination tab, select a	Select Destination				
Click Next.	Select Searce Sector Votan Machine Ito deploy or store the vatual machine Sector Votan Machine Ito deploy or store the vatual machine Sector Votan Machine Sector Votan Sector				
	News Create Virtual Machine Wizard				
On the Select Host tab, select the infrastructure host.	Select Host           Select frame         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine           Specify Visal Indexe Machine         Select a destruction for the virtual machine				
Click Next.	Steint Hut         Marine         Marine Status         Marine Type         Marine Status           Add Progenities         If Marine         If Marine Status         If Marine Status <td< th=""></td<>				
	Terrise Not Section				

Instructions	Visual					
	316	Creat	e Virtual Machine Wa	and		
On the Configure Settings tab, accept the	Contigure Settings					
defaults.	Solier Source Specify Visual Machine Ldeottp Configure Handware Solier Dordnates Salier Hant	Review the estual machine labors with the tensor of te	d often the new orbit much p D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	earlien en Becheat for Bec	Brasse	-94
Click Next	Earligan Faituga Sainit Ranadus And Propelies Sainnag	Sala Veter Peter Insuri (1005/1758-ind		he fat of deficit visual roa		
	U			Parau	l Ind	Cenel
On the Select Networks tab, leave the defaults for now.	Select Network Select Network Select Ward Hicknes Strety Carligas Hardnes Saled Dedaatory	rks Spocily which wruai Selected kast 1955	Rd=1 Inc pod lacial	e vitus machine.	7.8	
	Salent Hast	Velual Network Adapter Reference Adapter 2	VH Newali Nat connected	Vehal Solidh	VLAN VLAN disabled	-
Click Next.	Certigue Settings	Network Adapter 1	2 min constant in	<ul> <li>Net converted</li> <li>Net converted</li> </ul>	w VLAN studied	-
	Extent Personales Antil Progentiere Extensione	Factorie Adapter 2	Het movechil	<ul> <li>Not connected</li> </ul>	▼ VLEN disabled	
					Badat	Retails.
		The Vishad Sould's colore basit.	n contany the initial webcha	i he en congrad to an	ch physical retrievel, adapter	ur te
				Perma		Dent

Instructions	Visual				
	a later	Create Victual Machine Willard			
On the Add Properties tab, keep the defaults.	Add Properties				
Click Next.	Select Source Specify Verse Machine Identify Configue Hardware Solect Hard Configue Select Solect Mature Solect Ma	Advende advent Advende advent uit als alse interviewellanders server interviewellander Delay van uit jewondel :			
	W	Create Wrtuir Machine Waard			
On the Summary tab, review the settings and if acceptable, click <b>Create</b> .	Select Source Select Source Specify Would Incline in Solidy Configure Hardware Salect Deducation Select That	Confirm the settings terrine Property Vitier Winat machine Nature 1000 1 Destination hast SetTill-Despectated			
<b>Note</b> : Do not auto-start the virtual machine because the networks still need to be setup.	Certigues Settings Select Hotosofic Add Progenies Samony	Duts To			
		Itan the visual reactives after deploying if     To create the install reactives, closi Create, "You can had, the programs of the poly in the later work-space.			
		Prema: Dente			

Instructions	Visual
Select the Logical Networks node from the Fabric tab. Double-click the <b>Infrastructure</b> network to modify the properties.	A Construction of Construltion of Construction of Construction of Construction of Constru
On the Name tab, enable the <b>Network sites</b> within this logical network are not connected checkbox.	

Instructions	Visual
In the Properties dialog, select the Network Site tab.	Nerve         Network sites           Nerve         Network sites           Network sites         Network to escole VLAM and subsets to host groups.           Enter P subsets using CCR notation, for example 192.108.1.0/24, FD4A29CD184F3A2Cv84.           Add as #arcove           (r) Vehamuture,0           Host provide the enters the enters to enter the enters to the en
Click Add.	
Enable the <b>All Hosts</b> checkbox.	Associated VLANx and IP subverts VLANx IP subject VLANx IP subject VLANx IP subject ID 41.6 //24 Determine  Fietwork site name: with structure_0
Click <b>Insert row</b> .	Ver Singt
Set the VLAN to 61 and the IP subnet to 10.61.0.0/24	
Click <b>OK.</b>	
Locate the newly created VM on the VMs and Services tab.	
	Construction (see 100,100,100,100,100,100,100,100,100,100
Right-click and select <b>Properties</b> from the context menu.	A. M. Construit         B. A. M. Construit         B. M. M. Construit         B. M. M. Construit         B. M. M. Construit         B. M.

Instructions	Visual
<ul> <li>In the Hardware Configuration tab, select each of the three network adapters in turn and complete the following steps on each network adapte:r</li> <li>1. Enable the Connected to a VM network radio button.</li> <li>2. Select the Infrastructure VM network.</li> <li>3. Enable the Enable VLAN checkbox.</li> </ul>	Image: Second
4. Select the VLAN ID <b>61</b> .	Versing Pg Careat
Click <b>OK</b> .	
After it finishes updating, right-click Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual machine. Select <b>Power On</b> from the context menu to start the virtual switch.	We ard Lorean         * Vec.15           (3) Terms         (3) Terms           (4) Here         (3) Terms           (4) We market         (3) Terms           (5) Terms         (3) Terms           (5) Terms         (3) Terms           (5) Terms         (3) Terms           (5) Terms         (5) Terms           (6) Terms<
Right-click Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual machine again. Select <b>Connect or View</b> , followed by <b>Connect</b> <b>via Console</b> to start a console session.	Phile and features         N MA-21           (c) Therman <ul> <li>(c) Therman</li> <li>(c) Th</li></ul>
	2) Setting

Instructions	Visual
Provide a password for the admin account.	Virtual Machine Viewer - Nenus 1000V 1 on server INFRA-1.th/podiocal - D - A Fix Acton Christer - Nenus 1000V 1 on server INFRA-1.th/podiocal - D - A School - D - D - D - D - D - D - D - D - D -
Confirm the password for the admin account.	Successfully registered SNAF client for SNAF-0x00000c0132 0xde03dd60 STUM : Successfully created Socket 2013 Aug 1 13:14:46 /dSER-2-SYSTEM_MSG: CLIS: loading cmd files begin - clis 2013 Aug 1 13:14:48 Aug 1 13:14:48 /kE3M-1-SYSTEM_MSG: calling register_stun_ set_domain_id() - kernel 2013 Aug 1 13:14:48 Aug 1 13:14:48 /kE3M-1-SYSTEM_MSG: register_stun_set_doma in_id() - kernel 2013 Aug 1 13:14:48 Aug 1 13:14:48 /kE3M-1-SYSTEM_MSG: Successfully registere
<b>Note</b> : At this point the password must conform to composition checks, so select one that will meet those requirements, such as P@ssw0rd.	<pre>4 SNMP Client for SNAP-0x000000c013: 0x4e034450 -kernel 2013 Aug 1 13:14:40 Aug 1 13:14:40 xKEDN-1-SYSTEM_MSG: STUM : Successfully cr ented Sucket - kernel 2013 Aug 1 13:14:50 xKEEN-2-SYSTEM_MSG: CLIS: loading cmd files end - clis 2013 Aug 1 13:14:50 xKEEN-2-SYSTEM_MSG: CLIS: init hegin - clis 2013 Aug 1 13:15:20 switch xVDC_MGR-2-VDC_ONLINE: vdc 1 has come online</pre>
When both Nexus 1000V virtual supervisor modules are setup, the admin password can be changed from the primary node. To change the admin password, run the following commands, where <newpass> is the new admin password.</newpass>	System Admin Account Sctup Enter the password for "admin": Confirm the password for "admin":
#config terminal	
(config)# <b>no password strength-check</b>	
(config)# <b>username admin password</b> < <i>newpass</i> >	
(config)# <b>copy run start</b>	
(config)# <b>exit</b>	

Instructions	Visual
Enter the HA Role: <b>Primary</b> (for first N1000V).	Virtual Machine Viewer - Nexus 1000V 1 on server INFRA-1.1w.pod.local
Provide the Domain ID. <b>[Domain ID]</b>	Enter the dumain (d(1-1023): 100 Saving boot configuration. Please wait [mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm
<b>Note</b> : The Domain ID <u>must</u> be the same on both the primary and secondary N1000V virtual supervisor modules. Furthermore, Domain IDs must be unique for each pair of N1000V virtual supervisor modules.	Basic System Configuration Dialog This setup utility will guide you through the basic configuration of the system. Setup configures only enough connectivity for management of the system. Fress Enter at anytime to ship a dialog. Use ctrl-c at anytime to skip the remaining dialogs. Moold you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/no):

Instructions	Visual
Would you like to enter the basic configuration dialog: <b>Yes</b>	Virtual Machine Viewer - Nexus 1000V 1 on server WHA-1.hv.pod.local     Fie Action     Cht-AR-Del E Full Screen  Press Enter at anytime to skip a dialog. Use strl-s at anytime to skip the remaining dialogs.  Nould you like to enter the basic configuration dialog (yes/mo): yes
Create another login account: <b>No</b>	Create another login account (yes/no) [n]: Enter the switch mame : nexus1000w Continue with Dat-of-band (ngmt0) management configuration? (yes/no) [y]:
Enter the switch name: <b>[SwitchName]</b>	Mgmt0 IPv4 metmaak : 255.255.255.0 Configure the default gateway? (ges/mo) [y]: y
Continue with Out-of-band (mgmt0) management configuration: <b>Yes</b>	IPwt address of the default gateway : 10.61.0.1 Configure advanced options? (ges/no) [n]: _
Mgmt0 IPv4 address: [ <i>Mgmt0 IP Address</i> ] Mgmt0 IPv4 netmask: [ <i>Mgmt0 Subnet Mask</i> ]	
Configure the default gateway: <b>Yes</b> IPv4 address of the default gateway: [ <i>Mgmt0</i> <i>Gateway IP</i> ]	
Configure advanced options: <b>No</b>	

Instructions	Visual
Do you want to reconfigure the VEM feature level: <b>No</b>	Ventual Machine Viewer - Nexus 1000V Fon server INFRA-Thy poddocal
Confirm the displayed configuration is correct.	The following configuration will be applied: switchmame mexici9860 interface mgmt0 ip address 10.51.0.10 255.255.255.0 mo shutdown
Would you like to edit the configuration: <b>No</b>	wrf context management ip route 0.0.0.0.0 10.61.0.1 feature http:server suz-domain nu control wian no packet wian suz mode L3 interface mgmt0
Use this configuration and save it: <b>Yes</b>	domain id 100 Nould you like to edit the configuration? (yes/no) (n]: Use this configuration and save it? (yes/no) [y]:
	Virtual Machine Viewer - Nerus 1000V 1 on server INFRA-1.hv.pod.local
The configuration is saved and the switch	File Action  Ctri-Alt-Del EFull Screen
returns to a login prompt.	Would you like to edit the configuration? (ges/no) [n]:
	Use this configuration and save it? (yes/mo) [y]: y (ANARANARANARANARANARANARANARANARANARANA
Provide the username and password	
combination created earlier during setup.	Mexus 18800 Switch Togin: admin Password: Cisco Mexus Operating System (MK-OS) Software TMC support: http://www.cisco.com/tac Copyright (c) 2892-2013, Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights remerved. The comprished is contain under sortained in this software are
Verify network connectivity by pinging the gateway address.	The copyrights to certain works contained in this software are owned by other third parties and used and distributed under license. Certain components of this software are licensed under the GMU General Tablic License (GEL) version 2.0 or the GMU Lesser General Tablic License (LGPL) Version 2.1. A copy of each such license is available at http://www.opensource.org/licenses/lgpl-2.0.php and http://www.opensource.org/licenses/lgpl-2.1.php pexus1000vM

Instructions	Visual
Repeat the all the steps in this section for the second Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual supervisor module VM.	Virtsial Machine Viewes - Nexus 1000V.2 on server INFRA-2 hv.pod.local A
Provide the admin password, which <u>must</u> be the same admin password used for the primary Cisco Nexus 1000V.	Enter the password for "admin": Confirm the password for "admin": Enter HA roleistandalone/grimary/secondary]: secondary Setting HA role to secondary will cause a system reboot. Are you sure (yes/mo) 7: yes
Enter HA role: <b>secondary</b>	Enter the domain 1d<1-1023>: 100 Saving boot configuration. Please wait Engenmentereneousen
System Reboot: <b>yes</b>	Wh mode set to secondary. Rebooting now
Domain ID: <b>[<i>Domain ID</i>]</b>	
<b>Note</b> : The Domain ID <u>must</u> match the primary's Domain ID.	
	Virtual Machine Viewes - News 1000V.2 on server INFRA-2 hv.pod.local
Verify the two VSMs are functioning by running show module from the primary.	©Ctri-AR-Del ≣fullScreen nexus1000∪(config)≣ sh nod Nod Forts Hodule-Type Hodel Status
	1 0 Virtual Supervisor Module Mexus1000V active * 2 0 Virtual Supervisor Module Mexus1000V ha-standby
<b>Note</b> : If building for 1000-users, repeat the section again to create another pair of VSMs with a different <b>Domain ID</b> .	Hod         Su         Hu           1         5.2(1)SH1(5.1)         0.0           2         5.2(1)SH1(5.1)         0.0           Pod         Mic-Address(es)         Scripton
	International Processing         Server 10 From           1         00-19-07-6c-5a-a8         NA           2         00-19-07-6c-5a-a8         NA           2         00-19-07-6c-5a-a8         NA           And         Server-1P         Server-0010
	1 10.61.0.10 NA MA 2 10.61.0.10 MA NA - this terminal session mesus1000v(config)#
	4

## 6.13.3. Cisco Nexus 1000V for Hyper-V Configuration

If building the 500-user environment, complete this section only once. However, if building for a 1000user environment, two VSMs will be needed, and the section should be completed once for each pair of VSMs.

Instructions	Visual
Use PuTTY or a similar SSH client to connect to the Mgmt0 interface on the primary VSM.	Instants refre login as: admin Nexu: 1000V Suitch Teing Reyboard-interactive subhestication. Personal Last login: The Aug i 13:20:31 101) Cieron Nexus Operating System (MX-00) Software TAC support: http://www.openc.com/tac Copyright (c) 2001-2013, Cieco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. The copyrights to certain unclks contained in this software are sweed by other third parties and used and distributed under the dMW General Public License (GPL) Version 1.0 or the GNU Lesser General Public License (GPL) Version 2.1. A copy of ±ach such license is swellahls at http://www.opensource.org/licenses/upl-2.0.php and http://www.opensource.org/licenses/lpl-2.1.php nerus1000vd
Enter configuration mode:	nexus1000v# conf t Enter configuration commands, one per line. End with CNTL/2.
Config terminal	
Create the logical networks for VDI and Cluster traffic: (config)# <b>nsm logical network</b> [ <i>Network_Name</i> ] (config)# <b>exit</b>	nexus1000v(config)# nsm logical network VDINetwork nexus1000v(config-logical-net)# exit nexus1000v(config)# nsm logical network ClusterNetwork nexus1000v(config-logical-net)# exit
Create the network segment pools for the VDI and the Cluster networks and bind them to the logical network: (config)# nsm network segment pool [VDI_Pool_Name] (config-net-seg-pool)# member-of logical network [Network_Name] (config-net-seg-pool)# exit	<pre>hexus1000v(config)# nam network segment pool VDI-Fool-1 nexus1000v(config-net-seg-pool)# sent nexus1000v(config)# nam network segment pool Cluster-Pool-1 nexus1000v(config-net-seg-pool)# member-of logical network ClusterNetwork nexus1000v(config-net-seg-pool)# exit</pre>

Instructions	Visual
Create the IP Pool templates and set the DHCP range for Infrastructure (VLAN 61), PVS (VLAN 62), Cluster (VLAN 63), and LiveMigration (VLAN 64) networks (config)# nsm ip pool template [VLAN_Pool_Name] (config-ip-pool-template)# ip address [Start_IP] [End_IP] (config-ip-pool-template)# network [Network_ID] [Network_Mask] (config-ip-pool-template)# default-router [Router_Address] (config-ip-pool-template)# exit	<pre>nexus1000v(config)# nemm ip pool template VLAN-61-Pool nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% is address 10.61.0.1 10.61.0.11 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% default-router 10.61.0.1 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% exit nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% ip address 10.63.0.100 10.62.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% if address 10.63.0.100 10.62.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% network 10.63.0.100 10.62.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% default-router 10.62.0.1 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% default-router 10.62.0.1 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% default-router 10.62.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% default-router 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% ip address 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% im address 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% im address 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% im address 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.190 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% im address 10.64.0.100 10.55.255.0 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% intext 10.64.0.100 155.255.0 nexus1000v(config-ip-pool-template)% intext 10.64.0.150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150</pre>
Create Network Segments and import the VLAN pool into the segment for the Infrastructure, PVS, Cluster, and LiveMigration VLANs. The VDI Pool will manage VLANs 61-62. The Cluster Pool will manage VLANs 63-64.	<pre>mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# switchport modes mccess mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# switchport mcdess vlam fit mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# member-of metwork segment pool VDI-Fool-1 mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# pool impdrt template VLM-61-Fool mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# subload impdrt template VLM-61-Fool mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# subload metwork segment mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# switchport mode mccess mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# switchport mccess vlam fig mexualOBOV(config-met-seg)# switchp</pre>
<pre>(config)# nsm network segment [VLAN_ID] (config-net-seg)# switchport mode access (config-net-seg)# switchport access vlan [VLAN_##] (config-net-seg)# member-of network segment pool [VDI_Pool_Name] (config-net-seg)# ip pool import template [VLAN_Pool_Name] (config-net-seg)# publish network segment (config-net-seg)# exit</pre>	<pre>nexus1000v(config-net-seg)# jp pol import template VLM=63-Pool nexus1000v(config-net-seg)# publish network segment nexus1000v(config-net-seg)# switchport mode ac nexus1000v(config-net-seg]# switchport mode ac nexus1000v(config-net-seg]# switchport </pre>

Instructions	Visual
Instructions Create vEthernet and Ethernet Port Profiles (config)# port-profile type vEthernet [vEthernet_Port_profile] (config-port-prof) # no shutdown (config-port-prof) # state enabled (config-port-prof) # max-ports 1024 (config-port-prof) # port-binding static auto expand (config-port-prof) # publish port-profile (config) # port-profile type Ethernet [Uplink_Port_profile] (config-port-prof) # no shutdown (config-port-prof) # state enabled (config-port-prof) # state enabled (config-port-prof) # channel-group auto mode on	<pre>Visual  ***********************************</pre>
<pre>(config-port-prof) # channel-group auto mode on mac-pinning (config-port-prof) # exit (config) # nsm network uplink [Uplink_profile_name] (config-uplink-net) # all network segment pool [VDI_Pool_Name] (config-uplink-net) # allow network segment pool[Cluster_Pool_Name] (config-uplink-net) # import port-profile [Uplink_Port_profile] (config-uplink-net) # publish network uplink (config-uplink-net) # exit (config-uplink-net) # exit (config)# copy run start</pre>	

Instructions	Visual
Return to the SCVMM Console and select the <b>Fabric</b> tab.	<ul> <li>Networking</li> <li>Logical Networks</li> <li>MAC Address Pools</li> <li>Load Balancers</li> <li>VIP Templates</li> <li>Switch Extension Managers</li> <li>Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager</li> </ul>
Under Networking >> Switch Extension Manager.	Logical Switches     Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager     Native Port Profiles     Port Classifications     Gateways
Right-click and choose <b>Add Virtual Switch</b> <b>Extension Manager</b> from the context menu.	
In the Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager Wizard, set the connection string to the http://< <b>Mgmt0 IP Address&gt;</b>	Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager Willard  General  General  Enter connection settings for the extension manager to add  Not Grage Surrow  Manufacture: mode, ad configuration positive for the enteration manager. Inter the connection siting ad configuration positive for the enteration manager. Inter the connection siting ad configuration positive for the enteration manager. Inter the Connection settings for the extension manager to add  Not Grage  Connection settings for the extension manager to add  Note:   Medat  Network  Network  Connection  Conne
Set the RunAs account to the Admin account on the VSM (see next step) by clicking the <b>Browse</b> button.	Provider: Classification 1000/ * Connection strong RunAs-actionet: Format 10007/ Admin RunAs-actionet: Format 10007/ Admin
Click <b>Next</b> when completed.	Provided Rend

Instructions	Visual
To add a RunAs Account for the VSM complete the following: Provide a Name: <b>[AdminRunAsAccount]</b>	Image: Second Create Rum As Account         Image: Second Create Rum As Account           Neme: Network0000 Admini         Description           Description:         Description:           User name: admini Example: Unitsolutionalisate or localitate         Pageward           Pageward:         Confirm pasts-code           Units of the details         Confirm pasts-code
Username: <b>admin</b>	
Password: [Admin Password]	
Confirm Password: [Admin Password]	
Validate domain credentials: <b>Disabled</b>	View Scruet
Click <b>OK.</b>	Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager Wizard
Returning to the Add Virtual Switch Extension Manager Wizard.	Host Groups     Host groups that can use this virtual switch extension manager     mot Groups     The initial switch extension manager all to evaluate to the following host groups     Summary
On the Hosts Groups tab, enable the <b>All Hosts</b> checkbox.	
Click <b>Next</b> .	Previous Rep. Curiet

Instructions	Visual
	Add Vinual Switch Extension Manager Wizard
On the Summary tab, click <b>Finish.</b>	Summary
	General Confirm the settings (Version)
	Host Groups           Nerversy         Manufacturer         Cases Systems, Inc.
Verify the switch was created successfully.	Madell Nervis 1000V Configuration provider: Class Spatem Nous 1000V Conversion strong Harby Nous 1000V Ranke Account Name Nous 1000V Admin Hast groups All Invests Hast groups All Invests
On the <b>Fabric</b> tab, navigate to <b>Networking</b> >> Logical Switches	<ul> <li>Networking</li> <li>Logical Networks</li> <li>MAC Address Pools</li> <li>Load Balancers</li> <li>VIP Templates</li> </ul>
Right-click <b>Logical Switches</b> and choose <b>Create Logical Switch</b> from the context menu.	Switch Extension Managers  Cogical Switches  Native Port Profiles  Port Classifications  Create Logical Switch
	F Gateways

Instructions	Visual		
	Create Logical Switch Wizard		
From the Getting Started tab, click Next.	Setting Started		
	General Solensie Upbek Vetaal Part Sarensky	<section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><text><list-item><list-item><list-item><section-header></section-header></list-item></list-item></list-item></text></text></text></section-header></section-header></section-header>	
From the General tab, provide a <b>Name</b> for the logical switch.	General Geting Startez General Estemions Uplins Vistuer Part	Create Logical Switch Wuard  Enter name and description for the logical switch  Yau can use a logical switch to apply settings to which and port porties for any extension that you use.  Name:	
Click Next.	Summary	Trackle wright not VC virtualization (3R-KOV) SR-KOV allows a device, luck are anthrook adapter, to gain direct across to physical networks adapters that support SR-KOV oping SR-KOV, openant performance on achieve resulty the same printmance as in non-initialized ministruments.  Virtual complete SR-KOV only when a togical anitoh is created. To change your SR-KOV usage in the future, you must create a different logical works.	

Instructions	Visual	Visual	
	*	Create Logical Switch Wizard	
From the Extensions tab. disable the <b>Microsoft</b>	🐖 Extensions		
From the Extensions tab, disable the <b>Microsoft</b> <b>Windows Filtering</b> checkbox and enable the <b>Cisco Nexus1000v</b> checkbox.	Getting Started General Externions	Choose the extensions you want to use with this logical switch Select the sheck bos for each astension that you want installed and configured when an instance of the logical writin is created on a host. Dely use forwarding estimation can be selected.	
	Uplink Virtual Port	Name Extension Type Extension Manager Ministra	
	Summary	Microsoft NOIS Castore Monitoring N/A (Intern Down)	
Click <b>Next.</b>	- **94	Permanting Circl Henue 1000V Chemi.	
From the Uplink tab, set the Uplink mode to <b>Team</b> .	Create Logical Switch Witzerd		
	Getting Startest General Extensions Upless	Specify the uplink port profiles that are part of this logical switch. The uplink port profiles configured time are available for site on Ports where an instance of this switch is control. Uplink mode. Team	
Click Add.	Vituel Port	Uplink port profiles Uplink Port Profile Host Grages Demok Sites Marked For Deleti. Add.	
	Summary	remail000-uplink All Hosts Cluster-Pock-t, VDL faile	
Select the Uplink port profile [Uplink_profile_name] created earlier		Revelor	
•• -• - •			
Click <b>Next.</b>			
		Persidual Next, Caroof	
Instructions	Visual		
---	---		
	Create Logical Switch Wigard		
From the Virtual Port tab, click Add to add a port class which has not yet been defined. (see next three steps.)	Getting Started         Specify the port classifications for virtual ports part of this logical switch           General         The port deplications configured here will be available for one by virtual retwork adaptes in a host or virtual matchines.           Televisions         Virtual ports           Uplies         Virtual ports		
	Virtual Port VOI Port Class False False Talse State		
When the port classification has been created, click <b>Next.</b>	Service Remove Cherr Default		
	Petroitus Canat		
From the Add Virtual Port Dialog, click <b>Browse</b> to add a new Port classification profile (see next two steps)	Initial         Add Virtual Port           Configure the virtual port         Specify the port classification for the virtual port. For each switch estension associated to the logical switch, one port profile may be selected. Additionally, a native virtual network adapter port profile may be associated to the virtual port.           Port classification:         VDI Port Class		
When the port classification has been added, enable the checkbox next to nexus1000v hostname and select the [ <i>vEthernet_Port_profile</i> ] from the drop-down box.	Image: second		
Click <b>OK</b>	Include a virtual network adapter port profile in this virtual port Native virtual network adapter port profile +		

Instructions	Visual	
	La Sele	ct a Port Profile Classification
In the Select a Port-Profile Classification dialog,	Select a Port Profile Classifica	tion
click the Create Port Classification button. (See	Name	Description
the next step to complete the addition of a port	SR-IOV	Port classification to be used for virtual machines t_
profile classification.)	Host management	Port classification to be used for host managemen
	Network load balancing	Port classification to be used for virtual machines t-
	Live migration workload	Port classification to be used for host live migratio
	Medium bandwidth	Port classification to be used for virtual machines t
	Host Cluster Workload	Port classification for host duster workloads.
When added, click <b>OK.</b>	Low bandwidth	Port classification to be used for virtual machines t-
	High bandwidth	Port classification to be used for virtual machines t_
	SCSI workload VDI Port Class	Port classification for host iSCSI workfoeds.
		Create Port Classification
	*	Seate Port Elasification Winard
In the Create Port Classification Wizard, provide a <b>[<i>VDIPortClassName</i>]</b> for the port classification.	Specify a name and description for th Name VCR Port Clean Description	e port classification
Click <b>OK.</b>		
	View Script	735 Canad

Instructions	Visual	
In the Summary tab, review the settings and	Summary	eate Logical Switch Wizard
click <b>Finish</b> to complete the wizard.	Getting Started Confirm the sett	(Vev lout)
	Virtual Port Switch uplink mode	natione newsar1000y sets 1
Bight click Huper \/ best and coloct <b>Preparties</b>	vdi2-1	Presider Free Canada
Right-click Hyper-V host and select <b>Properties</b> from the context menu.	vdi2-3 vdi2-4 vdi2-5	Refresh         Refresh Virtual Machines         Shut Down         Restart         Reset         Power On         Power Off         View Status         Start Maintenance Mode         Stop Maintenance Mode
	VMs and Services	Image: Run Script Command           Image: Run Script Command
	🛃 Fabric	Remove Cluster Node
	🚟 Library	View Networking
	Jobs	emove Remove
	Settings	Properties

Instructions	Visual
Select the Virtual Switches tab.	General Status Status Frankhare
Click <b>New Virtual Switch</b> .	Hust Acons Virtual Machine Retro Roserves Storage
Select the <b>New Logical Switch</b> choice. (See next steps for adding a logical switch)	Veteral Sectors Wignation Sectors Reconnect Servicing Workborn Contor Properties
Click <b>OK</b> when complete.	View Bright OK Canvel
Select the <b>Cisco Nexus 1000 V</b> logical switch if more than one exists.	General Status  Status  New Vinuel Switch  New Vinu
Under the <b>Physical Adapters</b> , select the Cisco VIC Ethernet adapter that is connected to the Uplink1 wIC template.	Cacco VC Ethernet Netrol *
<b>Note</b> : The Cisco VIC Ethernet adapter number assigned to the Uplink1 vNIC template is random on each Hyper-V host, so verify the correct one by matching MAC address on the Hyper-V host with the MAC address assigned in the server profile.	Senisry Wintee Cactory Projecties
Click Add to add the Uplink2 vNIC adapter	
Click <b>OK.</b>	

Instructions	Visual
If prompted, click <b>OK</b> to continue with the changes.	Virtual Machine Manager       X         Image: While Virtual Machine Manager is applying the changes, the host may temporarily lose network connectivity. This may have an adverse effect on other network operations in progress.       Do you want to continue?         Image: OK Cancel       OK Cancel
From the VMs and Services tab, right-click on VM Networks and then select Create VM Network from the context menu.	VMs and Services Tenants Clouds VM Networks Storage All Hosts Create VM Network INFRA-1 INFRA-2 Vdi1-1 Vdi1-2 Vdi1-2 Vdi1-3 Vdi1-4 Vdi1-5 Vdi2-1 Vdi2-2 Vdi2-3 Vdi2-4 Vdi2-5

Instructions	Visual	
	Sector VM Network Wizard	
The Create VM Network Wizard starts.	🏝 Name	
	New Specify a name and description for the VM network Indicion Name VL20-01	
Provide a name.	Summary Desimption Logical intervity UDNetwork	
Select the Logical Network.		
	Francis Const	
From the Isolation tab, select the " <b>Specify an</b> externally supplied VM network" radio button.	Conterverk Wilcard      Isolation      Nore      Configure the isolation for this VM network, or select automatic to have it     senter      configure for you      Immany      O Adamete	
Select the VLAN that matches with the VM network name.	Specify an externally supplied VM network Enternal VM network: VUAN-61  User refined	
Click <b>Next.</b>		
	Presidat Neut Casial	

Instruction	S	Visual		
			Cheate VM Network Witand	
Review the <b>Finish</b> .	Summary page before clicking	Name Name	Confirm the settings	(Vees Singt )
•	he remaining VLANs. When all four should be configured.	Sammary	Name VLAN-81 Description	
Name	Logical Network			
VLAN-61	VDINetwork / VDINetwork2			
VLAN-62	VDINetwork / VDINetwork2			
VLAN-63	ClusterNetwork / ClusterNetwork2			
VLAN-64	ClusterNetwork / ClusterNetwork2			Denman Frenh Cascel



## 6.14. Installing and Configuring Citrix XenDesktop

This section lists supported configurations for the Delivery Controller, Citrix Studio, Citrix Director, and Virtual Delivery Agents (VDAs) at the time of release. System requirements for other features and components (such as StoreFront, host systems, HDX, Receivers and plug-ins, Desktop Lock, and Provisioning Services) are described in their respective documentation.

Unless otherwise noted, the installer deploys component prerequisites automatically. This includes .NET 3.5 SP1, which is required when installing components on Windows 7 or Windows Server 2008 R2 systems. The installation media contains several third-party components. Before using the Citrix software, check for security updates from the third party, and install them.

If you install all the core components (Controller, Studio, Director, StoreFront, and Licensing) on a single server, you need a minimum of 3 GB of RAM; more is recommended. Performance will vary depending on your exact configuration, including the number of users, applications, desktops, and other factors.

## **Delivery Controller**

Supported operating systems:

- Windows Server 2012.
- Windows Server 2008 R2, Standard and Enterprise Editions.

#### **Requirements:**

- Disk space: 100 MB.
- Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5 SP1 (required on Windows Server 2008 R2 only).
- Microsoft .NET 4.0.
- Windows PowerShell 2.0 (included with Windows Server 2008 R2) or 3.0 (included with Windows Server 2012).
- Visual C++ 2005, 2008 SP1, and 2010 Redistributable packages. The installer deploys these automatically. They are also available on the Citrix installation media in the Support folder.

#### Database

Supported Microsoft SQL Server versions for the Site Configuration Database (which initially includes the Configuration Logging Database and the Monitoring Database):

- SQL Server 2012 SP1 Express, Standard, and Enterprise Editions. By default, the Express edition is installed when installing the Controller.
- SQL Server 2008 R2 SP2 Express, Standard, Enterprise, and Datacenter Editions.

The following database features are supported (except on SQL Server Express Edition, which supports only standalone mode):

- SQL Server Clustered Instances
- SQL Server Mirroring
- SQL Server Replication
- SQL Server 2012 AlwaysOn Availability Groups

**Note**; Windows authentication is required for connections between the Controller and the SQL Server database.

## Studio

Supported operating systems:

- Windows 8 Professional and Enterprise Editions.
- Windows 7 Professional and Enterprise Editions.
- Windows Server 2012 Essentials, Standard, and Enterprise Editions.
- Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1 Foundation, Standard, Enterprise, and Datacenter Editions.

#### **Requirements:**

- Disk space: 75 MB.
- Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5 SP1(required on Windows Server 2008 R2 only).
- Microsoft Management Console 3.0 (included with all supported operating systems).
- Windows PowerShell 2.0 (included with Windows 7 and Windows Server 2008 R2) or 3.0 (included with Windows 8 and Windows Server 2012).

#### Director

Supported operating systems: Windows Server 2012, Standard Edition or Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1, Standard and Enterprise Editions

Requirements:

- Disk space: 50 MB.
- Microsoft .NET Framework 4.0. The installer deploys this automatically. It is also available on the Citrix installation media in the Support\DotNet4 folder.
- Microsoft Internet Information Services (IIS) 7.0 and ASP.NET 2.0. If these are not already installed, you are prompted for the Windows Server installation media, then they are installed for you.
- Supported browsers for viewing Director: Internet Explorer 9 and 10, Firefox, Chrome

#### Virtual Delivery Agent (VDA) for Windows Desktop OS

Supported operating systems:

- Windows 8.
- Windows 7 SP1, Enterprise and Professional Editions.

The installer automatically deploys requirements such as the Microsoft .NET Framework and the Visual C++ Runtime Library. These components are also available on the Citrix installation media in the Support folders.

Remote PC Access uses this VDA, which you install on physical office PCs.

Several multimedia acceleration features (such as HDX MediaStream Windows Media Redirection) require that Microsoft Media Foundation be installed on the machine where you install the VDA. If the machine does not have Media Foundation installed, the multimedia acceleration features will not be installed and will not work. Do not remove Media Foundation from the machine after installing the Citrix software; otherwise, users will not be able to log on to the machine. On most Windows 7 and Windows 8 editions, the Media Foundation support is already installed and cannot be removed. However, N editions do not include certain media-related technologies; you can obtain that software from Microsoft or a third party.

You cannot install a VDA supplied with this release on a machine running Windows XP or Windows Vista; however, you can install an earlier Virtual Desktop Agent version on those operating systems, if needed. For more information, see Install an earlier Virtual Desktop Agent on Windows XP or Windows Vista. Remote PC Access is not supported on Windows Vista operating systems.

## Virtual Delivery Agent (VDA) for Windows Server OS

Supported operating systems:

- Windows Server 2012.
- Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1; Datacenter, Enterprise, and Standard Editions.

The installer automatically deploys requirements such as the Microsoft .NET Framework and the Visual C++ Runtime Library. These components are also available on the Citrix installation media in the Support folders.

The installer automatically enables the Remote Desktop Services role.

Several multimedia acceleration features (such as HDX MediaStream Windows Media Redirection) require that the Microsoft Media Foundation be installed on the machine where you install the VDA. If the machine does not have Media Foundation installed, the multimedia acceleration features will not be installed and will not work. Do not remove Media Foundation from the machine after installing the Citrix software; otherwise, users will not be able to log on to the machine. On most Windows Server 2008 R2 and Windows Server 2012 editions, the Media Foundation feature is installed through the Server Manager (for Windows Server 2012: ServerMediaFoundation, for Windows Server 2008 R2: DesktopExperience). However, N editions do not include certain media-related technologies; you can obtain that software from Microsoft or a third party.

The Print Spooler Service is enabled by default on the Windows server. If you disable this service, you cannot successfully install a VDA for Windows Server OS. Therefore, make sure that this service is enabled before installing a VDA.

## Host

Supported hypervisors are XenServer, VMware vSphere, and Microsoft Hyper-V. For this Cisco Validated Design, we used Microsoft Windows Server 2012 SP1 with Hyper-V as the hypervisor.

## Other

StoreFront requires 2 GB of disk space. See the StoreFront documentation for full system requirements.

Citrix License Server requires 40 MB of disk space. See the licensing documentation for full system requirements.

Universal Print Server - Supported operating systems (the Controller includes the Universal Print Server functionality; you need only install the Universal Print Server on your print servers):

- Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1
- Windows Server 2008 32-bit

The Microsoft Group Policy Management Console (GPMC) is required if you store Citrix policy information in Active Directory rather than the Site Configuration Database. For more information, see the Microsoft documentation.

You can install the Receiver for Windows when installing a VDA provided on the XenDesktop installation media. For system requirements information on other platforms, see the Receiver for Windows documentation.

The Receiver for Linux and the Receiver for Mac are provided on the XenDesktop installation media. See their documentation for system requirements.

## 6.14.1. Installing Provisioning Services

In most implementations, there is a single vDisk providing the standard image for multiple target devices. Thousands of target devices can use a single vDisk shared across multiple Provisioning Services (PVS) servers in the same farm, simplifying virtual desktop management. This section describes the installation and configuration tasks required to create a PVS implementation.

The PVS server can have many stored vDisks, and each vDisk can be several gigabytes in size. Your streaming performance can be improved using a RAID array, SAN, or NAS. PVS software and hardware requirements are available at <a href="http://support.citrix.com">http://support.citrix.com</a>.

Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager must be installed if the XenDesktop Setup Wizard will be used for creating the virtual machines. After inserting the System Center Virtual Machine Manager ISO, you should get a welcome screen.

Instructions	Visual
Select the <b>Install</b> link.	System Center 2012
The installer will copy some files over to the host then present the feature screen.	Virtual Machine Manager install: @ Restart may be required @ Before you begin @ Reisare Notes Installston Goide Browse the CD System Center Online VMM Privacy Statement) Optional Installations @ Local Agent Installs agent on local machine.
	Service Pack: 1 © 2012 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved. Close
Select the VMM Console for install.	Image: Second System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard           Getting started         Report a problem
Click <b>Next.</b>	Select features to install  VMM management server  VMM console
	Previous Next # Cancel )

Instructions	Visual
	La Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard
Read the notice. I acceptable, enable the checkbox labeled "I agree with the terms of this notice."	Please read this notice Please read this notice Negative strate the software is "Additional Software". You may use this software with each validly locensed copy of Microsoft System Careter 2012 Service Pack 1 server software ["Server Software". You may not use the influence of you do not have a locense for the Sorver Software. You way of this Additional Software is subject to the biomse agreement governing your use of the Terver Software.
Click Next.	
	VMV Procey Subsected Proces Process Pr
On the Customer Experience Improvement	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wicard
Program screen, click <b>Next</b> .	Getting started Report a problem
	Customer Experience Improvement Program (CEIP)         Hyou use this VMM console to convect to a VMM management server that is periopating in the Customer Experience Improvement Program (CEP), the VMM console also will be automatically encoded in CER.         The Customer Experience Improvement Program collects statistical information about trends and usage patterns. This information is collected for the sole purpose of improving the quality, reliability, and performance of the next version of Vintual Management Program (CEP), the VMM console also will be automatically encoded in CER.         Hyou do not want to perforable in CEP, after you complete the installation, open the VMM console, go to the Settings workpace, tick Centerne Experience Experience Improvement Program Settings, and then click No.   perfer not to perforable of CEP.         More about the Customer Experience Improvement Program Improvement for the Monach Customer Experience Improvement Program Improvement for the Monach Customer Experience Improvement Program         May Place of the Monach Customer Experience Improvement Program         May Place of the Monach Customer Experience Improvement Program
	Previous Next-> Cancel



Instructions	Visual
Accept the default communication port.	Image: Second System Center 2012 Vietual Machine Manager Setup Wizant           Configuration         Major a second           Port configuration         Major a second
Click <b>Next.</b>	Administrator Console 4*20 Communication with the VMMI examplement server
Review the installation summary.	Produit Next () Count
Click Install.	Configuration
	Personal Indulga Center

Instructions	Visual
When installation is finished, disable the checkbox labeled <b>Open the VMM console</b> <b>when this wizard closes</b> . Click <b>Close</b> .	Studio     App-V Publishing       Studio     App-V Publishing       Introduction     Do you sent to add an App-V publishing server to this deployment?       Introduction     Import Publishing       Interview     Import Publishing       Interview
Reboot the server before starting the XenDesktop configuration or the SCVMM configuration will fail.	Back Ning Cancel

Only one MS SQL database is associated with a farm. You can choose to install the Provisioning Services database software on an existing SQL database, if that machine can communicate with all Provisioning Servers within the farm, or with a new SQL Express database machine, created using the SQL Express software which is free from Microsoft

The following MS SQL 2008, MS SQL 2008 R2, and MS SQL 2012 Server (32 or 64-biteditions) databases can be used for the Provisioning Services database: SQL Server Express Edition, SQL Server Workgroup Edition, SQL Server Standard Edition, SQL Server Enterprise Edition. The SQL database for this Cisco Validated Design was created during the Site configuration process described previously.

Instructions	Visual
Insert the Provisioning Services ISO and let AutoRun launch the installer. Click <b>Server Installation</b>	Circles   Provisioning Services    Console Installation       Console Installation      Console Installation      Console Installation      Console Installation      Console Installation       Console Installation      Console Installation      Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation       Console Installation
Click <b>Install Server</b> . The installation wizard will check to resolve dependencies and then begin the PVS server installation process. It is recommended that you disable anti-virus software prior to the installation.	

Instructions	Visual
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64 - InstallShield Wizard
Click Install on the PreRequisites dialog.	Citrix Provisioning Services x64 requires the following items to be installed on your computer. Click Install to begin installing these requirements.
	Status       Requirement         Pending       Broker Snapin v2 x64         Pending       Host PowerShell SnapIn v2 x64         Pending       DelegatedAdmin PowerShell SnapIn x64         Pending       ConfigLogging_PowerShellSnapIn x64         Pending       SQLincx64         Pending       Configuration_PowerShellSnapIn x64
	Install Cancel
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64 - InstallShield Wizard
Click <b>Yes</b> when prompted to install the SQL Native Client.	Citrix Provisioning Services x64 optionally uses SQLncx64. Would you like to install it now?
	Yes No
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Click <b>Next</b> when the Installation wizard starts.	Webcome to the Installation Wizard for Citrix Provisioning Services x64           The InstallShield(R) Wizard will install the Citrix Provisioning Services x64 on your computer. It is recommended that you disable any AntiVirus software before continuing. To continue, cick Next.
	WARNING: This program is protected by copyright law and international treaties.
	< Back Next Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Review the license agreement terms.	License Agreement You must view the entire license agreement in order to continue.
If acceptable, select the radio button labeled "I accept the terms in the license agreement."	CITRIX LICENSE AGREEMENT  This is a legal agreement ("AGREEMENT") between you, the Licensed User, and Citrix Systems, Inc., Citrix Systems International GmbH or Citrix Systems Asia Pacific Pty Ltd. Your location of receipt of this product or feature release (both hereinafter ] "PRODUCT") or technical support (hereinafter "SUPPORT") determines the providing entity hereunder (the applicable entity is hereinafter referred to as "CITRIX"). Citrix Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation licenses this PRODUCT in the Americas and Japan and provides SUPPORT in the Americas. Citrix Systems International GmbH, a Swiss company wholly owned by Citrix Systems, Inc., licenses this PRODUCT and provides Support in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, and
Click Next.	I accept the terms in the license agreement     Print
	I do not accept the terms in the license agreement InstallShield
	於 Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Provide User Name, and Organization	Customer Information Please enter your information. CITRIX
information.	User Name:
Select who will see the application.	Organization:
Click <b>Next.</b>	Install this application for:
	InstalShield < Back Next > Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	送 Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Accept the default installation location.	Destination Folder Click Next to install to this folder, or click Change to install to a different folder.
	Install Otrix Provisioning Services x64 to: C:\Program Files\Citrix\Provisioning Services\ Change
Click <b>Next.</b>	InstallShield Cancel
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Click Install to begin the installation.	Ready to Install the Program The wizard is ready to begin installation. CITRIX
	Click Install to begin the installation. If you want to review or change any of your installation settings, click Back. Click Cancel to exit the wizard. InstallShield <back cancel<="" instally="" td=""></back>

Instructions	Visual
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Click <b>Finish</b> when the install is complete.	CITRIX Installation Wizard Completed The Installation Wizard has successfully installed Citrix Provisioning Services x64. Click Finish to exit the wizard.
	<back cancel<="" frish="" td=""></back>
	Citrix Provisioning Services x64
Click <b>OK</b> to acknowledge the PVS console has not yet been installed.	The PVS Console is not detected in your system. You will need the Console to log into your PVS Farm from this system. Please install it.
The PVS Configuration Wizard starts automatically.	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard      The Configuration Wizard provides an easy way to     setup a "basic" Server configuration.      For advanced configurations, see the Installation and     Configuration Guide.
Click Next.	You can always run the Configuration Wizard again later from the Start Menu.
	< Back Sack Cancel

Instructions	Visual
Since the PVS server is not the DHCP server for the environment, select the radio button labeled, " <b>The service that runs on another</b> <b>computer.</b> " Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard      DHCP Services     Specify the service that will provide IP address assignments to Provisioning     Services target devices.      The service that runs on this computer     Microsoft DHCP     Provisioning Services BOOTP service     Other BOOTP or DHCP service      The service that runs on another computer      The service that runs on another computer
Since this server will be a PXE server, select the radio button labeled, " <b>The service that runs on this computer.</b> " Click <b>Next.</b>	< Back

Instructions	Visual
Since this is the first server in the farm, select the radio button labeled, " <b>Create farm</b> ". Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard     Farm Configuration     Create a new Farm or join an existing Farm. Can be skipped if already     configured.     Create farm         Join existing farm
	< Back Nextlag Cancel
Enter the listener name of the SQL server AlwaysOn group that hosts the database as the <b>Server name</b> .	Database Server         Enter the Server and Instance names.         Server name:         Instance name:         Optional TCP port:
<b>Note</b> : If using a cluster, instead of AlwaysOn groups, you will need to supply the instance name as well.	Specify database mirror failover partner Server name: Instance name: Optionel TCP: port:
Click <b>Next</b>	< Back Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
Optionally provide a Database name, Farm name, Site name, and Collection name for the	New Farm Enter the new Database and Farm names.
PVS farm.	Database name: ProvisioningServices V
	Farm name: Farm
	Site name: Site
Select the <b>Domain Admins</b> group for the Farm	Collection name: Collection
Administrator group.	Use Active Directory groups for security     Use Windows groups for security
	Farm Administrator group:
	hv.pod.local/Users/Domain Admins 🗸
Click Next.	< Back Next > Cancel
Provide a vDisk Store name and the storage path the EMC VNXe vDisk share. Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard         New Store         Enter a new Store and default path.         Store name:       vDisk Store         Default path:       \\10.66.0.48\vDisk         Browse

Instructions	Visual
Provide the FQDN of the License Server, in this case it will be the first delivery controller. Optionally, provide a port number. Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard   License Server   Enter the license server hostname and port.   License server name: EXC1.hv.pod.loca   License server port: 27000   Validate license server version and communication
	< Back Net Cancel
If an active directory account is not already setup for the PVS servers, create that account (which only needs to be a domain member) prior to clicking Next on this dialog. Select the <b>Specified user</b> account radio button.	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard         User account         The Stream and Soap Services will run under a user account. Please select what user account you will use.         Network service account         Specified user account         User name:       PVS         Domain:       hv         Password:       ••••••••         Confirm password:       ••••••••         Note: The database will be configured for access from this account.
Complete the <b>User name</b> , <b>Domain</b> , <b>Password</b> , and <b>Confirm password</b> fields, using the PVS account information created earlier.	< Back Next Cancel
Click Next.	

Instructions	Visual
Set the <b>Days between password updates</b> to 30. Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard         Active Directory Computer Account Password         Automate computer account password updates?         Automate computer account password updates         Days between password updates:         30
Keep the defaults for the network cards.	< Back Next Cancel
Click <b>Next.</b>	Streaming network cards:       Image: 10.61.0.31         Management network card:       Image: 10.61.0.31         Enter the base port that will be used for network communications. A total of 20 ports are required. You must also select a port for console communications.         Note: All servers must have the same port configurations.         First communications port:       6890         Console port:       54321
	< Back Nexty Cancel

Instructions	Visual
Enable the <b>Use the Provisioning Services TFTP</b> <b>service</b> checkbox. Click <b>Next.</b>	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard           TFTP Option and Bootstrap Location           Typically only one TFTP server is deployed as part of Provisioning Services.           Image: Contract of the Provisioning Services TFTP service           C: \ProgramData \Citrix\Provisioning Services \Tftpboot\ARDBP32.BIN   Browse
Accept the default Stream Servers boot list.	< Back Next> Cancel Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard Stream Servers Boot List Specify at least 1 and at most 4 boot servers.
Click <b>Next.</b>	The bootstrap file specifies what servers target devices may contact to complete the boot process.          Server IP Address       Server Port       Device Subnet Mask       Device Gateway         10.61.0.31       6910       255.255.255.0       0.0.0.0         Add       Edt       Remove       Move up       Move down         Advanced        Sadk       Nextool       Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
Click <b>Finish</b> to start the installation.	Finish Confirm configuration settings.
	PXE - Install Service         Database Server = sqlcluster.hv.pod.local\         Farm = ProvisioningServices:Farm         Site and Collection = Site, Collection         AD Group = hv.pod.local\/Users/Domain Admins         Store and Default Path = vDisk Store, \\10.66.0.48\vDisk         License Server:Port = EXC1.hv.pod.local:22000         User Account = hv/pvs         Communications - First Port = 6890, Last Port = 6909         Console - Soap Port = 54321         NIC - Selected IP = 10.61.0.31         Management NIC - Selected IP = 10.61.0.31         TFTP - Install Service               Automatically Start Services
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
When the installation is completed, click the <b>Done</b> button.	Finish Confirm configuration settings.
	<ul> <li>Stopping Network Services</li> <li>Stopping Software Stream Service</li> <li>Configuring Services</li> <li>Starting Software Stream Services</li> <li>Starting Network Services</li> </ul>
	< Back Dore Cancel

Instructions	Visual	
From the main installation screen.	CitRIX Provisioning Services	2
Click <b>Console Installation</b> .	Server Installation  Iarget Device Installation  Help and Support  Browse DVD Exit Install the Console.	
Click <b>Next.</b>	Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 - InstallShield Wizard Welcome to the InstallShield Wizard for Citri Provisioning Services Console x64 The InstallShield(R) Wizard will instal Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 on your computer. To continue, click Next.	
	WARNING: This program is protected by copyright law and international treaties.	
	< Back Next > Cancel	

Instructions	Visual
Read the Citrix License Agreement.	Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 - InstallShield Wizard License Agreement You must view the entire license agreement in order to continue.
If acceptable, select the radio button labeled "I accept the terms in the license agreement."	CITRIX LICENSE AGREEMENT  This is a legal agreement ("AGREEMENT") between you, the Licensed User, and Citrix Systems, Inc., Citrix Systems International GmbH or Citrix Systems Asia Pacific Pty Ltd. Your location of receipt of this product or feature release (both hereinafter "PRODUCT") or technical support (hereinafter "SUPPORT") determines the providing entity hereunder (the applicable entity is hereinafter referred to as "CITRIX"). Citrix Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation licenses this PRODUCT in the Americas and Japan and provides SUPPORT in the Americas. Citrix Systems International GmbH, a Swiss company wholby owned by Citrix Systems, Inc., licenses this PRODUCT and provides Support in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, and
Click Next.	I accept the terms in the license agreement     I do not accept the terms in the license agreement
	InstalShield Cancel
Optionally provide User Name and Organization.	Customer Information Please enter your information. CITRIX
	User Name: Windows User
Click Next.	Organization:
	Install this application for:
	InstallShield Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	😥 Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 - InstallShield Wizard
Accept the default path.	Destination Folder Click Next to install to this folder, or click Change to install to a different folder.
	Install Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 to: C:\Program Files\Citrix\Provisioning Services Console\ Change
Click <b>Next.</b>	
	InstallShield Cancel
	Citrix Provisioning Services Console x64 - InstallShield Wizard
Leave the Complete radio button selected.	Setup Type Choose the setup type that best suits your needs. CITRIX
Click <b>Next.</b>	Please select a setup type.            • Complete             • All program features will be installed. (Requires the most disk space.)             • Custom             • Choose which program features you want installed and where they will be installed. Recommended for advanced users.
	InstallShield Cancel



# 6.14.2. Installation of the Second PVS Server

Complete the installation steps on the second PVS server as previously completed on the first PVS server to the configuration step where it asks to Create or Join a farm.

Instructions	Visual
From the Farm Configuration dialog, select " <b>Join existing farm</b> ." Click <b>Next.</b>	<ul> <li>Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard</li> <li>Farm Configuration Create a new Farm or join an existing Farm. Can be skipped if already configured.</li> <li>Create farm</li> <li>Join existing farm</li> </ul>
Enter the listener name of the SQL server	A Back Nyst > Cancel     Cancel     Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard     Database Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Original Configuration Wizard     Cancel     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Output     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Detabase Server     Detabase Server     Detabase Server     Enter the Server and Instance names.     Detabase Server     Detabase
AlwaysOn group that hosts the database as the <b>Server name</b> .	Server name: sqlduster.hv.pod.local Browse Instance name:  Optional TCP port:
<b>Note</b> : If using a cluster, instead of AlwaysOn groups, you will need to supply the instance name as well.	Specify database mirror failover partner  Service name:  Instance name:  Optional TCP port:

Instructions	Visual
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
Accept the Farm Name.	Existing Farm Select the Farm.
	Farm name: ProvisioningServices:Farm
Click Next.	
	< Back Nex Cancel
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
Accept the Existing Site.	Site Select a Site or enter a new Site and Collection.
	Existing site
Click <b>Next.</b>	Site name: Site 🗸
	O New site
	Site name: Collection name: Collection
	< Back Next Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard
Accept the Existing vDisk store.	Select a Store or enter a new Store and default path.
Click <b>Next.</b>	Existing store     Store name: vDisk Store       New store     Store name: Store     Default path:
Provide the PVS user account information.	< <p>  </p>
Click <b>Next.</b>	Network service account    Specified user account User name: pvs Domain: hv Password: Confirm password: Note: The database will be configured for access from this account.
	< Back Next > Cancel

Instructions	Visual		
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard		
Set the <b>Days between password updates</b> to 30.	Active Directory Computer Account Password Automate computer account password updates?		
Click Next.	Automate computer account password updates Days between password updates: 30		
	< Back Next > Cancel		
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard		
Accept the network card settings.	Network Communications Specify network settings.		
	Streaming network cards:		
Click Next.	Management network card:		
	Enter the base port that will be used for network communications. A total of 20 ports are required. You must also select a port for console communications.		
	Note: All servers must have the same port configurations. First communications port: 6890		
	Console port: 54321		
	< Back Next Cancel		
	*		
Instructions	Visual		
--	---	--	--
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard		
Enable the " <b>Use the Provisioning Services TFTP</b> <b>Service</b> " checkbox.	TFTP Option and Bootstrap Location Typically only one TFTP server is deployed as part of Provisioning Services.		
	Use the Provisioning Services TFTP service C:\ProgramData\Citrix\Provisioning Services\Tftpboot\ARDBP32.BIN Browse		
Click <b>Next.</b>			
	< Back Nex		
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard		
Accept the Stream Servers list.	Stream Servers Boot List Specify at least 1 and at most 4 boot servers.		
	The bootstrap file specifies what servers target devices may contact to complete the boot process.		
Click Next.	Server IP Address         Server Port         Device Subnet Mask         Device Gateway           10.61.0.32         6910         255.255.255.0         0.0.0.0		
	Add Edit Remove Move up Move down		
	Autolicum		
	< Back Nextee Cancel		

Instructions	Visual		
	Provisioning Services Configuration Wizard		
Click <b>Finish</b> to start the installation process.	Finish Confirm configuration settings.		
	PXE - Install Service         Database Server = solduster.hv.pod.local\         Farm = ProvisioningServices:Farm         Site = Site         Siter = vOisk Store         User Account = hv/pvs         Computer account password changes every 30 days         Console - Soap Port = 54321         NIC - Selected IP = 10.61.0.32         TFTP - Install Service         File = C:\ProgramData\Gitrix\Provisioning Services\Tftpboot\ARDBP32.BIN                  Back       Finite         Cancel		
Click <b>Done</b> when the installation finishes.	Finish         Configuration settings.		
	Stopping Network Services Stopping Software Stream Service Configuring Services Starting Software Stream Services Starting Network Services Carcel		
	Source Carter		

Instructions	Visual		
	Image: Services Console     Image: Services Console       Image: Services Console     Image: Services Console		
With a second PVS server the boot strap should be updated on both servers. The boot strap server is responsible for providing vDisk assignments to target devices.	<ul> <li>Provisioning Services Console</li> <li>Farm (pvs2.hv.pod.local)</li> <li>Sites</li> <li>Sites</li> <li>Visk Pool</li> <li>Visk Update Managemi</li> <li>Device Collections</li> <li>Views</li> <li>Configure Bootstrap</li> </ul>		
Launch the PVS console.	▷     ▷     ○     ConfigMe BIOS Bootstrap       ▷     ⊡     ConfigMe BIOS Bootstrap       <		
Select the server and right-click and select			
Configure Bootstrap from the context menu.			
Click the <b>Read Servers from Database</b> button to	Configure Bootstrap		
add the other PVS server.	Server IP Address         Server Port         Device Subnet Mask         Device Gateway           10.61.0.31         6910         255.255.0         0.0.0.0           10.61.0.32         6910         255.255.0         0.0.0.0		
Click <b>OK</b> to save the changes			
Repeat for the other PVS server.	Add Edit Remove Move Up Move Down Read Servers from Database		
	Cancel Halp		

### 6.14.3. Installing the Delivery Controller

The steps in this section should be completed on all XenDesktop Delivery Controllers. There are two key tasks described in this section: (1) installing Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager (SCVMM) and (2) installing the XenDesktop Delivery Controllers and other XenDesktop software components.

## 6.14.3.1. Installing Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager (SCVMM)

Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager must first be installed before beginning XenDesktop software installation and configuration. After inserting the System Center Virtual Machine Manager ISO, you should see a Welcome screen.

Instructions	Visual
Select the <b>Install</b> link.	System Center 2012
The installer will copy some files over to the host then present the feature screen.	Virtual Machine Manager
	Santor Figh 1 & 2012 Microsoft Corporation. All rights moment. Close
Select the VMM Console for install.	Ed Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Witzert
Click <b>Next.</b>	Select features to install
	Tronger Neuron German

Instructions	Visual
	Lal Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard
Read the notice.	Cetting started Report a problem
I acceptable, enable the checkbox labeled "I agree with the terms of this notice."	Please read this notice PLEASE ROTE: This software is "Additional Software". You may use this software with each vehicly locansed copy of Microsoft System Center 2012 Service Pack 1 server software ("Server Software"). You may not use this software if you do not have a license for the Server Software. You use of this Additional Software is subject to the license agreement governing your use of the Server Software.
Click Next.	Signer with the larms of this notice
	VMM Privacy Televent
	Presides Next > Cancel
From the Customer Experience Improvement Program screen, click <b>Next</b> .	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wilzer      Gentrag transf      Gentrag transf      Gentrag transf      Customer Experience Improvement Program (CEIP)      Hysis use this WMA sample to correct to a WMA nanogenerit seven that is participating in the Customer Experience      Hysis use this WMM candide to correct to a WMA nanogenerit seven that is participating in the Customer Experiment      Hysis use this WMM candide to correct to a WMA nanogenerit seven that is participating in the Customer Experiment      Hysis use this WMM candide to correct to a WMA nanogenerit seven that is participating in the Customer Experimes      Improvement Program (CEIP), the VMM candide also will be automatically would in CEB      The Customer Experimes to provement Program callent statistical information about tracks and usage patterns. This     entropole is calledered for the tobe purpose of improvement the quality, windiality, and performance of the sever weakles of Virtual      Mechane Meeger      Hysis do not went to participate in CEIP after you complete the installation, spen the VMM consist, go to the factures     methode is calledered for the tobe purpose of improvement Program     Settings, and performance of the sever weakle of Virtual     Mechane Science (SD)      Mee about the Customer Experiment Experiment Program     Rovey Takement for the Incomatin Customer Experiment Program     Multimized Datament     WMM Rivery Datement     WMM Rivery Datement
	Previous Type + Cencer



Instructions	Visual
	Microsoft System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager Setup Wizard
Accept the default communication port.	Configuration Report a public of Port configuration
Click <b>Next.</b>	Administrator Console 8100 Communication with the VMM management server
Review the installation summary.	Installation summary
Click Install.	Research the settlections for flasheer you are installing. To continue, shick hostall. To change these infections, shick Premium. Research settlection to be asked VMM console Restation function CAProgram Filler(Witcrosoft System Center 2012/Virtual Machine Manager) Communication Form B190 - Communication with the VMM console Using Microsoft Update Yes
	Pressue Instally Canad



## 6.14.3.2. Installing XenDesktop Delivery Controllers and Other Components

After the installation of SCVMM on the VM, you must install the XenDesktop Delivery Controllers and other XenDesktop components. When you start the installation process from the Citrix XenDesktop 7 DVD, the installation wizard presents a menu with three topics.

Instructions	Visual			
To begin the installation of Delivery Controllers, click "Get Started - Delivery Controller."	XeeDesktop 7.0			
	Gra Sintag	Propert History and Images	Enland Destayment	
	Delivery Controller Start tens. Select and install the D Controller and other extential set Locations Select and StoreFrom.	viture of the part of the Westown	China Director	(New Sel
	Licensing Server and ElderFrom,	with Mix desktops from server based VMs or physical machines.	Chila Lluerne Server	
		Votual Defense Agent for Withhem	Otris Steaffort	Mare M.
		Desiting (DS) Comparison with line (see the completing contains	Claria Stadler	Sec.
			Universal Print Server	(hearter)
	XenDesktop 7.0	Software License Agreement		
Read the Citrix License Agreement.	Licensing Agreement		3	TATABLE VETSING
If acceptable, indicate your acceptance of the license by selecting the "I have read, understand, and accept the terms of the license agreement" radio button.	Can comparents Can Comparents Factures Frendel Sammary Install Facah	CITRIN LICENSE AGREEMENT This is a legid appression ("AGDEEMENT") Systems. Jac., Ceins Systems International Gar Vise Ionatian approx (International Vise in technical approx (International Vise) Other applicable neity: a Mosenather referred Delaware corporation, Ionasse this PHODUCE SUPPORT in the Anternational Coins Systems Inter- mented by Clins Systems. Jan., Learness this Europe, the Middle Earl, and Africa, null Ione (reacheding Japus). Ceins Systems Aim Buchf the Pacific technologi Japus). Ceins Systems Aim Buchf the Pacific technologi Japus). Ceins Systems Aim Buchf Del During International Control Systems Aim Buchf Del During David Systems Control Systems Aim Buchf Del During David Control David Systems International DESME OF THEX AGREEMENT, DO NOT D 1. GRANT OF LICENSE provider particuts on a computer suffer-	bill, or Chrut Systema Anna Pauli are referint (ubb kerislahle: "For dataratase the parvaling entry to a surverse of the second second second T in the Association and Appan an extentional Genetic, A Solvan Amago FBIODUCT in Alam and the PEDDUCT in Alam and Phy Land, parvalates SUPPORT in genetic Key evolution SUPPORT in GRUET, BY YOU ARE AGREEM MINT: BY YOU ARE AGREEM STALL AND ON UBB STALL AND ON USE AND STALL AND ON UBB STALL AND ON USE AND STALL AND ON UBB STALL AND ON USE AND STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ON USE STALL AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDRESS ADDRESS AND ADDRESS	is Pry Lut. GOUCT') harmader in. Inc., a d providen ing wholly PROBET in the Pacific t Avis end Appas. BY 0 TO BE E TO THE DOUCT Noise that
Click Next.		enforce that allows a computer to a levere landware ("Clean Hotels"), and etc. ("Clean Model"), a decise an index ("Clean Model"), a decise and I have read understand, and assept the term I have read understand, and assept the term I have read understand, and assept the term	one or office the service pict This PRODUCT is formed as ald ("Device Model") or cour- of the large agreement	ded by the der a norr

Instructions	Visual	
<ul> <li>Select the components to be installed:</li> <li>Delivery Controller</li> <li>Studio</li> <li>Director</li> <li>License Server (install only on one VM)</li> </ul>	XenDesktop 7.0     Core Components       ** Laurang Agreement     For sole and performance reasons, it is incommanded that Deenhar and the Liencie Server for installed on separate privers.       ** Laurang Pensare     Locations Colleagues filestOns     Ounge.       * Funds     Definer Component (Boot of B)     Definer Component (Boot of B)       * Laurang     Definer Component (Boot of B)     Duringe.       * Laurang     Definer Component (Boot of B)     Duringe.       * Laurang     Definer Component (Boot of B)     Duringe.       * Duringe Countie     Counter, configure, and reprive a second problems.     Definer       * Definer     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.       * Definer     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.       * Definer     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.       * Definer     Manager performance and Boother/boot problems.	
installed on a separate virtual machine, so uncheck <b>StoreFront</b> .	Balk New Canad	
The Microsoft SQL Server is installed on a separate server, so uncheck the <b>Install Microsoft SQL Server 2012 Express</b> checkbox. Click <b>Next.</b>	XenDosixtop 7.0     Features <ul> <li>Convolution Agreement</li> <li>Convolution Convolution Conv</li></ul>	
	De Text	

Instructions	Visual		
Select the default ports and automatically configured firewall rules.	XenDesktop 7.0 « Laurang Agreement « Can Despaceret « Frend Sammery Install Frend	Firewall The default parts are listed below. Definery Controller Chierton 400 TCP 400 TCP 4400 TCP	Travelik moren Lumar Jewe 7779 TCP 27000 TCP 0011 TCP 4002 TCP
		Configure freewolf raises * Actoretically Salast this option is andorreadically sender the salast this option is andorreadically sender the salast this option if you are not using Winds plannell.	
The Summary screen is shown.	XenDesktop 7.0	Summary Review the perceptibility and confirm the component installation directory CHRogram Risc/Cros Con Components	ents you want to install.
Click Install to begin the installation.	Samelary Instal Tinah	Toriony Centroline Studie Director Linence Server Fermuli TCP Peerls: 85, 443, 7179, 27000, 8581, 8082	
The installer displays a message when the installation is complete.			
			Baci Cocol

Instructions	Visual		
Verify the Launch Studio checkbox is enabled. Click <b>Finish.</b>	XenDesktop 7.0	Finish Installation The installation completed successfully. Core Components Patienty Constraints Patienty Patients Pati	✓ Succes

### 6.14.4. XenDesktop Controller Configuration

Citrix Studio is a management console that allows you to create and manage infrastructure and resources to deliver desktops and applications. Replacing Desktop Studio from earlier releases, it provides wizards to set up your environment, create workloads to host applications and desktops, and assign applications and desktops to users.

Citrix Studio launches automatically after component installation from DVD, or if necessary, it can be launched manually. You can use Studio to create a Site, which is the core XenDesktop 7 environment consisting of the Delivery Controller and the Database.

Instructions	Visual		
Click Get Started! Create a Site.	CİTRIX Wetcome Welcome to Citrix Studio Use this console to configure a fresh deployment, create a new Site, or extend your existing deployment.		
	Full deployment  Get started! Create a Site  Get started! Deploy applications and desktops for your organization.  (Remote PC Access deployment can be added later)		
	Remote PC Access deployment Provide secure remote access to physical PCs Build a deployment to allow users remote access to their physical PCs through a secure connection. (Full deployment can be added later)		
	Extend  Scale out your deployment  Add the Delivery Controller installed on this server to an existing Site.		
	Full Deployment		
Select the " <b>Configure a Site and start delivering</b> <b>applications and desktops to users</b> " radio button.	Studio         Build and customize a full production environment.           Infraduction         What woold you like to content           Infraduction         * Canique the Site and later delivering explications and desitings to cares (eccompared to free stand), network and iteratings reporting in the stand and to be standing in the standing of the standing in the standing of the standing in the standing of the standing in the standing of the standing in the standing		
Enter a site name.	Connection         Solutions and sphilations and statistics to care.           Execution         Connection         Connection           Execution         Connection         Connection         Connection		
Click <b>Next.</b>	Test Nor Gett		

Instructions	Visual		
Provide the <b>Database Server</b> location using the AlwaysOn SQL Listener name. Click <b>Test connection</b> to verify that the database is accessible.	Studio Constitution Database Lieming Constitution Resources Storage App-V Publishing Samary	Full Deployment         Database         The database stores all bits configuration, logging, and monthaning data.         Database server levantese         Spachaser name         Ches/RevCesking?         Text consisting         Text consisting         Text consisting         Text consisting         Ches/RevCesking?         Text consisting         Chesrer visition         Generate database conjug.         Chesrer database conjug.	
<b>Note</b> : If using a clustered database instead of the AlwaysOn configuration, then the SQL instance name must also be supplied. Ignore any errors and continue.		Tack Mare Cantal	
Click <b>OK</b> to have the installer create the database.	Studio         No database was found on the database server.         To create a database automatically, click OK.         Or, if you would prefer to use the database schema to creat database, click Cancel.         OK		
Click Next.	Studio Conscion Destates Demog Conscion Resource Storage Apply Fuldborg Servery	Full Dephloyment         Database         The database stores all Site configuration, logging, and neurobolog data.         Database         Database stores threation         Database stores are all Site configuration, logging, and neurobolog data.         Database stores to reaction         Database stores are anne.         Database stores are as a store to gove to your database stores are as out to save to your database stores and an annex.         Ontense database origin, or primetic	
		Taxis Toliar Cantal	

Instructions	Visual
Provide the FQDN of the license server. Click <b>Connect</b> to validate and retrieve any licenses from the server.	Full Deployment.       Studio     likening       Iterature     ext Insections       Iterature     ext Insections       Unming     Select a large       Leaned     Select a large       Deployment     Connection       Select a large     Out on rando t large       Deployment     Connection       Select a large     Out on rando t large       Deployment     Mainteen       Strengt     Out on rando t large       Age V Publishing     Out on rando t large       Science     Mainteen       Other Device     Mainteen
If no licenses are available, you can use the 30- day free trial or upload a license file.	Allocate and dimensional. Resource for specie file
Select the <b>Citrix XenDesktop Platinum</b> license radio button.	
Click <b>Next.</b>	
Select the Host Type of Microsoft System Center Virtual Machine Manager Enter the FQDN of the SCVMM server Enter the username (in domain\username format) for the SCVMM account. Provide the password for the SCVMM account. Provide a connection name Select the Other tools radio button since	Studio     Connection       Internation     Hunt type       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation       Internation     Internation
Provisioning Services will be used. Click <b>Next.</b>	

Instructions	Visual		
	+sil Deptoyment		
Click <b>Next</b> on the App-V Publishing dialog.	Studio     App: V Publishing          • Installant       • Installant		
Click <b>Finish</b> to complete the deployment.	Full Deployment	1	
	Immediation     Site name     Surdealings 7       Immediation     Database server     SORCharte-Aryanid local       Immediation     Database nerver     Obtaining 7       Immediation     Database nerver     SorCharte-Aryanid local       Immediation     Database nerver     Observer       Immediation     Database nerver     Other hand       Imme		
	Back Carver		

Instructions	Visual
When the deployment is complete, click the <b>Test Site</b> button.	CÎTRUX Full Deployment Actions PowerShell
All 177 tests should pass successfully.	Full Deployment Follow these steps to set up and deploy your virtual desktop infrastructure. Site Configuration
Click <b>Finish</b> .	1 Site configuration complete
	Catalogs Create Catalog Test Catalog
	Delivery Groups Create Delivery Group, Applications and Assign Users
	Studio
	Site configuration testing is complete.
	<ul> <li>177 successful tests</li> <li>0 warnings</li> <li>0 failed tests</li> </ul>
	Shovegaport

## 6.14.5. Additional XenDesktop Controller Configuration

After the first controller is completely configured and the Site is operational, additional controllers can be added. Also, all the installation steps configured in XenDesktop Controller Configuration section must be completed prior to beginning this section.

Instructions	Visual
	citrix
Click Scale out your deployment.	Welcome
	Welcome to Citrix Studio Use this console to configure a fresh deployment, create a new Site, or extend your existing deployment.
	Full deployment
	Get started! Create a Site Get started! Deploy applications and desktops for your organization. (Remote PC Access deployment can be added later)
	Remote PC Access deployment Provide secure remote access to physical PCs Build a deployment to allow users remote access to their physical PCs through a secure connection. (Full deployment can be added later)
	Extend  Scale out your deployment  Add the Delivery Controller installed on this server to an existing Site.
	Select Site
Enter the FQDN of the first delivery controller configured earlier.	Specify the address of a Delivery Controller in the Site you wish to join
	exc1.hv.pod.local
Click <b>OK.</b>	OK Cancel
Click <b>Vec</b> to allow the database to be undated	Studio
Click <b>Yes</b> to allow the database to be updated with this controller's information automatically.	Would you like Studio to update the database automatically?
	No

Instructions	Visual			
	CITRIX			
When complete, verify the site is functional by clicking <b>Test Site</b> .	Full Deployment         Actions         PowerShell           Full Deployment         Full Deployment         Fullow these steps to set up and deploy your virtual desktop infrastructure.			
	Site Configuration			
	Catalogs			
	2 Create Catalog			
	Defining Groups Create Delivery Group, Applications and Assign Users			
	Studio			
Click <b>Finish</b> to close the test results dialog.	Site configuration testing is complete.			
	✓ 177 successful tests			
	0 warnings     0 failed tests			
	Show report Finish			

6.14.6. Configure VM Hosting, Connections, and Resources Each of the individual Hyper-V hosts will need to be added to the XenDesktop configuration.

Instructions	Visual		
From the Citrix Studio expand the <b>Configuration</b> node. Select the <b>Hosting</b> node.	<ul> <li>Citrix Studio (XenDesktop7)</li> <li>Search</li> <li>Machine Catalogs</li> <li>Delivery Groups</li> <li>Policy</li> <li>Logging</li> <li>Configuration</li> <li>Administrators</li> <li>Controllers</li> <li>Hosting</li> <li>Licensing</li> <li>StoreFront</li> <li>App-V Publishing</li> </ul>		
From the right-side Action pane select the <b>Add</b> <b>Connection and Resources</b> link to start the Add Connection and Resources wizard.	CİTRİX         Attenni         Talan           Name         *         Type         Attenni         Talan           SCVMMT         Microsoft* System C		
Select the SCVMM server that the host has been registered with. Click <b>Next.</b>	Add Connection and Resources         Studio         * the an existing Connection Sconection         Sconection         Nonsection         Strates         Strates         Sconection         Strates         Strates         Sconection         Strates         Oter task		
	Reits Cerciel		

Instructions	Visual		
	Select a cluster		
Select the <b>host</b> to add.	Select a cluster		
Click <b>OK</b> .	Cancel		
Select the <b>networks</b> that will be available to the virtual machines. Since the XenDesktop Setup Wizard does not support the Nexus 1000V logical switch, both the standard switch network (Uplink1) and the logical network (VLAN-62-2) will be selected. Click <b>Next.</b>	Studio     Cluster       Select a state for the new virtual machines:     vid2-1       Verseners     Select one or more metacoles for the virtual machines to use:       Scorege     Verseners       Sammey     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Sammey     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Sammey     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners       Verseners     Verseners		
<b>Note</b> : The Uplink1 network is used only for the Virtual Machine creation through the Wizard.	Back Fund		

Instructions	Visual		
Select the location that reflects the share name created on the local SSD drives. Click <b>Next.</b>	Add Connection and Resources           Studio         Storage           Faint case or new storage devices for the new virtual mathines:           Connection           Fearmen           Serverge           Surverge		
<b>Note</b> : If the share name is not visible, create the share and then use Refresh in the SCVMM console on the host. Then restart the Add Connections and Resources wizard.	Personal VOIsk storage (Deddop OS only): Levin some @ Use anno storage tor initial machines and Petsonal vOisk @ Use afferent storage tor Personal aDak Ded (@ferent storage) (Preve setschell 		
Provide a Name for the resource connection that will appear in the Citrix Studio console. Click <b>Finish</b> .	Studio     Summary       Connection and Reported       Report Ofici states       Report Ofici states       Report Ofici states		
Repeat the Add Connections and Resources for each of the remaining hosts.			
When all hosts are added to the environment, right-click on the SCVMM server and choose <b>Edit Connection</b> from the context menu.	Little         Type         Attrends         Attrends		

Instructions	Visual		
Instructions Click Advanced . Set the Maximum Active Actions to 150. Set the Maximum new actions per minute to 60 (Recommended value: 10 * Number of Hosts). Set the Maximum power actions as percentage of desktops to 30.	Visual Studio Cerroscilos Propertios Automorpi	Edit Connection Advanced Use the following options only under the guidance of a C documentation Maximum active actions per minute: Maximum news actives per minute: Maximum prover actions as percentage of deattops Maximum Perconal vCisic power actions as percentage. Connection optimes:	itos Support representative or 195
Click <b>OK.</b>			K Centel Apply

#### 6.14.7. Installing and Configuring StoreFront

In this Cisco Validated Design, StoreFront is installed on a separate virtual machine from other XenDesktop components. Log into that virtual machine, and start the installation process from the Citrix XenDesktop 7 DVD. The installation wizard presents a menu with three topics.

To begin the installation of StoreFront, click on " <b>Get Started - Delivery Controller</b> ."	XenDesktop 7.0	XX		
	Get Starting		Ratered Disployment	
	Delivery Controller Start have, Select and install the Delivery Consider and other executinal anxions ble Learning Server and StoreFront.	Virtual Delivery Agent for Windows Server OS Vistaf the agent to deliver applications and delaktigs form server based Vids or physical machines.	Citrix Director	More hito
			Citrix License Server	More talo
			Citrix StareFront	More Into
		Volual Delivery Agent for Windows Deshtep OS caread be establish on this contribut spatem.		
			Citrix Studio	More tolk
			Universal Print Server	Moreanth
	Services and Support almo. Access product the uncertainty without formatings Control Access transingsy have arts	es, security bolicities, and triadishipooting guides		Connel

Read the Citrix License Agreement.	XenDesktop 7.0	Software License Agreement
If acceptable, indicate your acceptance of the license by selecting the <b>"I have read,</b> <b>understand, and accept the terms of the</b> <b>license agreement</b> " radio button. Click <b>Next.</b>	Licensing Agreement Core Components Features Firewall Summary Install Finish	<section-header><table-cell><page-header><text><text><text></text></text></text></page-header></table-cell></section-header>
		T do not accept the terms of the license agreement           Back         Ning         Cancel
Select <b>StoreFront</b> as the component to be installed. Click <b>Next</b> .	XenDesktop 7.0 Core Components Firevall Summary Install Finish	Core Components  To state and performance reasons, it is recommanded that Director and the Lience Server to the  the lience of the server is  the lience of the s
Select the default ports and automatically configured firewall rules. Click <b>Next.</b>	XenDesktop 7.0 Vienering Aprianiant Core Components Trevall Summary Install Finah	Forewall The default ports are listed below.

The Summary screen is shown. Click the <b>Install</b> button to begin the installation. The installer displays a message when the installation is complete.	KenDesktop 7.0 Core Components Core Components Summary Install Finish	Summary Review the prerequisites and confirm the components you want to install. Installation directory C:\Program Files\Citrix Core Components StoreFront Firewall TCP Ports: 80, 443
Verify that the checkbox to " <b>Open the</b> <b>StoreFront Management Console</b> " is enabled. Click <b>Finish.</b>	XenDesktop 7.0 <ul> <li>Learning Agreement</li> <li>Care Components</li> <li>Growall</li> <li>Sonmary</li> <li>Install</li> </ul> Finish	Eacl Cancel Eacl Cancel Finish installation The installation completed successfully. Core Components StoreFront Post Installe Post Install Post Install Component initialization Installed
		Open the StoreFront Management Console

		Citrix StoreFront	- • ×
	File Action View Help		
Citrix StoreFront stores aggregate desktops and	Citrie StoreFrunt	and the second se	Actions
		CITRIX	Citrix StoreFront.
applications from XenDesktop sites, XenApp		10700776 DV 07211 05 021	View •
farms, and AppController, making these		Welcome to StoreFront	Help
		Select an option below to create a new store of extend your exiting deployment	
resources readily available to users. Citrix			
StoreFront launches automatically after		Create a new deployment	
•		Set up a deployment to define well-service apps, data, and desktops to your users.	
installation from DVD, or if necessary, it can be			
launched manuallyClick on the "Create a new		Join existing server group	
		Add a server to an assiring load-belanced group.	
deployment" button.			
			12
			M

		Create New Deployment
Enter the <b>Base URL</b> to be used to access		
StoreFront services.	StoreFront	Create New Deployment
		Confirm the base URL for services hosted on this deployment. For multiple server deployments, specify the load-balanced URL for the server group.
	Base URL Store Name	
Click Next.	Delivery Controllers	Base URL: http://sfs1.hv.pod.loca
	Remote Access	
		Next
		Sector Sector
		Create Store
		Cruste Store
Enter a <b>Store Name</b> .	ShareFront	
Enter a <b>Store Name</b> .	StoreFront	Store Name
Enter a <b>Store Name</b> . Click <b>Next.</b>	StoreFront	Store Name Choose a name that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Citris Receiver as part
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	of Same URL Store Name	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;
	≪ Same UFE. Store Name Delvery Controllers	Shore Name Choose a same that helps uses identify the store. The store name appears in Cotix Receiver as pert of the user's account;









# 7. Desktop Delivery Infrastructure - Citrix

#### 7.1. Overview of desktop delivery

The advantage of using Citrix Provisioning Services (PVS) is that it allows VMs to be provisioned and reprovisioned in real-time from a single shared disk image called a virtual Disk (vDisk). By streaming a vDisk rather than copying images to individual machines, PVS allows organizations to manage a small number of disk images even when the number of VMs grows, providing the benefits of centralized management, distributed processing, and efficient use of storage capacity.

In most implementations, a single vDisk provides a standardized image to multiple target devices. Multiple PVS servers in the same farm can stream the same vDisk image to thousands of target devices. Virtual desktop environments can be customized through the use of write caches and by personalizing user settings though Citrix User Profile Management. This section describes the installation and configuration tasks required to create standardized master vDisk images using PVS. This section also discusses write cache sizing and placement considerations, and how policies in Citrix User Profile Management can be configured to further personalize user desktops.

## 7.1.1. PVS vDisk Image Management

After installing and configuring PVS components, a vDisk is created from a device's hard drive by taking a snapshot of the OS and application image, and then storing that image as a vDisk file on the network. vDisks can exist on a Provisioning Server, file share, or in larger deployments (as in this Cisco Validated Design), on a storage system with which the Provisioning Server can communicate (through iSCSI, SAN, NAS, and CIFS). A PVS server can access many stored vDisks, and each vDisk can be several gigabytes in size. For this solution, the vDisk was stored on a SMB3/CIFS share located on the EMC storage.

vDisks can be assigned to a single target device in Private Image Mode, or to multiple target devices in Standard Image Mode. In Standard Image mode, the vDisk is read-only, which means that multiple target devices can stream from a single vDisk image simultaneously. Standard Image mode reduces the complexity of vDisk management and the amount of storage required since images are shared. In contrast, when a vDisk is configured to use Private Image Mode, the vDisk is read/write and only one target device can access the vDisk at a time.

When a vDisk is configured in Standard Image mode, each time a target device boots, it always boots from a "clean" vDisk image. Each target device then maintains a write cache to store any writes that the operating system needs to make, such as the installation of user-specific data or applications.

### 7.1.2. Overview – Golden Image Creation

For this Cisco Validated Design, PVS supplies these master or golden vDisk images to the target devices:

vDisk Name	Server location	Description
HSDGold	Virtual – INFRA-1	The PVS golden image of Microsoft Windows Server 2012 for Hosted Shared Desktops.
XDGold	Virtual – INFRA-1	The PVS golden image of Microsoft Windows 7 SP1 for Hosted Virtual Desktops.

#### Table 13: Golden Image Descriptions

To build the vDisk images, OS images of Microsoft Windows 7 SP1 and Windows Server 2012 were initially installed, along with some additional software, and prepared as standard virtual machines on Microsoft Hyper-V 2012. These master OS images were then converted into a separate Citrix PVS vDisk files. During testing, Citrix PVS and the XenDesktop Delivery Controllers use the golden vDisk images to instantiate new desktop virtual machines on multiple Hyper-V targets.

In this Cisco Validated Design, virtual machines for the hosted shared and hosted virtual desktops were created using the XenDesktop Setup Wizard along with System Center Virtual Machine Manager 2012 PowerShell scripting. The XenDesktop Setup Wizard (XDSW) does the following:

1. Creates VMs on a XenDesktop hosted hypervisor server from an existing template.

- 2. Creates PVS target devices for each new VM within a new or existing collection matching the XenDesktop catalog name.
- 3. Assigns a Standard Image vDisk to VMs within the collection. Each virtual desktop is assigned a "Write Cache" (differencing disk) where any delta changes (writes) to the default image are recorded and is used by the virtual Windows operating system throughout its working life cycle. The Write Cache is written to a dedicated virtual hard disk created by thin provisioning and attached to each new virtual desktop using PowerShell scripts.
- 4. Adds virtual desktops to a XenDesktop Machine Catalog.

Virtual desktops were optimized according to best practices for performance. (In the steps later in this section, the "Optimize performance" checkbox was selected during the installation of the VDA, and the "Optimize for Provisioning Services" checkbox was selected during the PVS image creation process using the PVS Imaging Wizard.)

### 7.2. Installing the XenDesktop 7 Virtual Desktop Agent

Installed on the server and workstation operating systems, Virtual Delivery Agents (VDAs) enable connections for desktops and apps. The following procedure was used to install VDAs for both OS environments.

By default, when you install the Virtual Delivery Agent, Citrix User Profile Management 5.0 is installed silently on master images. (Using profile management as a profile solution is optional but was used for this Cisco Validated Design, and is described in a later section.)

Instructions	Visual
Insert the XenDesktop ISO and let AutoRun launch the installer. Click <b>Start</b> on the Welcome Screen.	XenDesktop 7.0 The Avalon Platform Deliver applications and desktops to any user, anywhere, on any device. • Restlet application and desktop deliver( • Centralized management and vecurity • Optimized for deployments of any size

	XenDesklop 7.0			
To install the VDA for the Hosted VDI Desktops, select <b>Virtual Delivery Agent for Windows</b> <b>Desktop OS</b> . (After the VDA is installed for Hosted VDI Desktops, repeat the procedure to install the VDA for Hosted Shared Desktops. In this case, select <b>Virtual Delivery Agent for</b> <b>Windows Server OS</b> and follow the same basic steps.)	Get Series Densem Controller Convert te entrollen of the operator extent	Versus Delivery Agent for Windows Versus Delivery Agent for Windows United Delivery Agent for Windows Delivery Agent for Windows Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Agent for Windows Order Delivery Of the order agent for the set of the	Extend Deployment Crisis Director Incorporating Cit. Citris Licenses Server Citris Standorom Incorporating Cit. Citris Standor Licensesting Cit.	
Select "Users to be able to connect to desktop machines I create from this master image". Click Next.	XenDesktop 7.0 Exelement HDI 3D Pre Exe Component Demay Controller Patares Patares Patares Hannal Sumany Hatal Foot	Environment  Configuration  I wart  Busine to be able to connect to desite provide the busine the optical flow optical flow the busine transport of the use Machine Creations  Configuration to be able to connect to an easting deal busine the optical flow the busine transport of the second optical flow  Configuration to be able to connect to an easting deal busine the optical flow the busine transport of the second optical flow  Configuration  Configurat	Services to Provisioning Services 1 top machine for Remote PC Acce Agent with other a physical mail	
Select " <b>No, install the standard VDA".</b> Click <b>Next.</b>	XenDesktop 7.0 Contention KKX 3D Pro Cont Components Delivery Controlie Pastares Piseal Summary Install Fresh	HEXI 3D Pro HEXI 3D Pro optimizant the performance of graphics- install the Visional Indiana Agent (VDA) for HD And the Visional Indiana VDA Encountermented for much dealings, escaling the Deconversented for much dealings, escaling of the install the VDA for HDX 3D Pro Encountermented if the vision of access a pro-	8 3D Prof ture evalued with Minstern Farm	ziel%

Select Citrix Receiver. Note: the Citrix Receiver was not installed in the virtual desktops for the Cisco Validated Design testing. Click Next.	XenDeuktop 7.0 Consensation	Core Components
Select " <b>Do it manually"</b> and specify the location of your Delivery Controllers (in this case exc1.hv.pod.local and exc2.hv.pod.local). Click <b>Next.</b>	KenDesktop 7.0 * Erwinnment * HDX 30 Pro * Core Components Delivery Controller Patres Rensalt Summary Install Finish	Delivery Controller         Configuration         Have do you reart to enter the locations of your Delivery Controllers?         Delit manually         Beit the pod local         Beiter controller domains con         Their consections         Add         Det entroller domains con         Det entroller domains con         Det entroller domains         Det entroller domains <tr< th=""></tr<>
Select the default features. Click <b>Next</b> .	XenDesktop 7,0 * Encourse * KOC 10 No * Con Composed * Con Composed * Control * Co	Partners         Partners         Openang performance



Repeat the procedure so that VDAs are installed for both the Hosted VDI Desktops (using the Windows 7 OS image) and the Hosted Shared Desktops (using the Windows Server 2012 image).

#### 7.3. Citrix User Profile Management Servers – CITRIX

Profile management from Citrix provides an easy, reliable, and high-performance way to manage user personalization settings in virtualized or physical Windows environments. It requires minimal infrastructure and administration, and provides users with fast logons and logoffs. A Windows user profile is a collection of folders, files, registry settings, and configuration settings that define the environment for a user who logs on with a particular user account. These settings may be customizable by the user, depending on the administrative configuration. Examples of settings that can be customized are:

- Desktop settings such as wallpaper and screen saver
- Shortcuts and Start menu setting
- Internet Explorer Favorites and Home Page
- Microsoft Outlook signature
- Printers

Some user settings and data can be redirected by means of folder redirection. However, if folder redirection is not used these settings are stored within the user profile.

#### 7.3.1. Install and Configuration of User Profile Manager

The first stage in planning a profile management deployment is to decide on a set of policy settings that together form a suitable configuration for your environment and users. The automatic configuration feature simplifies some of this decision-making for XenDesktop deployments. Screenshots of the User Profile Management interfaces that establish policies are shown below. Basic profile management policy settings are documented here: <a href="http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/xendesktop-7/cds-policies-rules-pm-basic-settings.html">http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/xendesktop-7/cds-policies-rules-pm-basic-settings.html</a>.

Setting Name	Setting Value
Auto connect Client Drives	Disabled
Auto-create Client printers	Do not auto-create client printers
Client drive redirection	Prohibited
Client printer redirection	Prohibited
Concurrent logons tolerance	4
CPU usage	Disabled
CPU usage excluded process priority	Disabled
Flash acceleration	Disabled
Flash default behavior	Disable Flash acceleration
Memory usage	Disabled
Memory usage base load	Disabled

Several XenDesktop Policy settings were required for the LoginVSI test. These policy settings were configured based on the table (and screenshot) below and were assigned to all domain users.

#### Figure 16: XenDesktop Policy



Separate XenDesktop policies were used for the Hosted Shared Desktops and the Hosted Virtual Desktops because the location of the user profiles was different. The policies are outlined below and were assigned to the appropriate delivery group.

Hosted Shared Desktop Users:

Setting Name	Setting Value
Active write back	Enabled
Always cache	Enabled
Always cache size	0
Delete locally cached profiles on logoff	Enabled
Enable Profile management	Enabled
Path to user store	<pre>\\cifsserver2.hv.pod.local\UserProfile\RDS2012\#SAMAccountName#</pre>
Process logons of local administrators	Disabled
Profile streaming	Enabled

**Note**: If building the 1000-user configuration, you will need to create a second policy with a different path to the user store on the other storage controller and assign it to another delivery group to split the traffic across the two CIFS shares.
#### Figure 17: RDS User Profile Manager Policy

	Overview Settings Assigned to	
1 Unfiltered	Active write back	
2 Testing	Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)	
3 UPM RDS Policy	Always cache     Computer setting	
UPM VDI Policy	Enabled (Default: Disabled)	
	Always cache size Computer setting 0 (Default: 0)	
	<ul> <li>Delete locally cached profiles on logoff</li> <li>Computer setting</li> <li>Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Enable Profile management Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Path to user store Computer setting \\cifsserver2.hv.pod.local\UserProfile\RDS2012 \#SAMAccountName# (Default: Windows)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Process logons of local administrators</li> <li>Computer setting</li> <li>Disabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Profile streaming Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	

#### Hosted Virtual Desktops:

Setting Name	Setting Value
Active write back	Enabled
Always cache	Enabled
Always cache size	0
Delete locally cached profiles on logoff	Enabled
Enable Profile management	Enabled
Path to user store	<pre>\\cifsserver2.hv.pod.local\UserProfile\VDIUPM\#SAMAccountNa me#</pre>
Process logons of local administrators	Enabled
Profile streaming	Enabled

**Note**: If building the 1000-user configuration, you will need to create a second policy with a different path to the user store on the other storage controller and assign it to another delivery group to split the traffic across the two CIFS shares.

#### Figure 18: VDI User Profile Manager Policy

Policies	UPM VDI Policy	
1 Unfiltered	Overview Settings Assigned to	
2 Testing	Active write back     Computer setting     Enabled (Default: Disabled)	
3 UPM RDS Policy	Always cache     Computer setting     Enabled (Default: Disabled)	
4 UPM VDI Policy		
	<ul> <li>Always cache size</li> <li>Computer setting</li> <li>0 (Default: 0)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Delete locally cached profiles on logoff</li> <li>Computer setting</li> <li>Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Enable Profile management Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Path to user store Computer setting \\cifsserver2.hv.pod.local\UserProfile\VDIUPM \#SAMAccountName# (Default: Windows)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Process logons of local administrators Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Profile streaming Computer setting Enabled (Default: Disabled)</li> </ul>	

#### 7.4. Microsoft Windows 7 and Windows Server 2012 Golden Image Creation

This section provides the guidance around creating the golden, or master images, for the environment. In this case, the images only had the basics added as necessary to run the Login VSI medium workload.

#### 7.4.1. Microsoft Windows 7 and Windows Server 2012 OS Configurations

The master VMs for the Hosted Virtual Desktops and Hosted Shared Desktops were configured as follows:

vDisk Feature	Hosted Virtual Desktops	Hosted Shared Desktops
Virtual CPUs	1 vCPU	6 vCPUs
<b>Dynamic RAM</b>	Startup/Minimum 1.5 GB;	Startup/Minimum 20 GB,
	Maximum to 4 GB	Maximum to 32 GB
vDisk size	17 GB	40 GB
Virtual NICs	2 virtual NICs—one "legacy" NIC for PXE boot and one "synthetic" NIC for OS operation once the VM has booted	Same (2 virtual NICs)

Table 14: OS Configurations

vDisk OS	Microsoft Windows 7 Enterprise (x86)	Microsoft Windows Server 2012
Additional software	Microsoft Office 2010	Microsoft Office 2010
Test workload	Login VSI "medium" workload (knowledge worker)	Login VSI "medium" workload (knowledge worker)

The software installed on each image before cloning the vDisk included:

- Citrix Provisioning Server Target Device (32-bit used for HVD and 64-bit used for HSD)
- Microsoft Office Enterprise 2010
- Internet Explorer 8.0.7600.16385 (HVD only; Internet Explorer 10 is included with Windows Server 2012 by default)
- Adobe Reader 9.1.0
- Adobe Flash Player 10.0.22

### 7.4.2. Installing the PVS Target Device Software

A Master Target Device refers to a target device from which a hard disk image is built and stored on a vDisk. Provisioning Services then streams the contents of the vDisk created from the Master Target Device to other target devices. Follow this procedure to install the PVS Target Device x64 software.

Instructions	Visual
Insert the Provisioning Services ISO and let AutoRun launch the installer. Click <b>Target Device Installation</b> .	CITRIX: Provisioning Services XXX
	Install the Console.

Instructions	Visual
Click <b>Target Device Installation</b> . The installation wizard will check to resolve dependencies and then begin the PVS target device installation process.	CORRECT
The Welcome page appears.	Citrix Provisioning Services Target Device x64
Click <b>Next</b> .	Citrix Provisioning Services Target Device x64 Setup is preparing the Installation Wizard which will guide you through the program setup process. Please wait. Computing space requirements
	<back next=""> Cancel</back>

Instructions	Visual
Select the <b>Destination Folder</b> for the PVS Target Device program and click <b>Next</b> . Confirm the Installation settings and Click <b>Install</b> .	Citrix Provisioning Services Target Device x64  Ready to Install the Program The wizard is ready to begin installation. Click Install to begin the installation. If you want to review or change any of your installation settings, dick Back. Click Cancel to exit the wizard. InstallShield <a href="https://www.action.com">kitrix Cancel</a>
A confirmation screen appears indicating that the installation completed successfully. Click the checkbox to launch the <b>Imaging</b> <b>Wizard</b> and click <b>Finish</b> .	Citrix Provisioning Services Target Device x64  Installation Wizard Completed  The Installation Wizard has successfully installed Citrix Provisioning Services Target Device x64. Click Finish to exit the wizard.  Launch Imaging Wizard
	< Back Finish Cancel

## 7.4.3. Running the PVS Imaging Wizard

 $The \ Imaging \ Wizard \ automatically \ creates \ the \ base \ vDisk \ image \ from \ a \ master \ target \ device.$ 

Instructions	Visual
	F Provisioning Services Imaging Wizard
The Imaging Wizard's Welcome page appears. Click <b>Next</b> .	CITRE, C Welcome to the Imaging Wizard The Insign Wizard automates the process of imaging one or more hard drives to a widard Wizard automates the process of imaging one or more hard drives to a widard Wizard automates the Provisioning Services Advantation's Guide
The <b>Connect to Farm</b> page appears. Enter the name or IP address of a Provisioning Server within the farm to connect to and the port to use to make that connection. (For this Cisco Validated Design, the server name entered was PVS1.) Use the Windows credentials (default), or enter different credentials, then click Next. If using Active Directory, enter the appropriate password information. Click <b>Next</b> .	Connect to Fam   Enter the name or address of a server in the farm to connect to.     Server #formation   Server #formation   Verdentials   Use my Windows credentials   Use these credentials   Use these credentials     Server:     Pressed     Redk:     Next

Instructions	Visual
Select <b>Create new vDisk</b> . Click <b>Next</b> .	
The <b>New vDisk</b> dialog displays. Enter the name of the vDisk, such as XDGold for the Hosted VDI Desktop vDisk (Windows 7 OS image) and HSDGold for the Hosted Shared Desktop vDisk (Windows Server 2012 image). Select the <b>Store</b> where this vDisk will reside. Select the <b>vDisk</b> <b>type</b> , either Fixed or Dynamic, from the drop- down menu. (This Cisco Validated Design used a Fixed rather than Dynamic vDisk.) Click <b>Next</b> .	Provisioning Services Imaging Wizard      New vDak      State the details for the new vDisk.      vDak mana      Sione       Sione      Si
From the <b>Microsoft Volume Licensing</b> page, select the volume license option to use for target devices. For this Cisco Validated Design, volume licensing is not used, so the None button is selected. Click <b>Next</b> .	Provisioning Services Imaging Wizard  Mcrosoft Volume Licensing Choose if the vDisk is to be configured for Microsoft KMS or MAK volume license management.      None     Key Management Service (KMS)     Multiple Activation Key (MAK)      (Back Ned > Cancel

Instructions	Visual
Define volume sizes on the <b>Configure Image</b> <b>Volumes</b> page. Click <b>Next</b> .	Source Volume     Used Space     Free Space     Capacity     File System       1     C: Boot     v     14724 MB     48 %     15643 MB     52 %     30367 MB     NTFS       2     None     v     4     None     v     4     15643 MB     52 %     30367 MB     NTFS       2     None     v     48 %     15643 MB     52 %     30367 MB     NTFS       2     None     v     48 %     15643 (-) (-) (-) (-) (-) (-) (-) (-) (-) (-)
The <b>Add Target Device</b> page appears. Select the <b>Target Device Name</b> , the <b>MAC</b> address associated with one of the NICs that was selected when the target device software was installed on the master target device, and the <b>Collection</b> to which you are adding the device. Click <b>Next</b> .	Add Target Device Add Target Device Add Target Device In Add This device to the fam. Target device name Wei2012_HSDGidd Note: The target device name tarved the the same Advice Devicey name of the modified MAC: Local Area Connection 50-15-50-40-42-53 v Collector: Collector In the Site and server: PVS1 (Eack Text 2 Carcel)
A <b>Summary of Farm Changes</b> appears. Select <b>Optimize for Provisioning Services</b> .	Provisioning Services Imaging Wizard           Summary of Fam Changes           This page summarizes the changes to the farm.           The Wizard has enough information to create a new vDisk and add it to the farm.           Please review the information below and click Finish to create the vDisk.           Image: HSDvDisk           Store: Store           Store: Store           Volume: C: 14724 MB used, 5120 MB free, 19844 MB capacity, NTFS system           Marcsoft Volume Unable           Device name (Wr.2012, LHSDGold           MAC: 00-15-50-00-42-03           Coldection: Collection           Optimize for Provisioning Services



Repeat the procedure to create vDisks for both the Hosted VDI Desktops (using the Windows 7 OS image) and the Hosted Shared Desktops (using the Windows Server 2012 image).

### 7.4.4. Installation of Login VSI Software

Tests were performed using Login VSI 3.7 (<u>http://www.loginvsi.com</u>), a load generation tool for VDI benchmarking that simulates production user workloads to generate desktop workloads and gather data about VDI performance. All tests were done using the default Medium workload to simulate the desktop activity of a typical knowledge worker. Login VSI generates an office productivity workload that includes Microsoft Office 2010 with Microsoft Outlook, Word, PowerPoint, and Excel, Internet Explorer with a Flash video applet, Java app, and Adobe<sup>®</sup> Acrobat<sup>®</sup> Reader. All applications are included for testing with the Login VSI software distribution except for Microsoft Office, which must be installed separately in the OS images.

#### We used standard Login VSI installation instructions

(<u>http://www.loginvsi.com/documentation/v3/installation</u>) and best practices in preparing the master images.

Follow these installation procedures to install the software:

- 1. <u>Download</u> the Login VSI archive file (VSI37.exe).
- 2. Unpack the Login VSI archive file. This file contains:
  - AD Setup
  - Target Setup
  - Launcher Setup
  - Analyzer Setup
- 3. <u>Configure the Active Directory with the AD Setup</u>.
- 4. Configure a File Share (VSIshare) for logging.
- 5. Prepare the launcher workstations with the Launcher Setup.
- 6. <u>Prepare the target platform with the Target Setup</u>.
- 7. Install the analyzer with the Analyzer Setup.

#### 7.4.5. Optimization for PVS and XenDesktop 7

In the process of running the PVS Imaging Wizard, the PVS Optimization Tool appears. Be sure to select the default optimizations.

#### Figure 19: XenDesktop Optimizations



The Virtual Desktop Agent also includes default optimizations during installation. When this feature is enabled, the optimization tool is used for VDAs running in a VM on a hypervisor. VM optimization includes disabling offline files, disabling background defragmentation, and reducing event log size. For more information, see <u>CTX125874</u>.

XenDesktop 7.0	Peatures
( Daissoners)	🖂 - Feature Select all
P HDC10 His P Com Caregorietts	Optimize performance Dynamic destrop retrings laten name
Features	One Windows Remote Assistance Franks Windows Remote Assistance and open TDP port FIRM Lagrandows
Firewall Summary	Class Band-Terrer Auditor Transport for Audion Union LIDP parts 18500 - 18500 - 18500 Lawrer Prices
Install Finat:	Personal vOok     Coable Personal Liber for the Winaul Delivery Agent Lawrance

## 7.4.6. Conversion to PVS vDisk

After installing and configuring PVS components, a vDisk is created from a device's hard drive by taking a snapshot of the OS and application image, and then storing that image as a vDisk file on the network. vDisks can exist on a Provisioning Server, file share, or in larger deployments (as in this Cisco Validated Design), on a storage system with which the Provisioning Server can communicate (through iSCSI, SAN, NAS, and CIFS). vDisks can be assigned to a single target device in Private Image Mode, or to multiple target devices in Standard Image Mode.

## 7.4.7. Write-Cache Drive Sizing and Placement

When considering a PVS deployment, there are some design decisions that need to be made regarding the write cache for the virtual desktop devices that leverage provisioning services. The write cache is a cache of all data that the target device has written. If data is written to the PVS vDisk in a caching mode, the data is not written back to the base vDisk. Instead it is written to a write cache file.

**Note**: It is important to consider Write Cache sizing and placement when scaling virtual desktops using PVS server.

There are several options as to where the Write Cache can be placed, such as on the PVS server, in hypervisor RAM, or on a device local disk (this is usually an additional vDisk for VDI instances). For this study, we used PVS 7 to manage desktops with write cache placed on the device local disk of each virtual machine, which allows the design to scale more effectively. For optimal performance, write cache files were stored on SSDs located each of the virtual desktop host servers.

For Citrix PVS pooled desktops, write cache size needs to be calculated based on how often the user reboots the desktop and type of applications used. We recommend using a write cache twice the size of RAM allocated to each individual VM. For example, if VM is allocated with 1.5GB RAM, use at least a 3GB write cache vDisk for each VM.

For this solution, 6GB virtual disks were assigned to the Windows 7-based virtual machines used in the desktop creation process. The PVS Target device agent installed in the Windows 7 gold image automatically places the Windows swap file on the same drive used by the PVS Write Cache when this mode is enabled. 50GB write cache virtual disks were used for the Server 2012 desktop machines.

### 7.5. Citrix Provisioning Services

## 7.5.1. Creating the Virtual Machine Manager Templates

This section outlines the process for creating a template in System Center Virtual Machine Manager for both the hosted shared desktop and the hosted virtual desktop virtual machines. The template is required for the XenDesktop Setup Wizard.

Before creating the Virtual Machine Manager template, first clone the existing Virtual Machines (Hosted Shared Desktop and Hosted Virtual Desktop) because the template creation process destroys the source virtual machine.

Instructions	Visual	
Launch the System Center Virtual Machine		
Manager console.		
Select the Library tab.	WMs and Services	
	📔 Fabric	
	🗮 Library	
	Jobs	
	Settings	

Instructions	Visual
Select the VM Templates node and right-click. From the context menu, choose Create VM Template.	Library          Image: Templates       Service Deployment Configurations         Service Templates       VM Templates         VM Templates       Create VM Template         Image: P       Cloud Libraries         Image: Self Service User Content       Secontent         Image: Secontent       Secontent         <
Select the previously created template Virtual machine. Click <b>Next.</b>	Create VM Template Wixard     Select Source     Select Source

Instructions	Visual
Click <b>Yes</b> to acknowledge your existing template will be generalized. <b>Note</b> : This is why a copy was made prior to creating the template. In the end, the disk itself will be replaced with a PVS write-cache VHDX.	Virtual Machine Manager      Creating a template will destroy the source virtual machine XDGoldv2. The virtual hard disks of the virtual machine will be generalized to create the new template and any user data on the virtual machine may be lost. To prevent this, you can create a clone of XDGoldv2 before using it to create a template.      Do you want to continue?      Yes No
Provide a template name. Click <b>Next.</b>	Create WM Template Wizard:       Statution         Statut Status       W. Template Identity         Statut Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement         Status       Decement

Instructions	Visual
	tal Create VM Template Wizard
	Configure Hardware
From the Configure Hardware tab click <b>Next.</b>	Select Solice Configure hardware for the virtual machine. You can import settings from a tradware profile or save a new profile based on your settings.
The actual configuration will be adjusted to match later.	Configure Handware     Hostower public     Deckade room over hardware configuration ortrog     w       Landgare Downling Rystee     Important over the future over configuration ortrog     w       Linkson Date     Deckade room over the future over configuration ortrog     w       Linkson Date     Deckade room over the future over configuration ortrog     w       Linkson Date     Deckade room over the future over configuration ortrog     w       Deckade Park     Deckade room over the future over configuration ortrog     w       Deckade Park     Deckade Park     Texperiment       Webbe Adapter     Webbe Adapter     W       Webbe Adapter     Decked Adapter     Texperiment in Pro-       Webbe Adapter     Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter       Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter       Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter       Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter     Decked Adapter
From the Configure Operating System tab, click <b>Next.</b>	Select Source     Configure Operating System       Select Source     With Template Identity, network: settings, and Societs for the new virtual machine. You can import settings from a quest OS profile or save a new profile based on your settings.       Enridgen Reented System     General Section 1       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition a quest OS profile or save a new profile based on your settings.       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition a quest OS profile or save a new profile based on your settings.       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition a quest OS profile or save a new profile based on your settings.       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition a quest OS profile or save a new profile based on your settings.       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition and the visual nucleure.       Second Manage System     Import Settings Transition and Transition
	Presse Texa

Instructions	Visual	
	G.	Create VM Template Wizard
From the Select Library Server, click <b>Next</b>	Select Libra	ry Server
	Select Source VM Tampials Identity	Select a library server for the virtual machine.
	Configure Hardmone Configure Operating System Select Classic Service Factor (Factor Sciences)	Sea () () () () () () () () () () () () ()
		Ir Hole Details Parting Explanation ① Stonge-Area Nationals (SAN)Explanation ① This distinuition moves all of the explanaments of their vertical machine.
		Prevort New Carcel
Provide the Virtual Machine path to store in the VMM library.	Select Path Select Seace Will anglate Identity Configuer Hashnoon	Select the share location to save this virtual machine to.
Click Next.	Configure Operating System Select Caloury Server Select Path Summery	Vitual nachen path VSCNM1 in post brokMSSDMH4,80540+ I Tarster northe relisant avail # a SAV handle is available:
		Previoue: Mand Concer

Instructions	Visual	
	<b>a</b>	Create VM: Template Wizard
From the Community had aligh <b>C</b> reate to finish	Summary	
From the Summary tab, click <b>Create</b> to finish the creation process for the VMM template.	VM Tergener Bedonen Gundgener Bedonen Gundgener Bedonen Sisters Fluh Gunden	a particular the taxion Vilut formglade, review the settings that you abase Value the HSD Templete at ParVM template size Courter. You can tack the propose of the physical back settingues In the VM template size Courter. You can tack the propose of the physical back settingues
	Libeary	s   Templates (3)
From the VM Templates node, right-click on the newly created template. Choose <b>Properties</b> from the context menu.	Templetes     Service Deployment Configurations     Service Templates     VM Templates     VM Templates     VM Templates     Churd Libraries     Churd Libraries     Self Service User Content     Server     Self Service User Content     Server     Self Service User Content     Server     Server     Server     Server     Server     Server	Nexus 1000V-VSM-Template HSD Template KenDesktop Win7 Template Create Vitual Machine Create Vitual Machine Create Vitual Machine Create Vitual Machine Espon Create Vitual Machine Espon Delate Properties

Instructions	Visual
	HSD Template Properties
Select the Hardware Configuration tab. Verify the Processor and Memory configurations. <u>Hosted Shared Desktops</u> : 6 vCPU with 20GB Static Memory or Dynamic Memory 20Gb minimum and startup with 32 GB maximum.	General       Isoc As: None bit < 500 Adapter DVD        Tobussis AdapterDVD        Tobussis AdapterDVD
<u>Hosted Virtual Desktops</u> : 1 vCPu with Dynamic Memory 1.5GB minimum and startup with 4GB maximum.	Wee Simpt         Oc         Cannot be an an an an an an an an an an an an an
	kal HSD Temptale Properties
Set the Network Adapter and Legacy Network Adapter to use the Cisco Nexus 1000V VM Network and the Port Profile created earlier.	General       Sect.A. New _ Dix  C EStAdaster () Div  Notwork Adapter () Person         Institueur Configuration       Comparison         Custom Properties       Sectory         Setting:       But Configuration         Dependencies       Network Adapter () Properties         Weidstein Errore       Access         Access       Network Adapter () Properties         Dependencies       Network Adapter () Properties         Weidstein Errore       Network Adapter () Properties         Access       Network Adapter () Properties         Dependencies       Network Adapter () Properties         Weidstein Errore       Network Adapter () Properties         Dependencies       Network Adapter () Properties         Memory Morphale       Network Adapter () Properties         Dependencies       Network Adapter () Properties         Memory Morphale       Network Adapter () Properties         Biology       Network Adapter () Properties         Dependencies       Properties         Memory Morphale       Properties         Memory Merget       Network Adapter () Properties         District Properties       Properties         District Properties       Properties         District Properise       Properties

Instructions	Visual
Select the BIOS setting and configure PXE Boot to be at the top of the list. <b>Note</b> : The XenDesktop wizard will actually move CD to the top, but this step ensures that PXE Boot is no longer at the bottom of the list. Click <b>OK</b> to save the template changes.	Hor Template Properties       General     Dave do Nees:
Repeat the template process for the Hosted Virtual Desktop template.	

## 7.5.2. Process to Create Virtual Desktops using PVS Wizard

Using the Provisioning Services XenDesktop Setup Wizard provides an automated way to create the virtual machines, but it does not currently support the Nexus 1000V logical switch for networking or enable dynamic memory, so after creating the virtual machines a PowerShell script will need to be run to update the virtual machines to use the Nexus 1000V logical switch. The XenDesktop wizard can make the virtual machines as long as the network cards are on a Microsoft Virtual Switch instead of the Nexus 1000V. Then the PowerShell script found in section 13.4.1, Update Virtual Machines created by XenDesktop Wizard of the Sample PowerShell Scripts section, an be used to move the VMs to the Cisco Nexus 1000V networks.

**Note**: A hotfix that supports the Nexus 1000V switch may be available for the PVS XenDesktop Wizard. If so, the use of the Microsoft Standard switch is not necessary and the Cisco Nexus 1000V networks will work.

Instructions	Visual		
	🞇 Provisioning Serv	vices Console	Name
	⊿ 🏭 Farm (pvs1.h	v.pod.local)	/ Servers
Start the XenDesktop Wizard from the	⊿ 😃 Sites		🕡 vDisk Pool
Provisioning Services Console.	⊿ 🚺 Site		a and a second s
		Properties	
		Rebalance Devices	
Right-click on the <b>Site.</b>		Set Max Transmissio	n Unit
		Import Devices	
Choose <b>XenDesktop Setup Wizard</b> from the context menu.		Audit Trail	
		XenDesktop Setup W	
	E.	Streamed VM Setup Auto-Add Wizard	wizard
	▷ 1 View: ▷ 1 View: ▷ 1 View:	View	
	p P Store	New Window from H	P Hara
		Delete	
		Refresh	
		Export List	
		Help	
		Thep	
		XenDesktop Setup	×
From the opening dialog, click <b>Next</b> .	<b>CITRIX</b>	Welcome to XenI	Desktop
		This setup allows you to crea Provisioning Services device name of the Catalog, assign a add virtual desktops to a Xen	s in a Collection that matches the a standard mode virtual disk, and
		Requirements: * XenDesktop Controller with * Configured XenDesktop Ho * A standard-mode vDisk for t	
		< Back	Next > Cancel

Instructions	Visual
Enter the XenDesktop Controller <b>address</b> that will be used for the wizard operations. Click <b>Next.</b>	XenDesktop Setup       XenDesktop Controller         Enter the address of the XenDesktop Controller you want to configure.       Image: Controller address:         XenDesktop Controller address:       Image: Controller address:         Image: Controller address       Image: Controller address         Image: Controler address       Image: Controller
Select the Hyper-V <b>host</b> where the virtual machines will be created. Click <b>Next</b> .	XenDesktop Host Resources         Select the XenDesktop Host Resources you want to use:         XenDesktop Host Resources         VDI1-2         VDI1-3         VDI2-2         VDI2-3         VDI2-4
Provide the Authentication credentials ( <b>username</b> and <b>password</b> ) to the XenDesktop controller when prompted. Click <b>OK.</b>	XenDesktop Host Resources Credentials         Enter your credentials for the XenDesktop Host Resources.         Usemame:       hv\Administrator         Password:       ••••••••         OK       Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the Hosted Shared Desktop template ( <b>HSD Template</b> ) created earlier.	Template Select the Template you want to use:
( <b>isb reinplace</b> ) created carlier.	Select a template for the XenDesktop Host Resources.
Click <b>Next.</b>	Virtual Machine Template HSD Template Nexus1000V-VSM-Template XenDesktop Win7 Template
	The template is built using Windows XP or Vista (You should also select this option if the template is running Windows 7 with VDA 5.6)
	< Back Next > Cancel
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the standard VM network switch, not the Nexus 1000V logical network*.	XenDesktop Host Resources Network Select the network for Provisioning Services streaming:
	Network XDHyp:\Connections\SCVMM1\vdi2-1.host\Uplink1.network
<b>Note</b> : Selecting the Nexus 1000V network will	
result in a failed deployment. The correct logical switch will be updated later using PowerShell script.	XDHyp:\Connections\SCVMM1\vdi2-1.host\VLAN-62-2.network
result in a failed deployment. The correct logical switch will be updated later using	
result in a failed deployment. The correct logical switch will be updated later using PowerShell script.	

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the vDisk that will be used to stream to the virtual machine.	vDisk         Select an existing standard-mode vDisk.
	Standard-mode vDisk:
Click Next.	vDisk Store\HSDvDisk - CDFMonitor vDisk Store\Win7-32bit vDisk Store\Win7-32bit - Copy
	< Back Next > Cancel
	XenDesktop Setup
Select an existing <b>catalog</b> or choose to create a new catalog.	Catalog Select your Catalog preferences.
Select an existing <b>catalog</b> or choose to create a new catalog.	
	Select your Catalog preferences.
new catalog. <b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the	Select your Catalog preferences.
new catalog.	Select your Catalog preferences.
new catalog. <b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the	Select your Catalog preferences.         O         Create a new catalog         Image: Use an existing catalog         Catalog name: RDS 2012 Machines         Description: RDS 2012 Machines for Hosted Shared Desktops         Machine type: Windows Server OS (Virtual)         Allocation type: Random
new catalog. <b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the collection name in PVS site.	Select your Catalog preferences.
new catalog. <b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the	Select your Catalog preferences.         O         Create a new catalog         Image: Use an existing catalog         Catalog name: RDS 2012 Machines         Description: RDS 2012 Machines for Hosted Shared Desktops         Machine type: Windows Server OS (Virtual)         Allocation type: Random
new catalog. <b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the collection name in PVS site.	Select your Catalog preferences.         O         Create a new catalog         Image: Use an existing catalog         Catalog name: RDS 2012 Machines         Description: RDS 2012 Machines for Hosted Shared Desktops         Machine type: Windows Server OS (Virtual)         Allocation type: Random

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Provide the <b>number</b> of VMs to create Recommended to create 40 or less per run	Virtual machines         Select your virtual machine preferences.
Provide number of <b>vCPUs</b> for the VM 6 for Hosted-Shared VMs	Number of virtual machines to create:     6       vCPUs:     6       Memory:     24576 MB
Provide the amount of <b>memory</b> for the VM 20GB for Hosted-Shared VMs	Local write cache disk: 6 GB 40 🗘 GB
Provide the write-cache <b>disk size</b> 40GB for the Hosted-Shared VMs	Boot mode:      PXE boot (requires a running PXE service)      BDM disk (create a boot device manager partition)
Select the <b>PXE</b> boot radio button.	< Back Next > Cancel
Click Next.	
Select the <b>Create new accounts</b> radio button.	XenDesktop Setup       Active Directory       Select your computer account option.
Click <b>Next.</b>	Create new accounts     Import existing accounts
	< Back Next > Cancel

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the Active Directory Location where the	Active Directory accounts and location Create Active Directory accounts.
computer accounts should be created by the wizard.	Active Directory location for computer accounts: Domain: hv.pod.local
Provide the Account naming scheme. An example name is shown in the text box below the name scheme selection location.	
Click Next.	< Back Next > Cancel
	XenDesktop Setup
Click <b>Finish</b> to begin the virtual machine creation.	Summary XenDesktop is installing the following settings and components.
	Catalog name RDS 2012 Machines
	Catalog type     Rds Pvs Random       XenDesktop Host Resources     VDI2-1       Network for VDI2-1     XDHyp:\Connections\SCVMM1\vdi2-1.host\Uplink1.networ       Virtual machine template     HSD Template       Existing vDisk     HSDvDisk       vCPUs     6       Memory ner VM     20480 MR       III     >

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Then the wizard is done creating the virtual machines, click <b>Done</b> .	Summary XenDesktop is installing the following settings and components.
	Virtual machine template     HSD Template       Existing vDisk     HSDvDisk       vCPUs     6       Memory per VM     20480 MB       Local write cache disk     40 GB       Boot mode     PXE       Active Directory accounts     Create 6       <
	Overall:
	Setup complete 6 device created, 0 device failed.
	< Back Next > Done

When completing the Wizard for the virtual machines, the process will be the same except for the selections on the template, vDisk, catalog, memory, vCPUs, and write-cache size. The differences are shown in the table below.

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the Windows 7 template ( <b>XenDesktop</b>	Template Select the Template you want to use:
<b>Win7Template</b> ) created earlier. Click <b>Next.</b>	Select a template for the XenDesktop Host Resources.         Virtual Machine Template         HSD Template         Nexus1000V-VSM-Template         XenDesktop Win7 Template         XenDesktop Win7 Template         (You should also select this option if the template is running Windows 7 with VDA 5.6)         < Back

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Select the vDisk that will be used to stream to the virtual machine.	vDisk         Select an existing standard-mode vDisk.
Click Next.	Standard-mode vDisk: vDisk Store\HSDvDisk vDisk Store\HSDvDisk - CDFMonitor vDisk Store\Win7-32bit vDisk Store\Win7-32bit - Copy
CICK NEXL.	
	< Back Next > Cancel
	XenDesktop Setup
Select an existing <b>catalog</b> or choose to create a new catalog.	Catalog Select your Catalog preferences.
new catalog.	
	Create a new catalog     Itse an evisiting catalog
	O Use an existing catalog
<b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the	Use an existing catalog     Catalog name: VDI Win7 Machines
<b>Note</b> : The catalog name is also used as the collection name in PVS site.	O Use an existing catalog
_	Use an existing catalog     Catalog name: VDI Win7 Machines     VDI Win7 Machines for Hosted Virtual Desktops
_	Use an existing catalog     Catalog name: VDI Win7 Machines     Vol Win7 Machines for Hosted Virtual Desktops     Machine type: Windows Client OS (Virtual)
_	<ul> <li>Use an existing catalog</li> <li>Catalog name: VDI Win7 Machines</li> <li>Description: VDI Win7 Machines for Hosted Virtual Desktops</li> <li>Machine type: Windows Client OS (Virtual)</li> <li>Allocation type: Random</li> </ul>
collection name in PVS site.	<ul> <li>Use an existing catalog</li> <li>Catalog name: VDI Win7 Machines</li> <li>Description: VDI Win7 Machines for Hosted Virtual Desktops</li> <li>Machine type: Windows Client OS (Virtual)</li> <li>Allocation type: Random</li> </ul>

Instructions	Visual
	XenDesktop Setup
Provide the <b>number</b> of VMs to create Recommended to create 40 or less per run	Virtual machines Select your virtual machine preferences.
Provide number of <b>vCPUs</b> for the VM	Number of virtual machines to create: 40 🗘
1 for the Windows 7 VMs	vCPUs: 1 1
	Minimum memory: 1024 MB 1536 🗘 MB
Provide dynamic <b>memory</b> settings for the VM	Maximum Memory: 4096 MB 4096 🔿 MB
1.5GB Minimum	Local write cache disk: 6 GB 6 🐥 GB
4 GB Maximum	Boot mode:
Provide the write-cache <b>disk size</b> 6GB for the Windows 7 VMs	<ul> <li>PXE boot (requires a running PXE service)</li> <li>BDM disk (create a boot device manager partition)</li> </ul>
Select the <b>PXE</b> boot radio button.	< Back Next > Cancel
Click <b>Next.</b>	

When all the VMs are built on a single host, the PowerShell script from section 13.4.1 Update Virtual Machines created by XenDesktop Wizard can be run from the SCVMM server to update the network adapter settings, the boot order, and the start and stop actions.

**Note**: If using a hotfixed version of the XenDesktop Setup Wizard the PowerShell script can be modified to not update the network adapters.

Instructions	Visual
Login to the SCVMM server as an administrator	
and launch PowerShell from the QuickLaunch bar.	
	Lif Windows PowerShell - Virtual Machine Manager
Navigate to the location where the PowerShell	Directorys Cstutile
script has been saved.	Mode LastWriteTime Length Name
	4 6/2/2013 10:33 AM 4398 SetDyrMenSCVMMOBSP1.ps1 7/8/2013 3:42 PM 1024 SetPhyMenSCVMMOBSP1.ps1 10/25/2013 3:16 PM 2572 UpdateRetVorKAdapter.ps1
	-a 10/28/2011 5:55 9% 19/4 UpdatemetworkAdapterPortClass.ps1
	PS C:\utils> _

Instructions	Visual
	UpdateNetworkAdapter - Notepad
Use Notepad to edit the PowerShell script and to fill in the appropriate values in the PARAMETERS section for the environment.	The Edit Format Wee Help APARAMETERS SECTION # Fall out these values based on your environment before running the script [WWMetworkName = "VLM-62-2" SWMbubnetName = "NOI Port Class" ProtClassName = "NOI Port Class" ProtClassName = "NOI Port Class" ProtLasNameFill = "VIZ-1.to.pod.local" EVIrtualNetworkName = "Rowns 1800 V 2" MEND PARAMETERS SECTION #Import the System Center Virtual Machine Manager 16 not already available Lf (((get-module VirtualMachineManager)) [Import-module VirtualMachineManager]
Execute the PowerShell script by running it from the PowerShell window.	Windows PowerShell PS C:\utils> notepad .\UpdateNetworkAdapter.ps1 PS C:\utils> .\UpdateNetworkAdapter.ps1 Update on VM HSD-2-1-001 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-002 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-003 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-004 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-005 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-006 was successful. Update on VM HSD-2-1-006 was successful.
PS C:\utils> .\UpdateNetworkAdapter.ps1	Update on VM VDI-2-1-002 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-003 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-004 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-006 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-008 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-009 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-001 was successful.
The script should report each VM being successfully updated.	Update on VM VDI-2-1-012 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-013 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-014 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-015 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-016 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-017 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-018 was successful. Update on VM VDI-2-1-019 was successful.

## 8. Test Setup and Configurations

This section provides an overview of the test configurations for this validated design along with a summary of the recommended results from the testing. More detailed information about the results can be found in Section 9 Login VSI Test Result.

8.1. Cisco UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability of Hosted Shared Desktops



Figure 20: RDS Single-Server Results

#### Hardware components

- Virtual Desktop Hosts: 1 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2697v2 @ 2.7 GHz) blade server with 256GB of memory (16 GB X 16 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 400GB Samsung SSD, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Infrastructure Servers: 2 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2650) blade servers with 128 GB of memory (16 GB X 8 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 600GB Seagate SAS 10K 6Gb, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Load Generators: 8 X Cisco UCS B250-M2 (5680 @ 3.333 GHz) blade servers with 192 GB of memory (4 GB X 48 DIMMS @ 1333 MHz) 1 X M81KR (Palo) Converged Network Adapter
- 2 X Cisco Fabric Interconnect 6248UP
- 1 X EMC VNXe System 3300, dual-controller storage system for HA, 4 X dual port 10 GbE cards, 44 X 600GB SAS drives for Infrastructure file shares and Boot LUNs

Software components

- Cisco UCS firmware 2.1(3a)
- Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switch
- XenDesktop 7
- Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- Windows 2012 64-bit Remote Desktop Services, 8 X 6vCPU, 24 GB of static memory
- 8.2. Cisco UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability of Hosted Virtual Machines

Figure 21: VDI Single-Server Results

## Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Server Single Blade Hosted Desktop Results: 200 Users



Hardware components

Virtual Desktop Hosts: 1 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2697v2 @ 2.7 GHz) blade server with 384GB of memory (16 GB X 24 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 400GB Samsung SSD, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter

- Infrastructure Servers: 2 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2650) blade servers with 128 GB of memory (16 GB X 8 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 600GB Seagate SAS 10K 6Gb, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Load Generators: 8 X Cisco UCS B250-M2 (5680 @ 3.333 GHz) blade servers with 192 GB of memory (4 GB X 48 DIMMS @ 1333 MHz) 1 X M81KR (Palo) Converged Network Adapter
- 2 X Cisco Fabric Interconnect 6248UP
- 1 X EMC VNXe System 3300, dual-controller storage system for HA, 4 X dual port 10 GbE cards, 44 X 600GB SAS drives for Infrastructure file shares and Boot LUNs

Software components

- Cisco UCS firmware 2.1(3a)
- Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switch
- XenDesktop 7
- Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- Windows 7 SP1 32-bit, 1vCPU, 1.5 GB of static memory

8.3. Cisco UCS Test Configuration for Single Blade Scalability for a Mixed Hosted Shared and Hosted Virtual Workload Figure 22: Mixed Workload Single-Server Results

## Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Server Single Blade Mix Workload Results: 250 Users



#### Hardware components

- Virtual Desktop Hosts: 1 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2697v2 @ 2.7 GHz) blade server with 384GB of memory (16 GB X 24 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 400GB Samsung SSD, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Infrastructure Servers: 2 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2650) blade servers with 128 GB of memory (16 GB X 8 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 600GB Seagate SAS 10K 6Gb, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Load Generators: 8 X Cisco UCS B250-M2 (5680 @ 3.333 GHz) blade servers with 192 GB of memory (4 GB X 48 DIMMS @ 1333 MHz) 1 X M81KR (Palo) Converged Network Adapter
- 2 X Cisco Fabric Interconnect 6248UP
- 1 X EMC VNXe System 3300, dual-controller storage system for HA, 4 X dual port 10 GbE cards, 44 X 600GB SAS drives for Infrastructure file shares and Boot LUNs

Software components

- Cisco UCS firmware 2.1(3a)
- Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switch
- XenDesktop 7
- Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- 6 Windows 2012 64-bit Remote Desktop Services, 6vCPU, 20GB of dynamic memory
- 75 Windows 7 SP1 32-bit, 1vCPU, 1.5GB of dynamic memory
- 8.4. Cisco UCS Test Configuration for a Single-Chassis 500-User Configuration

Figure 23: Multi-Server 500-User Results

# Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Server 3-Blade Mix Workload Results: 500 Users



Hardware components

- Virtual Desktop Hosts: 3 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2697v2 @ 2.7 GHz) blade server with 384GB of memory (16 GB X 24 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 400GB Samsung SSD, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Infrastructure Servers: 2 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2650) blade servers with 128 GB of memory (16 GB X 8 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 600GB Seagate SAS 10K 6Gb, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Load Generators: 8 X Cisco UCS B250-M2 (5680 @ 3.333 GHz) blade servers with 192 GB of memory (4 GB X 48 DIMMS @ 1333 MHz) 1 X M81KR (Palo) Converged Network Adapter
- 2 X Cisco Fabric Interconnect 6248UP
- 1 X EMC VNXe System 3300, dual-controller storage system for HA, 4 X dual port 10 GbE cards, 44 X 600GB SAS drives for Infrastructure file shares and Boot LUNs

Software components

- Cisco UCS firmware 2.1(3a)
- Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switch
- XenDesktop 7
- Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- 18 Windows 2012 64-bit Remote Desktop Services, 6 vCPU, 20GB of dynamic memory
- 225 Windows 7 SP1 32-bit, 1vCPU, 1.5 GB of dynamic memory

8.5. Cisco UCS Test Configuration for a Two-Chasses 1000-User Configuration Figure 24: Multi-Server 1000-user Results

# Cisco UCS B200 M3 Blade Server 7-Blade Mix Workload Results: 1000 Users



Hardware components

- Virtual Desktop Hosts: 5 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2697v2 @ 2.7 GHz) blade servers with 384GB of memory (16 GB X 24 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 400GB Samsung SSD, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Infrastructure Servers: 2 X Cisco UCS B200-M3 (E5-2650) blade servers with 128 GB of memory (16 GB X 8 DIMMS @ 1600 MHz), 2X 600GB Seagate SAS 10K 6Gb, and 1X VIC1240 Converged Network Adapter
- Load Generators: 8 X Cisco UCS B250-M2 (5680 @ 3.333 GHz) blade servers with 192 GB of memory (4 GB X 48 DIMMS @ 1333 MHz) 1 X M81KR (Palo) Converged Network Adapter
- 2 X Cisco Fabric Interconnect 6248UP
- 1 X EMC VNXe System 3300, dual-controller storage system for HA, 4 X dual port 10 GbE cards, 44 X 600GB SAS drives for Infrastructure file shares and Boot LUNs

Software components
- Cisco UCS firmware 2.1(3a)
- Cisco Nexus 1000V virtual distributed switch
- XenDesktop 7
- Provisioning Server 7
- Citrix User Profile Manager
- 42 Windows 2012 64-bit Remote Desktop Services, 6 vCPU, 20GB of dynamic memory
- 525 Windows 7 SP1 32-bit, 1vCPU, 1.5 GB of dynamic memory

# 8.6. Test Methodology and Success Criteria

All validation testing was conducted on-site within the Cisco Solution Labs with joint support from Citrix, Microsoft, and EMC resources.

The testing results focused on the entire process of the virtual desktop lifecycle by capturing metrics during the desktop boot-up, user logon and virtual desktop acquisition (also referred to as ramp-up,) user workload execution (also referred to as steady state), and user logoff for the Hosted VDI model under test.

Test metrics were gathered from the hypervisor, virtual desktop, storage, and load generation software to assess the overall success of an individual test cycle. Each test cycle was not considered passing unless all of the planned test users completed the ramp-up and steady state phases (described below) and unless all metrics were within the permissible thresholds as noted as success criteria.

Three successfully completed test cycles were conducted for each hardware configuration and results were found to be relatively consistent from one test to the next.

# 8.6.1. Load Generation

Within each test environment, load generators were utilized to put demand on the system to simulate multiple users accessing the XenDesktop 7 environment and executing a typical end-user workflow. To generate load within the environment, the Login VSI software application was used to generate the end user connection to the XenDesktop 7 environment, to provide unique user credentials to the Citrix StoreFront server, to initiate the workload, and to evaluate the end-user experience.

In the Hosted VDI test environment, sessions launchers were used simulate multiple users making a direct connection to XenDesktop 7 through a Citrix HDX protocol connection.

# 8.6.2. User Workload Simulation – Login VSI

One of the most critical factors of validating a XenDesktop deployment is identifying a real-world user workload that is easy for customers to replicate and standardized across platforms to allow customers to realistically test the impact of a variety of worker tasks. To accurately represent a real-world user workload, the Login VSI third-party tool from Login Consultants was used throughout the Hosted VDI testing.

The tool has the benefit of taking measurements of the in-session response time, providing an objective way to measure the expected user experience for individual desktop throughout large scale testing, including login storms.

The Virtual Session Indexer (Login Consultants' Login VSI 3.7) methodology, designed for benchmarking Server Based Computing (SBC) and Virtual Desktop Infrastructure (VDI) environments is completely platform and protocol independent and hence allows customers to easily replicate the testing results in their environment.

Login VSI calculates an index based on the amount of simultaneous sessions that can be run on a single machine.

Login VSI simulates a medium workload user (also known as knowledge worker) running generic applications such as: Microsoft Office 2007 or 2010, Internet Explorer 8 including a Flash video applet and Adobe Acrobat Reader (Note: For the purposes of this test, applications were installed locally, not streamed nor hosted on XenApp).

Like real users, the scripted Login VSI session will leave multiple applications open at the same time. The medium workload is the default workload in Login VSI and was used for this testing. This workload emulated a medium knowledge working using Office, IE, printing and PDF viewing.

- When a session has been started the medium workload will repeat every 12 minutes.
- During each loop the response time is measured every 2 minutes.
- The medium workload opens up to 5 apps simultaneously.
- The type rate is 160ms for each character.
- Approximately 2 minutes of idle time is included to simulate real-world users.

Each loop will open and use:

- Outlook 2007/2010, browse 10 messages.
- Internet Explorer, one instance is left open (BBC.co.uk), one instance is browsed to Wired.com, Lonelyplanet.com and heavy
- 480 p Flash application gettheglass.com.
- Word 2007/2010, one instance to measure response time, one instance to review and edit document.
- Bullzip PDF Printer & Acrobat Reader, the word document is printed and reviewed to PDF.
- Excel 2007/2010, a very large randomized sheet is opened.
- PowerPoint 2007/2010, a presentation is reviewed and edited.
- 7-zip: using the command line version the output of the session is zipped.

A graphical representation of the medium workload is shown below.

#### Figure 25: Login VSI Workload Timing Chart

tirute .	Loop	Outlook	Word (TimerDoc)	11: [1]	10(2)	Word (UserRead)	Bullzip	Adobe It	Powerpoint	Eacel	77.10
0:00:00	Start										
100:00	Cuntomi 11		1.1								
:00:03		Start									
:00:13			SEHT								
100:30			Initiate response tim	44 C							
:00:42	Castors 2										
101:00				Start							
:01:03				Maximi	te						
01+11				Scruli							
1:01:30				Minimia	ie .						
1:01:31		Bring to front		- C							
1:01:33		Browse mesta	ges								
	Cuntom III										
1:02:00			Religionse Simer								
1:02:24					Start 17%.com						
1:02:27					Maximize						
0:02:28					Scroll						
1:02:47					Gatta Wired.com						
0:02:50					Sendi	1					
0103106						Start					
1:03:13						10.00					
0:03:41					Goto GTELcom	ALC: NOT					
1:03:44					Check website						
1:04:09					Curr						
1:04:10	Custom(4)										
0:04:11			Response timer								
1:04:35			and the second sec			Annual Income					
0:04:37						Typelfant					
1:05:43						PrintatePOP					
0:05:44						NUM .	Generate PDF				
0:05:57								start			
0:06:05								Read PDF			
0±0€±22								China			
0:06:23						Bring to front:					
0:06:23											
0+04-28	idie .										
0.07.00	Cution 10										
0107100			hanapórras timor								
1:07:24			Construction of the second second						Start:		
1:07:30									Watch presentatio	n i	
0:00:00											
0:08:33									Addelide		
1:10:00	Custom! Iii								a contraction of the		
:10:00			Response timer								
:10:20									Close		
110:30	6									Start	
1:10:44										Read	
:11:28										Minimi	re .
:11:31											Seventian
+11+32		1									
1112132											
1:12:33	Custom(7)	1									
1:12:13		an.	Pespanse timer								
:12:58			All Stores with	- ()						Oose	1
+13:04				Clow							
113:10		Glosa									
			China la								
112126	Custom Hi		C. I. C. I.								

You can obtain additional information on Login VSI from <u>http://www.Login VSI.com.</u>

## 8.6.3. Testing Procedure

The following protocol was used for each test cycle in this study to insure consistent results.

## 8.6.3.1. Test Run Setup

The test run setup for both the single-server and multi-server tests was the same. The following steps were completed:

- 1. Delivery Group(s) placed in maintenance mode
- 2. Reboot Citrix XenDesktop Controller(s)
- 3. Reboot Citrix StoreFront Server
- 4. Reboot Hyper-V Virtual Desktop Host(s)

## 5. Reboot Login VSI Launchers

Rebooting the Citrix infrastructure components and the VDI hosts insures that a clean environment was available for each test run.

# 8.6.3.2. Test Run Protocol

To simulate severe, real-world environments, Cisco requires that the log-on and start-work sequence, known as Ramp Up, must be completed in 30 minutes. Additionally, Cisco requires all test runs, whether performing a single-server or multi-server test, to be started and become active within two minutes after the session is launched.

For each of the three consecutive runs on single-server tests, this process was followed:

- 1. Started logging on Hyper-V Host Servers
- 2. Depending on whether testing Hosted Shared Desktop Groups or Hosted Virtual Desktops one of the following sequences was executed.
  - Take the Hosted Shared Desktop group out of maintenance mode and start all the Hosted Shared Desktop virtual machines then wait for them to register. (~5 minutes)
  - Take the Hosted Virtual Desktop group out of maintenance mode and wait for the virtual machines to register (~10 minutes)
- 3. Wait an additional 5 minutes for the hypervisor to settle down.
- 4. Start the Login VSI 3.7 test configured with an 1800-second parallel launching window and 840-second auto-logoff for all sessions. For the single-server tests 14 launchers were used.
- 5. Wait and verify all sessions have become active. (~30 minutes)
- 6. Wait for the auto-logoff timer to expire (~14 minutes) which is set to allow the sessions to complete at least one full loop, at which point the Login VSI places the logoff.txt file on the VSIShare to initiate logoff.
- 7. Wait until all the sessions have logged off. (~30 minutes)
- 8. Stop logging

For each of the three consecutive runs on multi-server tests, this process was followed:

- 1. Started logging on:
  - Hyper-V Host Servers
  - Citrix PVS Server(s)
  - Citrix Desktop Controller(s)
  - Citrix StoreFront Server
  - Microsoft SCVMM Server
  - Microsoft SQL Server(s)
  - Microsoft Domain Controller(s)
  - EMC VNXe Storage Processor(s)
- 2. Take the Hosted Shared Desktop group out of maintenance mode and start all the Hosted Shared Desktop virtual machines then wait for them to register. (~5 minutes)

- 3. Take the Hosted Virtual Desktop group out of maintenance mode and wait for all the Hosted Virtual Desktops to register. (~10 minutes)
- 4. Wait an additional 5 minutes for the hypervisor to settle down.
- 5. Start the Login VSI 3.7 test configured with an 1800-second parallel launching window and 840-second auto-logoff for all sessions. For the 500-user test 30 launchers were used. For the 1000-user test 61 launchers were used.
- 6. Wait and verify all sessions have become active. (~30 minutes)
- 7. Wait for the auto-logoff timer to expire (~14 minutes) which is set to allow the sessions to complete at least one full loop, at which point the Login VSI places the logoff.txt file on the VSIShare to initiate logoff.
- 8. Wait until all the sessions have logged off. (~30 minutes)
- 9. Stop logging

# 8.6.4. Success Criteria

Multiple metrics were captured during each test run, but the success criteria for considering a single test run as pass or fail was based on the key metric, VSI Max. The Login VSI Max evaluates the user response time during increasing user load and assesses the successful start-to-finish execution of all the initiated virtual desktop sessions. A successful test sequence consisted of **three consecutive test runs** which met the passing criteria within a 1% variance.

# 8.6.4.1. Login VSI Max

VSI Max represents the maximum number of users the environment can handle before serious performance degradation occurs. VSI Max is calculated based on the response times of individual users as indicated during the workload execution. The user response time has a threshold of 4000ms and all users response times are expected to be less than 4000ms in order to assume that the user interaction with the virtual desktop is at a functional level. VSI Max is reached when the response times reaches or exceeds 4000ms for 6 consecutive occurrences. If VSI Max is reached, that indicates the point at which the user experience has significantly degraded. The response time is generally an indicator of the host CPU resources, but this specific method of analyzing the user experience provides an objective method of comparison that can be aligned to host CPU performance.

# 8.6.4.2. Calculating VSImax

Typically the desktop workload is scripted in a 12-14 minute loop when a simulated Login VSI user is logged on. After the loop is finished it will restart automatically. Within each loop the response times of seven specific operations is measured in a regular interval: six times in within each loop. The response times if these seven operations are used to establish VSI max.

The seven operations from which the response times are measured are:

- 1. Copy new document from the document pool in the home drive
  - This operation will refresh a new document to be used for measuring the response time. This activity is mostly a file-system operation.
- 2. Starting Microsoft Word with a document

- This operation will measure the responsiveness of the Operating System and the file system. Microsoft Word is started and loaded into memory; also the new document is automatically loaded into Microsoft Word. When the disk I/O is extensive or even saturated, this will impact the file open dialogue considerably.
- 3. Starting the "File Open" dialogue
  - This operation is handled for small part by Microsoft Word and a large part by the operating system. The file open dialogue uses generic subsystems and interface components of the OS. The OS provides the contents of this dialogue.
- 4. Starting "Notepad"
  - This operation is handled by the OS (loading and initiating notepad.exe) and by the Notepad.exe itself through execution. This operation seems instant from an end-user's point of view.
- 5. Starting the "Print" dialogue
  - This operation is handled for a large part by the OS subsystems, as the print dialogue is provided by the OS. This dialogue loads the print-subsystem and the drivers of the selected printer. As a result, this dialogue is also dependent on disk performance.
- 6. Starting the "Search and Replace" dialogue
  - This operation is handled within the application completely; the presentation of the dialogue is almost instant. Serious bottlenecks on application level will impact the speed of this dialogue.
- 7. Compress the document into a zip file with 7-zip command line
  - This operation is handled by the command line version of 7-zip. The compression will very briefly spike CPU and disk I/O.

These measured operations with Login VSI do hit considerably different subsystems such as CPU (user and kernel), Memory, Disk, the OS in general, the application itself, print, GDI, etc. These operations are specifically short by nature. When such operations are consistently long: the system is saturated because of excessive queuing on any kind of resource. As a result, the average response times will then escalate. This effect is clearly visible to end-users. When such operations consistently consume multiple seconds the user will regard the system as slow and unresponsive.

For these tests, Cisco utilized the VSImax Dynamic model exclusively.

# 8.6.4.3. VSImax Dynamic

VSImax Dynamic is calculated when the response times are consistently above a certain threshold. However, this threshold is now dynamically calculated on the baseline response time of the test.

Five individual measurements are weighted to better support this approach:

- Copy new doc from the document pool in the home drive: 100%
- Microsoft Word with a document: 33.3%
- Starting the "File Open" dialogue: 100%
- Starting "Notepad": 300%

- Starting the "Print" dialogue: 200%
- Starting the "Search and Replace" dialogue: 400%
- Compress the document into a zip file with 7-zip command line 200%

A sample of the VSImax Dynamic response time calculation is displayed below:

#### Figure 26: VSImax Dynamic Results

Activity (RowName)	Result (ms)	Weight (%)	Weighted Result (ms)	
Refresh document (RFS)	160	100%	160	
Start Word with new doc (LOAD)	1400	33.3%	467	
File Open Dialogue (OPEN)	350	100%	350	
Start Notepad (NOTEPAD)	50	300%	150	
Print Dialogue (PRINT)	220	200%	440	
Replace Dialogue (FIND)	10	400%	40	
Zip documents (ZIP)	130	200%	230	

#### VSImax Dynamic Response Time 1837

The average VSImax response time is calculated based on the amount of active Login VSI users logged on to the system. For VSImax value to be reached the average VSImax response times need to consistently higher than a dynamically calculated threshold.

To determine this dynamic threshold, first the average baseline response time is calculated. This is done by averaging the baseline response time of the first 15 Login VSI users on the system.

The formula for the dynamic threshold is: Avg. Baseline Response Time x 125% + 3000. As a result, when the baseline response time is 1800, the VSImax threshold will now be 1800 x 125% + 3000 = 5250ms.

When application virtualization is used, the baseline response time can vary widely per vendor and streaming strategy. Using the VSImax Dynamic model will provide a level playing field when comparing application virtualization or anti-virus applications. The resulting VSImax Dynamic scores are aligned again with saturation on a CPU, Memory or Disk level, also when the baseline response time are relatively high.

# 8.6.4.4. Determining VSImax

The Login VSI analyzer will automatically identify the "VSImax". In the example below the VSImax is 98. The analyzer will automatically determine "stuck sessions" and correct the final VSImax score.

- Vertical axis: Response Time in milliseconds
- Horizontal axis: Total Active Sessions

Figure 27: Sample Login VSI Analyzer Graphic Output



- Red line: Maximum Response (worst response time of an individual measurement within a single session)
- Orange line: Average Response Time within for each level of active sessions
- Blue line: the VSImax average.
- Green line: Minimum Response (best response time of an individual measurement within a single session)

In our tests, the total number of users in the test run had to login, become active and run at least one test loop and log out without reaching the VSI Max to be considered a success.

# 9. Login VSI Test Result

This section provides the validation results of the Login VSI testing within the environment for the four configurations of single-server and multi-blade architectures, each in their own section. These sections provide data points for customers to reference when designing their own environment. The first two single-server scalability sections provided the information necessary to correctly identify the mix of hosted shared desktops versus hosted virtual desktops for the final two multi-blade tests.

# 9.1. Cisco UCS B200-M3 Single-Server Scalability Results for Hosted Shared Desktops

As noted earlier in section 8.6.4 Success Criteria, in order for a successful test sequence to be accepted, it had to pass in three consecutive test runs. The first test sequence was to determine the VSImax value for a single blade running only Hosted Shared Desktop sessions on Windows Server 2012 with XenDesktop 7. The maximum density was determined by testing different combinations of servers and vCPUs assigned to those servers.

The best performance was achieved when the number of vCPUs assigned to the virtual machines did not exceed the number of hyper-threaded cores available on the server. In other words, not overcommitting

the CPU resources provides the best user experience. For the E5-2697v2 processors this means that 24 cores with hyper-threading will enable 48 vCPUs. The highest density was observed at eight VMs each with six vCPUs assigned.

To achieve the VSImax score of 299 for hosted shared desktops, 320 users were launched against the eight Windows 2012 virtual machines with six vCPUs using the VSI Medium Workload with flash. The Login VSI score was achieved on three consecutive runs reporting 298, 299, and 299 respectively. The graph from the first 299 run is shown below.





The key performance charts for this representative test run are shown below along with any interesting observations.

One interesting observation around the CPU utilization is that with the Ivy Bridge CPUs, the processor is not pegged for an extended period of time during the test, which was previously observed with the Sandy Bridge processors. This effect is even more pronounced with the hosted virtual desktops.



### Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor(\_Total)\% Total Run Time RDS 2012 | 320 Sessions | 8 VMs x 6vCPU | VSI Medium Workload

With the processor being less of a constraint within the environment, the disk performance becomes more prominent. The charts below depict the Disk Queue lengths and Disk IOs for the two SSD drives in a RAIDO array which were hosting the write-cache drives. The graphs show the write activity high at the beginning and during the steady-state phases, with the read activity spiking near the end of the test during logoff.



Disk Queue Lengths SSD Drive RDS 2012 | 8 VMs x 24 GB | VSI Medium Workload



Disk IO Operations SSD RAID0 RDS 2012 | 8 VMs x 24 GB | Medium VSI Workload

With memory the total memory assigned to the servers was 192GB (8x24GB out of a total 256GB. The memory was statically assigned. The graph below shows the memory utilization on the blade during the test was essentially static with 53GB available throughout the run.



Memory\Available MegaBytes RDS 2012 | 8 VMs x 24GB | VSI Medium Workload

—\\VDI1-3\Memory\Available MBytes

Below is the networking performance during the test. As expected, based on the disk activity above, the early part of the test during ramp up shows the bulk of the receive traffic as the VMs accept files from the PVS server. The end of the test shows a spike in send traffic as the profiles are updated and data is read off of the disks. The valley in the middle provides a good understanding of when the steady-state phase was in place with very little network activity compared to the ramp up and logoff stages. For reference, 120000000 is approximately 915 Mbps and 80000000 is approximately 610 Mbps.



Network Traffic RDS 2012 | 320 Sessions | 8 VMs x 6 vCPU | VSI Medium Workload

Based on the data gathered during testing, Cisco recommends for the VSI Medium workload (which includes Flash) that the number of users be kept around 275. This equates to approximately 35 users per XenDesktop 7 VM with 8 virtual machines on a blade.

# 9.2. Cisco UCS B200-M3 Single-Server Scalability Results for Hosted Virtual Desktops

The second phase of the testing involved determining the VSImax value for hosted virtual desktops running Windows 7 SP1 32-bit operating system with XenDesktop 7.

A VSImax of 205 was achieved with the three consecutive runs of 218-220 desktops on a single B200-M3 blade. The three VSImax scores for the runs were 204, 207, and 205 respectively. The VSImax graph for the 205 run is shown below.





The CPU resources were not pegged at any point during the test as seen from the graph below:



Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor(\_Total)\% Total Run Time Windows 7 | 219 Desktops | 1.5 GB x 1 vCPU | LoginVSI Medium Workload

While CPU is probably still a factor in reaching higher numbers, it is now joined by the disks within this configuration. The charts below show the disk queue lengths and disk transfers per second for the twodisk RAIDO array of SSD drives that host the PVS write-cache drives. The disk queue length is the chart that shows the disks are starting to get busy with longer than ideal queue lengths.



Disk Queue Lengths SSD RAID0 Windows 7 | 219 Desktops | 1.5 GB x 1 vCPU | LoginVSI Medium Workload

Disk IO Operations SSD RAID0 Windows 7 | 219 Desktops | 1.5 GB x 1 vCPU | LoginVSI Medium Workload



The memory became the gating factor, so the memory on the blade was increased from 256GB to 384GB.



Memory\Available MegaBytes Windows 7 | 219 Desktops | 1.5 GB x 1 vCPU | LoginVSI Medium Workload

\\VDI1-4\Memory\Available MBytes

200000000 180000000 \\VDI1-4\Wetwork Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 31\Bytes Received/sec 160000000 \\VDI3-4\Network Interface(Osco VIC Ethemet Interface 3l\Bytes Sent/sec 140000000 \\/DII-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet interface 4h Bytes Received/sec 120000000 \\VDI1-4\Network Interface/Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 4lh bytes Sent/sec 100000000 (VDI1-4)Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 60000000 5)\Bytes Received/sec \\VDI1-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 60000000 58\Bytes Sent/sec \\VDII-4\Retwork Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 40000000 \_6]\Bytes Received/sec 20000000 \\\/Dtl-4\Wetwork Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 6l/, Bytes Sent/sec 0 \\VDil-4\Wetwork Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface ž PIN N N N. PIN N M ₹ N M 2 E N 2 2 M 2 2 Md N M M Md N. MM M 22 M MA M ¥ ş \_7% Bytes Received/sec 88 10 1 2 4 0 40 42 44 44 8 = 220 65 2:00/ 3 8 2 H 的 8 ŝ ŝ 85 ы TOS

Network Traffic Windows 7 | 219 Desktops | 1.5 GB x 1 vCPU | LoginVSI Medium Workload

The recommended value is one where the CPU resources peak around 95%, since CPU resources are not the gating factor, Cisco recommends for the Medium VSI (with flash) workload to target 200 virtual desktops.

# 9.3. Cisco UCS B200-M3 Recommended Single-Server Mixed Desktop Workload

Using the information gained from single-server VSImax testing, the next step was to identify the best workload mix and blade use for the environment that met the project requirement of 70% hosted

shared desktops and 30% hosted virtual desktops. Based on the recommended loads from the single server testing, 3 blades would be required to support the fault-tolerant hosted shared desktop environment and 3 blades to support the fault-tolerant hosted virtual desktop environment, for a total of six blades.

Since all the workloads are virtualized, a better approach is to mix the workloads so that each blade consists of 70% hosted shared desktops and 30% hosted virtual desktops. This means only a single physical blade will be required to provide fault-tolerance for the environment. Using the recommended loads from the single-server testing results in a mixed blade of 6 hosted shared desktop VMs and 75 hosted virtual desktop VMs. The six hosted shared desktop VMs would support 175 users bringing the total users per physical blade to 250.

The mixed server workload was switched to dynamic memory instead of the static memory used in the single-server testing. This change was made after testing in the environment showed no significant difference in CPU Utilization between enabling dynamic memory and disabling it. This change more closely resembles "real world" environments and provides the power users with access to more memory as necessary. The memory in the Windows 2012 virtual machines was reduced from 24GB to 20GB, since testing showed only 14GB was being used by the individual Windows Server 2012 VMs. This extra memory, then became available to the dynamic memory pool for use if necessary by either the Windows 7 or Windows 2012 virtual machines, although it would not be needed with the VSI Medium workload.

A run was completed successfully without receiving a VSImax value as expected. The chart below shows the VSImax test for a single server at the recommended mix of virtual machines to support the 250 users.



Figure 30: VSImax Mixed Workload Single-Server Results

The performance charts from this test run are shown below and since the recommended workload is selected, the performance counters are within expected operating parameters. The CPU processor chart for the test period is shown below for a reference point.



#### Figure 31: CPU Processor Chart 250-user Mixed Workload

The mixed workload blade configuration allowed the 500-user to be contained within 2 blades and the 1000-user configuration to be contained within 4 blades. Adding one blade for fault-tolerance means the solution becomes 3 blades for 500-users and 5 blades for 1000 users. Of course, for full fault-tolerance, the blades should be housed in different chassis.

# 9.4. Cisco UCS 500-User Scalability Results

This section provides the testing results for the 500-user testing with three physical blades. As expected from the 250-user testing, the blades were able to manage the load without overburdening the processor.

#### Figure 32: VSImax 500-user Scalability Results



Below are the performance charts from the servers during the test.

# 9.4.1. EMC VNXe Performance

The following chart shows the IOPS of the VNXe array during the 500-user test. The VNXe array was used solely for the user profiles and home directories through the CIFS shares.



#### Figure 33: VNXe Perfomance 500-users Login VSI

#### 9.4.2. VDI Host

This section contains charts for one of the VDI hosts which provides a representative sample of the host performance. The graphs for the remaining four hosts can be found in the Appendix Section **Error!** eference source not found.

## 9.4.2.1. Processor

The hosts were busy, but never pegged the CPU during the test.

#### Figure 34: Processor Performance VDI Host 500-user



#### Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor (\_Total)\% Total Run Time 500-user Medium VSI Workload

#### 9.4.2.2. Memory

The hosts were running with about 10GB of available RAM after all the VMs started up. The VMs were configured with dynamic memory. The six RDS hosts had 20GB minimum/startup configured and the 75 desktops had 1.5GB minimum/startup configured.

Figure 35: Memory Performance VDI Host 500-User



#### Memory\Available MBytes 500-user Medium VSI Workload

# 9.4.2.3. Disk

The only disk with interesting information is the E: drive which consisted of two 400GB Enterprise SSD drives in a RAID0 array. The C: drive, which was the boot iSCSI LUN on the VNXe, had almost no activity reported. The E: drive hosted the PVS write-cache drive, so majority of the traffic would be observed at the peak of the test as the last few desktops logged on. The SSD's are handling about 6000 IOPS per VDI host during the peak periods, which represents a significant reduction on the IOPS required on the backend VNXe storage array.

#### Figure 36: Disk IO Performance VDI Host 500-user





Disk performance can be quantified partially by outstanding disk queue lengths. In this case, with two disks on the RAIDO array, any queue lengths under 2 would be ideal. From the chart below, it appears that other than three intervals, all the sampled queue lengths are ideal.

#### Figure 37: Disk Queue Length Performance VDI Host 500-user





## 9.4.2.4. Network

For reference, 60,000,000 bytes per second equates to about 458Mbps. The network on the host, even at peak times was within normal expected loads.

Figure 38: Network Performance VDI Host 500-user



#### Network Activity 500-user Medium VSI Workload

The VDI hosts performed well within expected performance guidelines.

# 9.4.3. XenDesktop Controllers

Notice the largest hit for processor time occurred within the first 20 minutes of the test, when all the virtual machines were registering. The second XenDesktop controller did not handle as many registrations as the first one, which was also performing the communications with the SCVMM server.





# 9.4.4. Provisioning Services

From the charts below, it appears that PVS2 was handling the majority of the streaming for the desktops during this test. Certainly, one PVS server is capable of supporting this environment in its entirety, with the second PVS server (PVS1) being available for fault-tolerance.





## 9.4.5. SQL Servers

From the charts below it is easy to tell that SQL1 was the primary database server in the cluster and that SQL2 was functioning as a standby server. On both servers the F: drive, which was the passthrough drive which holds the data files, was the busiest. The G: drive, which holds the log file, was fairly active on the Secondary server due primary to the log shipping configuration.





# 9.4.6. System Center Virtual Machine Manager and StoreFront

Since neither of these servers have a partner, they are presented together. The StoreFront server is just busy during the ramp-up portion of the test as it is responsible for handing out the tickets to allow the launcher sessions to connect. The SCVMM activity is likely related to the status polling intervals as it goes out and queries the virtual machines at a set interval.





# 9.4.1. Active Directory

The two Active Directory Controllers were not super busy during the process at all. The graphs are provided for completeness below.





# 9.5. Cisco UCS 1000-User Scalability Results

This section provides the testing results for the 1000-user testing with five physical blades, four to support the workload and one as a spare. As expected from the 500-user tests, the blades were able to manage the load without overburdening the processor.





Below are the performance charts for the servers during this test run. The first 20-minutes of the charts represents the time when all the XenDesktop servers and desktops were started and registered with the controllers, also known as the boot phase. The remaining hour is when the Login VSI test was running, with the first 30-minutes being the ramp-up phase and the next 20 minutes being the steady-state phase. The last few minutes would represent the logoff phase of the test.

# 9.5.1. EMC VNXe Performance

The chart below shows the IOPS on the VNXe array during the boot up of the virtual machines. During the boot up process the VNXe array was used the user profiles and home directories on the CIFS shares.

#### Figure 40: VNXe Bootup 1000-Users



The chart below shows the IOPS used during the Login VSI test. During the Login VSI test the VNXe was used solely for user home directories and profiles through the CIFS shares on the two storage processors.





# 9.5.2. VDI Host

This section contains charts for one of the VDI hosts which provides a representative sample of the host performance. The graphs for the remaining four hosts can be found in the Appendix Section **Error!** eference source not found.

# 9.5.2.1. Processor

The hosts were quite busy, but never pegged the CPU during the test. The most intensive part was the boot up phase where all 405 virtual machines (81 per blade) were started within a 15-minute window.

#### Figure 42: Processor Performance VDI Host 1000-User



#### Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor (\_Total)\% Total Run Time 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

# 9.5.2.2. Memory

The hosts were running with about 10GB of available RAM after all the VMs started up. The VMs were configured with dynamic memory. The six RDS hosts had 20GB minimum/startup configured and the 75 desktops had 1.5GB minimum/startup configured.

Figure 43: Memory Performance VDI Host 1000-user



#### Memory\Available MBytes 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

# 9.5.2.3. Disk

The only disk with interesting information is the E: drive which consisted of two 400GB Enterprise SSD drives in a RAIDO array. The C: drive, which was the boot iSCSI LUN on the VNXe, had almost no activity reported. The E: drive hosted the PVS write-cache drive, so some activity is expected during bootup and the majority would be observed at the peak of the test as the last few desktops logged on. The SSD's are handling just over 6000 IOPS per VDI host during the peak periods, which represents a significant reduction on the IOPS required on the backend VNXe storage array.







Disk performance can be quantified partially by outstanding disk queue lengths. In this case, with two disks on the RAIDO array, any queue lengths under 2 would be ideal. From the chart below, it appears that the vast majority of the sampling intervals showed the queue lengths to be ideal and in times of heavy load the SSDs were able to catch up.

#### Figure 45:Disk Queue Lengths VDI Host 1000-User



Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

## 9.5.2.4. Network

For reference, 80,000,000 bytes per second equates to about 610Mbps. The network on the host, even at peak times was within normal expected loads.

Figure 46: Network Performance VDI Host 1000-User



#### Network Activity 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

The VDI hosts performed well within expected performance guidelines.

# 9.5.3. XenDesktop Controllers

Notice the largest hit for processor time occurred within the first 20 minutes of the test, when all the virtual machines were registering. The second XenDesktop controller did not handle as many registrations as the first one, which was also performing the communications with the SCVMM server.





# 9.5.4. Provisioning Services

From the charts below, it appears that PVS2 was handling the majority of the streaming for the desktops during this test. Certainly, one PVS server is capable of supporting this environment in its entirety, with the second PVS server (PVS1) being available for fault-tolerance.




## 9.5.5. SQL Servers

From the charts below it is easy to tell that SQL1 was the primary database server in the cluster and that SQL2 was functioning as a standby server. On both servers the F: drive, which was the passthrough drive which holds the data files, was the busiest. The G: drive, which holds the log file, was fairly active on the Secondary server due primary to the log shipping configuration.





# 9.5.6. System Center Virtual Machine Manager and StoreFront

Since neither of these servers have a partner, they are presented together. The SCVMM server is quite busy during the 20-minute boot-up phase and marginally busy at times during the test. The presumption of those busy times during the test phase would be around the polling intervals to check virtual machine status. The StoreFront server is just busy during the ramp-up portion of the test as it is responsible for handing out the tickets to allow the launcher sessions to connect.





# 9.5.7. Active Directory

The two Active Directory Controllers were not super busy during the process at all. The graphs are provided for completeness below.





# 10. Scalability Considerations and Guidelines

Many factors should be considered when scaling beyond 1000-user configuration presented in this design. This section provides guidance around those factors to consider.

# 10.1. Cisco UCS Configuration

The results indicate a fairly linear scalability across the reference architecture. In other words, each additional blade will provide capacity to host an additional 250 users.

- Cisco UCS 2.0 management software supports up to 20 chassis within a single Cisco UCS domain on the second generation Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnect 6248 and 6296 models. A single Cisco UCS domain can grow to 160 blades.
- With Cisco UCS 2.1 and later management software, each Cisco UCS 2.1 Management domain is manageable by Cisco UCS Central, vastly increasing the reach and manageability of the Cisco Unified Computing System.
- As scale grows, the value of the combined Cisco UCS fabric, Cisco Nexus physical switches and Cisco Nexus virtual switches increases dramatically to define the Quality of Services required to deliver excellent end user experience 100% of the time.
- Based on the number of uplinks from each chassis, we can calculate number of user sessions that can be hosted in a single Cisco UCS domain. Assuming eight links per chassis, four to each 6248, scaling beyond 10 chassis would require additional Cisco UCS fabric interconnects. A 30,000-seat infrastructure, with all support services can be built out of the reference architecture described in this Cisco Validated Design with eight links per chassis and 20 Cisco UCS chassis comprised of eight B200 M3 blades servers in each chassis.

# 10.2. EMC VNXe Storage Configuration

# 10.2.1. Capacity planning

You must calculate the required sizes of the iSCSI LUNs and/or CIFS shares in a Hyper-V environment. When calculating the capacity needed in the storage pools, ensure that extra space required for the protection storage for replication and snapshots is considered.

## 10.2.2. Performance Planning

VNXe has predefined storage pools that can be used based on the performance requirements and the drives in the platform. Solid State Drives (SSDs) provide the greatest performance followed by 15k rpm SAS drives. Do not use 7200 rpm NL-SAS drives for performance –sensitive applications. They are primarily used for capacity.

# 10.2.3. Scalability Planning

When scaling this solution, keep in mind that the VNXe3300 is rated for 1000 users. To scale above the 1000 users, a different EMC solution, such as the VNX series will be required.

Also, when using version 2.4.1.21171 of the VNXe Software, a hotfix is available that should be installed prior to putting a load on the EMC VNXe. The information for the hotfix is shown below.

ETA169041: VNXe: ESX hosts are unable to boot from iSCSI LUNs or hosts may lose connectivity to data stores

## https://emc--c.na5.visual.force.com/apex/KB ETA?id=kA3700000000eF

Later versions of the EMC VNXe software will have this hotfix included.

## 10.3. Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V 2012 Configuration

Hyper-V in Windows Server<sup>®</sup> 2012 supports significantly larger configurations of virtual and physical components than in previous releases of Hyper-V. This increased capacity enables you to run Hyper-V on large physical computers and to virtualize high-performance, scale-up workloads. This topic lists the supported maximum configuration for the various components. As you plan your deployment of Hyper-V, consider the maximums that apply to each virtual machine as well as those that apply to the physical computer that runs the Hyper-V role.

## 10.3.1. Virtual Machines

The following table lists the maximums that apply to each virtual machine.

Component	Maximum	Notes
Virtual processors	64	The number of virtual processors supported by a guest operating system might be lower. For more information, see the <u>Hyper-V Overview</u> .
Memory	1 TB	Review the requirements for the specific operating system to determine the minimum and recommended amounts.
Virtual hard disk capacity	64 TB supported by the VHDX format introduced in Windows Server 2012 and Windows <sup>®</sup> 8; 2040 GB supported by the VHD format.	Each virtual hard disk is stored on physical media as either a .vhdx or a .vhd file, depending on the format used by the virtual hard disk.

Table 15: Virtual Machine Maximums

Virtual IDE disks	4	The startup disk (sometimes referred to as the boot disk) must be attached to one of the IDE devices. The startup disk can be either a virtual hard disk or a physical disk attached directly to a virtual machine.
Virtual SCSI controllers	4	Use of virtual SCSI devices requires integration services to be installed in the guest operating system. For a list of the guest operating systems for which integration services are available, see the <u>Hyper-V Overview</u> .
Virtual SCSI disks	256	Each SCSI controller supports up to 64 disks, which means that each virtual machine can be configured with as many as 256 virtual SCSI disks. (4 controllers x 64 disks per controller)
Virtual Fiber Channel adapters	4	As a best practice, we recommended that you connect each virtual Fiber Channel Adapter to a different virtual SAN.
Size of physical disks attached directly to a virtual machine	Varies	Maximum size is determined by the guest operating system.
Snapshots	50	The actual number may be lower, depending on the available storage. Each snapshot is stored as an .avhd file that consumes physical storage.
Virtual network adapters	12	<ul> <li>8 can be the "network adapter" type. This type provides better performance and requires a virtual machine driver that is included in the integration services packages.</li> <li>4 can be the "legacy network adapter" type. This type emulates a specific physical network adapter and supports the Pre-execution Boot Environment (PXE) to perform network-based installation of an operating system.</li> </ul>
Virtual floppy devices	1 virtual floppy drive	None.
Serial (COM) ports	2	None.

# 10.3.2. Server Running Hyper-V

The following table lists the requirements and maximums that apply to the server running Hyper-V.

Component	Maximum	Notes
Logical	320	Both of the following must be available and
processors		enabled in the BIOS:
		<ul> <li>Hardware-assisted virtualization</li> </ul>
		Hardware-enforced Data Execution

		Prevention (DEP)
Virtual processorsper logical processor	No ratio imposed by Hyper-V.	None.
Running virtual machines per server	1024	None.
Virtual processors per server	2048	None.
Memory	4 TB	None.
Storage	Limited by what is supported by the management operating system. No limits imposed by Hyper-V.	Note Microsoft supports network-attached storage (NAS) for Hyper-V in Windows Server 2012 when using SMB 3.0. NFS-based storage is not supported.
Virtual storage area networks (SANs)	No limits imposed by Hyper-V	None.
Physical network adapters	No limits imposed by Hyper-V.	None.
Network adapter teams (NIC Teaming)	No limits imposed by Hyper-V.	For more information about NIC Teaming in Windows Server 2012, see <u>NIC Teaming Overview</u> .
Virtual switches	Varies; no limits imposed by Hyper-V.	The practical limit depends on the available computing resources.
Virtual network switch ports per server	Varies; no limits imposed by Hyper-V.	The practical limit depends on the available computing resources.

# 10.3.4. Failover Clusters and Hyper-V

The following table lists the maximums that apply to highly available servers running Hyper-V. It is important to do capacity planning to ensure that there will be enough hardware resources to run all the virtual machines in a clustered environment. For more information about requirements for failover clusters, see <u>Failover Clustering Hardware Requirements and Storage Options</u>.

Component	Maximum	Notes
Nodes per	64	Consider the number of nodes you want to reserve for failover, as well
cluster		as maintenance tasks such as applying updates. We recommend that you plan for enough resources to allow for 1 node to be reserved for failover, which means it remains idle until another node is failed over to it. (This is sometimes referred to as a passive node.) You can

#### Table 16: Failover Cluster Maximums

		increase this number if you want to reserve additional nodes. There is no recommended ratio or multiplier of reserved nodes to active nodes; the only specific requirement is that the total number of nodes in a cluster cannot exceed the maximum of 64.
Running virtual machines per cluster and per node	8,000 per cluster	<ul> <li>Several factors can affect the real number of virtual machines that can be run at the same time on one node, such as: <ul> <li>Amount of physical memory being used by each virtual machine.</li> <li>Networking and storage bandwidth.</li> <li>Number of disk spindles, which affects disk I/O performance.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

# 10.4. Citrix XenDesktop 7 Configuration – Citrix

XenDesktop environments can scale to large numbers. When implementing Citrix XenDesktop hosted shared and hosted virtual desktops have the following considerations:

- Types of Storage in your environment
- Types of desktops that will be deployed
- Data protection requirements
- For Citrix Provisioning Server pooled desktops write cache size and placement

These and other various aspects of scalability considerations described in greater detail in "XenDesktop - Modular Reference Architecture" document and should be a part of any XenDesktop design.

When designing and deploying this Cisco Validated Design environment best practices were followed whenever possible.

The following practices are in particular worth mentioning here:

- Citrix always recommends using N+1 schema for virtualization host servers, to accommodate resiliency. In our RA environment, this recommendation is applied to all host servers.
- All Provisioning Server Network Adapters were configured to have a static IP and management.
- We used the XenDesktop Setup Wizard in PVS. Wizard does an excellent job of creating the desktops automatically and it's possible to run multiple instances of the wizard provided the deployed desktops are placed in different catalogs and have different naming conventions.
- To run wizard at a minimum you need to install the Provisioning Server, the XenDesktop Controller, and configure hosts, as well as create VM templates on all datastores were desktops will be deployed.

# 11. Other Considerations

This section provides some guidance around working within this reference architecture in an effort to help the reader avoid common pitfalls.

# 11.1. Power Outages and Boot Sequence

The best defense against power outages is to design the datacenter to have redundant power sources and battery backups such that power is always available. However, occasionally a power outage may be

schedule or last longer than the batter backups can support. In those instances, the boot sequence of the reference architecture components is critical in getting the environment back up in the least amount of time.

The Citrix XenDesktop, Provisioning Services, and Microsoft System Center Virtual Machine Manager components rely heavily on SQL for their databases, so the SQL servers should be online before attempting to boot any of the above mentioned components. Furthermore, the Citrix XenDesktop controllers require access to the System Center Virtual Machine Manager to bring desktops online. Finally, the Citrix XenDesktop controllers should be used to bring the virtual desktops online.

**Note**: The Hyper-V virtual machine settings should have all VMs (except perhaps the Active Directory domain controllers), set to do nothing on Start Action. This will allow an orderly process from bringing up the resources.

# 11.1.1. Recommended Boot Sequence

The recommended boot sequence for the environment is as follows:

- 1. Active Directory infrastructure
- 2. Storage infrastructure
- 3. Hyper-V infrastructure hosts
- 4. SQL Server infrastructure (bring up primary then secondary)
- 5. Microsoft System Center Virtual Machine Manager
- 6. Citrix Provisioning Services
- 7. Citrix XenDesktop Controllers (place delivery groups in maintenance mode)
- 8. Hyper-V desktop hosts
- 9. XenDesktop Hosted Shared Desktop servers (RDS)
- 10. XenDesktop Hosted Virtual Desktops

This sequence insures that all necessary resources are available prior to starting any resources that depend on those resources. Should the order not be followed, it is possible to recover usually by just rebooting the component with issues. Should that not work, the recommended approach is to perform an orderly power down of the environment and bring it up in the sequence provided.

# 11.2. Microsoft Cluster Maintenance

Enable cluster-aware updates so that both cluster servers are not rebooted simultaneously. Always bring up the primary server (whichever one was in the primary role at the time of shutdown) first so it can claim control of the cluster resources, such as disks. When shutting down Microsoft clusters, always shutdown the secondary nodes first, then finally shutdown the primary nodes. This order is especially important when working with SQL server and AlwaysOn groups.

# 11.3. SQL Server AlwaysOn Groups

When using SQL Server AlwaysOn groups, be sure you have completed the following:

• Enable database containment at the SQL Server level, before creating the XenDesktop database.

- Enable database containment (and full recovery model) on the XenDesktop database when creating it.
- Use the SQL Server AlwaysOn listener for the database location, rather than the SQL Server Cluster resource name or IP address, so that the failover will work correctly.

If unexpected connectivity issues occur with the AlwaysOn Group databases, sometimes the fastest recovery is to just remove the database from the group and then re-add it using the wizard.

In this environment, two AlwaysOn groups were created. The first AlwaysOn group was for the Microsoft System Center Virtual Machine Manager database and second group held the two Citrix databases: XenDesktop and Provisioning Services.

# 12. References

12.1. Cisco Reference Documents – Cisco

**Cisco Unified Computing System Manager Home Page** <u>http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps10281/index.html</u>

## Cisco UCS B200 M3 Rack Server Resources

http://buildprice.cisco.com/catalog/ucs/models/B200M3 http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps10280/index.html

## Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnects

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps11544/index.html

Download Software for Cisco Nexus 1000V Switch for Microsoft Hyper-V – ACCOUNT REQUIRED http://software.cisco.com/download/release.html?mdfid=284786025&flowid=&softwareid=282088129 &os=null&release=5.2(1)SM1(5.1)&relind=null&relifecycle=null&reltype=null

Download Cisco UCS Manager and Blade Software Version 2.1(3a) – ACCOUNT REQUIRED http://software.cisco.com/download/release.html?mdfid=283853163&flowid=&softwareid=283655681 &os=null&release=2.1(3a)&relind=null&rellifecycle=null&reltype=null

# Download Cisco UCS Central Software Version 2.1(3a) – ACCOUNT REQUIRED

http://software.cisco.com/download/release.html?mdfid=283612660&softwareid=283655658&release =2.1(3a)&flowid=22121

# 12.2. EMC Reference Documents – EMC

• EMC Infrastructure for Citrix XenDesktop 7, EMC VNX Series (NFS and FC), Citrix XenDesktop 7, VMware vSphere 5.1—Reference Architecture

- VSPEX Proven Infrastructure: EMC VSPEX End-User Computing, Citrix XenDesktop 5.6 with VMware vSphere 5.1 for up to 250 Virtual Desktops Enabled by EMC VNXe and EMC Next-Generation Backup
- VSPEX Proven Infrastructure: EMC VSPEX End-User Computing, Citrix XenDesktop 5.6 with VMware vSphere 5.1 for up to 2000 Virtual Desktops Enabled by EMC VNX and EMC Next-Generation Backup
- White Paper: Sizing EMC VNX Series for VDI Workload—An Architectural Guideline
- Reference Architecture: EMCInfrastructure for Citrix XenDesktop 5.6, EMC VNX Series (NFS), VMware vSphere 5.0, Citrix XenDesktop 5.6, and Citrix Profile Manager 4.1
- Proven Solutions Guide: EMC Infrastructure for Citrix XenDesktop 5.6 EMC VNX Series (NFS), VMware vSphere 5.0, Citrix XenDesktop 5.6, and Citrix Profile Manager 4.1
- EMC VNXe Series Storage Systems—A Detailed Review
- EMC VNXe High Availability—Overview
- EMC VNXe Data Protection—Overview
- Deployment Guide: Microsoft Windows Server 2008 R2 Hyper-V on EMC VNXe Series

## 12.3. Microsoft Reference Documents

For more information on the products used in this Cisco Validated Design, please see:

• Microsoft Windows Server 2012 with Hyper-V

<u>Windows Server 2012</u> <u>Windows Server 2012 capabilities</u> <u>Failover Clustering feature in Windows Server 2012</u> <u>What's New In Networking For Windows Server 2012</u> <u>Networking Features in Windows Server 2012</u> <u>Server Virtualization Features in Windows Server 2012</u> <u>Windows Server Hyper-V Technical White Paper</u> <u>Competitive Advantages of Windows Server 2012 over the VMware vSphere Hypervisor.</u>

• Microsoft SQL Server 2012

<u>What's New in SQL Server 2012</u> <u>SQL Server AlwaysOn Availability Groups</u> Failover Clustering and AlwaysOn Availability Groups

#### • Microsoft System Center

System Center 2012 What's New in System Center 2012 Virtual Machine Manager SP1

## 12.4. Citrix Reference Documents

- Citrix Product Downloads
   <u>http://www.citrix.com/downloads/xendesktop.html</u>
- Citrix Knowledge Center
   <u>http://support.citrix.com</u>
- Definitive Guide to XenDesktop 7
   <u>http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/xendesktop/cds-xd-7landing-page.html</u>
- Citrix Provisioning Services
   <u>http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/technologies/pvs-provisioning.html</u>
- Citrix UPM 5.0
   <a href="http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/user-profile-manager-5-x/upm-wrapper-kib.html">http://support.citrix.com/proddocs/topic/user-profile-manager-5-x/upm-wrapper-kib.html</a>
- Login VSI
   <u>http://www.loginvsi.com/documentation/v3</u>

# 13. Appendix



## 13.1. Performance Charts for Scalability Tests

Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor (\_Total)\% Total Run Time 500-user Medium VSI Workload

> Memory\Available MBytes 500-user Medium VSI Workload





Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 500-user Medium VSI Workload



### Disk IO Operations - SSD RAID0 500-user Medium VSI Workload



## Network Activity 500-user Medium VSI Workload







Memory\Available MBytes 500-user Medium VSI Workload

Disk IO Operations - SSD RAIDO 500-user Medium VSI Workload

-





#### Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 500-user Medium VSI Workload

60000000 \\VDI2-1\Network interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_2%Bytes Received/sec 50000000 \\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Gisco VIC Ethemet Interface) \_2%,Bytes Sent/sec \\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface |\Bytes Received/sec 40000000 \\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface Waytes Sent/sec \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Gisco VIC Ethemet Interface 30000000 \_3|\Bytes Received/sec -\\\/DI2-1\Network Interface(Osco VIC Ethemet Interface \_SI\Bytes Sent/sec 20000000 -\\\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Cisca VIC Ethemet Interface \_4|\Bytes Received/sec -\\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 10000000 \_4\\Bytes Sent/sec -\\\VDI2-1\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_5|\Bytes Received/sec 0 12:28:40 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:29:440 12:20:440 12:29:440 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 12:20:4400 -//YDI2-1/Network Interface(Gisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_5]\Bytes Sent/sec

#### Network Activity 500-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor (\_Total)\% Total Run Time 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

Memory\Available MBytes 1000-user Medium VSI Workload





Disk IO Operations - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload





#### Network Activity 1000-user Medium VSI Workload







Disk IO Operations - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Memory\Available MBytes 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

90000000 -\\VDII-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 80000008 \_3)\Bytes Received/sec -\\VDI1-4\Network Interface[Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface 70000000 3)\Bytes Sent/sec -//VDI1-4/Network Interface[Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 4)\Bytes Received/sec 60000008 WDII-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_4)\Bytes Sent/sec 50000000 -\\VDI1-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface) 5Novtes Received/sec 40000000 -\\VDI1-4\Network Interface[Cisco VIC Ethemet interface \_5)\Bytes Sent/sec 30000000 \_6/\Bytes Received/sec 20000000 -//VDI1-4\Network Interface[Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface 6/\Bytes Sent/sec 10000000 -\\VDI1-4\Network Interface[Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_7)\Bytes Received/sec 0 -\\\DI1-4\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet interface 100 PM 105 PM 1105 PM 1112 PM 1112 PM 1122 PM 1122 PM 1220 PM 1231 PM 1232 PM 1247 PM 1247 PM 1247 PM 1247 PM 1248 PM 1248 PM 1248 PM 1257 PM \_7/\Bytes Sent/sec

#### Network Activity 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Hyper-V Hypervisor Logical Processor (\_Total)\% Total Run Time 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

Memory\Available MBytes 1000-user Medium VSI Workload





Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Disk IO Operations - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



### Network Activity 1000-user Medium VSI Workload







Disk IO Operations - SSD RAIDO 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Memory\Available MBytes 1000-user Medium VSI Workload



#### Disk Queue Lengths - SSD RAID0 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

#### 90000000 \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethernet Interface 80000000 \_4/\Bytes Received/sec \\VD12-2\Network interface(Cisco VICEthemet Interface 70000000 \_4%Bytes Sent/sec //VDI2-2/Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_SI\Bytes Received/sec 60000000 /\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_5/\Bytes Sent/sec 50000000 -\\\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_6\\Bytes Received/sec 40000000 \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Clsco VIC Ethemet Interface \_6)\Bytes Sent/sec 30000000 \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_7/\Bytes Received/sec 20000000 \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Clsco VIC Ethemet Interface \_7]\Bytes Sent/sec 10000000 -\\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface \_8% Bytes Received/sec ö \\VDI2-2\Network Interface(Cisco VIC Ethemet Interface Md N t Mid P.M. Md 翘 PIN N. Md Md M PIN Md Md PIM Ping Ping \_8/\Bytes Sent/sec 뀪 46 48 资 10 5 5 220 222 225 228 234 234

#### Network Activity 1000-user Medium VSI Workload

# 13.2. Sample Cisco Nexus 6248-UP Configurations

!Command: show running-config !Time: Thu Nov 21 10:54:46 2013

version 5.0(3)N2(2.11.3a) feature fcoe feature adapter-fex no feature telnet no telnet server enable feature tacacs+ cfs ipv4 distribute cfs eth distribute feature private-vlan feature port-security feature lacp feature lldp feature fex logging level assoc mgr 2 logging level aaa 2 logging level afm 2 logging level cfs 2 logging level enm 2 logging level fex 2 logging level fwm 2 logging level msp 2 logging level npv 2 logging level pfm 2 logging level vms 2 logging level evmc 2 logging level port 2 logging level vshd 2 logging level ethpm 2 logging level track 2 logging level xmlma 2 logging level licmgr 2 logging level radius 2 logging level tacacs 2 logging level bootvar 2 logging level monitor 2 logging level fcdomain 2 logging level ascii-cfg 2 logging level provision 2 logging level securityd 2 logging level pltfm config 2 logging level port-channel 2 logging level private-vlan 2 logging level spanning-tree 2 logging level port-resources 2 role name server-equipment rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-pn-maintenance rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-pn-policy

rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pn-equipment role name facility-manager rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-power-mgmt role name server-security

rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-security-policy rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-security rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pn-security role name server-compute rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-compute rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-oper rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-policy role name server-profile rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-oper

rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ls-ext-access rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-policy rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-config-policy rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-config role name operations rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-fault rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-operations role name read-only rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-read-only role name KVM-Only rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-ext-access role name network rule 12 permit read-write feature sam-ls-qos-policy rule 11 permit read-write feature sam-ls-network-policy rule 10 permit read-write feature sam-ls-gos rule 9 permit read-write feature sam-ls-network

rule 8 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-gos rule 7 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-security rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-policy rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-config rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-pod-gos rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-pod-security rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-pod-policy rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pod-config role name storage rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ls-storage-policy rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ls-storage rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-gos rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-security rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-policy rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-config role name admin rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-admin role name aaa rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-aaa no password strength-check banner motd #Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnect

#### #

ip domain-lookup ip name-server 171.70.168.183 171.68.226.120 175.25.205.7 aaa group server tacacs+ tacacs switchname UCS-EXC-HyperV-A logging event link-status default errdisable recovery interval 60 errdisable recovery cause link-flap errdisable recovery cause udld errdisable recovery cause bpduguard errdisable recovery cause loopback errdisable recovery cause pauserate-limit class-map type qos class-fcoe class-map type gos match-all classgold match cos 4 class-map type gos match-all classbronze match cos 1 class-map type qos match-all classsilver match cos 2 class-map type gos match-all classplatinum match cos 5 class-map type queuing class-fcoe match gos-group 1 class-map type queuing class-gold match gos-group 3 class-map type queuing classbronze match qos-group 5 class-map type queuing class-silver match gos-group 4 class-map type queuing classplatinum match qos-group 2 class-map type queuing class-allflood match gos-group 2 class-map type queuing class-ipmulticast match qos-group 2 policy-map type gos system\_qos\_policy class class-platinum set qos-group 2 class class-silver

set qos-group 4

class class-bronze

set qos-group 5 class class-gold set qos-group 3 class class-fcoe set qos-group 1 policy-map type queuing system\_q\_in\_policy class type queuing class-fcoe bandwidth percent 14 class type queuing class-platinum bandwidth percent 22 class type queuing class-gold bandwidth percent 20 class type queuing class-silver bandwidth percent 18 class type queuing class-bronze bandwidth percent 15

class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 11 policy-map type queuing system\_q\_out\_policy class type queuing class-fcoe bandwidth percent 14 class type queuing class-platinum bandwidth percent 22 class type queuing class-gold bandwidth percent 20 class type queuing class-silver bandwidth percent 18 class type queuing class-bronze bandwidth percent 15 class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 11 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Gold class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100 shape 4000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Bronze class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100

shape 40000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Silver class type queuing class-default

bandwidth percent 100 shape 40000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-gos-Platinum class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100 shape 4000000 kbps 10240 class-map type network-gos classfcoe match gos-group 1 class-map type network-gos classgold match qos-group 3 class-map type network-gos classbronze match qos-group 5 class-map type network-gos classsilver match qos-group 4 class-map type network-gos classplatinum match gos-group 2 class-map type network-gos classall-flood match qos-group 2 class-map type network-gos classip-multicast match qos-group 2 policy-map type network-gos system\_nq\_policy

class type network-gos classplatinum mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-silver mtu 9000 class type network-gos classbronze mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-gold mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-fcoe pause no-drop mtu 2158 class type network-gos classdefault system gos

service-policy type qos input system\_qos\_policy service-policy type queuing input system\_q\_in\_policy service-policy type queuing output system\_q\_out\_policy service-policy type network-qos system\_nq\_policy fex 1 pinning max-links 1 description "FEX0001"

fex 2

pinning max-links 1 description "FEX0002" fex management-instance 39619c74-90b7-11e2-8831-547feef80284 fabric 1 no snmp-server enable traps entity entity mib change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity\_module\_status\_change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity power status change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity module inserted no snmp-server enable traps entity entity module removed no snmp-server enable traps entity entity unrecognised module no snmp-server enable traps entity entity\_fan\_status\_change no snmp-server enable traps link linkDown no snmp-server enable traps link linkUp no snmp-server enable traps link extended-linkDown no snmp-server enable traps link extended-linkUp no snmp-server enable traps link cieLinkDown no snmp-server enable traps link cieLinkUp no snmp-server enable traps link connUnitPortStatusChange no snmp-server enable traps link fcTrunkIfUpNotify

no snmp-server enable traps link fcTrunkIfDownNotify no snmp-server enable traps link delayed-link-state-change no snmp-server enable traps link fcot-inserted

no snmp-server enable traps link fcot-removed no snmp-server enable traps rf redundancy framework no snmp-server enable traps license notify-license-expiry no snmp-server enable traps license notify-no-license-for-feature no snmp-server enable traps license notify-licensefile-missing no snmp-server enable traps license notify-license-expiry-warning no snmp-server enable traps rmon risingAlarm no snmp-server enable trapsrmon fallingAlarm no snmp-server enable traps rmon hcRisingAlarm no snmp-server enable traps rmon hcFallingAlarm snmp-server enable traps entity fru ntp server 171.68.10.80 ntp server 171.68.10.150 no aaa user default-role

vrf context management ip name-server 171.70.168.183 171.68.226.120 175.25.205.7 vlan 1,60-66,999 vlan 4044 name SAM-vlan-management vlan 4047 name SAM-vlan-boot

vlan 4048 fcoe vsan 1 name fcoe-vsan-4048 vlan 4049 port-channel load-balance ethernet invalid invalid-hash port-profile type vethernet ucsm\_internal\_rackserver\_portprofi le switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044 switchport mode trunk no shutdown vmware port-group max-ports 320 state enabled

logging level sysmgr 2

interface port-channel25 description U: Uplink switchport mode trunk pinning border switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 speed 10000

interface port-channel1280 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1281 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1282 switchport mode vntag no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1283 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky

speed 10000

interface port-channel1284 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1304 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1310 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1317 switchport mode vntag

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1321 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1322 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1329 switchport mode vntag no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1333

switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000 interface port-channel1339 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1341 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1342 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1344 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000 feature npv feature npiv

interface Ethernet1/1 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16487E86 module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/2 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric

fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16487E86 module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/3 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16487E86 module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/4 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16487E86 module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/5 description S: Server

no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRUP module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/6 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRUP module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/7 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRUP module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/8 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRUP module-sl ot left no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/9

interface Ethernet1/10

interface Ethernet1/11

interface Ethernet1/12

interface Ethernet1/13

interface Ethernet1/14

interface Ethernet1/15

interface Ethernet1/16

interface Ethernet1/17 description A: Appliance untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 65-66 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/18 description A: Appliance untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 65-66 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/19 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/20 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/21

interface Ethernet1/22

interface Ethernet1/23

interface Ethernet1/24

interface Ethernet1/25 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 25 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/26 description U: Uplink pinning border

switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 25 mode active no shutdown interface Ethernet1/27 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 25 mode active no shutdown interface Ethernet1/28 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 25 mode active no shutdown interface Ethernet1/29 interface Ethernet1/30 interface Ethernet1/31 interface Ethernet1/32 interface Ethernet2/1 interface Ethernet2/2 interface Ethernet2/3 interface Ethernet2/4 interface Ethernet2/5 interface Ethernet2/6 interface Ethernet2/7

interface Ethernet2/8 interface Ethernet2/9 interface Ethernet2/10 interface Ethernet2/11 interface Ethernet2/12 interface Ethernet2/13 interface Ethernet2/14 interface Ethernet2/15 interface Ethernet2/16 interface mgmt0 shutdown force ip address 10.60.0.11/24 interface Ethernet1/1/1 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1317 no shutdown interface Ethernet1/1/2 no pinning server sticky interface Ethernet1/1/3 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1317 no shutdown interface Ethernet1/1/4 no pinning server sticky interface Ethernet1/1/5 switchport vntag max-vifs 118
no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1283 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/6 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/7

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1283 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/8 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/9 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1280 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/10 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/11

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1280 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/12 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/13 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1281 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/14 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/15

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1281 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/16 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/17 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1341 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/18 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/19

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1341 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/20 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/21 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1282

#### no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/22 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/23

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1282 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/24 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/25 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1344 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/26 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/27

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1344 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/28 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/29 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1284 no shutdown interface Ethernet1/1/30 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/31

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1284 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/32 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/33 no pinning server sticky switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 4044 switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/1 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5

channel-group 1321 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/2 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/3 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5 channel-group 1321 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/4 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/5 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6

channel-group 1322 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/6 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/7 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6 channel-group 1322 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/8 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/9 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7

channel-group 1333 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/10 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/11 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7 channel-group 1333 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/12 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/13 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8

channel-group 1339 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/14 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/15 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8 channel-group 1339 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/16 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/17 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5

channel-group 1329 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/18 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/19 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5 channel-group 1329 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/20 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/21 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6 channel-group 1304 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/22 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/23 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6 channel-group 1304 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/24 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/25 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7

channel-group 1342 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/26 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/27 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7 channel-group 1342 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/28 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/29 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8

channel-group 1310

no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/30 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/31 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8 channel-group 1310 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/32 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/33 no pinning server sticky switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 4044 switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044

## no shutdown

interface Vethernet1360 description server 1/8, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1360 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1363 description server 1/8, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

#### no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1363 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1364 description server 1/8, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1364 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet1366 description server 1/8, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63

switchport trunk allowed vlan 63 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1366 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1369 description server 1/8, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1369 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

### interface Vethernet1370

description server 1/8, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1370 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1373 description server 1/8, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1284 channel 1373

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1374 description server 2/8, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1374 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1377 description server 2/8, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1377 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1378 description server 2/8, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1378 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet1380 description server 2/8, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1

no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63 switchport trunk allowed vlan 63 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1380 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1383 description server 2/8, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1383 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1384 description server 2/8, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1384 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1387 description server 2/8, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1310 channel 1387 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1501 description server 1/3. VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1280 channel 1501 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1577 description server 1/3, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1280 channel 1577 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1580 description server 1/3, VNICeth2

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1280 channel 1580 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1581 description server 1/3, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1280 channel 1581 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1584 description server 1/3, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1280 channel 1584 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1803 description server 2/2, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1322 channel 1803 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1805 description server 2/2, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64

bind interface port-channel1322 channel 1805 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1808 description server 2/2, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1322 channel 1808 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1809 description server 2/2, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1322 channel 1809 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1812 description server 2/2, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1322 channel 1812 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1970 description server 1/6, VNICeth0

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1282 channel 1970 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1972 description server 1/6, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1282 channel 1972 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1975 description server 1/6, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1282 channel 1975 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1987 description server 1/6, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable

switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66

bind interface port-channel1282 channel 1987 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1988 description server 2/5, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1329 channel 1988 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1990 description server 2/5, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1329 channel 1990 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1993 description server 2/5, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1329 channel 1993 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1994 description server 2/5, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1329 channel 1994 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1997 description server 2/5, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1329 channel 1997 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum

interface Vethernet2000 description server 1/2, VNICeth0

no shutdown

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1283 channel 2000 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2002 description server 1/2, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1283 channel 2002 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2005 description server 1/2, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1283 channel 2005 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2006

description server 1/2, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1283 channel 2006 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2009 description server 1/2, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1283 channel 2009 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2069 description server 2/6, VNICeth0

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2069 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2072 description server 2/6, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2072 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2073 description server 2/6, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2073 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet2075 description server 2/6, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63 switchport trunk allowed vlan 63

bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2075 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet2078 description server 2/6, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2078 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown interface Vethernet2079 description server 2/6, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2079 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2083 description server 2/6, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1304 channel 2083 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2094

description server 1/4, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1281 channel 2094 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2096 description server 1/4, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1281 channel 2096 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver

no shutdown

interface Vethernet2099 description server 1/4, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1281 channel 2099 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2100 description server 1/4, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65

switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1281 channel 2100 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2103 description server 1/4, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1281 channel 2103 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2114 description server 2/1, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1321 channel 2114 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2116 description server 2/1, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1321 channel 2116 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2119

description server 2/1, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1321 channel 2119 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2120

description server 2/1, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1321 channel 2120 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum

no shutdown

interface Vethernet2123 description server 2/1, VNIC eth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1321 channel 2123 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2124 description server 1/1, VNICethO switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1317 channel 2124 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2126 description server 1/1, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1317 channel 2126 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2129 description server 1/1, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1317 channel 2129 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2130 description server 1/1, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1317 channel 2130 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2133

description server 1/1, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk

untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1317 channel 2133 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2158 description server 2/3. VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1333 channel 2158 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2160 description server 2/3, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1333 channel 2160 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2163 description server 2/3, VNICeth2

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1333 channel 2163 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2164 description server 2/3, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1333 channel 2164 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2167 description server 2/3, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1333 channel 2167 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2226 description server 2/4, VNIC eth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1339 channel 2226 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2228 description server 2/4, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1339 channel 2228 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2231

description server 2/4, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1339 channel 2231 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2232 description server 2/4, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1339 channel 2232 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2235 description server 2/4, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1339 channel 2235 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown clock timezone PST -80 clock summer-time PDT 2 Sunday March 03:00 1 Sunday November 02:00 60 line console line vty system default switchport shutdown Idap-server timeout 30 Idap-server port 0 aaa group server Idap Idap svs veth auto-delete retentiontimer days 0 hours 0 mins 15

logging logfile messages 2 no logging monitor logging level kernel 2 logging level user 2 logging level mail 2 logging level daemon 2 logging level auth 2 logging level syslog 2 logging level lpr 2 logging level news 2 logging level uucp 2 logging level cron 2 logging level authpri 2 logging level ftp 2 logging level local0 2 logging level local1 2 logging level local2 2 logging level local3 2 logging level local4 2 logging level local5 2 logging level local6 2 logging level local7 2 no logging console

# 13.2.1. 6248UP – A

!Command: show running-config !Time: Mon Nov 18 10:35:07 2013

version 5.0(3)N2(2.11.3a) feature fcoe feature adapter-fex

no feature telnet no telnet server enable feature tacacs+ cfs ipv4 distribute cfs eth distribute feature private-vlan feature port-security feature lacp feature lldp feature fex logging level assoc\_mgr 2

logging level aaa 2 logging level afm 2 logging level cfs 2 logging level enm 2 logging level fex 2 logging level fwm 2 logging level msp 2 logging level npv 2 logging level pfm 2 logging level vms 2 logging level evmc 2 logging level port 2 logging level vshd 2 logging level ethpm 2 logging level track 2 logging level xmlma 2 logging level licmgr 2 logging level radius 2 logging level tacacs 2 logging level bootvar 2 logging level monitor 2 logging level fcdomain 2 logging level ascii-cfg 2 logging level provision 2

logging level securityd 2 logging level pltfm config 2 logging level port-channel 2 logging level private-vlan 2 logging level spanning-tree 2 logging level port-resources 2 role name server-equipment rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-pn-maintenance rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-pn-policy rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pn-equipment role name facility-manager rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-power-mgmt role name server-security rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-security-policy rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-security rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pn-security role name server-compute

rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-compute rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-oper rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-policy role name server-profile rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-oper rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ls-ext-access rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server-policy rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ls-config-policy rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ls-server rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-config role name operations rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-fault rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-operations role name read-only rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-read-only role name KVM-Only rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ls-extaccess role name network rule 12 permit read-write feature sam-ls-gos-policy rule 11 permit read-write feature sam-ls-network-policy rule 10 permit read-write feature sam-ls-gos rule 9 permit read-write feature sam-ls-network rule 8 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-gos rule 7 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-security rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-policy rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ext-lan-config

rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-pod-gos rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-pod-security rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-pod-policy rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-pod-config role name storage rule 6 permit read-write feature sam-ls-storage-policy rule 5 permit read-write feature sam-ls-storage rule 4 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-gos rule 3 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-security rule 2 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-policy rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-ext-san-config role name admin rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-admin role name aaa rule 1 permit read-write feature sam-aaa no password strength-check

banner motd #Cisco UCS 6200 Series Fabric Interconnect #

ip domain-lookup ip name-server 171.70.168.183 171.68.226.120 175.25.205.7 aaa group server tacacs+ tacacs switchname UCS-EXC-HyperV-B logging event link-status default errdisable recovery interval 60 errdisable recovery cause link-flap errdisable recovery cause udld errdisable recovery cause bpduguard errdisable recovery cause loopback errdisable recovery cause pauserate-limit class-map type gos class-fcoe class-map type gos match-all classgold match cos 4 class-map type gos match-all classbronze match cos 1 class-map type gos match-all classsilver match cos 2 class-map type gos match-all classplatinum match cos 5 class-map type queuing class-fcoe match qos-group 1 class-map type queuing class-gold match qos-group 3 class-map type queuing classbronze match qos-group 5 class-map type queuing class-silver match qos-group 4 class-map type queuing classplatinum match gos-group 2 class-map type queuing class-allflood match qos-group 2 class-map type queuing class-ipmulticast match qos-group 2 policy-map type qos system gos policy class class-platinum set qos-group 2 class class-silver set qos-group 4 class class-bronze set qos-group 5 class class-gold set qos-group 3 class class-fcoe set qos-group 1 policy-map type queuing system\_q\_in\_policy class type queuing class-fcoe

bandwidth percent 14 class type queuing class-platinum bandwidth percent 22 class type queuing class-gold bandwidth percent 20 class type queuing class-silver bandwidth percent 18 class type queuing class-bronze bandwidth percent 15

class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 11 policy-map type queuing system\_q\_out\_policy class type queuing class-fcoe bandwidth percent 14 class type queuing class-platinum bandwidth percent 22 class type queuing class-gold bandwidth percent 20 class type queuing class-silver bandwidth percent 18 class type queuing class-bronze bandwidth percent 15 class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 11 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-gos-Gold class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100 shape 4000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Bronze class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100

shape 40000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Silver class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100 shape 40000000 kbps 10240 policy-map type queuing orgroot/ep-qos-Platinum class type queuing class-default bandwidth percent 100 shape 40000000 kbps 10240 class-map type network-gos classfcoe match gos-group 1 class-map type network-gos classgold match qos-group 3 class-map type network-gos classbronze match qos-group 5 class-map type network-gos classsilver match qos-group 4 class-map type network-gos classplatinum match gos-group 2 class-map type network-gos classall-flood match qos-group 2 class-map type network-gos classip-multicast match qos-group 2 policy-map type network-qos system ng policy class type network-gos classplatinum mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-silver mtu 9000 class type network-gos classbronze mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-gold mtu 9000 class type network-gos class-fcoe pause no-drop mtu 2158 class type network-gos classdefault system gos service-policy type qos input system gos policy service-policy type queuing input system q in policy service-policy type queuing output system q out policy service-policy type network-gos

fex 1 pinning max-links 1 description "FEX0001"

fex 2

pinning max-links 1 description "FEX0002" fex management-instance 39619c74-90b7-11e2-8831-547feef80284 fabric 2 snmp-server enable traps entity fru no snmp-server enable traps entity entity mib change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity module status change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity power status change no snmp-server enable traps entity entity module inserted no snmp-server enable traps entity entity module removed no snmp-server enable traps entity entity\_unrecognised\_module no snmp-server enable traps entity entity\_fan\_status\_change no snmp-server enable traps link linkDown no snmp-server enable traps link linkUp no snmp-server enable traps link extended-linkDown no snmp-server enable traps link extended-linkUp no snmp-server enable traps link cieLinkDown no snmp-server enable traps link cieLinkUp no snmp-server enable traps link connUnitPortStatusChange no snmp-server enable traps link fcTrunkIfUpNotify no snmp-server enable traps link fcTrunkIfDownNotify no snmp-server enable traps link delayed-link-state-change

no snmp-server enable traps link fcot-inserted

system ng policy

no snmp-server enable traps link fcot-removed no snmp-server enable traps rf redundancy framework no snmp-server enable traps license notify-license-expiry no snmp-server enable traps license notify-no-license-for-feature no snmp-server enable traps license notify-licensefile-missing no snmp-server enable traps license notify-license-expiry-warning no snmp-server enable traps rmon risingAlarm no snmp-server enable traps rmon fallingAlarm no snmp-server enable trapsrmon hcRisingAlarm no snmp-server enable traps rmon hcFallingAlarm ntp server 171.68.10.80 ntp server 171.68.10.150 no aaa user default-role

vrf context management ip name-server 171.70.168.183 171.68.226.120 175.25.205.7 vlan 1,60-66,999 vlan 4044 name SAM-vlan-management vlan 4047 name SAM-vlan-boot

vlan 4048 fcoe vsan 1 name fcoe-vsan-4048 vlan 4049 port-channel load-balance ethernet invalid invalid-hash port-profile type vethernet ucsm\_internal\_rackserver\_portprofi le switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044 switchport mode trunk no shutdown vmware port-group max-ports 320 state enabled

logging level sysmgr 2

interface port-channel28 description U: Uplink switchport mode trunk pinning border switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 speed 10000

interface port-channel1290 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1291 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1293 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1294 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118

no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1295 switchport mode vntag no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1298 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1302 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1316 switchport mode vntag

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1320 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1323 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1328 switchport mode vntag no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1332

switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1338 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1340 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1343 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000

interface port-channel1345 switchport mode vntag switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky speed 10000 feature npv feature npiv

interface Ethernet1/1 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16457K1Z module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/2 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric

fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16457K1Z module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/3 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16457K1Z module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/4 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 1 chassis-serial FOX1642H32G module-serial FCH16457K1Z module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/5 description S: Server

no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRQK module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/6 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRQK module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/7 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRQK module-sl ot right no shutdown interface Ethernet1/8 description S: Server no pinning server sticky switchport mode fex-fabric fex associate 2 chassis-serial FOX1652G334 module-serial FCH1650JRQK module-sl ot right no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/9

interface Ethernet1/10

interface Ethernet1/11

interface Ethernet1/12

interface Ethernet1/13

interface Ethernet1/14

interface Ethernet1/15

interface Ethernet1/16

interface Ethernet1/17 description A: Appliance untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 65-66 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/18 description A: Appliance untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 65-66 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/19 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/20 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/21

interface Ethernet1/22

interface Ethernet1/23

interface Ethernet1/24

- interface Ethernet1/25 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 28 mode active no shutdown
- interface Ethernet1/26 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 28 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/27 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 28 mode active

no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/28 description U: Uplink pinning border switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 1,60-66,999 channel-group 28 mode active no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/29

interface Ethernet1/30

interface Ethernet1/31

interface Ethernet1/32

interface Ethernet2/1

interface Ethernet2/2

interface Ethernet2/3

interface Ethernet2/4

interface Ethernet2/5

interface Ethernet2/6

interface Ethernet2/7

interface Ethernet2/8

interface Ethernet2/9

interface Ethernet2/10

interface Ethernet2/11

interface Ethernet2/12

interface Ethernet2/13

interface Ethernet2/14

interface Ethernet2/15

interface Ethernet2/16

interface mgmt0 shutdown force ip address 10.60.0.12/24

interface Ethernet1/1/1 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1316 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/2 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/3

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1316 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/4 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/5 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1293 no shutdown interface Ethernet1/1/6 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/7

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1293 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/8 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/9 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1294 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/10 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/11

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1294 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/12 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/13 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1290 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/14 no pinning server sticky interface Ethernet1/1/15

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1290 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/16 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/17 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1340 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/18 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/19

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/1 channel-group 1340 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/20 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/21 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1295 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/22 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/23

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/2 channel-group 1295 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/24 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/25 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1345 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/26 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/27

switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/3 channel-group 1345 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/28 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/29 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1291 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/30 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/31

switchport vntag max-vifs 118

no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/4 channel-group 1291 no shutdown

interface Ethernet1/1/32 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet1/1/33 no pinning server sticky switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 4044 switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/1 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5

channel-group 1320 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/2 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/3 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5 channel-group 1320 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/4 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/5 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6

channel-group 1323 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/6 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/7 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6 channel-group 1323 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/8 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/9 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7

channel-group 1332 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/10 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/11 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7 channel-group 1332 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/12 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/13 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8

channel-group 1338 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/14

no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/15 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8 channel-group 1338 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/16 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/17 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5

channel-group 1328 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/18 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/19 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/5 channel-group 1328 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/20 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/21 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6

channel-group 1302 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/22 no pinning server sticky interface Ethernet2/1/23 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/6 channel-group 1302 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/24 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/25 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7

channel-group 1343 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/26 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/27 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/7 channel-group 1343 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/28 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/29 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8

channel-group 1298 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/30 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/31 switchport vntag max-vifs 118 no pinning server sticky switchport mode vntag fabric-interface Eth1/8 channel-group 1298 no shutdown

interface Ethernet2/1/32 no pinning server sticky

interface Ethernet2/1/33 no pinning server sticky switchport mode trunk switchport trunk native vlan 4044 switchport trunk allowed vlan 4044

no shutdown

interface Vethernet1361 description server 1/8, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1361

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1362 description server 1/8, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1362 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1365 description server 1/8, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1365 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet1367 description server 1/8, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63 switchport trunk allowed vlan 63 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1367 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1368 description server 1/8, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1368 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1371

description server 1/8, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1371 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1372 description server 1/8, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66

bind interface port-channel1291 channel 1372

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1375 description server 2/8, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1298

channel 1375

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1376 description server 2/8, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1376 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1379 description server 2/8, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62 bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1379 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet1381 description server 2/8, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63 switchport trunk allowed vlan 63 bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1381 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1382 description server 2/8, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1382 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown

interface Vethernet1385 description server 2/8, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1385 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1386 description server 2/8, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66

switchport trunk allowed vlan 66

bind interface port-channel1298 channel 1386 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1502 description server 1/3, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1294 channel 1502 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1578 description server 1/3, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1294 channel 1578 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1579 description server 1/3, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1294 channel 1579 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1582 description server 1/3, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1294 channel 1582 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1583 description server 1/3, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1294 channel 1583 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1804

description server 2/2, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1323 channel 1804 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1806 description server 2/2, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1323 channel 1806 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1807 description server 2/2, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1323 channel 1807 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1810 description server 2/2, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5

no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown

no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1323 channel 1810 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1811 description server 2/2, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1323 channel 1811 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1971 description server 1/6, VNICeth0

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1295 channel 1971 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1973 description server 1/6, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1295 channel 1973 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1974 description server 1/6, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1295 channel 1974 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1985 description server 1/6, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 999 switchport trunk allowed vlan 999 bind interface port-channel1295 channel 1985

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet1986 description server 1/6, VNIC eth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1295 channel 1986 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1989 description server 2/5, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1328 channel 1989 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet1991 description server 2/5, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1328 channel 1991 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet1992 description server 2/5, VNICeth2

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1328 channel 1992 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet 1995 description server 2/5, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk

switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1328 channel 1995 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet1996 description server 2/5, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1328 channel 1996 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2001 description server 1/2, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60

switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1293 channel 2001 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2003 description server 1/2, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1293 channel 2003 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2004 description server 1/2, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64

bind interface port-channel1293 channel 2004 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2007 description server 1/2, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1293 channel 2007 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2008 description server 1/2, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1293 channel 2008 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2070 description server 2/6, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky

pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk native vlan 60

switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2070 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver

no shutdown

interface Vethernet2071 description server 2/6, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61 bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2071 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2074 description server 2/6, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 4 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 62

bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2074 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Gold no shutdown

interface Vethernet2076 description server 2/6, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 63

bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2076 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Bronze no shutdown interface Vethernet2077 description server 2/6, VNICeth5 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 1 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 64 switchport trunk allowed vlan 64 bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2077 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Bronze no shutdown interface Vethernet2080 description server 2/6, VNICeth6 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2080 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2082

switchport trunk allowed vlan 63

description server 2/6, VNICeth7 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown
no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1302 channel 2082 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2095 description server 1/4, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1290 channel 2095 service-policy type queuing input

org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2097 description server 1/4, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1290 channel 2097 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2098 description server 1/4, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1290 channel 2098 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2101 description server 1/4, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1290 channel 2101 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2102 description server 1/4, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1290 channel 2102 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2115 description server 2/1, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1320 channel 2115 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2117 description server 2/1, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1320 channel 2117 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2118 description server 2/1, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1320 channel 2118 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Silver

no shutdown

interface Vethernet2121

description server 2/1, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1320 channel 2121 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2122 description server 2/1, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1320 channel 2122 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2125 description server 1/1, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1316 channel 2125 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2127 description server 1/1, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk

untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1316 channel 2127 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2128

description server 1/1, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1316 channel 2128 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2131

description server 1/1, VNIC eth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1316 channel 2131 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2132 description server 1/1, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1316 channel 2132 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-gos-Platinum no shutdown interface Vethernet2159 description server 2/3, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1332 channel 2159 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown interface Vethernet2161 description server 2/3, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1332 channel 2161 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2162 description server 2/3, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1332 channel 2162 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2165 description server 2/3, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5

no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1332 channel 2165 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2166 description server 2/3, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1332 channel 2166 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2227 description server 2/4, VNICeth0 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 60 switchport trunk allowed vlan 60 bind interface port-channel1338 channel 2227 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2229 description server 2/4, VNICeth1 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1338 channel 2229

service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2230 description server 2/4, VNICeth2 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 2 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 bind interface port-channel1338 channel 2230 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Silver no shutdown

interface Vethernet2233 description server 2/4, VNICeth3 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable

switchport trunk native vlan 65 switchport trunk allowed vlan 65 bind interface port-channel1338 channel 2233 service-policy type queuing input org-root/ep-qos-Platinum no shutdown

interface Vethernet2234 description server 2/4, VNICeth4 switchport mode trunk untagged cos 5 no pinning server sticky pinning server pinning-failure linkdown no cdp enable switchport trunk native vlan 66 switchport trunk allowed vlan 66 bind interface port-channel1338 channel 2234 clock timezone PST -80 clock summer-time PDT 2 Sunday March 03:00 1 Sunday November 02:00 60 line console line vty system default switchport shutdown Idap-server timeout 30 Idap-server port 0 aaa group server Idap Idap svs veth auto-delete retentiontimer days 0 hours 0 mins 15 logging logfile messages 2 no logging monitor logging level kernel 2 logging level user 2 logging level mail 2 logging level daemon 2 logging level auth 2 logging level syslog 2 logging level lpr 2 logging level news 2 logging level uucp 2 logging level cron 2 logging level authpri 2 logging level ftp 2 logging level local0 2 logging level local1 2 logging level local2 2 logging level local3 2 logging level local4 2 logging level local5 2

no shutdown

logging level local6 2 logging level local7 2 no logging console

## 13.3. Sample Cisco Nexus 1000V Configuration

!Command: show running-config !Time: Tue Nov 19 19:57:29 2013

service-policy type queuing input

version 5.2(1)SM1(5.1) hostname nexus1000v

org-root/ep-qos-Platinum

no feature telnet

feature network-segmentation-manager

no password strength-check

banner motd #Nexus 1000V Switch #

ip domain-lookup

errdisable recovery cause failed-port-state

vem 3

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000003E vem 4

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000000F vem 5

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000006E vem 6

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000002F vem 7

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000004E vem 8

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000002E vem 9

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000005E vem 10

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-00000000007E vem 11

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000001F vem 12

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-000000003F

rmon event 1 log trap public description FATAL(1) owner PMON@FATAL rmon event 2 log trap public description CRITICAL(2) owner PMON@CRITICAL rmon event 3 log trap public description ERROR(3) owner PMON@ERROR rmon event 4 log trap public description WARNING(4) owner PMON@WARNING rmon event 5 log trap public description INFORMATION(5) owner PMON@INFO

vrf context management ip route 0.0.0.0/0 10.61.0.1 vlan 1,61-64

port-channel load-balance ethernet source-mac port-profile default max-ports 32 port-profile default port-binding static port-profile type vethernet NSM\_template\_vlan no shutdown guid 2d26a674-2453-499f-8cd5-609d967ad7ac

description NSM default port-profile for VLAN networks. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type vethernet NSM template segmentation no shutdown guid 4bc0ff48-39b2-414b-b90c-830e5ad65896 description NSM default port-profile for VXLAN networks. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type vethernet VDI-Port-profile no shutdown guid 43f99166-d36a-4962-b4ef-8d2b30626201 port-binding static auto expand max-ports 1024 state enabled publish port-profile port-profile type ethernet Uplink-profile channel-group auto mode on mac-pinning no shutdown guid 62a0310b-e9b0-40d2-84da-6d5ae19d158c max-ports 512 state enabled port-profile type ethernet uplink\_network\_default\_policy no shutdown guid af5708a0-978b-423d-9f2c-da3394c37f29 max-ports 512 description NSM created profile. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type ethernet nexus1000v-uplink inherit port-profile Uplink-profile switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 guid 6d728913-d267-4ca3-ab74-e304a88edeff max-ports 512 description NSM created profile. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type vethernet dynpp 43f99166-d36a-4962-b4ef-8d2b30626201 c5fcbaa8e3fb-4f41-ae33-6bcabfe9b742 inherit port-profile VDI-Port-profile

switchport mode access switchport access vlan 62 guid 0d40e8de-9cdc-4424-ac18-5e9f42ca5784 description NSM created profile. Do not delete. state enabled

interface port-channel1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink

#### vem 3

interface port-channel2 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 4

interface port-channel3 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 5

interface port-channel4 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 6

interface port-channel5 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 7

interface port-channel6 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 8

interface port-channel7 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 9

interface port-channel8 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 10

interface port-channel9 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink vem 11

interface port-channel10 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink

vem 12

interface mgmt0 ip address 10.61.0.10/24

interface Ethernet4/1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink

interface Ethernet5/1

inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink interface Ethernet7/1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink interface control0 no snmp trap link-status line console line vty boot kickstart bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9-kickstart.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-1 boot system bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-1 boot kickstart bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9-kickstart.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-2 boot system bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-2 svs-domain domain id 100 control vlan 1 packet vlan 1 svs mode L3 interface mgmt0 switch-guid cee527ce-ff22-413b-82d3-c15e2df44a86 vservice global type vsg tcp state-checks vnm-policy-agent registration-ip 0.0.0.0 shared-secret \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* log-level info nsm ip pool template VLAN-61-Pool ip address 10.61.0.11 10.61.0.11 network 10.61.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.61.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-62-Pool ip address 10.62.0.100 10.62.0.150 network 10.62.0.0 255.255.240.0 default-router 10.62.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-63-Pool ip address 10.63.0.100 10.63.0.150 network 10.63.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.63.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-64-Pool ip address 10.64.0.100 10.64.0.150 network 10.64.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.64.0.1 nsm logical network VDINetwork nsm logical network ClusterNetwork nsm network segment pool VDI-Pool-1 guid 5ef2ba1d-212f-4067-b6b5-54210635541b member-of logical network VDINetwork

nsm network segment pool Cluster-Pool-1 guid 20c1b5da-2a4b-4a53-9926-af7dbe1fbba0 member-of logical network ClusterNetwork nsm network segment VLAN-61 guid 840e731b-0337-4f2e-9e0a-fe4fce2182d2 member-of vmnetwork VLAN-61 guid 84a7093f-4c54-4840-a71c-cb8599359e48 member-of network segment pool VDI-Pool-1 switchport access vlan 61 ip pool import template VLAN-61-Pool guid 424651dd-c4ae-4a30-baee-73686b0dd867 publish network segment switchport mode access nsm network segment VLAN-62 guid c5fcbaa8-e3fb-4f41-ae33-6bcabfe9b742 member-of vmnetwork VLAN-62 guid 2fcdca69-65e3-43e8-9d1a-21442c69a325 member-of network segment pool VDI-Pool-1 switchport access vlan 62 ip pool import template VLAN-62-Pool guid 433450e9-0bc9-4cde-a84f-51f30fa8ccd9 publish network segment switchport mode access nsm network segment VLAN-63 guid afee3cc3-8d51-4c41-9d8d-a910c8a6f74f member-of vmnetwork VLAN-63 guid 6c0c92c3-17a1-4067-bfd9-70d2e9ea58c4 member-of network segment pool Cluster-Pool-1 switchport access vlan 63 ip pool import template VLAN-63-Pool guid ca9dab93-f4be-4fa4-b7af-cce56473858a publish network segment switchport mode access nsm network segment VLAN-64 guid 1352ebeb-770f-405a-b055-a5874d661175 member-of vmnetwork VLAN-64 guid 7c4816f4-c0c6-4043-a063-fa199d397683 member-of network segment pool Cluster-Pool-1 switchport access vlan 64 ip pool import template VLAN-64-Pool guid 20c3fe31-bf46-458b-9e87-d01f08e77032 publish network segment switchport mode access nsm network uplink nexus1000v-uplink import port-profile Uplink-profile

allow network segment pool VDI-Pool-1 allow network segment pool Cluster-Pool-1 publish network uplink

#### 13.3.1. N1000V-1

!Command: show running-config !Time: Thu Nov 21 12:44:44 2013

version 5.2(1)SM1(5.1)

hostname nexus1000v-2

no feature telnet feature network-segmentation-manager

no password strength-check

banner motd #Nexus 1000V Switch #

ip domain-lookup errdisable recovery cause failed-port-state vem 3 host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-00000000003E vem 9 host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-0000000005E vem 10

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-00000000007E vem 11

host id 749C6139-B790-E211-0000-00000000001F rmon event 1 log trap public description FATAL(1) owner PMON@FATAL rmon event 2 log trap public description CRITICAL(2) owner PMON@CRITICAL rmon event 3 log trap public description ERROR(3) owner PMON@ERROR rmon event 4 log trap public description WARNING(4) owner PMON@WARNING rmon event 5 log trap public description INFORMATION(5) owner PMON@INFO

vrf context management ip route 0.0.0.0/010.61.0.1 vlan 1,61-64

```
port-channel load-balance ethernet source-mac
port-profile default max-ports 32
port-profile default port-binding static
port-profile type vethernet NSM_template_vlan
no shutdown
guid e92a97d4-1ae1-4d43-a244-f0e5b2bf007d
description NSM default port-profile for VLAN networks. Do not delete.
state enabled
```

port-profile type vethernet NSM\_template\_segmentation no shutdown guid 1e06ea81-ccc1-4b83-8f14-87acb840cdd0 description NSM default port-profile for VXLAN networks. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type vethernet VDI-Port-profile2 no shutdown guid 12fdb4e1-b3ed-4dbd-81f2-7b4be0b64bbc state enabled publish port-profile port-profile type ethernet Uplink-profile2 channel-group auto mode on mac-pinning no shutdown guid 28fbc2f1-d757-4235-bc60-e64ec2711df1 max-ports 512 state enabled port-profile type ethernet uplink\_network\_default\_policy no shutdown guid e3949f10-9713-4a1f-a267-b818490323c3 max-ports 512 description NSM created profile. Do not delete. state enabled port-profile type ethernet nexus1000v-uplink2

inherit port-profile Uplink-profile2 switchport mode trunk switchport trunk allowed vlan 61-64 guid b8d35b70-81b4-4f5a-a15d-47080f85c92f max-ports 512 description NSM created profile. Do not delete. state enabled

interface port-channel1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2 vem 3

interface port-channel2 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2 vem 10

interface port-channel3 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2 vem 9

interface port-channel4 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2

vem 11

interface mgmt0 ip address 10.61.0.12/24

interface Ethernet3/2 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2 interface Ethernet9/1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2

interface Ethernet10/1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2

interface Ethernet11/1 inherit port-profile nexus1000v-uplink2

interface control0 no snmp trap link-status line console line vty boot kickstart bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9-kickstart.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-1 boot system bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-1

boot kickstart bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9-kickstart.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-2 boot system bootflash:/n1000vh-dk9.5.2.1.SM1.5.1.bin sup-2 svs-domain domain id 200 control vlan 1 packet vlan 1 svs mode L3 interface mgmt0 switch-guid 862960f3-835d-48f1-be0c-dec4839d2de4 vservice global type vsg tcp state-checks vnm-policy-agent registration-ip 0.0.0.0 shared-secret \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* log-level info nsm ip pool template VLAN-61-Pool2 ip address 10.61.0.13 10.61.0.13 network 10.61.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.61.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-62-Pool2 ip address 10.62.0.151 10.62.0.200 network 10.62.0.0 255.255.240.0 default-router 10.62.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-63-Pool2 ip address 10.63.0.151 10.63.0.200 network 10.63.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.63.0.1 nsm ip pool template VLAN-64-Pool2 ip address 10.64.0.151 10.64.0.200 network 10.64.0.0 255.255.255.0 default-router 10.64.0.1

```
nsm logical network ClusterNetwork2
nsm network segment pool VDI-Pool-2
guid d6beab2d-5a35-432f-8487-852d4bb9bb5c
member-of logical network VDINetwork2
nsm network segment pool Cluster-Pool-2
guid 5f7966c6-6fb1-449b-bcc6-5a5b1a0b34ab
member-of logical network ClusterNetwork2
nsm network segment VLAN-61-2
guid f211722b-f1b4-4c33-bab3-22fd7edec5ae
member-of vmnetwork VLAN-61-2 guid 80a41c1c-c7aa-40eb-8696-ba4d0895885e
member-of network segment pool VDI-Pool-2
switchport access vlan 61
ip pool import template VLAN-61-Pool2 guid d3f4d443-ac0d-4861-8d53-57103c70e76
9
publish network segment
switchport mode access
nsm network segment VLAN-62-2
guid 39f86003-8e46-4521-88d5-f712eb4670c2
member-of vmnetwork VLAN-62-2 guid 78a66b7d-e7c7-4dfc-b305-5cd891aa4a40
member-of network segment pool VDI-Pool-2
switchport access vlan 62
ip pool import template VLAN-62-Pool2 guid 09b71666-d870-4619-8dc1-778f0ba84cb
а
publish network segment
switchport mode access
nsm network segment VLAN-63-2
guid 5bf535bd-0ab0-4511-a0e5-cf0290fbbd0b
member-of vmnetwork VLAN-63-2 guid 70a92b45-f60f-4886-8729-c4a656573b70
member-of network segment pool Cluster-Pool-2
switchport access vlan 63
ip pool import template VLAN-63-Pool2 guid 5d3f9e00-8668-45e4-bef1-307629e629e
4
 publish network segment
switchport mode access
nsm network segment VLAN-64-2
guid a86dd83e-f96d-44d1-a79e-c63ae2f8bbd7
member-of vmnetwork VLAN-64-2 guid 648affe3-4a92-4861-9609-0598b1ddc159
member-of network segment pool Cluster-Pool-2
switchport access vlan 64
ip pool import template VLAN-64-Pool2 guid a44544ba-b10c-4fed-a57c-00c89790f04
3
publish network segment
switchport mode access
nsm network uplink nexus1000v-uplink2
import port-profile Uplink-profile2
allow network segment pool VDI-Pool-2
```

allow network segment pool Cluster-Pool-2 publish network uplink

### 13.4. Sample PowerShell Scripts

# 13.4.1. Update Virtual Machines created by XenDesktop Wizard

The following PowerShell script can be used to update the virtual machines after the XenDesktop Wizard creates them. The SCVMM cloning process used by the XenDesktop Wizard does not use all the properties from the template, such as the network adapter, VLAN, or boot order, so this PowerShell script updates the VMs to have the correct properties. This script must be run from the SCVMM server, since it uses SCVMM specific PowerShell cmdlets.

Before running, fill out the PARAMETERS section to match your environment. This script then performs the following actions:

- 1. Checks if the virtual machine is running, if so attempts to stop it.
- 2. Checks if the virtual machine is in a bad state and needs to be repaired, if so it repairs it.
- 3. Sets the Startup Action on the VM so it will not boot automatically upon a host restart. This prevents the logon storms and allows XenDesktop controller to pace the virtual machine starts
- 4. Sets the Stop Action on the VM to turn off VM, which prevents the creation of the BIN file (equal to the size of the RAM assigned for saving-state.
- 5. Sets the boot order to PXEBoot (boot from LegacyNic), CD, IDE, Floppy, so that the VMs can PXE boot off the PVS servers.
- 6. Sets each NetworkAdapter to use the Nexus 1000V logical switch and associated Port Profile.
- 7. Outputs status on each VM update for monitoring progress

This script is provided as a sample of how to complete these actions on System Center Virtual Machine Manager 2012 SP1.

```
# Purpose: Update VM settings on a single host after the XenDesktop
Setup Wizard runs:
           Sets StartAction to not auto-start
#
           Sets StopAction to Turn off
#
#
           Moves PXE Boot to top of boot order
#
           Sets all network adapters for every VM to the specified VM
Network as specified in the Parameters section.
# Author: Paul Wilson
# Date: 20 October 2013
#PARAMETERS SECTION
# Fill out these values based on your environment before running the
script.
$VMNetworkName = "VLAN-62"
$VMSubnetName = "VLAN-62"
$PortClassName = "VDI Port Class"
```

\$HostNameFQDN = "vdi1-3.hv.pod.local" \$VirtualNetworkName = "Nexus 1000 V" **#END PARAMETERS SECTION** #Import the System Center Virtual Machine Manager if not already available if (!(get-module VirtualMachineManager)) {Import-module VirtualMachineManager } #Get the objects for the VMNetwork and Port Classification based upon the names #supplied in the Parameters section \$VMNetwork= Get-SCVMNetwork | where {\$ .Name -eq \$VMNetworkName} \$PortClass= Get-SCPortClassification | where {\$ .Name -eq \$PortClassName} \$VirtualNetwork = Get-SCVirtualNetwork | where {(\$ .vmhost -eq \$HostNameFQDN) -and (\$ .Name -like \$VirtualNetworkName)} \$VMsubnet = get-scvmsubnet | where {\$ .name -like \$VMSubnetName} #Get the VMs to update \$AllVMs = get-scvirtualmachine | where {\$ .HostName -eq \$HostNameFQDN} | Sort-object Name #Process each of the VMs on the specified host. Update all the network adapters to use the #supplied VLAN-ID, VM Network, and Port Classification. foreach (\$myvm in \$allVms) { Try { If (\$myVM.status -eq "Running") { stop-vm -VM \$myvm if (\$myvm.Status -eq "UpdateFailed") { write-output "Repairing \$myvm..." \$result=Repair-SCVirtualMachine -VM \$myvm -Dismiss -Force } \$result=set-scvirtualmachine -vm \$myvm -startAction "NeverAutoTurnOnVM" -stopAction "TurnOffVM" -BootOrder PxeBoot,CD,IdeHardDrive,Floppy \$myNetworkAdapters = get-SCVirtualnetworkadapter -VM \$myvm #This ForEach loop can be skipped if using the Citrix Hotfix. foreach (\$na in \$myNetworkAdapters) { \$Error.clear() if (\$na.VMNetwork -notlike \$VMNetworkName) {

```
$result=set-scvirtualnetworkadapter -VMNetwork $VMNetwork -
PortClassification $PortClass -VirtualNetworkAdapter $na -
VirtualNetwork
$VirtualNetwork -VMSubnet $VMSubnet
        }
        else
        {
           $result=set-scvirtualnetworkadapter -NoConnection -
VirtualNetworkAdapter $na
        }
     }
     if ($error.count -eq 0)
    {
        $s = "Update on VM {0} was successful." -f $myvm.Name
    }
    else
    {
        $s = "Update on VM {0} failed!!!." -f $myvm.Name
     write-output $s
   }
  Catch
   {
         $s2 = "Update on VM {0} failed!" -f $myvm.Name
        write-output $s2
   }
}
```

#### 13.4.2. Enable Dynamic Memory

By default the XenDesktop wizard creates virtual machines with static memory if your template has . The following script can be used to enable Dynamic Memory on a group of virtual machines. This script must be run from the Hyper-V host where the virtual machines reside. The \$NameMatch parameter can be used to filter which virtual machines are updated.

```
# Purpose: Enabled dynamic memory for a group of VMs based on
parameters supplied.
# Author: Paul Wilson
# Date: 15 August 2013
#PARAMETERS SECTION
# Fill out these values based on your environment before running the
script
$NameMatch = "VDI"
$minMem = 1536MB
413
```

```
maxMem = 4GB
#END PARAMETERS SECTION
$AllVMs = get-vm | where {$ .Name -match $NameMatch}
foreach ($myvm in $allVms)
{
 Try
   {
     If ($myVM.state -eq "Running")
     {
        stop-vm -Name $myvm.Name -TurnOff
     }
     set-vmmemory -VM $myvm -DynamicMemoryEnabled $True -MinimumBytes
$minMem -MaximumBytes $maxMem -StartupBytes $minMem
     $s = "Update on VM {0} was successful." -f $myvm.Name
     write-output $s
  }
 Catch
   {
     $s2 = "Update on VM {0} failed!" -f $myvm.Name
         write-output $s2
   }
}
```

### 13.4.3. Disable Dynamic Memory

The following script can be used to disable dynamic memory. This script must be run from the Hyper-V host where the virtual machines reside. The \$NameMatch parameter can be used to filter which virtual machines are updated.

```
# Purpose: Disable dynamic memory for a group of VMs based on
parameters supplied.
# Author: Paul Wilson
# Date: 15 August 2013
#PARAMETERS SECTION
# Fill out these values based on your environment before running the
script
$NameMatch = "VDI"
$StaticMem = 1536MB
#END PARAMETERS SECTION
$AllVMs = get-vm | where {$_.Name -match $NameMatch}
foreach ($myvm in $allVms)
```

```
{
  Try
   {
     If ($myVM.state -eq "Running")
     {
        stop-vm -Name $myvm.Name -TurnOff
     }
     set-vmmemory -VM $myvm -DynamicMemoryEnabled $False -StartupBytes
$StaticMem
     $s = "Update on VM {0} was successful." -f $myvm.Name
     write-output $s
   }
  Catch
   {
     $s2 = "Update on VM {0} failed!" -f $myvm.Name
         write-output $s2
   }
}
```

#### 13.4.4. Query the XenDesktop Database Connection Strings

Execute these PowerShell commands from one of the XenDesktop controllers or a machine. If not executed from a XenDesktop controller add the -AdminAddress parameter to point to an existing controller. The response should result in the existing connection string for each of the database schemas and they should be the same. This step is recommended before changing the database strings in case you need to reverse the change.

```
Add-PSSnapin Citrix*
Get-AdminDBConnection
Get-ConfigDBConnection
Get-LogDBConnection
Get-AcctDBConnection
Get-HypDBConnection
Get-BrokerDBConnection
Get-MonitorDBConnection
Get-SfDBConnection
Get-EnvTestDBConnection
```

These commands are only for the Site datastore. To see the location for the Logging and Monitoring datastores, they can be viewed on the Configuration node of the Citrix Studio console.

Chrie Studio (XenDesktop?) Search Machine Catalogs Delivery Groups Policy Policy Configuration Administrators Configuration Administrators Controllers Horting A Licensing App-V Publishing	CITRIX	Actions			
	CIRIX	Configuration			
					View
	Site Settings	Refresh			
	Site name Default StoreFront ad	XenDesktop?	Halp.		
	Datastores				
	Datatione	Datatione Name	Server Ashirese	Minor Server Address	
	Site	CitricKenDesktop7	ctristifilw.pod.local		
	Logging	CitricKenDesktop7	ctisql/hv.pod.local		
	Manitoring	CitricKenDesktop7	ctssql/hy.pod.local		

### 13.4.5. Test the XenDesktop Database Connection String

Use the following PowerShell commands to test the connectivity to the new location of the XenDesktop database before actually switching it over. Testing before switching over is recommended since to switch over you need to delete the old connection string first.

```
Add-PSSnapin Citrix*
```

```
$cs = "Server=ctxsql.hv.pod.local;Initial
Catalog=CitrixXenDesktop7;Integrated Security=True"
```

```
Test-AdminDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-ConfigDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-LogDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-AcctDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-HypDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-ProvDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-BrokerDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-MonitorDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-SfDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Test-SfDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
```

Note: There should be no line breaks in the \$cs variable declaration, which is wrapped for readability.

### 13.4.6. Change the XenDesktop Database Connection String

Use the following PowerShell commands to change the location of the XenDesktop site datastore. These commands must be run on every XenDesktop controller in the environment.

```
Add-PSSnapin Citrix*

$cs = "Server=ctxsql.hv.pod.local;Initial

Catalog=CitrixXenDesktop7;Integrated Security=True"

Set-AcctDBConnection -DBConnection $null

Set-AcctDBConnection -DBConnection $cs

Set-AdminDBConnection -DBConnection $null

Set-AdminDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
```

```
Set-BrokerDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-BrokerDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-ConfigDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-ConfigDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-EnvTestDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-EnvTestDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-HypDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-HypDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-LogDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-LogDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-MonitorDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-MonitorDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-ProvDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-ProvDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
Set-SfDBConnection -DBConnection $null
Set-SfDBConnection -DBConnection $cs
```

Note: There should be no line breaks in the \$cs variable declaration, which is wrapped for readability.

When finished use the Get-xxxDBConnection commands to verify that the database connection strings have changed and then reboot the XenDesktop controller. To change the datastore for the Logging and Monitoring databases, use Change Database command in Citrix Studio.

Citrix Studio (KenDesktop7)	CITRIX	Actions			
<ul> <li>Search</li> <li>Machine Catalogs</li> <li>Delover Groups</li> <li>Policy</li> <li>Configuration</li> <li>Administration</li> <li>Administration</li> <li>Controllers</li> <li>Hosting</li> <li>StoreFreet</li> <li>App-V Publishing</li> </ul>	Cirkix	Configuration View Configuration View Configuration Fefresh View Change Database View View View View Configuration View View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration View Configuration Configuration View View Configuration View Configuration View Vi			
	Site Settings Site name Default StoreFront ad				
	Datastores				
	Datastime	Detabase Name	Server Address	Minor Server Address	
	Site	CitrisXer/Desktop7	(bagi/w.pod.local		
	Magping	CitraClenDesktop7	ctosql/hv pod/local		
	Monitoring	Citra Ren Desktop7	ctosql.hvi.pod.local		

# 14. Acknowledgements

Cisco would like to thank the following individuals for their authoring of this document:

**Frank Anderson, Principal Solutions Architect, Strategic Alliance at Citrix Systems:** Frank Anderson is a Principal Solutions Architect at Citrix, focusing on Desktop and Application Virtualization. Responsibilities include solutions validation, strategic alliances, technical content creation, and testing/benchmarking.

**Rob Simpson, Sr Program Manager WSSC Partner and Customer Ecosystem at Microsoft**: Rob's been with Microsoft for over 8 years. He started out at the Microsoft Enterprise Engineering Center (EEC) as a customer engagement PM running Exchange and Active Directory customer proof of concepts. For the Exchange 2010 release, Rob moved over to the Exchange product group as a tester in the Scalability and Capacity Planning team. He then started the Exchange Tested Solutions Program showcasing partner reference architectures for Exchange 2010. Rob then returned to the EEC and took over the EEC Partner Program. Recently Rob has focused on driving a number of VDI reference architecture projects.

**Paul Wilson, Technical Marketing Engineer for Desktop Virtualization at Cisco**: Paul Wilson is a technical marketing engineer specializing in desktop virtualization. Paul has been involved in performance testing virtualization solutions for over 10 years and specializes in Citrix and Microsoft offerings.

**Ka-kit Wong, Solutions Engineer, Strategic Solutions Engineering at EMC:** Ka-Kit Wong is a solutions engineer for desktop virtualization in EMC's Strategic Solutions Engineering group, where he focuses on developing End User Computing (EUC) validated solutions. He has been at EMC for more than 13 years, and his roles have included systems, performance and solutions testing in various positions. He holds a master of science degree in computer science from Vanderbilt University.

Cisco would also like to acknowledge the contributions of the following individuals to this document:

- Mike Brennan, Cisco Systems
- Sai Chaitanya, Cisco Systems
- Richard Dowell, Citrix Systems
- John Moran, EMC
- Hardik Patel, Cisco Systems
- Rajmohan Rajanayagam, EMC
- Derek Rice, Citrix Systems